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PREFACE 

This study ef double majority has been made possible through the 

assistance of many individuals and institutions. Financial aid in the 

ferm ef the Arthur C. Tagge Memorial Fellowship, and two special grants 

from French Canada Studies Progranme, were provided by l.fcGill University. 

Pref. Laurier L. LaPierre of McGill University has helped JJe to secure 

financial assistance and research work, and has supervised my thesis 

for the past twe years. 

I also wish te thank Dr. Jacques Monet, S.J., of Loyola College, 

and Prof. Terry Copp of Loyola College and HcGill University. Dr. Monet 

gave me a draft of his PhD thesis, so that I have had his exhaustive 

knowledge of French Canada during the Union available to me at all times 

during the past two years. His help was not confined to research suggest­

ions, but even included a persanally-conducted tour of the tombs and 

crypt s in the Côte des Neiges Cemetery, where rna.ny of the French Canad­

ians of the Union period are buried. Prof. Cepp read several chapters of 

this thesis, and made many organizational suggestions which have been 

incorporated into the final draft. I also wish to thank my friend Chris 

Russ for the hot summer days he has spent proof-reading every single 

page of this study. 

Three surnmers at the Public Archives of Canada have given me 

many reasons to thank the Archives' staff. Both John Bl.ackwell and Bar­

bara Wilson in particular gave me a great deal of their time and assist­

ance. In the Archives' Library, Ron i'iood helped me to select Union news­

papers, and he also brought to my attention several books which at that 



ii 

tinte were not catalegued. In particular I wish to thank him for showing 

me John Charles Dent 's persona! copy of his history of Canada, which 

contains hundreds of original letters and newspaper clippings, and which 

has unfortunately been overlooked by most historians of the Union. I 

have found this Dent collection of great value for my thesis. 

There are four people to Whom I ewe an intellectual debt which 

I would like to acknowledge. Prof. William Ormsby's idea that French­

Canadian survival and responsible government were not necessarily re­

lated made a great impression cm my thinking. Dr. Jacques Monet' s re­

search into French-Ganadian attitudes towards the Unicn, which reveals 

the fact that centracy to general belief, LaFontaine in fact accepted 

the Unien, was another important discovery, and has made many ether 

things clear to me. The otl'ter two men who have infiuenced me are long­

Binee dead. The first of these is the great rascal of Canadian histery, 

Edward Gibbon Wakefield. When his powerful brain was turned away from 

some of his more notorious pursuits, and concentrated instead on the 

problems of Engli ah-French co-existence under the Union, his insights 

were often extremely valuable and perceptive. The last man is anether 

slightly notorious Canadian, Francis Hincks. Hincks' discussions ef 

double majority in his Pilot were far more objective, exhaustive, intel­

ligent, witty and entertaining than those of any other editer, and if 

Hincks is cŒisidered anything less than tœ mest brilliant and clear­

sighted man of his time, he is grossly underrated. 

Above all, I want to thank m;y bus band for his help during the past 
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two years. He has patiently read ani criticized each chapter er each 

drart, given me the benefits or his preressional knowledge, skills and 

experience fram the research to the final stages er this thesis, and he 

has been as cencerned about IllY' work as I Iey"self have beem. Lastly, he 

has cheerfully permitted "ce monstre à deux figures" to ah are our lire, 

and te monepoliz e our conversa ti ons , w:i. th scarcely a pro test • Fer all 

these reaaons I wish to thank him. 
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CHAPTER I 

INTRODUCTION 

The phrase "the system of the double majorit;y11 is a familia.r one 

in Canadian historiograph;y. Despite this, double majority has never bad 

a single study devoted te it. Our present kncwledge of the system is 

based on interpretations arrived at by historians concerned with ether 

problems and events. In other words, double majerity bas onl;y been stud­

ie.d incidentally. Historically, double majority was at one time as sig­

nificant as the ether famous system, responsible governme1t, te which 

innumerable studies have been devoted. In the mid 1840 1s, the Canadian 

press filled column after column with discussions of double majority. 

Twe by-elections and three parliamentary negotiatiens in the years 1845 

to 1847 were centred around deuble majority. The system's historical sig­

nificance is obvious. It is the purpose of this study to pluck d.euble 

majority fr.m its obscure and murky resting-place in our historiography 

by means of a detailed consideration of its histery in the years 1840 

to 1848. 

Perhaps because of the historio~aphical neglect of double maj­

ority, there is little agreement among historians about its nature or 

even whether or not it was ever practiced. What is generally accepted is 

that double majority was a ~stem of government suggested during the 

period of legislative Union. Often it is mentioned only in relation to 

Sandfield Macdonald in the 1860 1s. Surprisingly, one of the most detail­

eà accounts or it is found in the work of the grand old chronicler, John 



Charles Dent. Hewever, he deveteà lesa than one page to a discussion of 

its develepnemt, meaning and fate during the period of the 1840 1&, anti 

his interpretation was deeply influenced by Francis Hincks, who was 
1 

opposed te the system. Dent was nevertheless unusual in his relatively 

good grasp ef double majority. Te another olà historian, for instance, 

it was an 11extraordinary understanding" which seemed 11 a fulfilment of 
2 

the prephecy that the lion and the lamb should. lie down together." 

2 

Modern historians have delved a little deeper. Dr. Jacques Menet, 

in his magnw'l! opus, has devoted a chapter to the develepment of double 

majority during this period, and his is by far the mest detailed stuqy 
3 

to date. Again, however, his main theme is French-Canadian nationalism, 

and not double majority. It is generally accepted among rnest historians, 

or at least net denied, that the members ef a double majority government 
4 

would be drawn from the leading men in each sectional rnajority, and 

that a government should possess majerity support from each section of 

1 
J.C. Dent, The Last Fort Years: Canada Since the Unien of 18 1, 

( 2 vols., Toronto: George Virtue, 1881 , vol. 2, p. 20, 237. Hereafter 
cited in its best known ferm - Canada Since the Union of 1841). 

2 
William Weir, Sixty Years in Canada, (Montreal: J. Levell & Son, 

1903 ) ' p. 23. 
3 

Jacques Menet, 11The Last Cannon Shot: A study of French-Can-
adian Nationalism 1837-1850, 11 (2 v.ls., Unpublished PhD thesis, Univer­
sity of Toronto, 1964), vol. 1, p. 368-411. 

4 
O.D. Skelten, The Life and Times of Sir Alexander Tilloch Galt, 

(Toronto: Oxford University Press, 1920), p. 212-3. 
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' Canada. That Baldwin and all the Governors were opposed to deuble maj-
6 

ority is accepted. Various histerians have pointed out that it con-

fiicted with responsible gevernment. "lt eut at the very rHts of cab­

inet unity •••• 117 and was 11associated with the idea of non-partisan gov-
8 

ernment." Double majority has also been described as quasi-federal in 

nature. For example, Prof. O.D. Skelton wrote that " this proposal 

really looked to the extension of the quasi-federal element in the exist-

ing legislative union, - to setting up two aseemblies in one. Ever since 

the Union a sort ef bastard federalism had be en growing up. "
9 

It is also 

recognized that the need for double majority ar.se more fran French-

Canadian dissatisfaction at being in opposition than fran inter-section-

5 
J.M.S. Careless, Brown of the Globe: The Voice of U r Can.aù 

1818-1859, ( 2 vols., Toronto: The Macmillan Co. of Canada Ltd., 1959 , 
vol. 1, p. 219. (Hereafter cited as Brown of the Globe); see also Edward 
Kylie, 11Censtitutional Development, 1840-1867," Ad.am Short t and Arthur 
Doughty (eds.), Canada and its Provinces, (23 vals., Toronto: Glasgow, 
Brook & Co., 1914-1917), vol. 5, p. 149. 

6 
Kylie, 11Constitutional Develctpment, 1840-1867," Shortt and 

Doughty (ed1.), Canada and its Provinces, vel. 5, p. 149; see also Dent, 
Canada Since the Union of 1841, v.1. 2, p. 237. 

7J.L. Morisen, "Parties and Po1itics, 1840-1867," Shortt ana 
Doughty (eds.), Canada and its Provinces, vol. 5, p. 93; see also W.L. 
Morton, The KingG.a of Canada, (Toro:rrt.o: McClelland and Stewart Ltd,, 
1963), p. 267-8. 

8 
Paul G. Cornell, The Ali ent of Political Grou s in Canada 

1841-1867, (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1962 , p. 84. 
9 
Skelton, The Life and Times of Sir Alexander Tilloch Galt, p. 

212-3. 
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10 
al tension. Fer one thing, "the survival of French law under the UniE>n 

11 
invited the development of such a conception." 

The disagreements are mere telling. Sorne histerians believe that 
12 

double majority originated in the Lewer Canadian press; ethers that it 

was first formulated in the 1845 Draper-Caron-LaFontaine correspend-
13 

ence. Two theories about the functioning of the system exist: the first 

that double majority meant that sectional legislation had to receive a 
14 

majority vote from the members of the affected section; the second 
15 

that all legislation required a double majority vote. As to its prac-

ti ce: "It had never be en accept ed as a binding cœstitutional rule," 
16 

says one historian, while another writes that double majority 11became 

10 
Kylie, "Constitutional Development, 18h0-1867, 11 Shortt and 

D9ughty (eds.), Canada and its Provinces, vol. 5, p. 149. 
11 

Morton, The Kingdom of Canada, p. 267-8. 
12 

illi·; see also Dent, Canada Since the Union of 1841, vol. 2, 
p. 237. 

13 
Mas en Wade, The French Canadians 1760-1%.5, (Toronto: The Mac-

millan C•. of Canada Ltd., 1956), p. 248; see als• Thomas Chapais, Cours 
D'Histoire du Canada, (7 vols., Quebec: Librairie Garneau, 1932), vel. 
5, p. 214. 

14Skelton, The Life and Times of Sir Alexander Tilloch Galt, p. 
212-3; als• Morton, The Kingdom of Canada, p. 267-8. 

15 
Dent, Canada Since the Union of 1841, vol. 2, p. 20. 

16 
Careless, Brown ef the Glebe, vel. 1, p. 219; see also Francis 

Hineks, Political History of Canada between 1840 and 1855, (Montreal: 
Dawson Brothers, 1877), p. 28; also Dent, Canada.Since the Union of 1841, 
vol. 2, p. 20; Merison, "Parties anà Poli tics, 1840-1867," Shortt and 
Doughty (eds.), Canada and its Provinces, vol. 5, p. 93; Kylie, 11Constit­
utional Development, 1840-1867," Shortt and Doughty ( eds.), Canada and its 
Provinces, vol. 5, p. 149. 
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the will •' wisp o.f the rival politicians, and which many persona were 

presently inclined to invest with a censtitutional sanctity, as .forming 
17 

part o.f the necessar;r machiner;r o.f Canadian government." There is dis-

agreement about whether or not the most prominent French-Canadian leader 

of the period, Louis Hippolyte LaFontaine, supported the principle. "No 

responsible leader since Lafontaine, except John Sand.field Macdonald ••• 
lS 

had adhered to the double maj0ri ty as a principle", as oppesed to the 

statement that "LaFontaine had not gone so .far; he had merely recognized 
19 

the pessibility o.f a coalition government .for the two sections." 

From these representative samples o.f seminal literature on dcu-

ble ma,jority, various inferences can be drawn, which are used in this 

work as tentative hypotheses. Double majority was certainly a proposed 

system o.f government. It developed sometime after the general elections 

o.f 1844. It involved cabinet composition, and was designed in part as a 

legislative guide. Baldwin and all the Geverners opJ><tsed it. Various of 

its tenets conflicted with those o.f responsible government. It was baseè 

on sectienalism, and in Lower Canada, this sectionalism was baund up in 

French-Canadian racism or nationalil'lll. 

This extremely sketchy picture o.f double majority bas n.t dis-

17
stephen Leacock, Bêldwin LaFontaine Hincks: Responsible Govern­

ment, (Toronto: Merang & Co., Ltd., 1907), p. 259; see alse Canada, 
Parliamentary Debates on the Subject of the Confederation e.f the British 
North American Provinces, (Quebec: Queen 1s Printer, 1865), p. 30. 

lS 
Merton, The Kingdem o.f Canada, p. 304. 

19 
Wade, The French Canadians 1760-1942, p. 248; see also Chapais, 

Cours D'Histoire du Canada, vol. 5, p. 214. 
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couraged a gr-owing interest in the p:rinciple among politicians and pol-

itical commentators. Premier Jean Lesage in his Western Tour, in 1966, 
20 

speke often of the "twé ma,iorities". Pref. Laurier L. LaPierre has 

suggested that d<iluble majori ty ceuld be "the salvation of C.nfederatien 
21 

•••• If In Le Devoir. Paul Sauriol made the comment that 

dans un pa;ys fédéral fermé de deux nations, le situation idéale 
serait que le gouvernement obtienne l'appui d'une double major­
ité parlementaire comme ce fut le cas sous l'union ave22l 1 équippe 
Lafentaine-Baldwin et les autres coalitions analegues. 

The idea that two nations exist is a widespread and important one. This 

was the k~ point in the election literature of the Union Nationale 
23 

party in the last Quebec provincial elections. Moan the Bilingual and 

Bicultural Commissioners wryly, "The expression utwo nations" still 
24 

rings in our ears, i t was se often beard in our Que bec meetings. " Te 

20 
Claude Morin, Deputy }finister of Federal-Provincial Aff airs, 

Government of Quebec, to Elizabeth Nish, Quebec, Dec. 14, 1965. 
21 

Laurier L. LaPierre, '' Abelish the Provinces and Create one 
Central Power," Maclean 1s Magazine, Feb. 8, 1964, p. 25. 

22 
Le Deveir, (Montreal), Nov. 2, 1965, p. 4. 

23 
____ , Ob ectifs 1 66 de L • ion Nat o ale: Un Pre a:mae 

à.'Action peur une Jeune Nation, Montreal: Pierre DesMarais, 19 6 , p. 
4: "Situation: 1. Les Canadiens Français forment une nation." See alse 
~·, p •. 5-. "Comme prélude A un nouveau pacte entre deux nations égal­
es •••• " emphasis added. 

24 
A. Davidson Dunten et al., A Prelimil!i1!ry Report er the Royal 

Cemmission en Bilin.gualism and Biculturalism,(ottawa: (.).J.een's Printer, 
1965), p. 48; see also , Ob1ectifs 1966 à.e L'Union Nationale: 
Un Programme d'Action peur une Jeune Nation, p. 4-32. 
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sorne French Canadians at least, the relations between the two nations 

might be impreved by the system of the two majerities, as it was knewn 

under the Union. Clearly there is an urgency as well as a deep need for 

a study of the principle, fer in our present poli tic al centext, 11 A 

little knewledge is a danger.us thing." 

In this work, the use of various tems must be definec:l. '!he 

first is the term. n double majority" itself. In various stages during the 

l$40 1s it was referred. te as "respective majeritiea 11 , and 11two majer-

ities''• "Double majority" is a later, but more famous, title, and there-

fore this term is used in lieu ef the earlier ones, except in the case 

of a few direct quotations. The term double majority has exactly the 

same meaning as do the terms twe majorities and respective majerities. 

The terms sectionalism and racism are also important terms. 

Sectionalism refera to the habit of Canadians of thinking and acting in 

terms of the existence of two sections, rather than in terms of one 
25 

unified. Province. Racism is used in its 19th Century cantext. As auch, 

it meant that the French and English Canadians were aware of themselves 

as distinct peoples, or races, with institutions, traditions and other 

characteristics which they did not share with each ether, and which con-

stituted the racial distinction. Clearly the word "race" in this context 

has no anthropological meaning. Hewever, in this work its use is delib-

erate, for the term and the concept underlying it were fundamental fea-

tures of Canadian thought in the period under cansideration. Without this 

25 
As opposed to the Hitlerian sense, and above all, Hitlerian 

connotations. 
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word, mu ch poli ti cal thought weuld be meaningless. 

Another related tem ia "vendu". It refere te tho se French Can-

adians who re.fused to accept the "autherized11 leadership in politics 

especially, but alse in other fields of endeavour. The term is therefere 

a purely 11racial11 appellation, as that adjective has just been defined. 

One mere defini ti on is that of the terms "High Tory", 11Tory", and "Con-

servative". In Upper Canada, these words described the political celour 

of various politicians. For example, John Selom.on Cartwright was a High 

Tory; George Moffatt was a Tory; William Henry Draper was a Conservative. 

However, the French Canadians used the words interchangeably, and usual-

ly pejeratively, as they did the werd vendu. In fact, by Tory they often 

meant vendu, ir they a-nplied the term t o a French Canadian. For example, 

the Canadien at one peint lamented being labelled "les nems gracieux de 
26 

i2!:z, de tra!tre, de vendu, etc." In this work, the context of the 

situation and the perspective described, determine the usage er the 

words. 

The last definition is that ef the word "negotiation". furing 

the period under consideration, this was an extremely popular word, and 

was used te describe the discussions er bargaining between political 

groups with the ebject of changing existing political alignments. Usual-

26 
Le Canadien (Quebec), March 29, 1847. It is also necessar;r to 

point out that in the peried under consideration, newspapers were refere­
red te w:ithout an article. Thus, the Canadien referred to itself as 
''le Canadien", and speke er "la Minerve", 11le Journalu, etc. rather than 
"Le .Canadien fi, ''La Minerve", "Le Jeurnal". This was also true er the 
English papers, who referred tc 11the Minerve", "the Canadien" etc. Because 
of the frequency of direct quotes from newspapers in this thesis, the con­
temporary style has been adopted in the text, and no articles are used. 
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ly negotiations were held between Executive Councillers and members of 

the op~sition, with a view to strengthenin~ the Council. The w.rd was 

used interchangeab}3r in both the singular and the plural; thus a single 

discussion was termed ooth "the negotiation" and 11the negotiations". 

The final point is the periodization used in this study. "The 

division of hist0ry into periods is not a fact, but a necessary hypoth-

esis or toel of thought, valid in se far as it is illuminating, and de-
27 

pendent for its validity on interpretation." This consideration of 

double majori ty is limited to the years 1840 to 1847, with just a brief 

excursion into 1848, and it does not even touch upon the double majority 

of the 1850 1s and 1860 1s. From the proclamation of the Act of Union to 

the formation of the second LaFontaine-Baldwin Ministry, Canadian pol-

itical life had at least one invariable feature. The large majority of 

French Canadians in the Assembly were more or less united under one 

leader, whereas in the period after this, they were formally divided 

into opposing political parties, the Bleus and the Rouges. Thus the pol-

itical conditions were radical~ different in the two periods. 

There is another factor. 

Nhen, under Lord l-'Ietcalfe, after the resignation of Baldwin and 
LaFontaine, the French had little or no voice in the government, 
the necessity for a double majority was urged in Lower Canada. 
vlhen the tables were turned and the majority of the French rep­
resentatives but a minority of the English, supported Baldwin 
and LaFontaine and the later conservati ve administration, the 

27 
E.H. Carr, What is Histor;r? (London: Macmillan & Co., Ltd., 

1961)' p. 54-55. 



28 
demand came from the English side of the House. 

10 

Thus a stu~ of double majority in the later period requires an entirely 

new histerical perspective, since not only its context but its very 

locale were changed. The body and conclusion of thi. s study of double maj-

ority must, however, provide the final justification far the period-

ization and all other hypotheses. 

28 
Kylie, "Constitutional Development, 1840-1867," Shortt and 

Doughty (eds.), Canada and its Provinces, vol. 5, p. 149. 



CHAPTER II 

UNDENIABLE POWER, :JJESTIONABLE RIGHT AND DOUBTFUL 
EXPEDIENCY PRODUCE THE GREAT 

COMPROMISE 

Question: Supposing it be adMitteà that the Act of 1791 had 
the character of a formal coMpact, do you mean te state it 
as your opinion, that with a view to the benefit of those 
previnces, it is not constitutionally in the power of the 
ParliameR.t of Great Britain, to legislate upon the subject 
of the government of Canaàa? Answer: As to the power I de 
not deny it. The right1may be questioned., and the expediency 
is more than doubtful. 

The double majority system developed during the 1841 Union of 

Upper and Lower Canada. It was based on provincialism and on racism. 

Both of these were features of colonial life even before the Rebellions. 

A proper aderstanding of the growth of double majority, and of its 

raison d'être, requires at least a brief survey of its histerical back-

ground. This chapter deals with features of the Rebellions, and the 

early Union period, which provide this background. 

Racism and reformism were the most significant features of the 

Rebellions. In Upper Canada the fight was prlmarily a poli ti cal one. 

In Lower Canada, an internecine conflict resulted fran the orthodox 

Papineau group's attempt te reform the old political and social instit-

utions, the legacy frl'll'll the French Regime. Soon, however, other French 

1 
Çaebec Gazette, Feb. 17, 1843 cites the Select Committee of the 

House of Commons on the Civil Government of Canada, July 22, 1828. 
Austin Cuvillier, Esq., examined, June 12, 1828. 
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Canadians challenged. the wisdom of destreying institutions which seemeEI. 

te be the sole rema.ining instruments of national survi val. These con-

servatives retused to participate in the Rebellions. The split thus 

eccasioneEI. in French-Ganadian ranks was deepened when the English Tories 

threw their energies inte maintaining the statua .9!!.!.• which included 

all the eld insti tutiams. i'li th part ef the French-Ca.narlian population 

passive, and the ether part pitted against the English Teries, the 

struggle seemed te evelve inte a racial war. From such a war many Eng-

lish Reformera withdrew. Their defection le.ft the cœnbatants divided 

mainly on racial lines. The initial re.fermism merged inte racism, as di« 

the conservatism ef the militant English Teries. Ultimately the Lewer 

Canadian Rebellions intensi.fied racial hatred, and undermined referm 
2 

motivation, which soon beca.me a secendary facter. 

tihen the Rebellions were put dewn, Lerd lllrham sailed te Can-

ada te previde a scheme ef gevernment which weuld en« fer all time the 

centlicts between the metrepelis and the two colonies. His investiga-

tiens revealed te him that the prinary cause of the Rebellions in Lewer 

Canada was a nrule ef national hestility" between the English and. 

French inhabitants.
3 

He was se struck with this that he eversimplified 

the importance of reform principles. He claimed that these principles 

served merely as masks te cover the true issue: racial hatred. One of 

2 
S.D. Clark, Mevements ef Pelitical Pretest i Canada l 0-18 O, 

(Toronto: University of Ter•nt• Press, 1959 , p. 461-3. 
3 Gerald Craig ( eè..), Lord lllrham.1 s Repett, ( Teront •: McClelland 

and Stewart Ltd., 1963), p. 25. 
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America based. on the plan supplied by one of his Canadian-educated ad-
8 

visera. However, tederalization mi~ht preserve these institutions an« 

habits which constitute• the French-Canadian nationality. This "is pre-
9 

cisely what yeu de not want", wrete one et his advisers. Nor could Dur-

ham find any guarantee that as a ma,iority political greup the French Can-

adians would net continue te antagenize the British et Lewer Canada in 
10 

the Assernbly. The British group thernselves w.rked tewards a legislative 

union ef Upper and Lewer Canada in which, coupled with the British of 

Upper Canada, they ceuld 11in effect deprive the majerity of Frenchmen 
ll 

frem the pewer they had se abused." With the British in centrel of 

gevernment, the precess of assimilation weulà be apeeded up. 

Other facters besides the racial preblem led Durham te favour 

legislative as eppesed te federal union. Upper Canadians generally be-

1ieved that "the only meana er discharging eur ebligati•ns, er faith­

fully satisfying our crediters is by uniting Upper and Lewer Canacia 

8 
R.G. Trotter, "Durham and the Illi.ea. er a Federal Unien of 

British Nerth America," Canadian Histerical Asseciation Repert, 
(1925), p. 56, 62-3. 

9 
P.A.C. Repert, 192;2, "Meme," by Charles Buller, Feb. 1839, 

p. 194. 
10 

Trotter, "Durham and the Idea ef a Federal Union ef British 
N•rth America, 11 Canadian Histerical Asseciation Repert, (1925), p. 62-3. 

11 
Que bee Gazette, April 25, 1840. See alse Tretter, "Durham and 

the Idea of a Federal Union •f British Nerth America, 11 Canadian Hister­
ical Association Repert, (1925), p. 63. 
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12 
whose surplus revenue alone can enable us to redeem eur obligations." 

The Upper Canada canal systems and ether publie worka coulà not be com-
13 

pleteà without the help of Lower Canada funès. The firm of Baring 

Brothers, underwriters of most of the Upper Canadian securities, saw in 

legislative union a means of guaranteeing the now uncertain value of 

their investment. Francis T. Baring, Chancellor of the Exchequer in the 

Melbourne Cabinet, and one of the principals in the banking firm, may 
14 

have influenced the decision to implement a legislative union. 

Legislative union weuld, as weil, repair the fin an cial dis-

putes between the two Provinces, which were 11 a source of great and. 

increasing"-conflicts, apecifically the problem of determining the ais-

tributien of Customs èuties when imports to Upper Canada entereà Lewer 
15 

Canadian ports. Great Britain would lose none of her prerogatives, and. 

coullli look forwa.rd te ewning a prosperous and leyal coleny. All these 

arguments fer legislative unien were publisheà on January 31, 1839, in 
16 

Durham's famous Report on the Affairs of British North America. 

12 
9Mebec Gazette, Dec. 23, 1839. 

13 
W. Ormsby, "The Civil List Cuestion in the Province of Canada," 

Canaàian Historie al Review, XXXV (June, 1954) , p. 96. 
14 

Mas on tt/ade, The French Canadians 1760-1945, p. 225. 
15 

Craig (eà.), Lori Durham's Repert, p. 75-6. 
16 

Trotter, "Durham and the Idea of a Federal Union of British 
North America," Canadian Historical Association Report, (1925), p. 63. 
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On February 10, 1841, with undeniable power, questionable right ana 

à.oubtful exped.iency, Great Britain proclaim.ed. the Act of Union, basetl 
17 

largely on the recoJJD'lleniations of Durham's R-'.P•rt. The Union of the 

Canadas, designeà te make one people of two warring races, and te unite 

two provinces into one, was the framework within which double majority, 

a racist and sectional principle, developed. 

Although designed te solve racial and sectional antagonisrns, 

Canada's most werrisome problems, the Union dii net receive an enthus-

iastic welceme in Canada. Opposition had begun to crystallize immediately 

upen the publication of Durham's ReP!rt. Upper Canada had desiretl a 
18 

union wi th Lewer Canada "en terms to establish her ascendancy. 11 

This the Union did not do, for in the new Assembly there was te be 

equal representation from the two sections. The olè "Family Compact 11 

foresaw in it a threat to their oligarchical power, and they openly 

expressed their hatred of the French Canadians, with whom they weuld be 
19 

forced te act in the government. "Our Tories are almost frantic", 

17 
Wade, Ihe French Canatiians 1760-1245, p. 226. 

18 
Marcel Séguin ( efi.), "Documents Sur Le British North America, 

1838-1842, 11 Publications of the Institute of Histor , (13 folios, 
Moatreal: Université de Montréal, n.d. , Ellice te LaFomtaine, London, 
April 19, 1838, folie 3269, p. 2. 

19 12!!·• House of Assembly of Upper Canada, Toronto, Dec. 23, 
1839, folio 3269-91, p. 4-5. 
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20 
wrete one Upper Canadian.. Upper Canadians as a group feared .te lese 

Torento as the seat of gevernment. Hany were prepared te fore ge all the 

benefits of the Uni~n in erder to retain their privileged position with 

respect te the capital. For example, the vote on the Union in the Leg-

islative Ceuncil showe« that almest all the City of Toronto and neigh-
21 

beurhood members opposed it on these grounds. 

On the ether han«, the political counterparta of the Tories in 

Lewer Canacla, were extremely satisfied. Lord Durham had d.escribeà. the 

Union as the:i.r own "pet Montreal project, beginning and ending in 
22 

Montreal selfishnesa." The Tories naturall.y loved their own creation. 

For very different reasons the Reform-.incle• Upper Canadians also fav-
23 

oured the Union, with scarcely a dissenting voice. They believeŒ that 

in combinat ion wi th like-mintled Lower Canadians, they could se cure 
24 

"li ber al i nsti tu ti ons ancl ecenomical governm.ent •••• '' Despi te seme 

agitation about specifie clauses, the general consensus was that the 

20 
ibicl., Hincks te LaFontaine, Toronto, Dec. 12, 1839, folio 

3269-91, p:-:;. 
21 

P.A.C. Report, 1923, "Durham Papers," W. Merris te Durham, 
Toronto, April 8, 1839, p. 262. 

22 
William Smith, "The Reception ef the Durham. Report in Canada," 

Canadian Historical Association Report, (1928), p. 41. 
23 

P.A.C. Neilsen Papers, W.H. Merritt to Neilson, st. Catharines, 
April 15, 1841, vol. 10, p. 152. 

24 
Séguin ( ed.), "O.curnents &Ir Le British North America, 1838-

1842," Pub ications of the Institute of Histo , Hincks to LaFontaine, 
Toronto, April 12, 1839, folie 32 9-6, p. 2. 
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principle of the Act was fair, and effending clauses could be repeal.ed 

when the legislature met. 

Oppesition to the Uni3n ameng Upper Canaàians was quite effect-

ively dealt with. Office-helders were threatened with losa of their 

,jobs if they c:mtinuell to eppese the Unien. This threat silenced the 
25 

efficials. A rumGur was circulate• that in return for suppert of the 
26 

UniGn, the sea.t ef government weultl remain in Upper Canada. This alse 

helpe« sway public opini~. The real preblem was the French Canad.ians. 

"We de not believe 11 , announced the Quebec Gazette two weeks after the 

Union Preclamation, nthat there are a hundred electers in all Lewer 
27 

Canada wt. appreve ef the union preject on its ewn merits." Upper 

Canadian eppositien derived from pelitical and power struggles as well 

as fran racial dislike and previncial exelusivity. Lewer Canadians, how-

ever, expressed enly the most virulent racial and. sectional concern. 

They objected to the very fUndamentals of the Act: its purpese, details, 
28 

principle and means •f enfercement. 

One of the most important purposes of the Act was clearly te 

25 
Den Jehn Pierce and Jehn Perry Pritchett, 11The Choice of 

Kingston as the Capital of Canada, 1839-1841," Canadian His teri cal 
Asseciatien Repert, (1929), p. 58. 

26 
!!?.!!·' p. 57-58. 

27 
Çuebec Gazette, Feb. 24, 1840; see also G.P. de T. Glazebrook, 

Sir Charles Ba~t in Canada: A Stu in British Colenial Gevernment, 
Toronte: Oxfertl University Press, 1920), p. 27. 

28 
V.J. Jensen, 11LaFontaine and. the Canatlian Union," Canadian 

Histerical Review, XXV (March, 1944), p. 10. 



assimilate the French Canadians. Even the sympathetic Francis Hincka 

understeed. that the Union "woul<i mean ruin" if the French Canad.ians 
29 

still heped te rem.ain a separate and distinct nation, In fact, the 
.30 

Union representeà a "consecration of the conquest." French..Canatiian 

fear for their nationality preduced a revival ef the ever-present 

racial hatred which was the despair of Lord ~d.enham, the Geverner 

19 

charp,ed. with implementinp, the Act of Union. Lewer Canadians "have only 

one feeling - a hatred ef race, The French hate the Englis~ ani the 

English hate the French; and every question resolves itself inte that 

and that alone 11 , he cempla:ined.
31 

"The French hate the English and. wttuld 

eut ail their throats if they coula - the English hate the French ai 
.32 

enly desire te ride reugh shed ever them." The Reman Catholic clergy 

alse despised the Union. They believed that assimilation ef the French 

Canadiens invol ved net only anglicizing the ir culture, but fercibly re-

placing their religion with Pretestantism. 

Racial hatred was nourished when the details ef the Act became 

knewn. The French Canatians bitterly resented that a ~opulation then 

29 
Séguin (eci.), "Decuments Sur Le British Nerth America, 18.38-

18h2, 11 Publications of the Institute of Histoey, Hincks te LaF"ntaine, 
Teronte, April 12, 18.39, folie .3269-6, p. 2. 

30
0rmsby, "The Civil List Question in the Pr•vince of Canaàa," 

Canadian Histerical Review, XXXV (June, 1954), p. 94. 
31 

G.B. Screpe, Memoir ef the Life •f the Ri~ht Honeurable Charles, 
Lord Sydenham, (tendon: J ehn 1furray , 184.3) , p. 176, Sydenham te a friend, 
Mentreal, March 1.3, 1840 • 
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Paul Knaplunà (ed.), Letters frem Lerd Sydenham te Lord Russell, 

(Lendon: Allen and Unwim, 19.31), Thompson te Russell, March 1.3, 1840, 
P• 52. 
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believed te be 630,000 sheuld have the same number of representatives as 

the much scantier Upper Canadian population, for they hated and .feare4 

the English e.f Upper Canada as much as they àid the Tories of Lewer 
33 

Canada. The Union weuld result in the minority Upper Canadians holding 

na11 the pewer of the Representative Assembly", and in such a situation 

the French Canadians expected nothing but injustice in view of "the 

disposition of that minority as evinceà in the Debates of the Upper 
34 

Canada Legislative As sembly, and the newspapers •••• " 

The seat of gevernment questi0n was an.ther racial bugbear. 

Lewer Canadians were "categorically oppesed" to the location e~.f the 

new capital outside of Lewer Canada. Quite apart !rem the .financial 

loss te Quebec if the capital moved., an Upper Canadian capital weul4 

represent physical subjugation te the English Canad.ians, and weuld as 
35 

well be symbelic of the anticipated. pelitical subordination. Altheugh 

it had been hinted in the House •f C«mmons that Montreal would be the 

official cheice, Lower Canadians tendeà to believe the rumour that in 

return for support of the Union, the capital would. remain in Upper Can-
36 

a da. 

33 
Sir J.G. ~trinot, Lord. Elgin, (Toronto: Morang & Co., Ltd., 
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Another bone ef contentien represented streng sectional feeling 

ameng the Lewer Canadians. This was the injustice ef being ferceà. te use 

their ewn financial resources t• bail out the ambitious and incautious 

Upper Canadi.ans, speciall.y sin ce they wcmltd. recei ve nothing jn return. 

Their resentment en this scere was heightened by the Upper Canadians• 

attitu41e. I "met with "Cavillier" (sic), one ef the demago~es - whe 

cemplaine4 sadly about the Upper Canada debt 11 , chuckleè ene Upper Can-

adian calleusly. 11I teld him it was all we had. & that we di viàeci i t 
37 

equally an« fairly • 11 

French-Canadian ebjectiens to the principle of the Act pre-

sageà. the later arguments fer double majerity. Sir John Colborne ex-

pressed them best. He declareà that the iàea of forcing the fishermen 

of the Gulf • f st. Lawrence and the backwoedsmen of the Great Lakes, 

separated by 1,200 miles, to meet at an intermediate point and delib-

erate together on their local interests was the height of folly. It 

wa.s absurè and impoli tic, he felt, to expect the French habitants to 

centribute te the precess of referming the English civil laws and the 

rural cedes of Upper Canada, and to hope that the unien of the malcon-

tenta of beth provinces Wftuld end all preblems. For ence, the French Can-

adians agreed with the hated "vieux Brulot 11 , lat er known as 11Lord. 

37 
C.R. Sandersen, "Seme Netes on Lord. Sydenham.," Manchester 

John R:y;lands Libraey Iblletin, XY.:!I (1941), p. 24, Sullivan to Arthur, 
March 1, 1841. 

38 
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39 
Satan"! Fer aside from the racial hatred, identificatien with the 

geegraphical entity knew. as L.wer Canada strengthened the sectienalism 

which the Uni&n was meant te destrey. Deuble majerity was based as much 

en this sectienalism as en racial distinctions, and was in part designed 

te ceunter sectionalism by giving it censtitutienal sanction. 

The means ef enfercing the Act of Union gave yet anether cause 

for bitterness. Its passage had been secured threugh the Upper Caaadian 

legislature by briber.y and premises. In Lewer Canada it had net been 

put te the questien. Even the despiseè Special Ceuncil had been deuble-

cresse« in this respect. Lerd Sydenham haà suddenly summoned the Ceun-

cil en Nevember 11, 1839, and demanded a vete en the issue tw. d~s later. 

This le!t little time fer discussien, specially since all but fifteen 

ef the members had been immebilizeà b.r the blizzards ef a harsh Can-
40 

adian winter. 

Irenically, Canadian reactien te the Unien crystallized the 

grewth ef the twe facters ~hich the Unien was suppesed te destrey, and 

upen which deuble majerity was to be based. The twe groups mest ser-

ieusly infestee were the Upper Canadian Censervatives, anà the French 

Canadians. The Canservatives cembined a scorn.for the French Canadians 

with an •verwhelming desire te maintain their ewn pesitietl of power in 

Upper Canada. They felt that this ceuld be accemplished enly be a cBn-

39 
Menet, "The Last Cannen Shet: A Study ef French-Ganadian 

Nationalism 183 7-1850, 11 vel. 1 , p. 23. 
40 

illi·, vel. 1, p. 70. 
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tinue« separation ef the two provinces, or by an arrangement which 

weulci ensure Upper Cana.dian ascenùa.ncy. The French Canadians feared and 

cieapise« most F.hglish Canadians of beth provinces. J.1oreover, they 

identified Lower Canada with the French-Canaàian nation, an« ciesire« to 

maintain it as a separate entity, as it had been in 1791. Beth antagon-

istic greups agree~ en one thing: the Union was the farthest thing 
41 

from 11the sévereignest thing en earth." Beth centinueci to whip up 

racial hatreà and sectionalism. In se doing, they prepareà the way for 

double majority. 

The most frenetic anti-Union activities were unàertake• in 

French Cana«a. The mas& of people clung to the iàea which had gaine« 

currency imme«iately after the Rebellion, and which for the next àeca«e 

woulci not lese its magic: Louis Joseph Papineau woulci return home when 

the time was auspicious, "at the head of an immense arm,y, and re-estab-
42 

lish "La Natien Canadienne"." More effective were the gia:nt public 

meetings and the nammoth protest petitions. In Three Rivers, the clergy 

persuaàeà people te add their names to the local anti-Union petition.43 

Montrealers coula sel4om be persua«ed to pad the scanty pro-Union pet-
44 

itien. Quebec City was the h•t-bed of opposition, encouraged b,v 

41 
Çuebec Gazette, March 22, 1843. 

42 
Craig (e«.), Lord Durham's Report, p. 43. 
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R.A.P.r~ •• 1927, 11 Duvernay Papers," fuvernay from J.E. Turcotte, 

Three Rivers, Feb. 2, 1840, no. 405, p. 223. 
44 

ibid., Letter te Ihvernay without signature, 1841, no. 535, 
p. 246. 
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Jehn Neilsen, editer ef the guebec Gazette. Neilsen established a eem­

mittee which circulated hundreds ef pestera advising the French Canaà-

ians te vete in the impending electiens •nly for these men tetally ep-
45 

pesed te the Uni•n and pledged te its repeal. 

This anti-union effort gained notice even in Upper Canada. 

11Nei1son, you observe , is hamme ring away, 11 wrote one Upper Canad.ian. 

11He is doing much mischief - net stopping at anything to werk his 
46 

en«s.n As early as April 30, 1840, Neilsen's Quebec Gazette, proudly 

announeed the resulta of his campaign: a tetal of 39,928 names, 190? 
4? 

English ameng them. The Gevernor was weil aware that Neilson 1s estim-

ate ef French-Canaà.ian opini•n was correct. "This prevince is tranquil 

fer the moment , 11 he told Lerd Russell. 

It isn 1t necessary however to believe that the àispesition 
ef the French-Ganad:ian popu1atien be changed, altheugh the 

45
scrope, Memoir of the Life of th~ Right Honourable Charle§, 

Lor« Sydenham, p. 216. 

46 
J.P. Merritt, Biogranhi ef the Hen, W.H. Merritt, (st. Cathar-

ines: E.S. Leavenworth, Boek & Jeb Printing Est., 1875), H.H. Killaly 
to W.H. Merritt, Office ef the Beard ef Werks, Nev. 6, 1840, p. 220-1. 

47 
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been expended en the certified marks by which the French Canadians ex­
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feelings of i ts weakness and of the great power ef the exec­
utive ~ower in Canada stops it from delivering itself of in­
suberàinate actiens.48 

The equally èissatisfied Censervatives of Upper Canada teok 

25 

advantage of French-Canadian @pinion. They suggested a pelitical alliance 

in the first Union Assembly which would have one single p11rpose: the 
49 

immeà.iate repeal of the Union. This preposal was crude, but in prin-

ciple net se very àifferent fran the refinements later kn.wn as double 

majerity. This repeal alliance was sabotaged by Upper Canatian Reformera 

in league with a few French Canadians. 

Am.eng the mass of French Canaàians were a few influential dis-

sent ers. They believeà that the Unien di.Œ net necessarily mean the eni. 

ef their survival as a àistinct nation. The most notable of these ils-

senters were Louis-Hippolyte LaFontaine and his friends Augustin-Norbert 

Morin and Etienne Parent. These men oppeseà repeal as a racially-metiv-

ated pelicy, equivalent te a separatist 1s dream. They preferred polit-
50 

ical rather than racial selutiens te the national problem. Therefore 

they cast their eyes net te the repeal-erieftted Upper Canadian Censer-

vatives, but te these wh• supperted beth Referm principles and the Unie~. 

48Qlebec Gazette, March 21, 1840, C.P. Thompson te Lori Russell, 
Lenion, Feb. 7, 1840. 
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William Drysdale & Co., 1884), p. 52, A.N. Morin to Hincks, Quebec, M~ 
8, 1841. 

50 
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During the years iJiti!Ieàiately after the Rebellions, LaFontaine be gan to 

conduct secret negotiations with Francis Hincks, ene of the Referm 

lea•ers in Upper Canada. His purpese was te effect an alliance with the 

Refermera in the Union legislature. Despite LaFentaine's opinion that a 

federal union weuld be much mere satisfacte~, Hincks was able te ceax 

him into agreeing that respensible gevernment weulà accomplish all that 
51 

a federal union weulct. Morin and Parent were als• convinced that this 

was true. 

Because their epinions ran ceunter te these of the French-Canai-

ian majerity, LaFentaine and Morin negetiateà in the strictest secrecy, 
52 

in oràer te av.id being labellei traitera te French Canada, er vendus. 

They greatly feared the deadly ven.m which the clergy and establisheà 

French-Canadian leaders weuld level at any Who dared te question the 

wisàem of repeal and French-Canadian separatisa. LaFentaine's position 

as a leader was far fr.m secure. Persenally unpepular, he had refused 

either te serve in, er te oppose the Rebellions, and had taken refuge 

ia Europe. Herin haà gene even further: he neither feught in the Rebel-

liens, nor signeè any anti-Union petitions. Hewever, his people leved 

him, and so he had less need te fear the ~ appellation than had 
53 

LaFentaine. Morin wa.s a.lse lucky enough te have been named in official 

51 
Sé.guin ( eà.) , "Documents Sur Le British North America, 1838-

1842," Publications ef the Institute of Histery, Hincks te LaFentaine, 
Toronto, Oct. 9, 1839, folie 3269-7, p. 9. 

52 
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British depositions for having hidden an escaped rebel prisoner, and 

having financed him. He had also comforted imprisoned rebels with gifts 

of books, and his treacherous neighbours reported mysterious visita 

by unidentified men, presumably involved in the Rebellions, to the 
54 

Morin residence. To the average French Canadian, such activities were 

highly patriotic. 

These conspirators faced another major obstacle quite apart 

fran opposition from their own people. They were certain that if the 

Govemor were to learn of the proposed alliance, he would find a way to 

quash it, and to force the French Canadians into a legislative minority. 

Crafty planning was absolutelr necessary if a French-Canadian-Refonn 

alliance were to succeed. 

Part of La.Fontaine 1 s strategy had been to supervise the anti-

Union petition in the District of l-tontreal. It differed slidltly from 

the petitions in the other Districts, hinting at alliance with the 

Reformera of Upper Canada. This immediately implied that the protest 

against the Union was merezy a token one, and that the main object was 

to render the Union advantageous to the French Canadians. LaFontaine 

managed things so that the petition never got much publicity, and he 

never posted it to England. This strategy served a double purpose. 

54 
In fact, right into the Morin bedroom, if gossip can be 

believed. P.A.C. Report 1923, "Durhan Papers,n Deposition of W.V. 
Andrews, Quebec, Oct. 1~, 1939, p. 774; Deposition of John Campbell, 
Quebec, Oct. 16, 1839, p. 775; Deposition of Elizabeth Lawson, Quebec, 
Oct. 16, 1938, P• 779; Deposition of Marie Doyer, Quebec, Oct. 16, 
1838, p. 784.;p. 141. 
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He had avoided a public declaration of support !2! the Union, even if 

his opposi. tien to it had lacked enthusiasn. Also Neil son and the vir­

ulent Quebec repealers were prevented from entering the District of 

Montreal, where LaFontaine was consolidating his position as leader.
55 

Ultimately, the two opposing policies involved the leadership struggle. 

The victor 1 s policy would soon win acceptance. For this reason the 

leadership struggle is always an important sub-theme in the study of 

double majority and its predecessor, repeal of the Union or French-

Canadian separatism. 

Prior to the 1841 elections, the negotiations proceeded cautious-

ly, arnid the continuing agitation for repeal. The Conserva.tive Montreal 

Herald ca.ught wind of them, and wrote an acid comment on one of LaFon-

taine• s trips to Toronto. ''M. Lafontaine doit prendre des arrangements 

avec M. Baldwin ••• et d'autres rebelles suspectés ou connus, relative-
56 

ment à la tactique à suivre dans 1 'assemblée des provinces unies. 11 

Parent 1 s Canadien hastily denied that politics were the object of the 

trip, for he dared not acknowledge the collaboration between the two 

groups. The talks were still burdened with mutual suspicion and hesit­

ation. Racial animosity between the French and English negotiators and 

thei r followers was one of the main problems. Baldwin realized that it 

could very well sabotage all plans for reform. "There is, and must be 

55 
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ionalisn 1837-1850, 11 vol. 1, p. 103-9. 
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no question of races-" he urged. urt were rnadness on one side, and 

guilt, deep guilt on both to make such a question-"
57 

Both he and 

Hincks had to constantly reassure LaFontaine that their followers were 

29 

thoroughly desirous of co-operation with the French Canadians, who still 
58 

harboured a deep distrust of all Upper Canadians. 

Instabili ty among the Upper Canada Re:fonn ers al s:> cont ributed to 

the problem. LaFontaine was staking his entire political career on suc-

cess of the alliance, yet tm se he had to deal wi th so secretly were 

irresolute and seemed poor risks. Few supposed Reformers attended the 
59 

Reform Levée. The leaders were continually warned of shiftiness in 

their followers as one politician after another jumped on the Reform 

bandwagon. Francis Hincks, perhaps unwiselY, passed on to LaFontaine, 

some of the lists of suspects supplied to him. Persona.lly, Hincks :felt 

it bad policy to seem to distrust those "who even at the eleventh hour 
&; 

see the error of their ways.-" Bluntly he asked LaFontaine, nt,Vould 

you act with any of our old enemies provided they agree to carry out 
61 

our J?2licz ••• ?" A recent convert would swell the ranks as much as an 
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old ally, and Hincks was convinced that both sections of the United 

Province should send a Reform majority to the Assembly "so as to silence 
62 

ali ca villing on the score of national origine (sic). 11 Al though res-

ponsible government, to which the Reformers were devoted, required only 

a simple numerical majority, the astute Hincks foresaw that the alliance 

would be sa.botaged by racial antagonisms unless each group proved its 

faith to the other in the tangible for.m of sectional majorities. This 

line of thinking, involving both sectionalisn and racism, was yet anot-

her step in the development of double majority. 

This type of thinking was evident on another occasion. In Feb-

ruary, 1840, the Governor had offered LaFontaine the Lower Canadian 

Solicitor-Generalship and a place in the Executive Council. LaFontaine 

ha.d dared not accept for fear of being branded a vendu, since his 

countr,ymen were still violently opposed to the Union. Hincks and the 

Reformera of Upper Canada had been bitterly disappointed at LaFontaine's 

refusal. H:incks wrote regretfully: 

I confess, however, that I was rather pleased to see that the 
Governor was willing to have acted w.i. th you, and I do not agree 
in thinking that you would have forged chains for yourself •••• 
If your friends could only have consented to it •••• we should 
on the opening of Parliament have had a Refonn Council for 
both Provinces6;riendly to a Repeal of obnoxiou s parts of the 
Union Bill •••• 
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Soon LaFontaine was equally worried about the leader of the 

Upper Canadian group wi. th which he was negotiating. The Govemor' s great 

dream was to have a non-partisan Assembly and Council, so that measures 

would be weighed on the basis of merit alone. His greatest coup in this 

respect was his successful wooing of Robert Baldwin into the Upper Can-

adian Solicitol'-Generalship, the same position which LaFontaine had re-

fused for Lower Canada. LaFontaine and his friends were horrified. 

Hincks took it upon himself to reassure him. "Privately His Ex:cellency 

makes the most liberal eromises. • •• 11 Hincks wrote. 11We think it :polic:t: 
64 

to assume that Mr. T(hompson) is sincere." 

Even oome of the Upper Canadians suspected that Baldwin, in ac-
65 

cepting office, had wantonly abandoned his principles. Baldwin had in 

fact carefully considered his position, and had finally agreed to ac-

cept office in the Executive Council on the understanding that respon-

sible govemment would be the governmental policy. Yet he felt that his 

chances of success were undermined by his own friends, and he felt ob­

liged to warn his Upper Canadian allies and the French Canadians that 

their willing alliance should not lead inevitabty to a collision with 
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66 
the Governor. 

This warning was specially well-direc ted to the French Ca.nadians, 

for men like LaFontaine, who supported the Union, hid their true feel­

ings under an avalanche of attacks on the Governor, and Baldwin feared 

they would succeed in arresting the working of the constitution under 
67 

which they hoped to achieve their camnon aime. The principal one, in 

his opinion, was responsible government. So pessimistie was he of his 

chances of forcing the implementation of responsible ~vernment that he 

wore his father 1 s o1d go'Wil, because in his thrifty opinion 11his tenure 

of office would probably be so short that he would not be justified in 
68 

purchasing a new si1k gown. n 

The rather tedious negotiations between the LaFontaine group 

and the Upper Canada Reformera was abrupt1y halted by the general 
69 

elections in the spring of 1841. Upper Canada e1ected 27 men believed 

to be Refonners, ll Tories, and 2 Independants. Lower Canada' s returns 

appeared to be 22 anti-Unionists, 19 pro-Unioniste, and 1 Independant. 
70 

Only 19 of the Lower Canadian representatives were French Canadian. 
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It was only after the Houses met and began the business of gov­

ernment that the tru.e composition of the Assembly was revealed. John 

Neilson and D.B. Viger, the two most innuential French-Canadian leaders, 

and avid anti-Unionists, were elected. LaFontaine was defeated in Terre-

bonne, and his policy was left to the safekeeping of his lieutenant and 

friend, Morin. The time for theory had ended. The time had arrived for 

the crucial test: the decision by the representatives to follow either 

the Neilson-Viger policy of demanding the repeal of the Union, or the 

LaFontaine-Mbrin policy of accepting the Union and working for the im-

plementation of responsiële government. 

In the manifesto to his constituants just prior to the elections, 

LaFontaine had finally and publicly committed himself to his hitherto 

concealed policy. He emphasized the political freedom which responsible 

government would allow the French Canadians, and e:xplained how respon-

sible government could be gained by allying with the Upper Canada Re­

formera. On the other hand, he argued, repeal demands miéilt simply 

result in the British Government's placing Lower Canada once again under 
71 

a despised Special Council. This plea for an alliance based on po1-

itical principles was a radical one to the French Canadians who thought 

primarily in racial tenns, and who despised both the Canadian Union 
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and most En.glish Canadians. Moreover, the chief objeet of this policy 

was to win responsible government - an F.nglish principlel This man-

ifesto did LaFontaine little good in lùs election fight. 

One of the recent converts to Refonn prineiples, and one whose 

constaney the Upper Canadians suspected, was the imperturbable William 

Hamilton Merritt. Attempting to solve the difficulties of Parliament, 

Merritt kept busy at his usual pastime. "Scribble, scribble ali the 
72 

time; I wonder he doe s not lose his senses'', scolded his wife. Belying 

the need for any anxiet,y on the part of his newfound colleagues, he was 

engaged in a correspondance on their behalf. Among his correspondants 

was the anti-Unionist John Neil son, whom Merri tt was trying to talk out 
73 

of his anti-Unionist articles in the Quebec Gazette. Merritt claimed 

that the Union could be made to work "for the mutual benefit of ali", 
74 

but Neils::m was in no mood for conciliation. He explai.ned testily 

that he merely spoke the views of the Lower Canada representatives. 

"I have had no consultation with any of them, but I am not apprehensive 
75 

of any mistake", he warned the worried Upper Canadian. 
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There seemed to be grounds in fact for Neilson1 s opinion. Even 

LaFontaine began to question the wisdam of the alliance which he had 

so eagerlf worked for. Depressed by what he considered his unjust de-

feat in Terrebonne, he would no longer commit himself to the alliance. 

Hincks pointed out to him that such a refu.sal would drive the Upper 

Canadians into the welcoming arms of the Lower Canadian Tories. The 

Tories would co-operate by helping to crush the power of the old 

Family Compact and the Orangemen of Upper Canada. Urging LaFontaine to 

forget the injuries which he and his people had suffered, Hincks warned 

him "by taking an ex.treme course at prese11t ;you are pla;ying the game of 

your anemies and placing power in there (sic) hands to oppress you still 

more •••• 11 Y et, Hincks continued, elever management would avert any 
76 

oppression. A fortnight later, he added that since it was obvious 

that Lower Canada's representation would not be increased despite its 

larger population, only by joining with the Refo~ers of Upper Canada 

would the French Canadians yield any influence in the affairs of the 
77 

country. 

Augustin Morin proved more tractable, and his estimate of the 

temper of the French-canadian deputies was more encouraging than Neil-

son' s had been. He assured Hincks th at not m re than one or two Quebec 
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members and probab~ none of the Montrealers, still supported the idea 

of making the repeal of the Union a "sine qua non" question. This was a 

vindication of his and LaFontaine's policy, and of LaFontaine• s increas-

ing importance as a leader, despite his electoral defeat. Nevertheless, 
78 

Morin insisted that the real leader was Neilson, and no other. At this 

news Hincks would have ground his teeth in rage had he not had the most 

conciliator,y nature possible, for he and the dogmatic Neilson quarrelled 

over the benefits of the Union, and over responsible government: in 

other words, those issues of prime importance to the Upper Canadian Re­

formera. Luckily for the chances of the alliance, Neilson in !act shared 

leadership in the Assembly with Viger, Horin and T.C. Aylwin, during the 
79 

first session. Although the first two were finn repealers, Morin and 

Aylwin supported the Union, and were able to influence the represent-

atives. 

One of the first events of the first session of Parliament was 

the election of a Speaker. A few days before Parlianent opened, l•forin 

and the supposed~ anti-Unionist representatives had met with the Refo~ 
80 

ers of Upper Canada to plan their strategr. They had agreed to nominate 

Austin Cuvillier, a wealthy French-Canadian marchant for the Speakel"-
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ship. Thelr first victory over the Govemor eonsisted in forcing his 

advisers to "swall.ow the bitter pill by publicly voting for a gentleman 
S1 

who had declared his entire want of confidence in them." After this 

initial victory, the new and uncertain alliance suffered various set-

backs. The result was that the po1icy of accepting the Union and forcing 

responsible gpver,nment was not irrevocably establisned, despite the 

lessening of repeal demanda. 

The first set-back involved the circumstances of Baldwin's 

resignation. He intended to test the Governor 1 s sinceri ty in his supposed 

policy of imp1emen ting responsible gpvemment by advising him to summon 

La.Fontaine and others of the Reform party to office. Should this be re-
82 

f'used, he would resign. However, the Govemor was irritated by "this 
83 

insolent and Wat Tyler-1ike demand", and rejected Baldwin' s advice. 

Still amarting from LaFontaine's refusa! to accept office, Sydenham 

had felt obliged to worsen matters by lying about it, snarling: 

I need not say the whole is a lie fran beginning to end, and 
it is felt to be so because his friends know that he would 
have jumped at any priee. He is a cantankerous fellow with­
out talent& not worth buying or I would have had him when 
I pleased. 
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LaFontaine had confinned the rumour that he had refused Sydenham 1 s 

offer and the news leaked into various newspapers, whieh further enraged 

the Governor, who insisted that LaFontaine was full of the old revol-
85 

utionary spirit. He was contemptuous of most other French Canadians in 

Parliament, since he believed that they were disloyal, and he was there­

fore furious at Baldwin' s presumption in asking him to deal with these 

traitors. Had he known of the ownership of the gown Baldwin wore, he 

would have been doubl.y angry, for he believed of Baldwin 11that when 

away fran that mischievous old ass, his Father, good may be made of 

him", and he must have disliked another of the reforming Baldwins bear-
86 

ing trouble in the same old garb. 

Baldwin lived up to his threat, and resigned. Ironicall.y, this 

happened on the very day of Cuvillier' s election as Speaker. 87 Sydenham 

claimed to be unperturbed at this, announcing his ollrt complete victory 

in the mat ter. 

I have got rid of Baldwin and finished him as a public man for­
ever ••• The only two Upper Canada members he ca:n get to vote 
with him being noted agitators of little weight whose return I 
could prevent to-morrow if theywent to their constituents. I 
have left hi. rn leading the ruml of the old Lower Canada Assembly, 
a party of 12 or 14 only •••• 
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Baldwin now sat on the left of the Speaker with these Lower 
89 

Canadians and 11those few who may be styled his coadjutors-" He had 

gambled and lost. The so-called Reform party' s contingent from Upper 

Canada dissolved wh en i t came to voting against the govemment, and the 

vaunted Reform alliance had left the French Canadians in opposition. This 

was not the only cœ sequence of Baldwin t s resignation, lbich the French 

Canadians had to take into account as a debt of honour when they 

planned their political strategy. This debt was to burden them for many 

years to come, and was to have a direct influence on the rate of double 

majority. 

Despite this set-back, the French Canadians stubbornly clung to 

their policy of opposing the govemment. This determ.ined fidelity to the 

Reform alliance, brain-child of LaFontaine and Morin, was the despair 

of both the anti-Unionists and the Govemor. '!he anti-Unionists blamed 

their own failure to force repeal on the quality of the French-Canadian 

dePJ,ties. "At a time when we ought to have been most scrupulous and pa.r­

ticular in the choice of representatives we have been reduced to the 

necessity of taking what we could get."
90 

The Govemor crisply informed 

British officialdan that their belier that the French Canadians could 
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91 
be bought to support any govermnent was "full of blunders •••• '1 Syd-

enham had learned this by experience. 

The Upper Canadian menbers of the Reform alliance were not as 

inflexible as their French-Canadian brethren. l-1any of them were bound 

only by a common "disgust at the old officials11 and 11a desire to have 

a constitutional mode of enabling the Executive to remain on good tenns 
92 

wi th the Country. tt Yet on matters which their leaders considered most 
93 

essential, the rank and file differed fUndamentally. The Imperial 

loan with which Sydenhan tempted the waverers was very alluring, and 

divided the Reformers. This loan also had the effect of reconciling 

many of the ultra-Conservatives to the Union, and they were reported 
94 

ready to fly into the Governor' s arms. A rumour was circulating that 

Baldwin had not resigoed, but had been booted out of office because 

scmeone had repeated to the Govemor a violent speech which Baldwin was 
95 

alleged to have made at a party caucus. Francis Hincks, who had taken 

such pains to convince LaFontaine of the value of a Reform alliance, in 

effect deserted that alliance, upon which LaFontaine had staked his pol­

itical career. Hincks later justified his behaviour. r'I certainly was 
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at tir st disposed to act in concert with the opposi. tion but when i t be-

came apparent that the Govt. could not be overthrown I deaned it right 
96 

to judge their measures on their merlts. 11 He complained that many 

Lower Canadian deputies who were elected as Tories proved in reali ty to 
97 

be more liberal than the so-called Liberal s. Hincks the poli tical an-

imal met up with French Canadians to whom political ideals and liberal 

legislation took second place to their national or racial aspirations. 

Sydenham encouraged this lack of party stability. "1 have given them a 

fresh hare to run •••• I have broken up old parties, shutfled the cards, 

and given then a new deal and new partners'', was the way his policy was 
98 

described by one well-known 11political commentator". 

The practical resul t of the !allure of' the Reform alliance was 

that the French Canadians had less influence in the goverrunent than they 

were ever to have in future parliaments. Their allies, the Upper Canada 

Ref'ormers, held the balance of power, but usually sided wi th the Govern-

or, rarely with Baldwin, leader of' the alliance. Analysing the Parliament 

many years later, Francis Hincks suggested that the French Canadians 

could have secured a real voice in goverrunent only by means of the sy&­

tem of double maj:>ritv. This system, "instead of' counteracting the in­

fluence of the French Canadians, would have been the means of securing 
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it." Admittedly Hincks made this judgement with the wisdom of hind-

sight. La.Fontaine, however, ha.d committed himself' and almost the whole 

of' the French-Canadian delegation to the Ref'orm alliance, and the figtlt 

for responsible government. In the first session, his policy was a dismal 

failure. 

Despite the practical fa.ilure, there was a theoretical victory, 

or as one sceptic put it, "the public time was wasted by the discussion 

of abstract and theoretical questions of government; the real business 

of the colony was temporarily laid aside that personal feelings and 
lOO 

party triumph might be gratified •••• n Responsible govemment was con-
101 

ceded in theory, in the for.m of the Resolutions of September 3rd, 1841. 

The Act of Union itself provided only the skeleton outline in which Can-

adian government was to operate. Responsible government, defining the 

various relationships within the govem;-nenta1 structure, was the "engine 11 

of government. "The engine itself is of vital importance. Its structure 
102 

determines what you canuse as fuel •••• 11 Time and time again in the 

very near future, double majority was to be frustrated by its incompat-

ibility with the engine of government. The most significant tenet of 
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resp:>nsible government was the constitutional right of members of Parl­

iament to express their confidence in the government by means of a simple 

nu.merical majority, undistinguished by section, or by racial origin. The 

simple majority concept was reinforced by the Act of Union which had 

constitutionally destroyed the provincial divisions, and had created one 

Province. 

The ephemeral victory of the Reform alliance in terms of wrest­

ing resp.msible government from an unwilling Ex.ecuti ve Council was dis-

paraged by two of the alliance• s leaders, Baldwin and Neil son. "It is 

idle to concede responsible gpvernment unless there is a fair repres-

enta tion of the people tt, Baldwin warned, referring to the current mode of 

selecting representatives by scandale which went under the name of 
103 

elections. Neilscn and his friends felt that the alliance was with-

out value for the French Canadiens, since the Upper Canadians were con-

tent with a phantom resiX>nsible government, and the alliance was plagued 
104 

by the most disgraceful haggling. In fact, the whole mode of conduct-

ing the govemment was disgracefu1. 

The members of the first Par1iament, elected under conditions of 

almost universal intrigue, if violence itself was absent, had assemb1ed 

in Kingston. Ironically, the temporary Parliament building was a hospit-
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105 
al, sumptuously fitted out for the occasion. The Legislative Council 

was equal1y well supplied with "upholstery and carpeting, to give it an 
106 

air of simple neatness and dignity. 11 Apparently the luxury of the 

Houses was not sufficient lure for many representatives. As was to be 

the case throughout the Union period, attendance was often shamefu1ly 

small; even Executive Councillors 11had to be reminded of so elementary 
107 

a duty as at tendance •••• 11 '!he Legislative Councillors who at full 
lOS 

force were to number not fewer than twenty, almost never mustered 
109 

more than eleven members, and seldom did even eight of them attend. 

As to the legislation itse1f, even the hardened Sydenham was 

astoni::hed, telling his brother that such wild scenes in the Parliament 

were beyond the imagination of any but spectators. »Every man proposes 

a vote for his own job; and bills are introduced without notice, and 
llO 

carried through al1 their stages in a quarter of an hour!" he wrote. 
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Often the Bills passed in both Houses as committees of the whole, 

were so confused in wording that many members, if they had actually 

cane to the Chambers, did not bother to listen to them. The meaning of 

some Ri.lls was so unclear that amendments were impossible. Often too, 

the parchmEnt copies differed from the prlnted copies which were dis­

tributed to the members. And when Bills were being introduced, it was 

not unusual to find that only the marginal notes were read, when many of 
111 

the representatives were out of the House. The result of this incred-

ible turmoil and inefficiency was that in a list of legislation passed 

in any one session, are to be found at least a few Bills whose sole pur-

pose is to amend Acts otherwise incapable of being made operational, and 
112 

Acts to explain or clarify Acts passed in previous sessions. 

The members often conducted thenselves in a most unparliamentary 

manner. On the whole the French members were pollte and quiet, perhaps 

because of their different educational background and training, added 
113 

to thei r imperfect command of the E:nglish language. Francis Hincks 

had glossed over the language difficulty, telling LaFonta:ine that nyour 

leading representatives will be able to speak E:nglish,arrd you doubtless 

have plenty like us, who do nothing but vote", and who presumably would 
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114 
be in no need of understanding what they were voting :for. The English 

members, on the other hand, were rude, loud and personal, as a reading 
115 

of the debates con:firms. Another offense, one common to all members, 

was to attend Parliament in a state of inebriation. Setting a precedent 

for successive Parliaments, the members began their business of govem-

ment in such a disorderly fashion, that many times the furniture alone 

managed to retain its dignity. 

In such a disorganized atmosphere, it was not remarkable that 

along with responsible government another and conflicting principle 

arose, unnoticed by anyone. This was the principle of double majority. 

In retrospect, the Union politicians decided that from the :first ses-

sion of the :first Parliament, double ma.jority was actually practiced. 

In matters affecting Upper Canada solely, members fran that 
section claimed and generally exercised the right of exclusive 
legislation, while members :from Lower Canu~ legislated in 
matters a:ffecting only their own section. 

This assertion is best analysed by a brief surve,y of actual legislation. 

One of the principal measures of the first session was the Dis-
117 

trict Council Bill for Upper Canada. Sydenham had been furious when 
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he discovered that the Imperial Government had not included any machin-

ery for the establishment of local governmmt in the Act of Union. He 

felt that this omission had already led the Assembly to assume functions 
ll8 

which did not properly belong to it, and which gave it too much power. 

In Lower Canada, during the suspension of the constitution, Sydenham had 

established local goverrunent by crown nominees by means of his Special 

Counci1.
119 

So he had only to worry about municipal government for 

Upper Canada, the object of his Bill. 

Opposition to the Bill was widespread, rut Sydenham blamed it 

on the ultra-Tories, and 11Agitators amongst the French party who see 
120 

that i t will deprive them of power." Many areas of legislation pres-

ently within the competence of the Assembly would be lost to local 
121 

councils. An omnipotent Governor such as Sydenham could use to his 

own advantage the rivalry thus engendered between the general and local 

governments. 

The French Canadians interfered with the passage of the Bill. 

If they had suceeeded in defeating it, the Assembly would have retained 

power to legislate in Upper Canada's internai affaira. Sydenham believed 
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P• 100-2. 

120 
Knaplund ( ed.), Letters fran Lord Sydenham to Lord Russell, 

Sydenham to Russell, Nov. 24, 1840, p. 101. ' 
121 

P.A.o. Baldwin Papers, George Ridout to Baldwin, Toronto, 
Ju~ 20, 1841, vol. 4, p. 113. 
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that the French Canadians earnestly desired this, so their own influence 

on Upper Canada could be maintained. Sydenham did them an injustice. 

Their main concern was that local elective governrnent should be given 

to Lower Canada as well. Alternately, if Lower Canada had to retain the 

system of appointed councils, then that system should likewise prevail 
122 

in Upper Canada. They insisted on equality of treatment. 

The resul t wa.s a compromise Bill, giving Upper Canada lirnited 

elective government. Many Upper Canadians opposed it as being too lirnit-

123 
ed. While the Bill was being drafted, the Lower Canadian ordinance 

had been referred to the cornmittee of the whole, for the purpose of mak-

124 
ing the local governrnents of both sections alike. The Government 

dared not give in to Upper Canadians on a point considered essential for 

Lower Canada. 

Still unsatisfied, the French Ca.nadians let it be known before 

the voting that Upper Canadians favouring the Bill were perpetuating 

an injustice by taking advantage of the indienities suffered by Lower 
125 

Canada. On the other hand, men like Hincks and four French Canadians 

who saw things his way, did not wish to deprive Upper Canada as well 

of elective local governrnent. Their unexpected support enabled the 

122 
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P.A.C. Neilson Papers, Glackemeyer to Neilson, Quebec, Sept. 
1, 1841, vol. 10, p. 272. 
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Bill to pass by a narrow majority. 

The French Canadians all but sabotaged this Bill, although it 

49 

concerned only Upper Canada. Double majority was therefore not practiced 

in this important instance. Significantly, however, the French Canadians 

were criticized for their interference, because the idea of exclusive 

sectional powers of legislation for sectional measures had already 

begun to develop. This was soon to become one of the most essential corol-

laries of the system of double majority. 

The Lower Canadians successfully interfered with another Upper 

Canadian measure. This was a resolution by Francis Hincks for the con-

struction of macadamized roads, all in the Upper section. Amendments 

put forward were rejected, and after a tie vote on the main motion, 

the Speaker, Cuvillier, a Lower Canadian, cast the decisive "no 11 vote. 

The breakdown of the vote was as follows: 21 Upper Canadians and 4 Lower 

Canadians voted yes; 16 Lower Canadians and 9 Upper Canadians voted 
127 

no. Lower Canada had rejected a measure involving only Upper Canada. 

Again incipient double majority was controverted; again the Lower Can-

adians were severely criticized. The criterion for the complainants was 

sectional exclusivity. 

In another instance, Lower Canad:ian interference in such an 

Upper Canadian question was gratefully welcomed. Historians have always 

given W.H. Merritt most of the credit for the construction of the Wel-

126 

P• 105. 
Leacock, Baldwin L~Fontaine Hincks: Res:e:msible Government, 

127 
Hincks, Reminiscences of His Public Life, p. 75. 
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land Canal system, which was highly important for Canadian economie dev­

elopment. Merritt himself assigned the credit differently at a meeting 

of his constituents. 

Lower Canadian members are entitled to your gratitude, for 
to their noble and disinterested conduct are we indebted for 
ready access to the sea. Notwi th standing the heavy debt they 
have already assumed, and the very great disproportion of 
expenditure in this section, they voted to a maÏ ~or the com­
pletion of the Welland and St. Lawrence canals. 2 

French-Canadian participation had ensured success for the Bill. Never-

theless, as a principle such interference was more and more frowned upon. 

This negative attitude led to the positive formulation of the principle 

of double majori ty. 

This principle was slowly beginning to shape political thinking. 

It came very close to legislative sanction in the first session. Since 

the terms of the Act of Union compelled Lower Canada to provide money 

for Upper Canada's obligations, all money measures were suspiciously 

regarded by Lower Canadians. Being thrifty and fearful of increasing 

local taxation, the French Canadians themselves refused to initiate any 

public works, and they not unreasonably begrudged that even more of the 

revenue, to which they contributed a proportionately larger share, 
129 

should continue to flow into Upper Canadian public works. Conseq-

uently, one of the Lower Canada representatives, T.C. Aylwin, tried, 

128 
Merritt, Biography of the Hon. W.H. Merritt, Address to the 

Freeholders of the County of Lincoln, Sept. 23, 18.41, p. 2.40. 
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albeit unsuccessfully, to establish by the authori~ of the votes in 

the Assembly, the principle that no debt could be incurred for public 
130 

works without the constnt of a major:ity from Lower Canada. This 
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motion would have established double majori ty as the modus operandi in 

a limited but ver,y important area or legislation. This first abortive 

attempt at implementing double majority was based solely on sectionalism, 

without a hint of the racist shading which later led to such strong sup-

port for double majority in Lower Canada. 

The almost imperceptible development of double majority was in-

advertently encouraged by Governor Sydenham. The principle of sectional-

ism was ruilt into the public administration, which provided the frame-

work and foundation upon which the government operated, and which re-
1.31 

mained substantially unchanged throughout the Union period. Many of 

the administrative departments were divided into sections corresponding 

to the two sections of Canada, legally non-existent under the Act of 

Union. Division began at the executive level with the political Min­

isters, and ended uncompromisingly only with John Bull and Jean Baptiste, 
1.32 

the humblest office boys. The provincial divisions were tacitly recog-

nized by the Act of Union which supposedly destroyed them, by granting 

p. 99. 

1.30 
Leacodc, Baldwin LaFontaine Hincks: Resp:msible Government, 

1.31 
Hodgetts, Pioneer Public Service: An Administrative Historz 

of the United Canadas, 1841-186z, p. 35. 
132 
~., p. 2:74-5. 



133 
equal representation to each of the two sections. The legal systems 

of each section were continued after the Union, despite their discrep-

ancies. Each section mai.ntained its own legal bar, and i ts own civil 
134 

code, and only cri.minal. law was uniform throughout the Province. This 

sectionalism was "a regrettable acknowledgement fran the administrative 

point of view of the truth of Lord Durhan 's famous statement, 11! round 
135 

two nations warring in the bosom of a single state. nu The subtle 

mingling of sectionalism and raci sm was one of the most important fea-

tures of the Union period. 

In this chapter, the political and constitutional climate within 

which double majority developed has been described. The actual situation 

giving rise to the Rebellions, and the interpretation given it by Lord 

Durham, was a canbination of racial hatred, an overwhelming drive for 

reform, and bad relations between the two Provinces. The Act of Union 

was designed to end racial strife by assimilating the French Canadians, 

to give greater scope for refonn of gpvernment, and to remove all causes 

for antagonisn between the Provinces by uni ting them. Instead, Ca.nadian 

reaction to the Union crystallized both racism and sectionalism to the 

1.33 
El.wood Jones, "Quasi-Federal Province of Canada," (Unpublished 

paper presented to the Public Archives of Canada History Club, Feb. 
1965), P• 5, 10. ' 
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extent that they not only conditioned political thought, but were even 

incorporated into public administration, and thus officially sanctioned. 

The system of double majority was based on both these features. 

Although the hope for immediate repeal of the Union was defeated 

at once by the failure of the proposed French-Canadian-Upper Canada 

Conservative alliance, the failure of the alternate alliance between 

the French Canadians and the Upper Canada Refonners to live up to the 

expectations of its authors had serious consequences. Its ephemeral 

victories, such as the granting of responsible government, could not 

compensate for the set-backs: the defeat of LaFontaine, the prime mover 

of the alliance in Lower Canada; the ineffectual resignation of Baldwin; 

and most notably, the defection of most of the Upper Canadian members 

of the alliance. 

Therefore the simultaneous development of the basic tenets of 

responsible government and of double majority still allowed the members 

of Parliament to pursue one or the other of the different purposes of 

the two conflicting principles. Basically, responsible government in­

volved an acceptance of the Union, and double majority implied a re­

jection of it. B.y the end of the first session, double majority had 

found expression in the area of actual legislation. The next chapter 

deals with events which saw the rapid development of the concept, 

extended into practical government, and as it was defined in negotiations 

between various politicians. 



CHAPTER III 

BAGOT 1 S GREAT MEASURE 

It is certainly a matter of just cemplaint ••• that the Lower 
Canadiams have at present no representative of French origin 
in the Executive GevernmeHt of the Country •••• 

Are we to bide our time, and wait till immigration hems 
in and overwhelms the French population, and French Power? 
This nmst happen seme day or ether - but in the meanti:ae I 
may lese my majority in the Legisla!ure •••• In short it is 
perplexi.ng - infinitely perplexi.ng. 

Immediately prier to the prorogation of the first session of 

Parliament, Lord Sydenham died, and was succeeded by Sir Richard. Jack-

sen. Jackson did little during his temporary administration except fill 
2 

a few offices in the manner intended by Lord $ydenham. S..n a permanent 

Geverner was found. Sir Charles Bagot was chosen because he fulfilled 

the rather negative quali!icati0ns considered àesirable for the position: 

a Civilian in preference to a Military ll&ll ••• seme one who has 
extensive experience in public aff airs, of a certain rank and 
station in society, of moderate political opinions, and wbt 
has not taken part in pa.rliamentary dis eussions, er~ating an 
unfavourable impression against him in the Canadas. 

1 
Séguin (e<i.), tiiJecuments Sur Le British North America, 18.38-

1842," Publications of the Institute of History, Bag.t to stanley, 
Kingston, July 10, 1842, folio .3271, p. 4. 

2 
Çpebee Gazette, Jan. 2, lf!43, cites Montreal Morning Courrier, 

Dec. 21, 1842. 
3
P.A.C. Queen Victoria Papers, R. Peel to Queen Victoria, 

Whitehall, Sept. 10, 1841, p. 93. 
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4 
His Sovereign had expresse~ ber uneasiness at his appointment. However, 

British efficials had been generally eptimistic about his ultimate suc-

cess in this ceuntcy which Sydenham 11placed in greeves se that a child 
5 

may guide it • 11 

The re were al se a few changes in the Canadian Assembly. The 

French Cua.dians gained. three members in by-elections. Denis Benjamin 

Papineau replaced Charles D. Day; William Walker, a LaFentaine partisan, 

defeated the vendu Cel. M.A. DeSalabercy; and Louis lüchel Viger re-

placed Morin who had resigned te become a judge. At last LaFcnta:ine him.-

self won a seat, through the courtesy of his political ally Rebert 

Baldwin, who arranged f•r his election in the Upper Canadian constituency 
6 

ef 4th Yerk. This was the secend of Baldwin's political services which 

constituted the 11debt 11 incurred by him on behalf of the French Canadians. 

LaFontaine entered a Parliament where his policy ef respensible govern-

ment had be en theeretically conceded. Hewever, the turbulence and lack 

ef experience of the representatives rendered the theory ineffective in 

practice. The French-Canadian delegation was still unrepresented in the 

Executive CGUnci1, and was becaming increasinely restless in opposition. 

It was c1ear that LaFentaine would have te produce far more tangible 

4 ill!•, Qleen Victeria te R. Peel, Claremont, Sept. 9, 1841, p. 92. 

5 
P.A.C. Baget Papers, Seaton to Sir Geerge 'Hurray, Whitby, Sept. 

6, 1841, vol. 2, p. 151. 
6 
Dent, Canada Since the Union of 1841, (Dent's copy), Hincks te 

Dent , ltlest Philadelphia, Aug. 2 5 , 1881, Yol. 4. 
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victories than the granting of respensible gevernment if he were to 

continue to assert his leadership ever the French Canadians. 

'!he French Canadiana were in oppesition largely because their 

leaders centinued to refuse the various offers te join the Administration 

on the grounds that the Draper Gevernment was the child of Lord Sydenham, 
7 

the Governor who had caused the French Canadians such distress. Y et it 

was later rumoured that at least some ef these invitations bad offered 

the French Canadians a chance te ferm a gevernment based on deuble maj-

ority. Twe ef the best substantiated effers are therefore examined. In 

Quebec City, July 1842, Robert Baldwin Sullivan, a Conaervative Executive 

Counciller, propesed to LaFontaine and hiR friend Ren~ Edouard Caron that 

they, er one or two other influential French Canadians, join the Gevern-

ment. Beth men refused on the usual grounds that the Draper Ceuncil was 

Sydenham's creatien, and did not truly represent Lower Canada. They felt 
8 

that the addition ef two French 11namesn WE>uld not remedy the situation. 

'!he a.vernment of which Sullivan was a member had not authorized him t • 

make this offer, so that his own description of it is the most author-
9 

itative. He strenuwsly denied that he had intended to offer the "re-

pulsive" system ef dwble majority. 

7 
Eè.. Murray Wrong, Charles Buller and Responsible Government, 

(Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1926), p. 292-3, cites E.G. Wakefield, "Sir 
Charles Metcalfe in Canada, 11 Fisher' s Colonial Y..a.gazine, vol. 1, ne. 7, 
(July' 1844). 

8 
9lebec Gazette, April 13, 1846, LaFontaine te Caren, Montreal, 

Sept. 10, 1845. 
9La Minerve (Montreal), Sept. 23, 1842. (Hereafter cited as~ 

Minerve). 



I never separated the functions of the Executive Council •••• 
I never contemplated government ~J majerities ef the House 
distinguished as Lewer & Upper Canadian majerities - I was 
willing to support their policy wi th the whele strength of 
Gevernment & I expeoted the same suppert fran them - so long 
as we could agree & when we could no longer we were te sep­
arate. There was to be ne tory Goven;ment for Upper Canada 
& Whig or liberal for L.wer Canada. 

The High Tories, direct heirs of the Family Cempact, bad alse 
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been negotiating with the French Canad.ians. The giat of the arrangement 

lay in the invitation to uni te "se as te ferm a majori ty in the Assembly; 

and then let us di vide the Government of Canada between us, yeu taking 
11 

the East and we the l'lest. tt The purpose of this arrangement would be te 

"virtualzy almost set aside the Union", and te elaberate a detailed plan 

er "bargam between the two parties accerdin g to which each of them would 
12 

have its ewn way in its own divisisn Gf the province •••• " This plan was 

a cru de f'•nn of' double majarity. In 1842, i t lacked only the fermal 

title. 

This double ma,jority prepesal bad ne pelitical consequence at 

10 
T .P .L. Baldwin Papers, R. B. Sullivan to R. Baldwin, Teronto , 

May 7, 1846, vol. A55, p. 152. 
11 

Ursilla Macdonnell, "Gibbon Wakefield and Canada subsequent te 
the Jhrha.m. Mission," Queen's Qaarterlv, XXXII (Nov. 1924, Feb. 1925), 
p. 296, cites Wakefield to the Celenial Gazette, July 10, 1842. 

12 
Eciward Gibbon Wakefield, A View of Sir C les Metc fe's 

Governm.ent of' Canada, (London: Snith, Elder, 1844 , p. 39, Wakefield to 
J .J. Girouard, Beaubarnois, Aug. 20, 1842. 
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13 
the time. Fer one thing, J;Ierin and LaFontaine categorically refused 

te agree te it. Nevertheless, the fact that sorne such arrangement was 

even centemplated as a feasible canditi~n for government of the United 

Canadas is vecy significant. The two requirements for the successful 

implementation of this plan were, firstly, that aectionalism sheuld be 

given complete sanction, ta the point of ignoring the fact of the Union. 

Secondly, common political policy was net at all essential between the 

twe centracting parties, en ce the arrangement had been sealed by mutual 

consent. This of course presuppesed the greater importance of national 

or racial objectives over mere politieal ideals such as Refermism er 

Conservatism. The se t w requirements were soon te be incerporated in te 

the formalized theery of double majority as integral features of the 

system. 

As long as the French Canadians insisted on uphold:ing Referm 

ideals, a form of double majerity was essential if French-Ganadian in-

terests were to be protected in the ~vernment. Only when the Reformer& 

of Upper Canada. were in power edd the idea of double majority 'be set 

aside by their Lower Canadian allies , fer as their ally, LaFontaine 

would automatically be included in any Referm government. In 1842, how-

ever, LaFontaine had enough influence to reject the Upper Canadian 

Conservative effers of double majority, and to cling to his policy of 

guaranteeing French-Canadian interests by means ef responsible govern-

ment and the Reform alliance. 

13 
P.A.C. Ba.got Papers, S.B. Harrisen te Bagot, Kingston, July 

11, 1842, vol. 2, p. 413-4. 



Gevernor Bagot attempted to appease the French Canadians by 

judicial and administrative appointments, without allowing them int• 

the Government itself. Joseph Rémy Vallières de Saint-Réal had become 

Chief Justice of the District of Montreal, and Dominique Mendelet was 

appointed to fill the same pest for the District of' Three Rivera. Twe 
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ether French Canadians accepted judgeships, and another was made Super-

14 
intendant of Public Instruction fer Lewer Canada. Three 1eading French 

Canadians, including LaFontaine and Morin, and one cf their English-

15 
speaking political allies, T.C. Aylwin, were named Queen's CGunsel. 

One wag wrete that so many French Canadians were in office that Neils<m, 

the intransigent anti-Unionist, would "have te .ioin the Government from 
16 

very lenliness (sic). 11 The French Canadians, ho,tever, were only tem-

porarily assuaged, and soen began to mount pressure for more fundamenta1 

recognition. They cast their eyes to the Executive Counci1 itse1f. 

The members of the Council were favourab1e to French-Ganadian 

accession to office. They advised Bagot that since their Gevernment as 
17 

constituted did not possess the confidence of the majority, only the 

14
wade, The French Canadians 1760-1945, p. 236-7. 

15 
J.O. Coté, P~•~1~i~t~i~c~a·1~ .. ~~~~~--------~~~--~~Pr--•~vi~n_c_e 

ef' Canada, frem 1841 to 1865, 125. 

16 

29, 1842. 
17 

Qqebec Gazette, Ju1y 11, 1842, cites Halifax Nova Scetian, June 

P.A.C. Baget Papers, S.B. Harrison to Bagot, Kingston, July 11, 
1842, vel. 2, p. 412-9. 
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French-Canadian party, which tended to vote unanimously, could guarantee 
18 

a majority to the Government. The only alternatives open to the Coun-

cillera were te continue te depend for suppert on those Upper Canadian 

Reformera who were merely biding their time before mounting a cencerteù 
19 

attack on the Government, or te resign as a body. Neither alternative 
20 

was considered acceptable: the first was hepeless, the secend absurd. 

The main draw-back to appreaching the French-Canadian party waa 
21 

that it s leaders wwld insist that Baldwin be included in any plan. 

Yet even this seemed preferable to dissolution, and a new general elec-
22 

tion. However, Bagot balked at the suggestion at first, and attempted. 

to find a compromise solution which v-teuld be satisfactory to his sup-

eriors in England. In various dispatches he had been warned not to be 

disheartened at governing with a minority of representatives, for he 

could use the •pportunity to "betray his opponents into seme false 
23 

step •••• " 

18 
ibid., H. Draper to Bagot, Quebec, July 16, 1842, vol. 2, p. 

442-3. 19-
Le Canadien ( Q.lebec), Sept. 16, 1842. (Hereafter cited as Le 

Canadien). 
20 

Quebec Gazette, Jan. 2, 1843, cites Montreal Morning Ceurrier, 
Dec. 21, 1842. 

21
P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, Theedore Hart to Baldwin, Montreal, 

July 24, 1842, vol. 4, p. 164. 
22 

P.A.C. Baget Papers, S.B. Harrison tc Bagot, Kingston, July 
11, 1842, vol. 2, p. 419-21. 

23 
~·, stanley te Bag•t, DoWiling St., April 1, 1842, vol. 9, 

p. 51; see also ibid. , R. Peel to stanley, Aug. 28, (ne year) , vol. 9, 
P• 147; Stanley to Bagot, Downing St., Sept. 1, 1842, vol. 9, p. 153. 
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To this end he sug~ested that Hincks, as representative of the 

Reformera including the French Ca.nadians, be added to the Council. Also, 

he wished to include either John S. Cartwright or Henry Sherweed as 
24 

representatives ef the extreme Conservatives. Hincks accepted his 

invitation, and en June 9, 1842, became Inspecter-General of Public 

Accounts. Cartwright, 11most unwise:cy- 11 in Bagot 1 s opinion, refused the 
25 

o ffer because he felt he could not sit with Hincks. He was unable to 

countenance Hincks 1 system of responsible government Which to him had a 

"dangerous tendency ••• particularly in a Country ••• where there is but 

little of that Salutary influence which hereditary rank and great wealth 
26 

exercises in Great Britain-". However, Sherweed had no such scruples, 
27 

and was swern in as Solicitor-General for Upper Canada on July 23, 1842. 

These slight adjustments were to no avail, for Bag•t was again 

threatened with the resignation of his Council if the French Canadians 

were not admitted. It was toe late for him to decide on a prorogation, 
28 

as supplies were needed immediately. He was alse sensitive to the 

24 
P .A.C. Bagot Papers, Bagot to Stanley, Kingston, Sept. 26, 

1842, vol. 7, p. 216. 
25 

ibid., Bagot to Stanley, June 12, 1842, vol. 4, p. 261-4. 
26 
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charges that the French half of the Canadian population was being held 

. 29 1n a state ef "helotage". Therefore he reluctantly sent fer LaFontaine, 

as the French-Canadian leader. "I turned to them as a Race, and a people 

rather than as a Partyfl, he explained, in an attempt to convince the 

Colonial Office that he had not cs.mmitted the compound offense of san-
30 

ctioning party or responsible government and calling upon the French. 

On September lOth, 1842, Bagot and LaFontaine entered into one of the 

most important negetiations of the Union period. Its significance lay 

in the ramifications it was to have on future political policy, and on 

the concept of double majority. 

At first LaFontaine was unprepared, and replied only that he 
31 

could not accept office without Baldwin, or Baldwin 1s consent. Bagot 

wisely sug~ested that LaFontaine confer with his friends before cam-

mit ting himself, although he added that it would be best if Baldwin were 
32 

omitted from the arrangement. Bagot was hoping against hope that he 

would be spared association with a man ~mom he considered as extreme a 

radical as Neilson, and as "Old Viger 11 ,
33 and a man whom he believed was 

29 
C&ebec Gyette, Aug. 24, 1842, cites Colonial Gazette, July 

10, 1842. 
30 

P. A. C. Bagot Papers, Bagot to stanley, Kingston, Sept. 13, 
1842, vol. 5, p. 99. 

31 
ibid., Bagot to Stanley, Kingston, Sept. 26, 1842, vol. 7, 

p. 216-22r:-
32 

ibid.' p. 222. 
33 

Glazebreek, Sir Charles Bagot in Canada: A Stud.v in British 
Colonial Government, p. 48, Bagot to Stanley, April 28, 1842. 
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not even gifted with administrative ability. 

When La.Fontaine replied to his offer, Bagot was "staggeredu. 

6.3 

LaFontaine insisted on four seats in the Council, one of which Baldwin 
.35 

would fill. However, under pressure from his Council, Bagot agreed to 

these conditions specifyin~ only that the Soliciter-General for Lower 
.36 

Canada be a Britisher. He then proceeded to justify himself to the 

Colonial Office. 

I therefore consented to receive him (Baldwin) upon the express 
understanding that he was te consider himself as brought in by 
the French Canadian party, admit ted at their request, and for 
the sole purpose3,r enabling them to redeem their debt of grat­
itude to him •••• 

He added that the offer of four seats to the French Ganadians to dispose 

of was part of the "key stone" of his policy, to add te his old Council, 
.38 

and to avoid reconstructing it. 

In Baget 1s offers and explanations were four features of the 

greatest significance for double majority. He explicitly sent for La-

Fontaine as the representative of the French-Canadian race, and he in-

sisted that the Lewer Canadian Solicitor-General be English. In his of-

fer to LaFontaine, Baget sanctioned the racial criterion as a test for 

34 
P.A.C. Bagot Papers, Bagot to Stanley, Sept. 26, 1842, vol. 7, 

p. 222 • 
.35 

ibid.' p. 222 • 
.36 
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political office. And in the second case, Bagot assumed that an English­

man was required tG safeguard the interests of the Lewer Canadian English 

community. Political. affiliation was not sufficient guarantee. The nom­

inee could be a Reformer, but he had to be an Fnglish Reformer. Aga:in 

Bagot insisted on the racial criterion. Another inadvertent step had 

been taken to consolidate the conditions out of which druble majority 

developed. 

On the negative side were two other factors. The first concerned 

Baldwin' s debt to the French Canadians. In taking it into account, Bagot 

helped emphasize its importance. More significantly, this in turn 

helped to consolidate the Refor.m alliance at a time when the alliance 

was extremely insecure. Later on, the strength of the Reform alliance 

contributed to the defeat of double maj ori ty. Lastly, Bagot 1 s policy of 

adding to rather than reconstructing his Council was important, for 

responsible government as well as for double majority. If the Council 

were not completely reconstructed, responsible government woul« be weak­

ened, since its tenets required total reconstruction based on majority 

party affiliation. This wa.s also true for double majority. Accord:ing to 

this system, each sectional government had to be recenstructed so that 

each pessessed the confidence of the majority of the representatives. 

Bagot 1s poli~ therefore controverted tenets of both systems. 

Bagot was unaware of the enormous significance of his offers 

with respect to double ma,jori ty, for the system was still in embryonic 

fenn, and not widely known under any name. Therefore his concern was with 
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LaFontaine t s immediate reaction to his off ers, for incredibly, he had 

rejected them because he objected to granting pensions to the retiring 

Councillora.
39 

Since the pensions in question were justified because the 

jobs had be en permanent and non-poli ti cal, LaFontaine 's objections to 
40 

them concealed his real motives in refusing the offers. Bagot's offers 

revealed the weakness of the Government, and LaFontaine, influenced by 
41 42 

Baldwin, hoped to force a resignation and fonn a new administration. 

To both men this was the constitutional course; and in addition, La-

Fontaine found it the most desirable way to implement his policy of 

respcmsible gevernment. 

Bagot, however, forced the issue, by having the leader of the 

Council, William Henry Draper, read his own correspmdence to LaFontaine 

in the Assembly. Public revelation of confidential negetiations was 

be co ming a Canadian trarii ti on. In this case, the 11effect was instantan-

eous. The negotiation was renewed the next morning, the point at issue 
43 

was compromised, and the arrangement was cœnpleted." Bagot was pleased 

with his little bit of sneakiness. However, his description of it was 

far too simple. 

39ibid.' p. 65-67. 
40

teacock, Baldwin LaFontaine Hincks: Responsible O.vemment, 
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41 
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June 2S, 1S42, vel. 3, p. 455-459. 
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P.A.C. Bagot Pa.pers, Ba.got to Stanley, Kingston, Sept. 26, 1S42, 
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For one thing, Draper revealed that he had several times offered 

to resign his Council seat in favour of Baldwin, without whom the French 
44 

Canad.ians refused to accept office. LaFontaine also made public for 

the first time the Sullivan offers to himself and Carœ.. He carefully 

explained his motive in refusing them, which was in effect that as one 

man in a minority of two, he would not have been able to exert much in-
45 

fluence. Therefore he insisted that his ally in political Reformism, 

Robert Baldwin, join him in office so that their combined strength 

would guarantee them a decisive influence in p<~tlicy-making. Basically, 

his attitude was that French Canadians were Reformera, and Baldwinites 

were Reformera, and the two groups should govern together. The same 

reasaning applied in the case ef the 1842 Draper offers. 

However, LaFontaine added to his reasoning an idea which was to 

become almost a bible to many French Canadians during the 1840 1s. 

Supposant même que je pourrais avoir des objections person­
elles à aucun des membres du Conseil, choisis dans le Haut­
Canada, je croyais de mon devoir de ne pas les faire valoir, 
tant il était vrai que l'administration du Haut et du Bas­
Canada devait être laissée, aux Conseillers de chaque Prov­
ince respectivement; mais en même tems (sic) je déclarai à 
Son Excellence, comme c'était mon devoir de le faire, que 
si mon honorable ami pour le comté de Hastings avait des ob­
jections de ~gtte nature à faire valoir, je serais obligé de 
les appuyer. 

44 
Cha pais, Cours D'Histoire du Canada, vol. 5 , p. 85-89; see als• 

Dent, Canada Since the Union of 1841, vol. 1, p. 236-8. 

45 
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on Sept. 13, 1842. 
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This policy of leaving the administration of each section to its res-

pective Councillors was a modification of the High Tory plan, fer La-

47 
Fontaine enunciated the same ideas more precise~. 

Yet this speech contained two contradictory ideas. The first was 

that of party pelitics and responsible government, the second that of 

sectional gevernment by sectional Councillors. These twe ideas came into 

conflict on occasion. For instance, when LaFontaine declared that al-

though he must support 3aldwin 1s objections te certain of the Upper 

Canadian Councillors, he added that he would not, as a Lower Canadian, 

feel permitted to voice these objections on his own account. On these 

grounds he justified his demand that Sherwoed retire so that Baldwin 
48 

could feel free to enter the Council. In this speech to the packed and 

avidly-listenin,g Assembly and gallery, LaFontaine in effect divided him-

self into twe people; the Lower Canadian who on principle cruld net in-

terfere in Upper Canadian affaira, and the responsible government ad-

vocate wh0 had to interfere because he had to support his ally in pol-

itical Refermism. He was at the same time enunciating the principle of 

double majority, but rejecting it in practice for responsible government, 

when the two principles cœf'licted. 

The i:mmediate reaction to LaFontaine 1 s speech was not concerned 

with his popularization of double majority. Three years were to elapse 

before this part of his speech was emphasized. Instead, his followers 

47 
See above, p. 57. 

48 
La l'dnerve, Sept. 23, 1842. 
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were astounded at the revelations of several governmental offers to the 

French Canadians, and they forced LaFontaine to cansider his rejection 

of the latest one. LaFontaine had obviously been afraid of this, for his 

speech seemed to be directed as much to his own followers as to the 

House as a whole; thus his repeated justifications of his policy. Never-

theless, t:œ French Canadians shrugged off all his excuses, and went to 

the root of the problem. They grasped immediately that Baldwin stood in 

the way of a settlement with the Governor, and they urged him to allow 
49 

LaFontaine to accept the offer. "Rumours were afloat that if V..r. 

LaFontaine should continue to reject such offers, other, more pliant, 
50 

leaders would be found ready to accept them. 11 Under this pressure, 

Baldwin and LaFontaine agreed to accept office, leaving the question of 
51 

pensions an open one. 

The consequences of their capitulation to the demands of the 

French Canadians was that Bagot accepted Draper 1s resignation, so that 
52 

Baldwin could join the Government conscience-free. Baldwin in turn 

allowed Hincks to suggest that a non-confidence motion Which he had pro-

posed on the day of LaFontaine 's epoch-making speech be postponed, and 

49 
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50 
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53 
he subsequently withdrew it himself. Eventually and unhappily, the 

members of the extreme Conservative faction resigned, belying the sin-
54 

cerity of their previous threa.ts to do so. By October lst, the new 
55 

Government was completed. LaFontaine became the Government leader. 

On September 25th, Aylw:in accepted office; on October lst 11orin became 
56 

Commissioner of Crown Lands. This office had been ear-marked for the 

most influential French Ca.nadian in Lower Canada, Joseph Jacques Gir-

oua.rd, al though he wa.s not at that time a member of the Assembly. His 

refus al had been interpreted as fear of being labelled a. vendu, and 

Morin's subsequent acceptance of office came as a great relief to the 
57 

Governor. One other French Cana.dia.n, Etienne Parent, accepted office, 

as Clerk of the Executive Council. In the Council itself, there were 

only two French Canadians, but they did not lose their influence when 
58 

they joined the Government. "The vendu had been exercised. 11 

The Assembly passed an amendment to a motion dealing with changes 

in the Executive Council, which declared that the invitation to the French-

53 
ibid., vol. 1, p. 240-1. 

54 
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Canadian people was both wise and just, good for the country, and in 

59 
accordaœe with the intentions of the Imperial GovernmEnt. The Assem-

bly thus officially sanctioned the racial test in these resolutions by 

acknowledging that the French Canadians had to receive special treat-

ment on racial, and not political grounds. 

General public opinion was more varied. One newspaper despised 

the French Canadians for refusing the orig:inal offer. "They are not 

wanting, it is to be regretted, crafty and designing knaves to urge them 
60 

on to disco nt ent, to further the ir own views •••• 11 Another paper ex-

plained why the original offer had been rejected. It had been 1eft to 

the 1ast moment, allowing no time for refiection, and had been unaccan-

panied by any attempt to soothe the wounded pride and resentment of the 
61 

French Canadians, such as a general amnesty for their exiles. 

others attacked the nature of the negotiation. 

Sir c. Bagot, in the letter by which he offered the appoint­
ment to Mr. Lafontaine, a man who has had a priee set upon 
his head, assigna no other reason for his cond.uct than hi~ 
desire to canciliate the population of French extraction. 

Another wrote a ringing editorial decrying resr:onsible government, be-

lieved t€> be the basis of the new Government • 

59 
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11Responsible Gttvernment" is altogether a matter of bargain 
and sale - a fact of which we have no doubt the great mass 
of the people in Upper Canada who 6~o loudly clamoured for 
it, are now thoroughly convinced. 

71 

All papers missed the significance of LaFontaine 's speech with respect 

to sectional legislation by sectional Councillors, or double majority. 

In Parl:i.ament, LaFontaine 1s supporters were filled with joy at 
65 

64 

the decision which they had forced on him. other French Canadians were 

not. 11Je suis contre l'Union même avec toutes les modifications que la 

necessité arrache aujourd'hui à nos ermemis- 11 , wrote one finn separatist 
66 

friend of LaFontaine 1s. Louis Joseph Papineau wrote a letter of mod-

ified pleasure from Paris, expressing confidence in the new Council, 

especially Baldwin i'#hom he believed to be very elever. However, he feared 

that the French Canadians in office could be led to believe that they had 
67 

gained more than they had lost by the Union. In fact, Papineau's fears 

were entirely justified, for LaFontaine and Morin were trying manfully te 

convince the French Canadians that responsible government weuld surely 

63 
Quebec Gazette, Sept. 2S, 1S42, cites Niagara Chronicle, Sept. 

21, 1842. 
64 

It was several years before LaFontaine himself grasped the 
significanc e of his own words. 
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win them innumerable advantages. 

Baldwin 1 s supporters were not universally happy, since he had 
6S 

72 

agreed to sit with men so politically obnoxious as Conservatives. Fur-
69 

ther, he was warned not to trust Hïncks 9 although both he and the 
70 

Governor insisted that Hincks remain in office. Baldwin received many 

let ters of support as well as of disappreval. Many Upper Canadians, both 

moderate Refermera and Conservatives, were prepared to give the new 

Government a fair tria1.
71 

Generally, Canadian reaction was quite favourable. The Govemor, 

however, was more concerned with British reaction, and nervously informed 
72 

the Colonial Secretary of his new arrangements. Three months earlier, 

he had written that: 

the junction (and it already exista to a great degree) between 
the Reformera of Upper Canada, headed by IA.r. Baldwin, and the 
French Canadians is that which in point of numbers, is most to 

6S 
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73 
be feared.-

Now he had just welcomed this very combination into his Ceuncil. One in-

formed source claimed that the Colonial Secretary 1s anger so upset Bagot 
74 

tha.t his health failed, hastening his death. The entry of Baldwin and 

LaFonta:i.ne into the Government is usually hailed as a major development 

in the practice of responsible government. Yet this obscures its true 
75 

meaning. The two men accepted office on different bases, and were 

supported in this by their followers. For the French Canadians under La-

Fontaine and }1orin, there were three alternatives to accepting office. 

They could have tried to force the repeal of the Union. They could have 

acted as a cohesive group in the Assembly with the sole function of 

providing a balance to the English parties, thus influencing the nature 

of legislation. This would have relieved them from all responsibility of 

government, and allowed them to act the part of a powerful conscience 

which could by virtue of its strength often force the House into obed-
76 

ience. And thirdly, they could have fellewed the 110' Cennell-tail-sys-

tem 11 , which was 11to uni te wi th one party or the other as momentary 

73 
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77 
alliance or expediency may suggest. 11 All these alternatives were re-

jected by LaFontaine oo behalf cf the French Canadians. He accepted the 

Union, and because his people supported him, he thereby committed them 

to the Union. 

Yet the nature of their acceptance of the Union was unique. La-

Fontaine and Horin agreed to an invitation to office based on their 

leadership of a 11race 11 , a fact which Bagot repeatedly stressed, and to 

Which the,y made no objection. This racial perspective was cammon 

throughout Lower Canada, and was in great contrast to the Upper Canadian 

way of thinking. In Upper Canada, politicians supporting a party other 

than Baldwin's were called either Conservatives, Tories or Loosefish, 

depending on their voting records. In Lower Canada, the French Canadian 

who parted with La Font aine 1 s group was called a vendu, a label without 

the political significance of such ter.ms as Conservative, etc. It was a 

purel,y racial appellation, applied to men devia ting fran the accepted 

political group, and thereby supposedly betraying their race. This fol-

lowed fran the idea that the political grrup \"Tas merely a political 

expression of race, an idea upon which double majority was based. 

LaFontaine was partially aware of this difference between Lower Canadian 

and Upper Canadian politics, and once in explaining this difference, he 

77 
Hincks, Reminiscences of His Public Life, p. 53, J.1orin to 

Hincks, Quebec, May S, 1S41. 
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cornnented, ''Vfe have a people, and you have not •••• " 

Current among the French Canadians was an idea related to the 

racial nerspective. They believed that their existence as a separate 

75 

people ceuld not be legislated away even with their own consent, once 

their political existence had been sanctioned. In their opinion, the 

Constitutional Act of 1791 had given them this sanction, and they inter-

preted the Act as a social nact between the French-Canadian people and 

the British Government. They were therefore determined not to accept 
79 

political non- existence such as that implicit in the Act of Union. 

They were prepared to sit back and watch the Union fail, in the hopes 

of regaining the status they had enjoyed in 1791. \Vhen it suited them 

to accept office, after the Union was established, they were permitted 

te do so on ccnditions which in fact wiped out its character as a 

unitary state. Their leader joined the Government on terms which sanc-

tioned sectionalism and the racial criterion. 

Upper Canadian leaders and their fellewers, on the other hand, 

did not join the Government on these terms. Baldwin was forced by a 

strong nressure group to compromise his principle of responsible gev-

ernment when he was not able to insist on the resignation of all the 

78 
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Ceuncillers whose political ideals he did not share. Nevertheless, he 

entered the Government as a representative of the Referm party. He 

recognized no sectional distinctions, for he willingly accepted office 

al though his support in Upper Canada consisted of a -nting strength ef 

two or three membera. Baldwin insisted that LaFentaine was the Referm 

leader, since accerding te his own principle of responsible government, 

there could be but one leader. Baldwin also tetal~ disapprove« of the 
80 

racial criterion in politics. Francis Hincks, the other Upper Can-

adian Referm leader in the Gevernment, thought as Baldwin did, but he 

was mere aware ef the existence of sectionalism and racism, and decried 

them unceasingly. 

The Baldwin-LaFontaine Ministry of 1842, therefore, embedied 

elements of both that sectionalism and racial distinction which later 

produce« double majority, and elements of responsible government. The 

two systems had a parallel development. LaFontaine 1s imperfect under-

standing of responsible government led him to foster the sectienalism 

which undermined it. He never wasted an opportunity te refer to Baldwin 

as his equal in the Gevernment, although Baldwin himself was willing te 

forego leadership in order te comply with the requirements of responsible 

80 
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gevernment. Alse, LaFontaine' s fear ef making decisions unaided, caused 

him te rely on his friend to a great extent in the business of the 

country. Because the Ceuncil functions were duplicated for each section, 

because there were virtually twa leaders, and because the Government 

was supported by majorities in both sections, the Government was later 
81 

described as the first examp1e of a double majority government. Thia 

opinion was to greatly influence French-Canadian thought in the decade 

of the 1840' s • The 1842 Baldwin-LaFonta:i.ne Government was also de seri bed 

in contemperary politics as the first truly respGnsible government. Beth 

opinions were exaggerated, fer in fact the Government incorperated 

features of beth responsible and double majority governments within its 

structure. 

The year 1842 saw not only a practical advance in the concept and 

develop~ent of double majority. The system received theoretical refine-

ment as well, in beth the abortive French-Canadian-Upper Canada Conserv-

ative alliance, and in LaFontame's speech to the Assembly. In the first 

instance, the idea was to sanction sectionalism to the extent that the 

Union would be set aside. In the case of La.Fontaine 1s rather contrad-

ictory ideas, the administration would legislate for sectional measures 

through the agency of sectional Councillors. Sectionalism had become an 

evert feature of political thought. Racial origin as a political criterion 

was also given sanction by Bagot 1s invitation to LaFontaine as the lead-

er of his race. The consequences of 1842 were soen to become c1ear te 

81 
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politically perceptive Canadians. The mest significant consequence was 

the formal enunciation of double majority as the only feasible system 

of government for the two Canadas. 

The formation of the new r~vernment had another important con-

sequence. In asking LaFontaine to join the r~vernment, Bagot had in ef-

fect championed his leadership fight over such men as D.B. Viger and 

Neilson. Theoretically, respensible government had triumpheà over 
82 

anti-Unionism and separatism. In practice, however, LaFontaine under-

mined. this victery by fostering sectionalism, and by sanctioning the 

racial criterion, thereby contributing te the development ef double 

majority, a separatist-orienteà system of government. 

82 
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CHAPTER IV 

THE 11RESPONSIBUS" IN OFFICE 

Politics is the science which teaches the people 
of a country 1 
to ca re for each othe r. 

Sir Charles Bagot died on May 19, 1843, six weeks after he had 
2 

been succeeded as Governor by Sir Charles Metcalfe. '!he stout, silver-

haired Metcalfe, a "fine old Fnglish Gentleman", was a jolly and chatty 

3 
man. In Canada, living a 11life of perpetual chloride of zinc" due to 

his ramous cancerous cheek, Metcalfe had also to endure villification 

by the Canadians who dubbed hi.m "Charles the Simple" and "Old Square 
4 

Toestt, and characterized hi.m one of the "bad" Govemors who succeeded, 
5 

and would be succeeded by, a 11good 11 Governor. Despite these injustices, 

Metcalfe served his Sovereign with untlagging good humour and devotion. 

England rewarded him with a baronetcy. 

The Government which Metcalfe had inherited fran Bagot had from 

the time of its re-organization been afflicted with serious internal 

problems. '!he old and new Councillors could not co-operate. The Provincial 

1 
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Publishing Co. Ltd., 1966), p. 29. 
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John W. Kaye, The Life and Carres ndence of Charles Lord Met-
calte, (2 vols., London: Richard Bentle.y, 1854 , vol. 2, p. 414-5, 374. 
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Secretary for Upper Canada refused to be seen in front of the Government 

Houses in the canpany of his colleague, the Inspeetor General, who was 
6 

also feuding with the Receiver General. When Baldwin left the capital, 

LaFontaine refused to act without him, and soon public business came to 
7 

a. stand-still. Both :in and out of Parliament, Upper Canadians com-

plained that Baldwin, the leading representative of Upper Canadian in-

terests, was subordinate to LaFontaine who was not only a Lower Canadian, 
8 

but a French Catholic as well. The Tories, aware of the Government 1 s 

problems, taunted the Reformera, who in turn reacted by admonishing 

their own leaders for 11putting off the meeting of the Legislature as if 

it were black Monday instead of being a day full of hope and devoid of 
9 

fear." 

Unfortunately for the new Government, the meeting of the Legis-

lature was indeed a 11black Monday11 • Crisis followed crisis, leading 

soon to the resignation of all but one Executive Councillor. Several 

items of legislation were presented to the Assembly, and no account was 

P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, F. H:incks to Baldw:in, Kingston, Jan. 28, 
1843, vol. 4, P• 263-5; aee al.so George Metcalf, "The Political Career 
of William Henry Draper," (Unpublished M.A. Thesis, University of Tor­
onto, 1960), p. 130. 
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taken of their sectional nature in securing their passage. The Govem-

ment formed on the basis of sectionallsm depended on the simple ma.jority 

of responsible government for legislative success. One of these measures 

was the Upper Canadien Assessment Bill, which would tax 11Household Film-

iture, Goods, Wares and Merchandize, Chatels, Debts, Accounts, Notes of 

Rand, Bonds, f.fortgages, and Income deri ved from any Profession, Trade or 
10 

Pinployment.•• Although defended by one of its authors as a non-section-

al Bill, in reality it affected only Upper Canada, since Lower Canada 
11 

was exempted from the operation of a similar Bill. 

Upon first reading, Upper Canadians, Tories and some Reformers, 

mounted a strong opposition. On second reading, November 16, 1843, a 

Lower Canadian majo rity passed the Bill against an Upper Canadien major-
12 

ity of 13 to 12. Although Hincks insisted that a double majority 

would have been secured except for the accidenta! absence of 17 Upper 

Canadian representatives, it is probable that these men were absent in 
13 

order to avoid a voting record on the Bill. This view is supported by 

the fact that only two weeks before, almost the entire complement of the 

Assembly, 78 out of S4 men, including most of the November 18th absentees, 

10 
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had voted on another unpopular Bill, the Seat of Government. The Upper 

Canadians had been infuriated by the choice of Montreal as the Provincial 

capital. Despite opposition fran most Upper Canadians, Baldwin and H:incks 
14 felt that the Assessment Bill was of great benefit to Upper Canada. 

Therefore they had eonvinced LaFontaine to force i ts passage by means of 

Lower Canadian votes.
15 

Unfortunately, LaFontaine lacked the "wisdan to 
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the Reformera - "Mensonge, déception, duperie, moquerie", writes Chester 
Martin in J.i)n ire and Commonwealth: Studies in Governance and Self-Gov­
ernment in Canada, Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1929 , p. 295. W.P.M. 
Kenneqy, in The Constitution of Canada, (London: Oxford University Press, 
1938), says that 11there is no doubt that his (Wakefield' s) view of the 
situation had no basie in fact. 11 p. 244. Another historian, Morton, in 
The Kingdom of Canada, writes: "The University Bill .... ran into so many 
cross-currents of opposition that its passage was doubtfu.l and the min­
isters were embarrassed by their own legislative offspring •••• 

The issue of patronage was a real one ••• but there is no doubt 
that the ministers had wià"'.ed to escape their embarrassment in the matter 
of the university bill by raising another issue and hoped, by resigni.ng, 
ei th er to make Metcalfe submi t or to provide them selves w.i th a good 
election cry. In this they miscalculated •••• 11 p. 266. This let ter was also 
very infiuential for the development of double majori ty, and contained 
many ideas which Le Canadien later incorporated into the system. See 
Chapter V. For complete text of this letter, see Appendix A. In future, 
this letter is referred to only as Çaebec Gazette, Dec. 22, 1843. 
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withhold the assistance which his colleagues required for this purpose. 11 

After second reading, a state of near-crisis arose. "Both the 

Tories and Reformers sey that there will be a rebellion in the Country 
17 

if it goes into effect", warned one Refonner. The cry of 11French 
18 

Domination l" was heard in the Assembly. In reaction, the French Can-

adians threatened to either abstain fran the voting, or to vote with the 
19 

Upper Canadian majori ty again st the Bill. Hincks and Baldwin quickly 

withdrew it, ostensibly to modify it, but never again dared present it 
20 

to the Assembly. They had to for sake the simple majori ty principle in 

the face of such serious disapproval. 

The Government allowed the Lower Canadians to pa.ss another, less 

important, Upper Canadian Bill against an Upper Canadian majority. This 

was the Enactment prohibiting the killing of game on Sundays, which the 

French Canadians insisted on modifying for both sections so tha.t Upper 

Canada would not be deprived of the traditiona.l way of spending Sunday 

16 
Wakefield, A View of Sir Charles Metcalfe's Government of Can­

ada, p. 28, Wakefield to R.D. Mangles, Kingston, Nov. 26, 1843, P.S. to 
letter of Nov. 25. 

17
P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, Chas. Baker to Baldwin, Toronto, Nov. 

8, 1843, vol. 2, p. 1-2. 
18 

Wakefield, A View of Sir Charles r-i:etcalfe' s Government of Can­
ada, p. 28, Wakefield to R.D. Mangles, Kingston, Nov. 26, 1843, P.S. to 
letter of Nov. 25. 

19 
guebec Gazette, Dec. 22, 1843. 

20 
Leacock, Baldwin LaFontaine Hincks: Re~onsible Government, p. 

211, Metcalfe to Stanley, Dec. 26, 1843; see also guebec Gazette, Dec. 
22, 1843. 

16 
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21 
afternoons. Aga.in the Govermnent's tolerance of the simple majority 

for sectional Bills brought down on it the wra.th of many of the more 

righteous Upper Ca.na.dians. 

In this same session, Upper Cana.dians united to pass the Lumber 

Bill against a Lower Cana.dia.n majority, although it a.ffected detriment-
22 

ally the important lumber interests of Quebec City. Lower Ca.nadians 

criticized the use of the simple majority in the passage of this Bill, 

claiming that a Lower Cana.dian majority should have been essential. 

Another important instance in which the criterion of double maj-

ority was set aside was the question of the Seat of Government, which 

was a racial issue as much as a sectional one. 11It is a matter that 

carries with it the great question of English or French supremacy for 

23 
the futuren, one contemporary explained. The issue threatened to split 

24 
the whole Reform party, a.t least in Upper Canada. Upper Cana.dians of 

all political castes accused Francis Hincks of having "sold himself 

body and soul, to the French Canadians •••• " because he supported the 
25 

choice of Hon treal. 

21 
Quebec Gazette, Oct. 14, 1844, John Tucker Williams to the 

electors of the County of Durham, Hope, Oct. 1, 1844. 
22

ibid., May 9, 1845. 
23

Leacock, Baldwin LaFontaine Hincks: Responsible Govemment, 
p. 182, cites New York Albion, Nov. 11, 1843; see also Le Canadien, Oct. 
4, 1843. 

24 
P .. A.C. Baldwin Papers, P. Perry to Baldwin, Whitby, Dec. 9, 

1843, vol. 4, p. 491. 
25 
~ebec Gazette, Oct. 2, 1843. 
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In the Legislative Council, Upper Ca.nadia.ns were so incensed at 

the Government' s choice of Montreal that many left for home, in effect 
26 

seceding fran the Govemment. The remaining Councillors, three Upper 

Ca.nadians and several French Ca.nadians, fonned a quorum, and continued 

to legislate. Although no important legislation was in their hands at 
27 

that time, technically ail legislation was controlled by French Canadians. 

This produced a furor, and the Government was accused of allowing the 

Lower section to legislate for the Upper. 

This led one observer, Edward Gibbon Wakefield, to fonnulate a 

new idea of government which took sectionalism into account, and pro-

vided for i t. To 

keep in mind the principle of responsible government a capable 
Executive in Canada would frame its measures for each division 
of the province so as to please a ma~ority of the members of 
AssernblY representing that division. 8 

Wakefield described this as government in the "federal spirit". 

Of this ail-important principle the la te Canadian Ministry 
appears never to have had ••• a glimpse ••• they bad the incon­
ceivable folly to depend upon their Lower Canadian ma.jority 
as a means of earrying through Parliament measures for Up­
pe:: C~ad~9alone, whieh were repugnant to the Upper Canadian 
maJon ty. 

26 
Leacock, Baldwin LaFontaine Hincks: Responsible Government, p. 

18. Morris and Draper were two of these disgruntled Upper Canadians. 
27 

Wakefield, A View of Sir Charles Metcalfets Government of Can-
ada, p. 28, Wakefield to R.D. Mangles, Nov. 26, 1843, P.S. to letter 
of Nov. 25. 

28 
~., p. 27-8. 

29 
Quebec Gazette, Dec. 22, 1843. 
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Soon Wakefield realized that the sanction of sectionalism was 

not enough. He therefore modified his theory to sanction racism as well. 

An even 

wiser application of the federal principle would be to dis­
regard the old Provincial Divisions, and, as would be very 
easy by reference to an existing distinction of Parishes 
and To'Wl'l. ships, di vide Canada into French and English, apply­
ing to each race

3
tfe mode of goverrunent most suitable and 

agreeable to it. 

Wakefield's system was not unlike double majority, for it coun-

tenanced both sectionalisn and racism. The "folly 11 of the Baldwin-LaFon-

taine Government had convinced him of the need for such a system; soon 

many Canadians were equally convinced. Wakefield was only one of several 

Canadians, including the Upper Canada Tories, wm diagnosed Canada' s 

most fundamental problems and proposed a version of double majority as 

their solution. Although Wakefield 1 s system did not gain instant recog-

nition, it was not at all surprising that yet another thinker would 

conceive of a similar system. 

Added to the Government 1 s failure to take into account sectional 

sensibilities were other serious problems. Although the "Responsibles" 

could often coJilt-nand devastating majorities, the party' s internal strug­

gles gave the leaders every reason to doubt that they could continue the 
31 

session without suff erin g at least one major defeat. Their very large 

30 
Wakefield, A View of Sir Charles Metcalfe's Government of Can-

ada, P• 27, Wakefield to R.D. Mangles, Nov. 26, 1843, P.S. to letter of 
Nov. 25. 

31 
University, Assessment Bills, for example. 



numbers gave members a false sense of security, and they often revolted 

32 
against their leaders' policies. Hincks had to withdraw his Assessment 

Bill and Baldwin his University Bill, because LaFontaine' s supporters 
33 

in Parliammt denied th en their votes. LaFontaine' s own Judicature 

Bill, upon which he had bestowed great pains, was attacked by French 

Canadians headed by D.B. Viger. Seizing on the unfortunate clause which 

would have had judges sitting as peers of the Court of Appeals when 

appeals from thei r own decisions were heard, the representatives severe-

1y modified the Bill by amendments, and had the Bill gone to final read-
34 

ing in its original fonn, LaFontaine could have expected a defeat. 

LaFontaine and Baldwin, cold and humourless, were unpopular as 

leaders, and were accused of withholding information of impending leg-
35 

islation from their own supporters. Their friend Hincks was equally 

unpopular because he had deserted the party in 1841. Many interna! party 

intrigues were going on. "Really, 11 complained Hincks, 11 such men as Thor-

bum, Smith, Hopkins, Roblin etc. etc. are worse than enemies. We never 

32 
P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, H.J .. Boulton to Baldwin, Toronto, Sept. 

21, 1S42, vol. 3, P• 270-1. "1 hear Refonners crying out against you." 
33 

guebec Gazette, Dec. 22, 1843; see also Leacock, Baldwin 
LaFontaine Hincks: Responsible Government, p. 210-11. 

34 
Leacock, Baldwin LaFontaine Hincks: ResP?nsible Govemment, 

p. 210. 
35 

guebec Gazette, Dec. 22, 1843. 
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36 37 
know where to find them." Other intrigues were reported. In a Tor-

onto by-election, many votera refused to vote for the Reform candidate, 
38 

because they did not wish to record their names wi th tho se of rebels. 

Upper Canada Refonners complained of the scanty amount of patronage 
39 

available, and of the unfair manner of distributing it. While such 

men as William Rorke held the lucrative posts of Collecter of Customs, 

Postmaster, Commissioner of Crown Lands, and lesser jobs, most of the 
40 

party faithful were neglected. 

A certain disenchantment with the Govemment arose in Lower 

Canada as well. Although the French Canadians received much patronage 

thanks to LaFontaine•s indefatigable efforts, they were not satisfied 

with their small representation in the Executive: in a Council of 
41 

eleven, only two of the four Lower Canadians were French. They felt 

that the minority Upper Canadians formed a majority in the Governm.ent, 

36 
Dent, Canada Since the Union of 1841, (Dent's copy), Hincks to 

a friend, Kingston, Nov. 5, 1843, vol. 2. 
37 

P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, Hincks to Baldwin, Kingston, Jan. 28, 
1843, vol. 4, p. 263-5; ~., Sullivan to Baldwin, Kingston, Dec. 21, 
1843, vol. 4, p. 503. 

38
· "d 1 6 ~., J. Smal to Baldwin, Toronto, Harch , 1843, vol. 4, 

p. 304. 
39 
~., F. Baby to Baldwin, Windsor, Jan. 11, 1843, vol. 4, 

p. 250; ~., James Grant to Baldwin, Martintown, Feb. 4, 1843, vol. 4, 
p. 274. 

40 
ibid., Thom. Moore to Baldwin, Pieton, July 8, 1843, vol. 4, 

p. 388-389.-
41 

Çuebec Gazette, Jan. 13, 1843. 
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and decried responsible goverrunent, because it a.llowed "the condemnation 

of the majori ty of the inhabitants of Lower Canada ( to) a recognition of 
42 

inferiority, established by law •••• 11 In fact, they were again faveur-

able to a repeal of the Union.
43 

Rumeurs were afloat that Papineau was 

being recalled from Paris tc wrest the leadership of his people from 

LaFontaine and the Montrealers.
44 

The continued opposition to the Union, 

and the leadership struggle which involved Montreal-Quebec District riv-

alry, became crucial issues. 

Some areas of dissatisfaction with the Goverrunent were common to 

Canadians of both sections. There was discontent at the lack of a gener-

al amnesty, although personal pardons were sometimes granted to the 

exiles. 45 The Daly scandal was a discredit to the Goverrunent. In a Gov-

ernment attempt to impeach Daly, who was suspected of intriguing against 

his colleagues, unwanted publicity was directed to the proceedings, and 

42 
9Mebec Gazette, Jan. 13, 1843; see also ~., June 7, 1843. 

43Kaye, The Life and Corresp>ndence of Charles, Lord Metcalfe, 
vol. 2, p. 352, Metcalfe to a friend, July 1843. Metcalfe was no mean 
observer of Canadian politics. 

44
P.A.C. LaFontaine Papers, E.G. Wakefield to LaFontaine, Lon­

don, Jan. 2, 1843, vol. 4, p. 661. 

45
P.A.C. Papineau Papers, L.J. Papineau to D.B. Papineau, Paris, 

Nov. 29, 1843, vol. 16, p. ll6-17; see alro Dent, Canada Since the Union 
of 1841, (Dent's copy), vol. 2, Hincks to a friend, Kingston, Nov. 5, 
1B43; Monet, "The Last Cannon Shot: A Study of French-Canadian National­
ism 1837-1850, 11 vol. 1, p. 304. 
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46 
Daly was found not guilty of the charges of peculation and delinquency. 

Quite clearly the Government was foundering, even before Metcalfe inter­

vened. However, the cantext of the situation involved Uetcalfe, so that 

his rela tionship wi th the Government must be examined. 

Metcalfe was unjustly accused of despising the French Canadians; 

in faet, he merely distrusted what he believed to be the revolutionary 

motives of the whole Reforrn party. 
47 

He equally disliked the idea of 

government by party in Canada. "He wants to eonciliate the different 

parties and would like to have Mr. Cartwright and Mr. Baldwin, Mr. Mof-

fatt and Ur. La.Fonta.ine excellent friends and fellow councillors", wrote 
48 

one irate observer. Since a non-partisan government seemed impossible, 

Metcalfe looked hopefully to the Conservatives with whom he felt most at 

home politically. There is even some evidence to suggest that he plotted 

46
Paul Bloomfield, Edward Gibbon ltlakefield: BuUder of the 

British Conunonwealth, (London: Longman s, 1961), p. 268-9; see also 
Çuebec Gazette, Dec. 22, 1843; Hincks, Reminiscences of His Public Life, 
P• 113-5, Francis Hincks to the editor of the l1orning Chronicle, Letter 
no. 2 against Wakefield; Dent, Canada Since the Union of 1841, (Dent•s 
copy), vol. 4, Hincks to Dent, Montreal, Sept. 21, 1881. 

47 
Arthur Doughty (ed. ), The Elgin-Grey Papers 1846-1852, (4 vols., 

Ottawa: King' s Printer, 1937), vol. 1, p. 1046; Elgin to Grey, Oct. 8, 
1852. 

48 
P.A.C. Neilson Papers, Wickstead to Neilson, Kingston, March 

28, 1843, vol. 11, p. 24-5; see also Leacock, Baldwin LaFontaine Hinckst 
Responsible Government, p. 168, Metcalfe to Stanley, April 25, 1843. 



. 49 
wi th the se men to overthrow the Baldwin-La.Fonta1.ne Govemment. He 

found the spectacle of Reformers ruling supreme totally unacceptable. 

"Fancy such a state of things in India, with a Mahomedan Council and a 

Mahomedan Assembly, and you will have sane notion of my position", he 
50 

wrote in bewilderment to a friend. 

91 

Metcalfe's distrust of the Reformers, and his fondness for the 

Conservatives, contributed to two other areas of conflict with his Coun-

cil. Since he feared that the Reformers wished control of patronage to 

increase their power, he was appalled at LaFontaine 1 s devotion to dis-
51 

tributing faveurs. His superiors in England approved his determination 

to insist on firm control of patronage for himself, in his capacity as 
52 

representative of the Crown. Metcalfe took this stand both to protect 

the prerogatives of the Crown, and to hamper the Refonners in their 

efforts to cons:> li date thei r power. 

49
P.A.C. LaFontaine Papers, R. Baldwin to LaFontaine, Toronto, 

May 22, 1844, vol. 5, p. 963-66. This information was revealed when 
Ogle R. Gowan, Grand Master of the Orange Lodge, quarrelled with his 
partner, William Harris. Harris retaliated by disclosing a letter from 
Gowan in which he referred to Metcalfe 1 s plotting to overthrow the 
Government. 

50
Hincks, Reminiscences of His Public Life, p. 90, Metcalfe to 

Col. Stokes. 
51 
. Doughty (ed.), The Elgin-Q!ey Papers 1846-1852, vol. 1, p. 

1046, Elg1n to Grey, Quebec, Oct. 8, 1852. 
5~ .A.C. Derby Papers, l.fetcalfe to Stanley, Kingston, Fe b. 25 

1844, p. 19; see also ~., Stanley to ~1etcalfe, Nov. 1, 1843, p. 11.' 
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However, in some instances Metcalfe abandoned all pretense at 

maintaining his non-partisan position. His reservation of the (suppres-

sion of) Secret Societies Bill was an example of his desire to aid the 

Conservatives, many of whom were Orangemen. This Bill was directed main-

ly against the Orange Order, which controlled many Upper Canadian city 

corporations, notably Toronto. Its influence in elections injured the 
53 

Refonn cause. Metcalfe had been forced to reserve the Bill when his 
54 secretar.y failed to convince the representatives to vote against it. 

The famous Higginson-LaFontaine conversations served to clarify 

the totally opposed views of the Governor and the Reform leaders on 

responsible government. The gist of the difference was that Metcalfe 

believed in appointing Councillors on merit, and not for party reasons, 

and that responsibility as defined in the Resolutions of September 3, 
55 1841, meant individual and not collective Cabinet responsibility. 

53 
P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, John Ross to Balm1in, Belleville, July 

9, 1843, vol. 4, p. 391; R. Baldwin to W.W. Baldwin, Kingston, July 10, 
1843, vol. 4, p. 392; John Ross to Baldwin, Belleville, July 15, 1843, 
vol. 4, p. 393; P. Maguire to Baldwin, Cavan, Oct. 22, 1843, vol. 4, 
p. 447; D. Ormsby to Baldwin, Bytown, Nov. 13, 1843, vol. 4, p. 471. 

54~., La.Fontaine to Baldwin, Montreal, May 25, 1844, vol. 3, 
p. 15-16; see also Pilo.~, l-l:ay 12, 1846. The vote on the Bill was 55-13. 

55Hincks, Reminiscences of His Public Life, p. 98-102, contains 
a complete account of the conversations. See also Leacock, Baldwin 
LaFontaine Hincks: Responsible Governmen_b p. 175; also Dent, Canada Since 
the Union of 1841, vol. 1, p. 286:9. 
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This conflict led to a personal interview between Metcalfe and LaFontaine, 

in which 11 they wrangled in the most humourless way over definitions of 

responsible government, each amazed at the other' s unreasonableness ••• •" 

Metcalfe was strengthened in his conviction that the French Canadians 
57 

did not want such a leader as the intransigent LaFontaine. He cast his 

eyes to another French Canadian, D.B. Viger, for whom he felt a growing 

affection, and whom he visualized as the new French-Canadian leader. 

He was favourably impressed by 

the old man's qualities, not least of which must have been his 
hesitation about the LaFontaine version of responsible gover.n­
ment and his vast know~edge about the niceties of British con­
stitutional practice.5 

Then came the criais. Metcalfe appointed a French Canadian to 

office without consulting LaFontaine. The latter was enraged because he 
59 

was not consulted, and because he did not like the man. Next Metcalfe 

appointed a Conservative to the position of clerk of the peace for the 

Dalhousie District, a position which Baldwin had alreaqy promised to 
00 

someone else. The list of grievances was complete. Patronage, quarrels 

56 
Bloomfield, Edward Gibbon Wakefield: Builder of the British 

Commonwealth, p. 265. 
57 

P.A .. C. Baldwin Papers, J.!alcolm Cameron to Baldwin, Kingston, 
Dec. 21, 1843, vol. 4, p. 501-2. 

58 
Monet, "The Last Cannon Shot: A Study of French-Canadian 

Nationalism 1837-1850, 11 vol. 1, p. 270-1. 
59 

Kaye, The Life and Correspondence of Charles, Lord Metcalfe, 

60 

p. 200. 
Leacock, Baldwin LaFontaine Hincks: Responsible Government, 

56 
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about responsible government, and the reservation of the Secret Societies 

Bill were trotted out on the carpet when Baldwin and LaFontaine paid an 

angry visit to the Governor on November 24th. They threatened to resign 

if Metcalfe would not comply with their demands. The Tories were de-

lighted and certain that the British Government would support Metcalfe, 

11and not compel him to take the advice of the executive for every little 
61 

post boys (sic) appointment •• ••" Personally, Hetcalfe felt that his 

Councillors were not as much concerned with their complainte as they 

claimed. He believed instead that they were aware that several Bills 

before the Assembly created new jobs, and nto secure the distribution of 

this patronage was, I conceive, the inrnediate object of their demand •••• " 
62 

he wrote. 

Quite apart fran patronage, the Government bad many other prob­

lems which only a timely resignation could solve, although this was 

undoubtedly a drastic step. 

It must be admitted that it was easy to see the Reformers 
entrenching themselves in power. The colonies bad no exper­
ience of alternating governments, and all P~§ties seek to 
maintain themselves in office indefinitely. 

The Refonners bad powerful motives indeed, and they timed their resig­

nation carefully, and blamed it on the Governor 1 s refusal to grant 

61 
P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, Chas. Baker to Baldwin, Toronto, Dec. 

1, 1843, vol. 2, p. 1. 
62 

Leacock, Baldwin LaFontaine Hinckst Responsible Government, 
p. 211, Metcalfe to Stanley, Dec. 26, 1843. 

63 
Morton, The Kingdom of Canada, p. 265. 
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responsible government. Therefore it was to their benefit to resign be­

fore the supply Bills had been cleared through the Houses, for this left 
~ 

the villain Metcalfe without financial resources. More significantly, 

they resigned on the day before Baldwin's University Bill was scheduled 

to receive third reading. The other two embarrassing Bills, Judicature 

and Assessment, had been withdrawn earlier, but could not remain so 

indefinitely without serious loss of face to their authors. The resig-

nation therefore provided Baldwin and LaFontaine with an answer to their 

many problems. The embarrassing Bills could either be modified, or lost 

to mind in the excitement. Another period in opposition would chastize 

the party mavericks. The Governor, left without financial resources, 

would soon have to beg them to return to office, at the same time con-

ceding their right to patronage. These were the practical motives for 

the resignation. 

Baldwin had other, more theoretical motives. He hoped to gain by 

an untimely resignation what had been denied him in 1842. At that time, 

he had reluctantly accepted office in a re-organized Council based on 

race and sectionalism. What he had sought to achieve was a reconstructed 

Council, which recognized no distinctions of race or eectional diffe~ 

ences, and which was guided sole~ by the principles of responsible gov­

ernment. In office, he had attempted to govern by means of the simple, 

non-sectional majority. He had coached LaFontaine in his interpretation 

64
P.A.C. LaFontaine Papers, C.J. Forbes to J.J. Girouard, King­

ston, Nov. 29, 1843, vol. 4, p. 867-8. 
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o.f responsible government and there.fore had counted on the support o.f 

his French Canadian s .for ali Government measures, even tho se concerning 

Upper Canada. However, legislation passed by a simple majority had 

brought the Government into disfavour wi th Canadians who insisted that 

sectionalism be countenanced. Baldwin hoped that he and LaFontaine would 

prove so indispensable that upon their anticipated recall to office, all 

such criticism o.f their use of the simple majority would disappear, and 

truly responsible government would prevall. This was the main purpose 

o.f the resignation, and at .first it seemed that Baldwin would triumph. 

In opposition, from November 26, 1843, the ex-Ministers and 
65 

their followers .focussed their attacks on the Governor personally, 

66 
although he had been uphe1d by the British Government. Metcalfe's new 

Council was a sorry one, for 11Dominick Daly was the Ministry, and the 
67 

Ministry was Dominick Daly." Daly was joined by D.B. Viger and W.H. 
68 

Draper. Although Metcalfe was constantly repulsed in his attempts to 

.find Councillors, he insisted that 11whatever may happen I do not mean at 

any time to take back Mr. LaFontaine or Mr. Baldwin. Both are intolel'-

65 
H.G. Grey, ''The Colonial Policy of Lord John Russel1 1 s Admin­

istration, 11 found in Doughty (ed. ), The El&.n-Grey Papers 1846-1852, 
vol. 3, p. 1019; see alsoP.A.C. Baldwin Papers, J.H. Dunn to Baldwin, 
Kingston, Dec. 25, 1843, vol. 4, p. 509. This policy was encouraged by 
various Refonners. 
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66p.A.C. Derby Papers, Metcalfe to Stanley, Kingston, Nov. 
p. 12. 

67 
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68 
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69 
able." The opposition, however, expected a change of attitude in the 

near future, and certain of ultimate victory, returned to their homes to 
70 

await new developments. They believed the rumour that the Governor 

would be forced by lack of supplies to call Parliament for a sitting by 
71 

June. 

Draper's entr,r into the Council occasioned little surprise. 

However, when it was learned that D.B. Viger had also accepted Metcalfe 1 s 

. 72 1. t ly . t offer, Lower Canada was ~ncredulous. Fee mg ran so s rong agams 
73 

him that he was compelled to justify himself in a pamphlet. For a time 

the rank and file remained faithful to LaFontaine 1 s leadership, although 
74 

they blamed Baldwin for the resignation. However, when the crisis was 

69 
P.A.C. Derby Papers, Metcalfe to Stanley, Kingston, Nov. 26, 

1843, p. 12. 
70 

Le Canadien, Dec. 20, 1843, cites Kingston Chronicle, Dec. 
13, 1843. 

71 
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unresolved even after several months had elapsed, Viger•s position was 

strengthened. As the nominal leader of the Government, he was able to 

challenge LaFontaine's leadership more effectively than before. It was 

rumoured that Viger held office on a provisional basis, and that he 

would resign in faveur of the beloved Louis Joseph Papineau, his cousin, 
75 

as soon as the exiled leader returned to Canada. Viger' s link with 

Papineau led many French Canadians to reconsider their loyalty to La­

Fontaine's leadership. 'l'hus was the split in French-Canadian ranks wid-
76 

ened. Viger himself felt the issue was no longer a question of respon-

sible gpverrunent, but whether French Canada would become a Viger dynasty, 
77 

or a LaFontaine dynasty. However, Viger still could not carry French 

Canada for Metcalfe, who attempted unsuccessfully to find other French 
78 

Canadians to accept office. 

Three men governed the country, aided by Capt. Higginson, who 

75 
Le Canadien, Jan. 5, 1844. 

76 
P.A.C. Viger Papers, J. Roebuck to N.A. Dessaules, London, 

April 17, 1844, vol. 5, p. 2596. 
77 

P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, A. Thibodo to Baldwin, Kingston, May 
24, 1844, vol. 4, p. 559. 

78P.A.C. Derby Papers, Metcalfe to Stanley, Montreal, June 27, 
1844, p. 53. It was rumoured that LaFontaine was the recipient of one 
of Metcalfe's offers: See P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, s. Derbishire to Bald­
win, July 3, 1844, Kingston, vol. 4, p. 574. This wa.s almost certainly 
untrue, in view of Hetcalfe' s attitude, and because LaFontaine usually 
"leaked" governmental offers, which he did not do in this case. La­
Fontaine himself believed that his lieutenant Morin was deserting the 
Reform alliance during the ministerial crisis: see l1etcalfe, "The Pol­
i tical Career of William Henry Draper," p. 141-2, LaFontaine to Baldwin, 
Jan. 20, 1844. 
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had been pressed into service. Metcalfe insisted that Draper was worth 

six ordinary men; nevertheless, Canadians acorned the Metcalfian math-
79 

ematics which justified four men functioning as nine. 

mocked the Council: 

'Ille Refonners 

The Triumvir a te sit everJ day wi th visages so long (the ven­
erable President in particular) that if one be allowed to 
judge from outside appearances the inner man must be much 
troubled and agitated- Old Viger looks so grave, and as im­
portant, as if the world depended on his deliberations. Draper 
looks confused and no doubts a.ppear to exist wi th him, of the 
result of the coming events. Poor Daly has recovered entirely 
from his late serious f.a,tlia.:r!!.en.t!.r;t ~Ol!J>!.aÊl.:b and looks as 
if nature was ashamed of her O'Wn hand •••• 80 

By September 2, 1844, three more Councillors had accepted 

office: William Morris; L.J. Papineau's brother Denis Benjamin; and 
81 

James Smith. With his new Council as proof of sorts that he could man-

age very well without either Baldwin or LaFontaine, Metcalfe called an 
82 

election for November l2th. For the Reformera, the time of bitter re-

grets and recriminations had arrived. 

The resulta of the election were: 28 to 31 Upper Canadians, and 
83 

13 or 1.4 Lower Canadians, who supported the Govemment. Baldwin had 

79 
Dent, Canada Since the Union of 1841, vol. 1, p. 356. 

80 
P.A.C. LaFontaine Papers, J.H. Dunn to LaFontaine, Kingston, 

Dec. 22, 1843, vol. 4, p. 886-7. 
81 

Coté, Polltical A.pJ>Ointments and Elections in the Province of 
Canada from 1841 to 1865, p. 26. 

82 
Dent, Canada Since the Union of 1841, vol. 1, p. 375. 

83 
Cornell, The Alignment of Political Grou,es in Canada 1841-

1867, p. 17. 
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B4 . 
gambled, and Metcalfe bad won. Ne1lsan 1s guebec Gazette bitterly an-

nounced the election results which left the Reform alliance in a minor-

ity, so that ""uotre langue, nos institutions et nos lois" may be 

jeopardised.,/~5 Many familiar faces were missing in the Assembly after 

the elections, while several new representatives who would leave an 
86 

indelible mark on Canadian politics were elected for the first time. 

The immediate result of the election was that a majority of Can-

adians approved the Government so painfully assembled by Metcalfe. The 

ultimate significance of the election was far greater. The minority 

status of the French Canadian s led them to re-evalua te the ir poli tic al 

policy, and this in tum produced a ne\'1 policy, the system. of double 

majority. It is therefore important to understand what caused the elec-

tion results in each section of the United Province. 

'!he Reform campaign in Upper Canada was qui te disast rous • The 

84 
This was known immediately. Le Canadien, Nov. 18, 1844, 

analysed the election resulta almost completely accurately, coming to 
the following figures: in Upper Canada, 19 men thought to be minister­
ialists, 11 incumbents known to be; for a total of JO. In Lower Canada, 
8 new men thou~t to be ministerialists, 5 incumbents known to be, for 
a total of lJ. Total ministerialists: 43. 

85 
Qqebec Gazette, Nov. 14, 1844. 

86 
Chapais, Cours D1 Histoire du Canada, vol. 5, p. 195-6; Missing 

were D.B. Viger, J. Neilson, Austin Cuvillier, W.S. Cartwright, H.J. Boul­
ton, E.G. Wakefield, F. Hincks and J.H. Dunn. Newly elected: P.J.O. 
Chauveau, Joseph Cauchon, Dr. w. Nelson, H. Drummond, James Smith, Ogle 
Gowan, W.B. Robinson, and John Alexander and John Sandfield Macdonald. 
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weaknesses of the Baldwin-LaFontaine Government, especially the lack of 

regard for sectional sensibilities, greatly contributed to their defeat. 

Internal party rivalry often resulted in two Reform candidates running 
87 

in a single constituency, helping to elect Oonservatives. Baldwin was 

weakened by his association with Hincl<:s: ''Mr. Baldwin is nothing with-

out Mr. Hincks, and l~r. Hincks nothing without Mr. Baldwin", was the 
88 

cry. It was rumoured that Baldwin and tw other Reform candidates were 
89 

Oatholics, and that a Oatholic majority would win the elections. Bald-

win 1 s association with the French Oatholic Lower Canadians also hurt his 

chances, and Hinck s was forced to implore Upper Canadians "not to enter-

tain any feeling of jealousy or distrust towards our Lower Canadian 

brethren, and to look upon those who endeavour to excite any such feel-
90 

ings as the worst enemies of the country." 

87 
P.A.O. Baldwin Papers, A.N. Buell to Baldwin, Montreal, July, 

6, 1844, vol. 4, p. 575-6; Buell to Baldwin, Brockville, Aug. 31, 1844, 
vol. 4, p. 581; J.W. Powell to Baldwin, Port Dover, Sept. JO, 1844, 
vol. 4, p. 583; F. Hincks to Baldwin, Hontreal, Nov. 18, 1844, vol. 4, 
p. 597; see aloo Oornell, The Aliepment of Political Groups in Canada 
1841-1867, p. 17. Some Reformera were blackballed by their own party: 
see P.A.O. Baldwin Papers, George Brown to Baldwin, Toronto, Oct. 13, 
1844, vol. 4, p. 588. Brown reports the blackballing of candidate Hop­
kins in Hal ton riding. Baldwin approves this. 

88 
Çuebec Gazette, Jan. 5, 1844, cites Isaac Buchanan to J.H. 

Priee and Jas. Leslie, Toronto, Dec. 20, 1843. 
89 

P.A.O. Baldwin Papers, M.P. Emply to Baldwin, Newmarket, Oct. 
1, 1844, vol. 4, P• 585; see also Pilot, Ha;v 9, 1845, which claimed that 
in the elections the Tories capitalized on anti-French Oatholic prejud­
ices. "In at least th ree instances reports were circulated that the can­
didates were Roman Oatholics and that there was danger of a Oatholic 
majori ty." 

90 

tenac. 
9qebec Gazette~ Feb. 21, 1844, cites Hincks' speech in Fran-
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Sorne Reformers changed political allegiance because they felt 

that political intrigue, and not responsible government was the real 

91 
cause of the resignation. They felt that the Councillors had waited so 

long to resign not because of the Governor 1 s alleged misdeeds, but be-
92 

cause of their own problems. They had themselves violated responsible 

government by resigning: "The Governor General could not form his Coun-

cil from that majority because they would not.- Thus the Resolutions of 
93 

1841 were set aside by the Hou se and not by him. 11 Many Refonners did 

not understand the patronage issue very clearly. Many editorials and 
94 

communiqués in the press illustrate this. Also, the loyalty question 

was of great concern to Canadians who feared that a vote against the 
95 

Governor was a vote against their Sovereign. 

91 
guebec Gazette, Jan. 5, 1844, cites Isaac Buchanan to Jas. 

Leslie and JoH. Priee, Toronto, Dec. 20, 1843; see also P.A.C. Baldwin 
Papers, James Smith to Baldwin, Dundas, Harch 29, 1844, vol. 4, p. 536; 
George Hetcalf, "Draper Conservatism in the Canadas, 11 Canadian Histor­
ical Review,XLIV (March, 1961), p. 311. 

92 
Çuebec Gazette, Feb. 19, 1844. 

93 
ibid., Nov. 20, 1844, cites Hamilton Gazette, Nov. 11, 1844. 

Advocated impeachment of the resigned ministers for violating their com­
pact with the Queen. 

94 
Çuebec Gazette, Jan. 12, 184.4; also ibid., April 24, 11344, 

cites Reply of Hetcalfe to County of Russell in District of Ottawa; 
ibid., March 22, July 31, 1844; ibid., June 24, 1844, cites Chas. Buller 
in House of Gommons, May 30, 1844; P~A.C. La.Fonta:inè Pàpers, Baldwin and 
Jas. Small to D. Daly, Toronto, Sept. 10, 11344, vol. 5, p. 1003-4. 

95 . 
Careless, Brown of the Globe, vol. 1, p. 58; see E. 

Wilson, The Life of Robert Baldwin: A Stud in the St le 
sible Government, Toronto: The Ryerson Press, 1933 , p. 20 
Baldwin Papers, James Smith to Baldwin, Port Hope, Dec. 19, 
p. 498. 
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The worsening state of the econamy was an important consider-

ation in the election. During the period of the three-man Council, bus-

iness had either slowed down or halted; few businessmen had the courage 

to launch new commercial enterprises. The Imperial loan promised by 

Sydenham had not been received in full, and the Province•s credit could 
96 

be ruined if the Canadian Government lost the faith of its citizens. 

It was argued tha t any govern.'!lent was better than no government. The 

Reformers themselves had not only left the country in financial dif-

ficulties, but apparently considered such matters as economy and retrench­

ment too insignificant to discuss in thei.r campaigns. 
97 

This high-mind-
98 

edness was galling to commercial-minded Canadians. 

In Lower Canada the election issues were pale imitations of 

those in Upper Canada. Except in a very secondar,y sense, opposing ideals 

and political theories were not involved. When the news of the resig-

nation was first announced, the LaFontaine partisans could not imagine 

'What line to take. This matter was settled later by LaFontaine and 

Hincks. Their position was that they had resigned over the issue of 

96 
Dent, Canada Since the Union of 1841, vol. 1, p. 370. 

97 
guebec Gazette, Jan. 26, Oct. 2, 1844, are examples of art-

icles by "Citizen", who often discussed this problem; see also ibid., 
Nov. 6, 1844, cites Robert Christie to the Electors of Gaspé, 0~31, 
1844. 

98 
W.. Stewart Wallace ( ed. } , The Hacmillan Die tionary of Canadian 

Biographz, (Toronto: Macmillan Co., 1963), shows that in a survey of the 
representatives during this period, the French Canadians were almost 
without exception not a part of this group. They were lawyers, journ­
aliste, or members of other non-commercial professions. 
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responsible government, and they would fight the election on the same 

principle. 99 This choice of issues was not an entire~ happy one, since 

the rival Viger group, and the Governor himself, also professed to sup­

port resp:>nsible government, and in fact accused the Baldwin-LaFontaine 

Government of having violated the principles of that system by their 

resignation.
100 

As a result, the LaFontaine partisans further defined 

their posi tien as a1pport for responsible govemment ttte1 qu 1 entenchl par 
101 

les ex-ministres •••• " 

Having cleared up the matter of a political platfor.m, the La-

Fontaine group undertook to seek an electoral endorsement of it by 

means of joumalistic invective, underselling and ignoring rival news-

papers, and outright physical intimidation of their opponents by Hincks' 

for.midable canbination of French-Canadian and Irish ttnavvies 11 bullies. 

Parades, staged demonstrations, and bribery were essential components of 
102 

LaFontaine 1 s electoral victory. 

99 
Jacques Monet, "La Crise Metcalfe and the Montreal I!J.ection, 

1843-1844," Canadian Historical Review, XLIV (March, 1963), p. 2-3. 
100 

This is the gist of Viger' s pamphlet, La Crise Ministerielle 
et M. Denis-Benjamin Viger etc., en deux E!rties, already mentioned. 
See for example p. 13, 35. See also Qqebec Gazette, April 24, 1844, 
ci ting Metcalfe 1 s reply to the County of Russell in the District of 
Ottawa; Kaye, The Life and Correspondence of Charles, Lord Metcalfe, 
vol. 2, p. 543-5, in reply to the Brock Addresst "Responsible Government 
in ail i ts essentials is acknowledged, adopted and f'aithfully pursued; 
and has been in full operation throughout my adninistratlon." 
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Chapais, Cours D'Histoire du Canada, vol. 5, p. 191. 

102 
}fonet, "La Crise Metcalfe and the Montreal Election, 1843-

1844,rr Canadian Historical Review, XLIV (March, 1963), p. 5-8, 14-19; 
see also Morton, The King dean of Canada, p. 267. 
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Opposed to LaFontaine was the Viger group, Whose use of these 

successful tactics was more limited. The Viger campaign was fought more 

on theory. Viger•s endless discussions of responsible government, utterly 

dull as they were, were based on a most interesting premise. Viger be-

lieved that French-Canadian independance was imminent, and his policy 

was designed to protect French Canada•s interests until that independ-

ence came. As such his policy was little more tha:n a temporary exped-

iency without muchlong-range flexibility. Basically, he felt that French 

Canadia:ns should always be at the source of power to protect the nation-

al interests. Viger himself had accepted office after LaFontaine's resig-

nation largely because of his concern for the neglected French-Canadia:n 
103 

in te rest s. 

In contrast to Viger's temporizing policy, LaFontaine insisted 

that the French Canadia:ns, in alliance with the Reformera of Upper Can-

ada, could always win and gua rd all the bene fi ts which independence 

would bring. This alliance was to be effected on the principles of res-

ponsible govemment. More immediately, he made patronage the issue. 'Ibis 

was an idea which the French Canadians could easily grasp and approve; 

many of them had already been recipients of various types of pl.tronage 

and appreciated its importance. 

Another issue wa.s the amnesty, or lack of it. La.Fontaine had 

concealed Metcalfe 1 s instructions from Engla:nd to grant individual 

103 
Monet, 11La Crise Metcalfe and the l-iontreal Election, 1843-

1844, 11 Canadian Historical Review, XLIV (March, 1963), p. 8. 
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pardons to al1 exi1ed rebe1s who petitioned for them. Viger, on the 

other hand, set about getting up the necessary petitions and the trans-
104 

portation money. In this matter, he certainly came out the winner, 

but his success had no effect on the election resulta. Clearly the 

election was primarily an affair of violence tempered by theory, and a 

contest of personalities and not ideologies. French Canadians found it 

difficult to understand how it happened that their new leaders, and 

one of their oldest and most honoured leaders, came to oppose one anot-
105 

her. Unlike Upper Canadians who expected political division and con-

troversy, the French Canadians had an ingrained desire for racial unity, 

and French-Canadian unity was made a rallying cry by the LaFontaine pol-
106 

iticians. French Canada resp:mded to this appeal, delivering to La-

Fontaine a strong sectional majority. 

In sectional tenns, LaFontaine had won his election, while Bald-

win had lost his. However, in the United Assembly, Baldwin 1 s loss was 

greater than LaFontaine 1 s gain, and together they provided only a simple 

minority group in opposition to the simple majority of the Conservatives. 

This was the fruit of LaFontaine• s electoral triumph, "une victoire à la 
107 

Pyrrhus". For the real battle lay elsewhere, and it was in the As-

104 
~., p. 11-12. 

lO 5Ant · G' ' La . i Di An C 8 ( ome erm- JO e, x s au anada, 1 40-1850, Que bec: 
L.J. Demers et Frères, 1888), p. 195. 

106 
Monet, u1a Crise Metca1fe and the Montreal Election, 1843-

1844," Canadian Historical Review, XLIV (March, 1963), p. 8. 
107 ----

Chapais, Cours D'Histoire du Canada, vol. 5, p. 193. Though 
this phrase was used to describe Metcalfe•s victor.y, the above usage is 
more apt. 
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sembly and rot on the hustings that he had to prove his leadership and 

the value of his policies. 

At first the French Canadians supported LaFontaine and the Re-

form alliance, even though i t meant remaining in opposition. Soon, 

however, it became clear that the Government, unstable as it was, might 

endure indefinitely. Criticisn and vague complaints began to force 

LaFontaine to defend his policies. As 1844 drew to a close, the reaction 

against him grew so implacably that it merited a title in the contempor-
108 

ary press: appropria tezy, "la réaction", or the 11Reactionn. The 

lOB 
The "Reaction" has been dealt with in l~onet 1 s "The Last Cannon 

Shot: A Study of French Canadian Nationalisn 1837-1850, 11 vol. 1, p. 440. 
Ronald Macdonald, the editor of Le Canadien, began an anti-Montreal cam­
paign, and this was the beginning of the 11Reaction11 proper. Monet dea-
c ribes the "Reaction 11 as a Que bec movemen t against the Montreal leaders 
and interests. In this study of double majority, it is essential to pro­
vide a more detailed description and definition of the 11Reaction". It 
was a political movement, associated with the District of Quebec and 
Quebec's leaders, directed against LaFontaine and the Montreal leaders and 
interests. Soon the Districts of Dorchester and Three Rivers became as­
sociated with Quebec against Montreal. As a political movement, the 
11Reaction 11 had a platform, just as LaFontaine had responsible government 
and the Reform alliance. The 11Reactionistsn had a version of double maj­
ority as their platform. In other words, their platform was opposed not 
to the legislative policies advocated by LaFontaine and the Reformers, 
but to the fundamentals of the nature of the Canadian Union instead. As 
the "Reaction" gained power, it also gained new supporters, leaders and 
policies. These are all discussed in later chapters, in their historical 
context. 

The "Reaction" is an old term in histocy, but a fairly unlmown 
one in historiography, probably because double majority has never before 
been studied. Therefore the usage of the term itself must be explained. 
The French Canadians always referred to "la réaction", and called its 
supporters 11les réactionnaires"; see for example P.A.C. Chauveau Papers, 
Chauveau to Morin, Quebec, March 18, 1847, p. 33; ibid., Chauveau to 
Morin, Quebec, March 21, 1847, p. 54. The Fhglià'l ëaliadians of the 1840's 
called it the "Reaction", and its supporters the "Reactionists11 • See for 
example Pilot, March 23, 30, April 2, 16, 1847. In this stuqy, the con­
temporar.y English tenns are used. 



• 

108 

uReaction" was double edged, for its rupporters, the uReactionists", not 

only criticized LaFontaine's policies, they provided an alternative sys­

tem of government. This was double ma.jority. The struggle between res-

ponsible government and double majority began in earnest. 

The conditions leading to double majority had been continued 

from pre-Rebellion days. Governments had been criticized for ignoring 

sectional sensibilities in legislation. Elements of double majority had 

been incorporated into public administration and into the structure of 

government. A system very like double majo r:ity had been suggested at 

least twice since the Union, b,y the Upper Canada Tories, and by Edward 

Gibbon Wakefield. The general elections of 1844 were important because 

in leaving the French Canadians in the minority in the Assembly, the 

interest and the need for such a system was given great impetus. Double 

majority finally gained public recognition and support in 1844, through 

a series of articles in the Canadien, entitled "Notre Position en 1844"• 

The first of these articles was written on the same day the election 
109 

results were publiShed. The long gestation period was over; the 

double ma,j)rity was finally delivered in the fonn in which it is known 

today. 

109 
Le Canadien, Nov. 18, 1844, was the first of these articles • 
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CHAPTER V 

THE HlJ11.J3UG DEFINED 

As to legislating for the two provinces separately, and by their 
respective majorities, whosoever tries it, will Înly add one 
more to the impracticable humbugs of the day •••• 

Unlike many systems of government, double majority was not dev-

eloped systematically and methodically in the calm of an ivory tower. 

Instead, it took shape in hundreds of newspaper articles, many of an 

emotional, and sometimes hysterical., nature. Newspapers representative 

of all the important Canadian political groups have been chosen to show 

the development of double majori ty as a system of government • These in-

elude the Reformera and Conserva ti ves from Upper and Lewer Canada, and 

the two rival French..Canadian groups, the LaFontaine partisans and 

their opponents, the "Reactionists 11 • The press organs of all these 

groups were edited by men who were often active politicians themselves, 

or men whose editorial policies were dictated by leading politicians. 

Little political activity escaped the notice of these editors, even 

that which was concealed from the public. As a consequence, their art-

icles reflected and were influenced by privileged information, and are 

more meaningfUl to the historian than to contemporary readers who were 

less well-informed. 

Because of their very defini te poli ti cal corunitments, each of 

the newspapers reacted least to the theoretical and constitutional im-

plications of double majority. Their reactions, whether favourable or 

1 
Qlebec Gazette, April JO, 1845. 
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disapproving, were based more on an appreciation of what their own po1-

itical positions would become if double majority were actually implemen­

ted. Thus the most violent and bitter protesta against it came from the 

Lower Canada Conservative and the Upper Canada Reform press. If the sys­

tem itself, in its various definitions, was not always logically con­

sistent, the reactions of a1l the political groups were. 

Obviously, then, the system was discussed on roore than one lev­

el. The papers were certainly concerned with defining double majori ty 

and its purpose. However, underlying these rather dry discussions were 

all sorts of political undercurrents. These round expression through 

explanations and justifications of double majority, and most important, 

through the various interpretations of howto put the system into prac­

tical operation. The political motivation behind these justifications and 

interpretations is at least as important for an understanding of the 

practical aspects of double majority as is the theory in its abstract 

definition. 

In f act , double ma j ori ty was developed by the "Reactioni st" 

Canadien as a rationalization for supporting the Draper Government, and 

as an alternative to La.Fontaine' s policy of alliance with the Reformera 

of Upper Canada. Like responsible government, double majority was not 

merely a political theory. It was also a political platform, adopted 

first by the "Reactionists". The "Reactionists" also opposed LaFontaine' s 

leadership, and at first they pressed Viger 1 s claims very strongly. 

Until 1S45, double majority was stUl primarily an issue in the 
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newspapers. By then the positions of the various groups were crystal-

lized, and double majority entered into the practical political field. 

The events of this period contributed new and different meanings to 

double majority, meanings which can only be understood in their histor-

ical context. Therefore the post-1845 development of double majority is 

lef't to la.ter cha.pters. 

The newspaper responsible for bringing the concept of double 

majority to culmination, and for christening it, wa.s the Canadien, 
2 

edited at this time by the bilingual Ronald Macdonald. Immediate~ 

after the 1844 election resulta were published, Macdonald analysed their 

unhappy affects for the Reform alliance, now in opposition. After ex-

eusing his silence during the campaign on the grounds that electors 

should be free of journalistic influence, Macdonald enunciated the 

theory which was to influence Canadian poli tics for years to come. He 

began with a racial theory of politics. 

The majority of Lower Canada, is composed exclusively of rep­
resentatives from French Canadian constituencies; so that this 
majority is the depository of the interests of the French Can­
adian people; the expression of their thoughts, the agent of 
their influence- in a word, this majority is, constitutionally 

2x.e Canadien, May 5, 1845, cites L'Aurore, Viger's organ. 
L'Aurore supported Macdonald's interpretation of double majority for 
the obvious reason that it supported his own position. He also attacked 
the LaFontaine press which insisted that LaFontaine and Morin were nec­
essary to safeguard F.rench-Canadian interests. That, said Viger, was to 
fight for men and not for principles. (L'Aurore was published in Montreal, 
and is hereaf'ter cited as L'Aurore). 
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speaking, the French Canadian people themselves.3 

As such, the representatives had two main obligations: to enact 

beneficial legislation, and to protect those social institutions which 

guaranteed the continued existence of the French Canadians as a separate 

and distinct race and nation. This second was a duty unique to repres-

entatives of French-Canadian constituencies, and took precedence over 

any commitments to political theory, including responsible government. 

"It is not that we would hold lightly political questions and theories", 

but "for us the national question is the great, the first question; the 
4 

political question cornes after it." 

Having established that the French Canadians were primarily 

responsible for preserving their race and nation in politics, Macdonald 

rejected all the political alternatives open to them, except his own. 

To continue to oppose the Government in alliance with the Upper Canadian 

minority was fruitless, he declared, since the Government wotù.d make any 

concessions to stay in power. The lesson of 1841 had been that govern-

ment could be carried on without, and despite, the French Canadians. To 

most parties, a period in opposition meant nothing more than the tempor-

ary loss of patronage. However, Macdonald believed that the French Can-

adians were in a different position, because Upper Canadians unceasingly 

attacked their vital institutions. It was, from his point of view, essen-

1844. 
3British Colonist, Nov. 29, 1844, cites Le Canadien, Nov. 18, 

4 
ibid. 
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tial that French Canadians be in a position to ward off these attacks. 

In 1844, there was still a way to achieve this security, said 

the little editor. None of the foor Lower Canadian Executive Councillors 

were unsympathetic to French Canada; in fact, two of them were distin-

guished members of the race. Unsupported by their countrymen, they would. 

soon become politically useless, and would be replaced by men totally 
5 

opposed to French interests. Therefore, Macdonald explained, the French 
6 

Canadians had to cease opposition to the Government. The defection of 

the Upper Canada Reformera left them no alternative. Macdonald admitted 

that the Conservative politica of the Upper Canadian Councillors were 

not defensible; nevertheless, these Councillors possessed the confidence 

of the majority of Upper Canada. 

Could we pretend to impose upon Upper Canada ministers whom 
it repudiates? Let us adopt the principle that the maiority 
ought to govem in the one and in the other section of the 
Province respectively: it is for us a principle of safety 
for the future.? 

At last he had said what was already clear to many Canadians. Here was 

the expression of double majority as it is known to posterity. 

Macdonald felt justification of his new theor,y was necessar,y. 

If both sections of Canada had been homogeneous in culture, language and 

religion, government by the simple majority would ensure constitutional 

rule, he admitted. "But we d.iffer in everything11 from the :Bhglish, "a 

5 
ill!!•; Le Canadien, }.fay 5, 1845. 

6 
Le Capadien, Ne v. 18, 1844; see also !JW!. , Yœ.v 12, Jan. 8, 1845. 

7
British Colonist, Nov. 29, 1844, cites Le Canadien, Nov. 18, 

1844. 



ll4 

8 
rival and encroaching race." Because of this, Macdonald concluded that 

government by respective majorities, or double majority, was the only 

9 
acceptable compromise. 

From this new perspective, Macdonald interpreted the main events 

of the Union period, in order to prove both the inevitability and the 

necessity for double majority. This interpretation began the 111842 

double majority" myth, which included elements of truth and fantasy, as 

most myths do. Macdonald believed that the Act of Union had been desig-
10 

nad so that Lower Canada could be governed by me ans of Fnglish votes. 

Until 1842, in fact, the government had been carried on without, and 

despite, French-Canadian votes. If in 1842 the double majority had not 
ll 

been implemented, this injustice would have continued. However, at that 

8~. When the initial reaction of the Quebec MercUfY to double 
majority was favourable because the system was an alternative to the 
racial war which ruined commercial progress, Le Canadien launched into a 
bitter tirade against the whole English race: the whole tate of a nation 
was at stake, yet like ali 12lgl.ishmen, the Mercuo='s editor could not 
think beyond speculators, merchants and credit. See Le Canadien, Nov. 
29, 1844. 

9 • • 
~·, Nov. 18, 1844, see also lli.s!.·, Dec. 4, 1844; April 25, 

May 19, 1845. 
10

ibid., Jan. 8, 1845. 

llibid.' May 14, 1845. 
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time, according to Macdonald, LaFontaine had first insisted publicly 
12 

that each section had to be governed by its respective Councillors. 

Moreover, Sir Charles Ba.got had sanctioned double majority by inviting 

Baldwin and LaFontaine to office as representatives of each of the two 

j . t' 13 ma on J.es. 

Macdonald 1 s interpretation of the "double majority 11 Baldwin-

LaFontaine Government was reminiscent of Wakefield. Macdonald also felt 

that the support given the Government b.y the two overwhelming sectional 

majorities had made its leaders so confident that they had forgotten the 

principle of its formation: double majority. They bad substituted for 

double majority the idea of party government, which Macdonald defined 
14 

as the predominance of one party over the Province as a whole. still 

forget ting their obligations to the principle of double majority, they 

had allowed Hincks , whom Macdonald strongl\Y' disliked, to force them into 

resigning in order to defend a lasser principle, responsible government.
15 

12 
See above, p. 6 6 • Le Canadien quoted this speech repeatedly, 

in an attempt to gain sanction for ita double majority theory by 
attributing its authorship to LaFontaine. For example, see Le Canadien, 
May 5, 14, Sept. 15, Oct. 3, 1845. 

13 
Le Canadien, Mq 14, 19, 1845. Macdonald was mistaken about 

this, since at the time of his accession to office Baldwin was supported 
by no more than three Upper Canadians. LaFontaine also took this pos­
ition in La Minerve, Nov. 25, 1S44 and Y...ay 19, 1845. 

14r.e Canadien, May 14, 1S45. 

15Pilot, Oct. 31, 1S45. Macdonald was diplomatie enough to avoid 
openly blaming LaFontaine for the resignation • 
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For this principle, P.a.cdonald concluded, the Councillors had le .f't the 
16 

French Canadians with almost no voice in the Government. 

Macdonald was soon forced by the rival newspapers to explain his 

concept of responsible government, for one of the immediate objections 
17 

to double majority was that it conflicted with the former system. Un-

fortunately, he was far from consistent in his ideas. To begin, it was 

evident that he did not truly understand responsible goverrnnent, for 
lS 

he denied that it involved party government. In his first double 

majority article, he had stressed that double majority had to take pre-
19 

cedence over all other political theories. However, he insisted that 

no real conflict existed, because responsible government was a ~ 

accompli, the modus operandi of the Viger Government, and had been 
20 

supported b.r the Governor in various public addresses. 

16 
Le Canadien , May 12, 1845. 

17
Le Castor (Quebec) repudiated double majority because it con­

flicted with responsible government, and wrote off Le Canadien's opinion 
that LaFontaine 's 1842 speech had been his "double majority programme" 
with the words "feuilleter de vieux documents avec lesquels il n'a nulle 
affaire." - see Le Canadien, May 19, 1845, citing Le Castor; see also 
Le Canadien , Nov. 29, De c. 4, 1844, cit in g Le Castor; Le Canadien, May 
5, 1845, cites Le Castor, April 10, 1845. (Hereafter cited as Le Castor). 

18 ' Le Canadien, May 14, 1845. "ll a consenti a retirer ••• sur la 
question du "gouvernement de parti 11 qu 1 on avait adroitement confondue 
avec celle du "gouvernement responsable." 

19 
~.,Nov. lS, 1844. 

20 
ibid., Nov. 18, 29, 1844, Sept. 15, 1845. The addresses were 

those by Metcalfe to Gore, Russell and Drummond. 
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Macdonald did not think that responsible government was any­

thing but a red herring vis A vis double majority. However, LaFontaine 1s 

policy of alliance with Baldw:in and the Upper Canada Reformera was a-

nother question. To Macdonald, the Reform alliance was the most serious 

obstacle to overcorne before double majority could be implemented. He 

insisted that Baldwin 1s 11debt" to the French Canadians had been repaid 

when they elevated him to office in 1842, at a tinte when he was supported 
21 

by only t'WO or three Upper Canadians. Finally, Macdonald believed that 

Baldwin 1s "one idea" was detrimental to the continued existence of 

French Canada, and that therefore no amount of esteem for him should 

force the French Canadians to continue to sacrifice Lower Canada's nat-
22 

ional interests for him. 

The other members of' the Upper Canada Reform party were not en-

titled to any consideration whatsoever, in Ma.cdonald's opinion. Even 

their spokesma.n, Francis Hincks, ha.d admitted in his Pilot that like 

all Upper Canadians, Reformera had one main concem: "C'EST DE TROMPER, 

VOLER ET PILLJ:lR LES BAS-CANADIENSJ Mettez le main dans la caisse pub-

ligue, prenez y autant gue vous pourrez, et TOUS LES PARTIS du Haut­

Canada vous soutiendront. n
23 

In Macdonald • s opinion, the alliance be-

tlYeen the Reformera and the French Canadian s had never been a happy one: 

21
ibid., Nov. 29, 1844, May 14, 1845. This was inconsistant witb 

his previ.oii'S"'rema.rks: see above p. 115. 
22 
~·' May 14, 1845. 

23ibid., March 24, 1845; see also ill!!·, May 19, 1845. Duvernay, 
editor of La Minerve, dismissed Hincks r sta.tement as the result of his 
being "dans un moment de mauvaise humeur •••• ": see Le Canadien, May 5, 
1845, cites La Minerve. 



118 

for example, the French Canadians had interfered in the passage of the 

University Bill, only to please their allies. They had been repaid with 

cries of "French domination". 
24 

Macdonald also charged these allies, 

notably Brown of the ~ and Hineks of the Pilot, with waging a suc­

cessful campaign to prevent the implementation of double majority.
25 

He assured French Canadians that they were under no obligation to sac-

rifice double majority merely to preserve the Union of 1841 which forced 

them to associate with the English race, which was dedicated to their 
26 

destruction .. 

Having presented this concept and justification of double maj-

ority, l-1acdonald turned to the problem of implementing the system. His 

interpretation was that the French Canadians would have to cease oppos-

ing Viger and Papineau, and instead support them as the official guard-
27 

ians of French Canada. In this way, both sections of the Government 

would be supported by sectional majorities, and the double majority 

system cou1d be put into operation. To various criticisme of this sug-

24See above p. 87 ; see also Le Canadien, Y:arch 24, Sept. 15, 
1845. 

25Pilot, Nov. 21, 1845.Although Hincks ridiculed this remark, 
in fact l-1acdonald had made a good point. Brown and Hincks represented 
the leadership of the Upper Canada Reform party which was one of the 
most serious obstacles in the way of double majority. 

26 
Le Canadien, May 19, 1845. 

27 
~·, Nov. 18, 29, Dec. 4, 1844, March 24, May 12, 1845. 
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gestion, Macdonald replied that no French-Canadian representative would 

be required to vote against his conscience, since the Lower Canadian 

Council would present nothing ~ Reform measures for legislative ap-

proval. Therefore the Conservative policies of the Upper Canadian Coun-
28 

cil would be of no con cern to any but Upper Canadians. MacdonaJ.d also 

referred to the 1842 Baldwin-LaFontaine Government, which bad included 

both Reformera, and Conservatives, such as Sullivan, Sydenham's Council-

lor, and he pointed out tha t the supporters of this Government of mixed 
29 

principles had never been required to vote against their consciences. 

Macdonald was prepared to admit that LaFontaine and Morin were 

the most able French-Canadian leaders. Nevertheless, he would not agree 

that the French Canadians should therefore oppose Viger and Papineau, 

because he said that to deny these latter rnajority support was to sac­

rifice the principle of double ma,iority to the elaims of individuals.
30 

However justified auch claims might be, they were by pature inferior to 

the exigencies of the whole nation, which required double majority to 

safeguard it. Macdonald insisted that to sacrifice double majority would 

28
ibid., March 24, 1845. 

29
ibid., May 5, 14, 1845. This remark was aimed at his critics, 

most or whom were LaFontaine partisans. He also aimed a telling blow at 
the Hincks-La.Fontaine team: since they disa.greed about double majority, 
how could they work together when according to their own criticism of 
double majority politicians who could not agree could not work together. 

30 
ill2_. , Mar ch 24, April 25 , May 12 , 1845. 
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31 
be to assent to the dismemberment of the nation. This point of view 

led Macdonald to the conclusion that any French Canadian who was offered 

an official position should accept it, becaUlle it was his right, and 

because he owed it to his nation.32 

Macdonald defended himself against those who opposed his plan of 

supporting the Government. He argued that it was no different from the 

Baldwin-LaFontaine Government which had also included only two French 

Canadians, who had continued in office from 1842 on only because of the 

aid the Upper Canada Reformera gave them. It seemed inconsistant to re-

fuse to accept the aid of whatever Upper Canadian majority existed in 

1844, even if it was a Conservative majority. It was the principle ~ 

a principle that mattered: double majority meant a French-Canadian al­

liance with whatever majority Upper Canada saw fit to return to the 

Assembly. Hacdonald stressed that double majority was not a poli ti cal 

alliance, but a political theorv. He also tossed aside the criticisme 

that double majority would, in practice, jeopardize the Union, with the 

comment that it was of no concern to French Canadians if the Union fail-

ed, because their primary obligation was to preserve their race and 

nation, regardless of consequences. "Nous n'avons pas mission de défend-

3~e Canadien, May 12, 1845: "Le Canadien s'occupe des principes 
et non des hommes •••• que ces homme aient pour nom Pierre ou Paul, cela 
lui est indifférent. Le Canadien est pour le peuple, il défend les in­
térêts du peuple et non ceux des particuliers." 

32 
Journal de Québec, Oct, 28, 1845. This principle was easily 

mis-interpreted h1 some, and condemned as mon~ before principle, a 
non-Christian idea. 
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.3.3 
re l'union •••• " 

This was the ''Reactionistn version of double ma.jority. Section-

alism was an integral feature of the system; its intense racism or nat-

ionalism was expressed in descriptions of the purpose of double majority 

and the nature of French-Canadian politics. 

Le Castor trouve étrange que le Canadien considère ses compat­
riotes comme une race, une caste separée, dont les intérêts 
nolitiaues sont séparés de ceux des autres colons établis dans 
ce ptys.Jais ••• nous avons donc quelque chose A conserver qui 
est a nous et à nous ~tula, et par conséquent des intérêts 
politiques distincts. 

The discrepancies between double majority and responsible gov-

ernment were ironie, for l1a.cdonald had originally devised his theoey 

in arder to justi~ Viger's position, and to win support for him. Yet 

Viger was the man who claimed to understand responsible government bet-
. .35 

ter than anyone else 1n Canada. 

Many other versions of double majority were propounded, as the 

system captured the imagination and allegiance of many Canadians. It is 

important not to confuse the theoty of double majority with Macdonald's 

own particular interpretation of it. In the 1840 's, it wa.s a common 

error to identi~ the principle with Macdonald's appeal to the French 

Canadians to support Viger and Papineau. 36 

.3.3 Le Canadien, Nov. 29 , 1~4. 
34ibid. 
35 

Journal de Québec, Sept. 4, 1845. 
36~., Nov. 4, 1845, cites and endorses an article in the Pilot. 
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The Minerve, edited by Ludger Duvernay, and the Journal de Qqé-

bec, edited by Joseph Cauchon, were the most important newspapers which 

supported LaFontaine. Like l.Ja.cdonald of the Canadien, these two editors 

were not always internally logical, or even consistent with each other. 

The worst offender was the Minerve, for several reasons. F.irstly, double 

majority as a political theory was contrar,y to LaFontaine's political 

beliefs, and it was supported by men who opposed him personally in his 

eapacity of French..Canadian leader. Secondly, Duvernay was a separatist, 

and sometimes his sympathy with the nationalistic Canadien led him to 

stray from the LaFontaine party line. Cauchon had no such conflicting 

loyalties, but he allowed himself an even lesa inhibited ruthlessness 

in his editorials than might be expected from LaFontaine. Unless other-

wise indicated, the writings of both editors may be considered to be 

LaFontaine's own opinions, if not always his personal preference in the 

choice of words. 

LaFontaine 1s initial reaction to double majority had been to 

reject it out of hand. The Minerve had therefore answered Macdonald's 

articles 11par des injures gratuites et des accusations aussi peu fon-
37 

dées. 11 The LaFontaine press had, in other words, grasped imm.ediately 

that double majority was intended to depose LaFontaine, at least tempor-

arily. However, Macdonald had no intention of giving up his fight for 

double majority. He seized upon LaFontaine's speech in the Assembly in 

1$42, which had dealt with sectional legislation by sectional Councillors, 

37
te Canadien, April 25, 1845. 
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3$ 
which bad gone almost unnoticed at the time. By 1$45, Macdonald bad 

widely publicized its relevant sections in his newspaper, in an attempt 

to force LaFontaine to accept double majority. The strategy worked to 

some extent; LaFontaine was not the man to lay himself open to a charge 

of being inconsistant. He was forced to stand by the ideas contained in 

his speech. He even insisted that any men who queationed the justice of 

sectional legislation by sectional Councillora "nous auraient déja 

prouvé que leurs coeurs sont inaccessibles au sublime sentiment de la 

justice, et leurs âmes aux convictions les plus évidentes, les plus 
39 

salutaires." 

In l$45, LaFontaine clarified his ideas which bad been expressed 

first in 1842, and he called his new ideas double majority. Sectional 

legislation, he said, should be confined to local interests, and a min-

isterial arrangement should be made in which each sectional majority 

agreed to accept each other's Councillors, and not to impose measures on 
40 

each other. 

Ce plan est tout simple, moderé et éminemment constitutionel 
et conciliant; nous le croyons propre d'assurer le bonheur 
de la province et la resserrer ses liens avec la metropole. 
Hors de là, nous le disons en toute sincérité, fiîus ne voy­
ons que difficultés et embarras insurmontables. 

3~e Canadien, May 5, 14, Sept. 15, Oct. 3, 1845. 
39

La Minerve, April 17, 1845. 

40 
ibid • , May g ' 1$4 5 • 

4l!.!?!!1• , April 21, 1$45. 
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Also, he added the idea that a successfUl implementation of double maj-

ority could only be effected if the principle were publicly proclaimed 

as the principle of government, and clearly understood and accepted by 

42 
the people and their representatives. In purely theoretical terms, 

LaFontaine had both added to the development of double majority, and 
43 

aecepted it. 

However, the problem of his alliance with the Upper Canada Re-

formera remained, as did the problem of responsible government. La-

Fontaine was deeply cornmitted to both. He admitted that the Reformera 

of Upper Canada had by their behaviour alienated the confidence of their 
44 

Lower Canadian allies, yet he still insisted that as Reformera, the 

Lower Canadian opposition had tc support Baldwin with a view tc rein­

stating him in power.45 Clearly LaFontaine could not accept the practical 

implications of double majority. In wishing to impose Baldwin on the 

unwilling majority of Upper Canada, LaFontaine was in effect rejecting 
46 

double majority, and affirming the principle of party government. 

42ibid., May 29' 1845. 

43In view of the scorn with Which his English allies were wel­
coming double majority, he must have realized that the imposition of his 
new requirement of popular and legislative sanction by agreement, was 
almost incapable of being fulfilled. 

44
ta Minerve , April 17, 184 5; see al so Le Canadien, May 5, 1845 , 

citing Le Journal de Qqébec. The worst offense, of course, was losing 
the elections • 

45 Le Canadien, April 25, 1845. 
46 ~· , April 25, May 7, 1845. LaFontaine had reacted e:x.actly 

the same way in 1842, when he made his ramous speech. 
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In his Journal de Québec, Cauchon arrived at the same conclusion, 

but he tackled the question from a different point of view. Instead of 

insisting that a comrnon ideology bound the French Canadians to the Upper 

Canada Reformera, he agreed that 

les liberaux du Haut-Canada avaient annulé le contrat qui les 
unissaient aux libéraux du Bas-Canada et qu'ils avaient mis 
ces derniers dans la positi~ de pouvoir les abandonner s'ils 
y trouvaient leur avantage. 

Nevertheless, Cauchon felt that treacherous as they were, they were 

still the natural allies of the French Canadians, whereas the Tories 

were not. Despite a desire to preserve the status spo, the Tories merely 

wanted to use French-Canadian voting strength to maintain power, and 

Cauchon believed that they cared nothing for the interests of the French-

Canadian nation. For these practical reasons, he supported a continued 

Reform alliance as the lesser of Upper Canadian evils. 
48 

~fuen it became clear that none of his journalists' arguments 

for the Reform alliance were heeded, because the alliance had left the 

French Canadians out of power, LaFontaine had to make concessions to the 

double majority in arder to keep popular support. So the LaFontaine 

press began suggesting that a double majority government could be formed 

by replacing Viger and Papineau with LaFontaine and 1-iorin, who commanded 
49 

the support of their sectional majority. In office, they would under-

47Le Journal de Québec, April 19, 1845. 

48ibid., April 10, 12, 1845. 'lhis was still an affirmation of 
1aFontaine's policy. 

49Çuebec Gazette, April 2S, 1845, cites La. Minerve, April 21, 
1845. 



126 

50 
take the complete reconstruction of the Lower Canadian Council. The 

Journal even insisted that a double majority alliance between the French 

Canadians and the Conserva ti ves would have to be conditional on the re-

moval of not only Viger and Papineau, but also Draper from the Upper 
51 

Canadian Council. This was, of course, a contradiction in terms, sinee 

by definition each sectional Council was independant of the other from 

th t . f • . 52 e ~e o 1ts format1on. 

LaFontaine was also hard put to answer the C§Padien' s charges 

that in office he had forsaken the double majority principle for that of 

responsible government. However, in the Minerve, he managed a most in-

genious reply. The resignation of 1a43 had not been solely for respon-

sible government, he said, but for double majority as well. 

Mais cette doctrine est elle inconciliable avec le gouvernement 
responsable? L'exclut-elle? Et non, c'est tout le contraire. Et 
M. LaFontaine n'a t-il pas également prouvé, en sortant d~ pouv­
oir, qu'il alliait, qu'il identifiait ces deux principes? 3 

Never, it was added, had LaFontaine forgotten his "double majority pro-
54 

gra.nrne 11 of 1a42, as Macdonald of the Canadien had so often charged. 

50 
Que bec Gazette, May 14, 1845. 

51 
Journal de Q!.lébec, April 17, la45. 

52 
Cauchon was lesa sensitive to theor,y, logic and constitution-

alisœ than LaFontaine, and therefore made many excessive statements 
without flinehing. 

53
La Minerve, J.fa.y 23, 1845. 

54Journal de Québec, Nov. 6, 1~5, cites La }IJ.nerve. However, he 
said that the "progranmen meant a majority government for each section: 
he did not include sectional legislation as a part of the "programme" 
as did Macdonald. 
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The next step was to show that LaFontaine was not merely a par-

tisan of double majority, as the Canadien "de pénibles et grotesques 

efforts 11 had insinuated, 

si tout le monde ne savait pas que M. LaFontaine est non­
seulement partisan de cette doctrine, mais qu'il en est encore 
l'habile auteur, ainsi que le démontre d'une manière victorieuse 
sa lettre à sir Charles Bagot ••• dans laquelle M. LaFontaine 55 
écrivait ••• par la grande perspicacité et la haute sagesse •••• 

LaFontaine's political ally, Francis Hincks, determined to defend La-

Fontaine even further, by proving th at he had al ways been in favour of 

double majority, even before the Canadien thought of it. 

For Mr. LaFontaine, he has always been consistently in favour 
of this principle. He it was, who when the '.)lebec party were 
urging a useless agitation against the principle of the Union, 
avowed the practical policy of endeavouring to prevent an5

6 bad result from it by a policy such as we have described. 

With these assista from his press, LaFontaine could now claim to 

have invented, governed according to, and resigned to defend the prin-

ciples of both responsible government and double majority. However, this 

reasoning was challenged on the grounds that in accepting office, he had 

accepted the Union and the legislative power of the simple majority as 

established by that Act.
57

This charge required another effort of ration-

alization, and LaFontaine 1s press supplied it. The definition of double 

majority, said fuvernay, was merely the two majorities combined, and the 

true simple majority of the Province was the re-union of the two major-

55La Minerve, May 23, 1$45. 
56 

Pilot, Sept. 27, 1845. 

57Quebec Gazette, April 30, 1845. 
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58 
ities. There was another problem to tackle, that of undermining Mac-

donald 1s interpretation of double majority. This was in fact the most 

significant part of the entire discussions. Both LaFontaine and Mac-

donald supported double majority in name, although they defined it dif-

ferently. It was the differences in interpretation rather than the sim-

ilarities and agreements which mattered most of all. 

As previously mentioned, Macdonald wanted Yiger and Papineau to 

be given sectional majority support so that they l<Tould be in a position 

to implement double ma,jori ty. LaFontaine, not unnaturally, insisted that 

a double majority government could be formed by no one except himself 

and Morin. To support anyone else, he said, was a denial of responsible 

government, whereas to acknowledge his personal claims to office as 

leader of the majority political party in Lower Canada was to support 
59 

both responsible government and double majority. His press charged 

that the Government violated responsible government, and both Viger and 

Papineau had become puppets of the Governor they supported. &J 

Le parti to~ aurait dit comme il a dit pendant toute la ses­
sion: nous choisirens (sic) nos hommes et vous choisirez les 
vôtres; nous gouvernerons le Haut-canada et vous gouvernerez 
le Bas-canada comme vous 1 t entendrez. Le Haut-Canada eût choisi, 

5SLa Minerve, May 29, 1845. 

59 
ibid., May 23, 1845. - . 

60 
Le Journal de Québec, April 12, May 31, Nov. 6, 1845. Viger 

and Papineau were accused of a "désir du lucre". 



le gouverneur-général eût accepté; le Bas-Canada eût choisi, 
le gouverneur-général eût refusé au risque de tout briser, la 
constitution même, dans son entêtemgjt et avec ses idées pres­
que innées de despotisme indien •••• 
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In view of this, LaFontaine 1 s press continued, to support Viger 

and Papineau was to rely on the Governor 1s good will, and to accept his 
62 

personal whims to work with certain men as opposed to others. 

Avec cette doctrine, c'est à M. le gouverneur à former la con­
science des Canadiens-francais. Ceux-ci ne doivent avoir aucun 
voix au chapitre. Mais aussi, avec une pareille doctrine, adig~ 
le gouvernement répresentatif ou le gouvernement responsable. 

In reply, Macdonald should have said, al though he did not, that Metcalfe 

had merely obeyed the requirements of the simple majority of responsible 

government in forming the Government, and that had double majority been 

implemented, LaFontaine and Morin would not have been excluded from the 

Cou neil. 

Another misunderstanding between the CAnadien and the LaFontaine 

press was not reconeiled. This eoncerned LaFontaine's charge that: 

Cette doctrine du Canadien, qui est celle de la contrainte, du 
despotisme, est diamétralement opposée au principe de gouverner 
le Bas et le Haut-Canada par leur majorité respective, c'est-à­
dire par la vraie majorité de la province-unie, car la majorité 
parlementaire qui n 1est pas composée des élémens représentatifs 
des deux provinces n'est pas la majorité •••• 

Le Canadien •••• veut, d'une part, que 1 1on gouverne par 
la majorité respective, ou ce qui est la même chose par les deux 
majorités réunies, et de l'autre il veut le gouvernement respon­
sable par la seule majorité du Haut-Canada alliée à la minorité 

61
ibid., April 17, 1845. 

62 
Pilot, Sept. 27, 1845. 

63 
Journal de Québec, May 31, 1845. 
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.. .. 1 du Bas-canada? C'est-a-digz qu'a a fois 
veut pas. Jolie doctrine! 

veut et il ne 

Again, Macdonald could have said that the majority support which he urged 

the Lower Canadians to entrust to Viger and Papineau would transform the 

minority-supported Government of Lower Canada into a majority-supported 

one. l'li th the trappings of a double ma,jori ty government at least, the 

system could perhaps have be en implemented. However, many of these mis-

understandings were wilful, and were not cleared up because it was not 

the purpose of the various editors to reconcile their different ideas. 

Rather, it was a contest between rival political factions, who based 

their arguments on popular opinion more than on purely ideological con-

siderations. 

LaFontaine's version of double majority has been presented in 

all its detail. He accepted the system in name, although without enthus-

iasm, when it became apparent that popular opinion was running against 

him. He redefined it so that his previous policies were not open to 

attack. Most important, he presented his own interpretation of how the 

system could be implemented. He had soon relented in his support of 

Baldwin and the Upper Canada Reformera, when the French Canadians made 

it clear that th~ resented being left in a minority in the Assembly 

merely because of adverse election resulta in Upper Canada. LaFontaine 

wisely concentrated on consolidating his own position as French-canadian 

64 
La 1-ünerve, ~iay 29, 1845. 
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leader. In the discussions of his press, he had added to the develop-

ment of the double majority concept, notably in specirying that the 

system would require ponular and legislative sanction if it were sucees-

s.f\ù. 

The real battle against double majority was fought by Francis 

Hincks in the Pilot. Whereas the French editors in the LaFontaine press 

had to cater to popular opinion Which favoured the system, Hincks faced 

no auch obstacles, for his audience was English. He had therefore no 

need of the equivocation of the LaFontaine press, and he produced plain-

ly stated practical, constitutional and personal objections to the sys-

tem. He was also more concerned with a proper and complete definition 

than his French confrères. In time, Hincks became the main spokesman for 

those opposed to double majority, and he and Macdonald of the Canadien 

declared a joumalistic war on each other. Hincks made no pretense of 

ignoring the leadership struggle which raged behind the double majority 

issue. 

The Canadien bas for a ve~ long time been straining every 
nerve to destroy the political reputation of those gentle­
men (LaFontaine and Morin) although coward-like he has acted 
in a covert rather than an open manner. His conduct however 
he may rest assured bas been thoroughly appreeiated. He need 
feel no uneasiness at any further step that he may take. He 
is looked upon ~~ an ene~, and no hypocritical compliments 
will avail him. 

Hincks' views are what LaFontaine's would have been if the latter bad 

dared to jeopardize his position of command in French Canada still 

65 
Pilot, Oct. 31, 1S45. 
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further. 
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No Reform editor condoned the behaviour of the Upper Canada Re-

formera, least of all Hincks, who equally condemned the electorate which 

66 
P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, LaFonta.ine to Baldwin, Montreal, Sept. 

20, 1846, vol. 4, p. 762. LaFontaine said that if he were an Upper Can­
adian, he too would reject double ma,jority. However, as a Lower Canadian 
he was forced to accept it. 

The French editors of the LaFontaine press consistently endorsed 
Hincks' articles on double majority. La 1ünerve, Sept. 29, 1845, quoted 
the Pilot, Sept. 27, 1845, describing its commenta on double majority as 
"excellentes remarques 11 • Le Journal de Québec, Oct. 23, 1845, quoted 
Pilot in order to reply to articles of the Canadien on double majority. 
Le Journal de Québec, Oct. 25, 1845, quoted and endorsed another Hincks 
article on double majori ty "au risque de faire dire au Canadien et aux 
grands hommes de la presse tory de Hontréal que le Pilot est notre pat­
ron •••• " Le Journal de Québec, Nov. 4, 1845, endorsed Pilot 1 s article of 
Oct. 31, 1845, on double majority, and quoted La }ünerve which endoraed 
another Hincks article on double majority, written in reply to Le Can­
adien. The Qlebec Gazette, Y;ay 14, 1845, identified La l'..:inerve and the 
Pilot as organs of the same political interests. Le Canadien also real­
ized that Hincks was the real voice of the LaFontaine interests, and 
tried to drive a wedge between them based on inconsistencies in their 
editorials. He entitled one such article "COALITION DE l.A GAZETTE DE 
QUEBEC, ID CASTOR ET DU PILOT, CONTRE H. LAFONTAINE, LA MINERVE ET LE 
CANADIEN." See Le Canadien, l'.ay 19, 1845. iV'hen this was of no avail, he 
accused Hincks of trying to force him "déclarer une guerre ouverte à 
M. M. Lafontaine et :Horin." See Le Canadien, Oct. 24, 1845. The LaFontaine 
press encouraged Hincks in this, insinuating that Hacdonald was too 
cowardly and that he hoped always to remain on the winning side in pol­
itics: see Le Journal de Québec, Nov. 4, 1845, and the article of La Min­
~ quoted in the same issue. r-tacdonald recognized the ,iournalistic 
strength working against him, and sarcastically acknowledg;ed it: 11Deux ou 
trois colonnes du Pilot, quatre de la Hinerve, et nous ne savons combien 
du Journal de Québec, devront sans doute écraser le Canadien • 11 This was 
quoted by Le Journal de Québec, Nov. 4, 1845, after Le Canadien's article 
of Oct. 24, 1845, on double majority, which was a direct rebuttal of 
Hincks' double majority article of Sept. 27, 1845. It seems clear, there­
fore, that Hincks 1 views are of the utmost importance not only because of 
his excellent analyses of double majori ty, but because his views were 
usually coincidental with those of the LaFontaine politicians, who, be­
cause of the popular support for double majority, had to rely on Hincks 
to present their views. The main difference of opinion between them was 
that Hincks disapproved of sectionalism, while the LaFontaine politicians 
accepted it as natural. 
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67 
sent men of such uncertain principles to Parliament. Still, he felt 

that Lower Canadians should wait until the erring constituants bad 
6e 

remedied their mistakes in another election. The alternative was to 

accept the double majority system. which based as it was on sectionalism, 

would defeat its own purpose. Sorne of the Upper Canadian defections from 

the Reform party, Hincks revealed, had been caused by a feeling on the 

part of many constituants that the Baldwin-LaFontaine Government was 

overly concerned with Lower Canadian interests. Sectionalism, Hincks 

assured his readers, upon which the Canadien's theory of double majority 

was based, contained within itself the seeds of destruction. Thus double 

majority was an impracticable idea. It was the policy of the Pilot, 

Hincks declared, and the object of his politics, to frustrate all section-
69 

alism, be it Upper or Lower Canadian. In this Hincks was at odds with 

both French-Canadian factions, which seldom questioned the validity of 

sectional politics. 

Hincks admitted that he and LaFontaine disagreed about double 

majority, although he claimed that this had never had any practical 
70 

effect on their political relationship. As proof of this, Hincks point-

67
Pilot, Sept. 27, 1S45. 

6a 
~., May 9, 1S45. 

69 !2.!!!. , Sept • 27 , Oct • 31 , 1S4 5. 
70 

ibid., Sept. 27, 1S45. 
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ed out that the Government in which the,y had been colleagues had both 

governed, and resigned, supported by two majorities. Moreover, both he 

and LaFontaine had remained colleagues, and so it was evident that no 

real antagonism existed between them, and that he had not influenced La-
71 

Fontaine to cease supporting double majority, as the Canadien charged. 

Viger and Papineau, however, practiced what Hincks described as 

the Canadien's double majority, as opposed to the LaFontaine version. 

Hincks also made the cornmon error of mistaking the nrinciple for the 

interpretation of that principle. In following the Canadien's advice, he 

said, they had defied responsible government; humHiated the French 

Canadians by accepting office as French Canadians; abdicated all honour 

by sitting with Smith, and all infiuence by sittinF, with Daly, who was 

notorious for spying on his colleagues. Moreover, Hincks charged, they 

had accepted office at the whim of the Governor, who was complete~ un-

trustworthy. In sum, they had committed political suicide, and any French 

Canadian fool enough to emulate them would find himself in the same pos-
72 

ition. 

Hincks' arguments against double majority were to no avail. He 

was practical enough to see that he would have to modi~ his position 

if he were to influence Lower Canadian politics at all. Therefore Hincks 

said that if double majority were to be practiced, it must at any rate 

71
·b•ct !_!_.,Sept. 27, Oct. 31, 1845. 

72lliË.· 
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not be the Canadien's version. He was aware that the Lower Canadians 

except the Tories, and the Upper Canadians except the Refonners, support-

ed double majority, and so he reluctantly declared himself prepared to 

accept the system as inevitable. Should it unexpectedly prove feasible 

in practice, he would even agree to support it.
73 

If anyone could make 

h al 1 L F . i 74 . t e system p atab e, it was the a onta1.ne-Mor n team. Thl.s was 

Hincks the practical politician, the LaFontaine partisan, speaking. 

As a theoretician, Hincks was just as interesting. 

The Union had created one political entity, and this !act dic-
75 

tated Hincks' own preference for ~overnment by the simple majority. 

He admitted that any government was happier if supported by a double 

m aj ori ty, but i t was certai.nly not neeessary. On the other band, Hincks 

realized that double majority as a constitutional principle demanded 

even more than majori ty support fran each section. Upper Canada' s Coun-

cil would have to be composed of men enjqying the confidence or the maj-

ority of Upper Canadian representatives; Lower Canada would be placed in 
76 

an identical position. Thus: 

The Union should be considered as a sort of federal union, 
and the two Provinces governed on different principles by 
their respective representatives Who ar;~evertheless to 
meet and deliberate in one legislature. 

Hincks ob,jected that this political incanpatibili ty in the Government 

73~. 
74. 
~·, May 9, 1845. 

75
Journal de Québec, Oct. 25, 1845, cites Pilot. 

76 
Pilot, Sept. 27, 1845. 

77ibid., Oct. 31, 1945. 
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would force Councillors to vote against their consciences if the Govern-
78 

ment were not to fall.. The re would be, however, even worse consequen-

ces. Double majority was a virtual abandonment of the Union. "lt is a 

remarkable fact that we have never met with an advocate for the policy 

of the Canadien, who was not an avowed onponent of. the Union of the two 
79 

Provinces", Hinéks commented sharply. 

Separatisrn disguised as double majority was pure dishonesty, 

Hincks charged, and 

if the Union is to be dissolved, let the object be distinctly 
stated- let the opinions of the people be fairly taken - and, 
what is of the utmostsaonsequence, let them know wha.t they are 
to get instead of it. 

Macdonald had said that if double majority destroyed the Union, it was of 

no consequence to the French Canadians. In his indignation, Hincks was 

more forthright. He recognized the separatist-orientation of double maj-

ority, and did not hesitate to label it as such. In the theoretical dev-

elopment of the concept, Hincks contributed greatly by clearly defining 

its purpose. On the practical political level, his open war with the 

Canadien stripped the leadership fight, which had been fought under the 

7~e Canadien, May 19, 1845, cites the Pilot. 

79~, May 9, 1845, emphasis added. This is in contrast to La­
Fontaine whom Hincks described as having advocated double majority in 
1841 rather than opposing the Union. In other words, he clairned that 
LaFontaine wished to preserve the Union qy means of double majority. See 
also !!2iQ.. , Sept. 27, 1845. 

80 
ibid., Sept. 27, 1845. 
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cover of double majority, of its masquerade, 

John Neil son of the Que bec C'JQzet te, who had supported Viger a-

gainst LaFontaine in the general elections, had once again made one of 

his ramous political shifts. Logically, he should have supported Mac-

donald 1s double rnajority interpretation which was designed to aid Viger. 

In fact, he supported neither Viger nor LaFontaine, neither double 
81 

majority nor responsible government. Said Neilson, LaFontaine and his 

colleagues had accepted office in 1842 "without remonstrance 11 , and had 

thereby consented to the Union and "the legislative power of the ma.ior-

ity as established by the Act." In other words, they had agreed to gov-

ern by means of the simple majority. Therefore double majori ty was un-

thinkable because it was unconstitutiona1. "As to legislating for the 

two provinces separately, and b.r their respective majorities, whosoever 

tries it, will only add one more to the impracticable humbugs of the 
82 

dé\Y" •••• tl 

Then, with total disregard for consistency, Neilson in almost 

the same breath attacked the ex-responsibles for having passed sectional 

measures qy majorities from the other section- in a word, he accused 

81.!!&S,. 11He sneers a.t "Responsible Government '' •••• " ; see also 
Le Canadien, l.fay 19, 1845: "C'est dans l'intérêt des Canadiens francais 
••• que le "vieux Nestor" répudie l'un et l'autre." 

82 
Quebec GazettE!, April 30, 1845. 
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83 
them of practieing government by the simple majorityl It is difficult 

to explain Neilson 1s position, yet necessary to describe it, for he was 

one of the grand old men of French-Canadian political life. His con-

temporaries considered him just a testy old man, and reRk~rked callously 

that "the most "impracticable humbug of the day" is old Nestor him-
84 

self." Yet Neilson, disillusioned with all politicians and systems of 

government though he was, opposed double majority on the unimpeachable 

ground that it was unconstitutional. Like Hincks, he had added to the 

concept by explaining one of its features: it was constitutionally in-

defensible. 

The Conservatives of Upper Canada had disliked the Union at its 

inception, and had proposed government by double majority, in order to 

.d •t 85 H avo1 1 s consequences. owever, after a few years they had found the 

Union unexpectedly satisfactory. The Canadian credit had been restored; 

the internal economy revived and expanded; public works had been given 

impetus by what was euphemistically described as "the unity of action 

83 
Pilot, May 6, 12, 1845; see also Q.lebec Gazette, May 9, 1845. 

To further confuse matters, Hincks insisted that the ex-ministers had 
never dreamed of passing sectional bills a~ainst the majority of the 
section affected, and proceeded to rationalize the vote on the Assess­
ment Bill, etc. According to his own arguments, Hincks should not have 
cared at all, as long as a simple majority had been secured. 

84 
Pilot, May 9, 1845. 

85 
See above p. 25, 57. 
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86 
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Lower Canada's contribution to the treasur.y. Above all, the Conserv-

atives were in power in the Assembly. Therefore, by 1845, their demanda 

for repeal of the Union were on the wane, and they did not give double 

majority the enthusiastic welcome which might have been expected from 

them just a few years earlier. 
87 

The Conservatives accepted double majority as a necessar.y evil. 

Although familiar with Macdonald's articles on the subject in the ~-

ien, the Conservative editors accepted only his interpretation, and not 
88 

the principle of double majori ty. One editor expressly rejected the 

definition that in the Government there should exist two separate in-

dependent sectional Councils, each legislating for its own section ex-
89 

clusively, and each responsible only to the majority of its own section. 

86 
British Colonist, April 22, 1845. Specifically, there were the 

Ottawa and St. Lawrence improvements, which helped the staple trade and 
promised a prosperous commercial future. This article was entitled 
11Advantages of the Union." 

87 
Le Canadien, Oct. 22, Nov. 14, 1845, citing Kingston News. 

During this period, the ttReactionist'' and Upper Canada Tory press quoted 
each other quite often; the LaFontaine and Upper Canada Reform press 
did the same with each other's articles. 

88 
British Colonist, Nov. 29, 1844, published in English trans-

lation the whole of the Canadien's first double majority article, of Nov. 
18, 1844, wit h the comment: "It is a complete exposi tian of the po licy 
which must govern the canduct of the Lower Canadian members of French 
origin, and is we presume, decisive of the .future state of parties. 11 

89Le Cooadien, Nov. 11~, 1845, citing Kingston News. This was in 
fact a good abstract of the Lower Canadian double majority princip1e. 
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To the Conservatives, double majority was a coalition between thernselves 

and the French Canadians, which would operate qy placing the legislation 

of each section under the special control of the Ministers from that 
90 

section. 

There were many reasons for this willingness to support such a 

version of double majority. The most important was that the insecure 

Conservative Government would be given the additional strength it re-

quired to rerna.:l.n in power indefinitely. In this way, explained the Con-

servatives, Upper Canada would be safe from having Baldwin imposed on 

its unwilling inhabitants as had been the case in 1842. Those responsible 
91 

for that, sneered the editors, were 11Mr. LaFontaiœ and his tail." It 

was clear that the Conservative attitude to the French Canadians was 

only slightly less conternptuous than it had been prior to the Union.92 

The Conservatives brought forward historical justifications for 

double rnajority government. They argued that the Union had failed to 

90te Canadien, Nov. 14, 1845, citing Kingston News. This was 
despite Macdonald's statement that doUble majority was a political prin­
ciple, and not a political coalition. 

91
British Colonist, April 8, Nov. 15, 1845. 

92 
This was despite the public apology of their leading political 

representative, William Henry Draper, in the Assernbly, in Sept. 13, 1842. 
See Dent, Canada Since the Union of 1841, vol. 1, p. 237. "He admitted 
that at the outset of the previous session he had entertained prejudices 
against the French Canadians, but added that his prejudice had been re­
moved by the more intimate knowledge which he had since acquired of them 
by personal intercourse." 
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unite the French and the English races, and that because of this there 

was an urgent need for separate legislation for the t~~ peoples. In 

fact, prior to the Union, double majority or separate legislation had 

b een in effect under the Act of 1791, and time alone would end the need 

for the system. For the present, they rationalized, double majority would 

be a temporary expedient, and though separate legislation would continue, 

the legislators would work under the same roof, and learn from each 
93 

other's mistakes. 

It was not enough to point out the advantages that a double maj-

ority government would gain for the Government. The Conservatives also 

produced practical arguments for their -vrould-be allies. They pointed out 

that in such a government, the French Canadians would gain immediate 

power. A continued alliance with the Reformers, on the other hand, offer-

ed them only Baldwin and his political fantasias, and a pre-occupation 

with theory. And, charged the Conservatives, the Baldwin Reformers need-

ed French-Canadian support desperately, and only opposed double majority 
94 

because it would free the French Canadians from the Reform alliance. 

In sum, the Conservatives of Upper Canada accepted double major-

ity in name, and redefined it as a political alliance between themeelves 

and the French Canadians. They considered it merely a continuation of 

pre-Union forms of government, and a temporary expedient, which had the 

93te Canadien, Oct. 22, 1845, cites Kingston News. 
94

te Canadien, Nov. 14, 1845, cites Kingston News. 
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tremendous advantage of securing for their own Government enough voting 

strength to maintain i ts majori ty for many years in the future. Clearly, 

the Conservatives' main interest in double majority was in its practical 

implementation, and not in theo~. 

The Conservatives 1 political counterparts in Lower Canada were 

at first too contemptuous to do more than dismiss it as absurd, and to 

predict that nothing, even double majority, would prevent the assimil-
95 

ation of the French Canadians. Their attitude was that the French Can-

adians under LaFontaine were '~tterly incompetent to conduct any govern-

ment", unlike their own "staunch and weil tried British party", which 
96 

was then in power. 

They were jolted out of their camplacency when their Upper Can-

adian allies announced that they supported double majority. The Lower 

Canada Conservatives bitterly denounced this as treachery, complaining 

that in a double majority government, the whole of British Lower Canada 

would be sold out to LaFontaine and the French Canadians, who were mere 
97 

"slaves" to their constituents. 

95 
Le Canadien, Nov. 14, 1845, cites l·1ontreal Courrier; see also 

Le Canadien, Nov. 29, 1844, cites Hontreal Herald; La Minerve, April 21, 
May 8, 1845, ci tes Montreal Times. The Times agreed reluctantly that 
Viger and Papineau did not represent Lower Canada, and that it was un­
fair to legislate for Lower Canada by means of Upper Canadian votes, and 
vice versa. Nevertheless, it was unhappy about double majority as a 
solution. 

96 
Pilot, Oct • .31, 1845, cites Nontreal Herald. Three days after 

this article, the l·fontreal Courrier came out with a similar one against 
double majority. 

97 
Pilot, Oct • .31, 1845, cites Montreal Herald. 



St. Paul himself would !ail in convincing them that it is at 
all necessa.ry for them to think for themselves, or to hesitate 
before they give a blind obedience to thos9gwho happen to be 
their political guides for the time being. 
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The Lower Canada Conservatives cantributed nothing to the definition of 

double majority. They did point out, however, that any double majority 

government would result in a French-controlled Lower Canada. This was 

quite true, for the purpose of double majority was to guarantee French 

Canadians legislative power in their homeland. 

The Upper Canada Reformera disliked double majority almost as 

much as did the Lower Canadian Tories; und er the system, both groups 

faced political obscurity, the Tories permanently, the Refonners for the 

foreseeable future. The Upper Canada Reformera grasped at once that 

double majority meant the perpetuation of French Canadians in isolation 

99 
from, and uncœtrolled by, Upper Canada. They declared that this was 

100 
intolerable. One Reform editor even denounced double majority as a 

means of preventing the assimilation of the French Canadians, which was 
101 

provided by the Union Act. "Better, a thousand time better to dissolve 

9S 
British Colonist, April 22, 1S45, 1S45, cites Montreal Times, 

April 11, 1845. 

;Yw:). 

99.Examiner (Toronto), April 22, 1846. (Hereafter cited as ~-
100 

Le Journal de Qu.ébec, April 12, 1845, cites Examiner. At first 
the Examiner was so disgusted wi.th the Upper Canada Reformera that its 
edi tor suggested that Baldwin should retire into priva te li fe, leaving 
the party which had betrayed him to the Tories. However, when it became 
clear that double majority was a serious idea, the editor changed his 
mind, and defended the Union. 

101 
Le Canadien, Nov. 14, 1845, cites Gazette of Port Hope. It 

was claimed that Ihrham suggested the Union for this reason. 
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the union at once 11 , than attempt to perpetuate it on the basis of that 

"absurd and ridiculous", "unprincipled and impracticable", "audacious 
102 

proposal 11 , cried the Reform editors. For was it not 

infinitely more desirable that the two Sections of the Prov­
ince should form one undivided whole, united in feeling, in 
mutual affection, and desirous only of extending ~ liberty 
equally to all men, of ali colours and of ali races? .3 

'The Reformera had alwa:ys been favourable to the Union, and were stricken 

to see it challenged in the way that double majority seemed to do. 

Although they despised the idea of French-Ganadian separation 

from Upper Canada, the Reformera dared not attack their wavering allies. 

Instead, they concentrated their attention on the Upper Canada Tories, 

who had "smuggled themselves through the back stairs into the Government 

House •••• 11 'The Reformera charged that they were so terrified of losing 

their power tha.t they had agreed to sell out their political allies in 

Lower Canada in order to retain that power. Moreover, they e.xpected the 

French Canadians to renounce their Reform principles as we11, in order 
104 

to consummate the bargain. The Refor.mers insisted that the bargain, 

as they referred to a double majority agreement, had a false premise, 

for although the Tories pretended a concern for French Canada and its 

continued survi val, in reality they hoped to destroy all remnants of 

102 
Examiner, April 22, 1846; see also Globe (Toronto), Nov. ll, 

1845. (Hereafter cited as Globe); ~. Nov. 21, 1845, cites Globe. 

103 
Examiner, April 22, 1846. 

104 
~' Nov. 11, 1845. 



145 

't 105 
l. • 

The constitutional argument was also brought to bear against 

double majority. How, demanded one editor, could Britain he1p but des-

pise a system which in metropolitan terms would be equivalent to requir-

ing an Irish majority vote before any legislation passed into law. He 

concluded that Canada would be subjected to world-wiàe contempt if the 
106 

doUble majority were implemented. 

The Upper Canada Reform position was unequivocal. The group des-

pised double majori ty because it would give power for an indefinite time 

to their political enemies, the Conservatives. It would permit the er-

fective destruction of the Union, and the separation of French Canada. 

Lastly, it was unconstitutional. Although they contributed little to the 

definition of the system, the Reformera of Upper Canada emphasized the 

unconstitutional and separatist-racist character of the system. 

From the above it will be seen that a general definition of 

double majarity could be: sectional legislation should be the exclusive 

concern of the representatives from the affected section, and the maj-

105EXaminer, April 22, 1846. It also pointed out that double maj­
ority would have the effect of uniting all English Canada against the 
French Canadia:ns, "and place the latter forever at the mercy of the for-
mer •••• " 

106 
Le Canadien, Nov. 14, 1845, ci tes Globe; also Globe, Nov. 11, 

1845. Although Hincks was glad that Brown opposed double majority, he 
was worried that Brown did rot understand the modus operandi. P.A.C. 
Baldwin Papers, Hincks to Baldwin, 1-!ontreal, Oct. 12, 1845, vol. 4, p. 
694. 
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ority from each section should govern only that section. This definition 

is made more specifie when various of its tenets are compared with those 

of responsible gpvernment and the simple majority. (1) Double majority 

required that representatives be distinguished by membership in a sec-

tion, rather than by a simple tally for the United Province. Unlike the 

simple majority, double majority presumed the existence of two majoritiea 

and two minorities. (2) Ea.ch sectional Council had to possess the con-

fidence of its own section, instead of a United Council requiring sup-

port fran a simnle majori ty only. (3) Unlike responsible government, 

double majority did not require political co-operation to be based on 

cammon ideals. Co-operation was to be automatic between the two section-

al majorities. (4) In the same w~, common political policy was not a 

factor in the formation of the double government, and a double majority 

government would permit a Conservati ve sectional Council to ~vern sim-

ultaneously with a Reform sectional Council. However, within each 
107 

sectional Council cammon political policy was requisite. 

107
nouble majority conflicted with the tenets of responsible 

government only in terms of the Union. If in fact the system's separ­
atist tendencies had been realized in practice, the result would have 
been t1'lO responsible governments, independant of each other. Otherwise, 
the possible political incampatibility between the two Councils, and 
between the two majorities, would have negated sorne of the most impor­
tant tenets of responsible government: cabinet solidarity and party gov­
ernment. It is clear that LaFontaine had at least a glimpse of this dil­
emma, for at one point he insisted that he would only accept double maj­
ority if the two majoritie~were politically compatible. This uneasiness 
remained with him always, until 1S47 when it ceased to be an important 
issue. The Quebec Gazette, May 14, 1S45, discusses the attitude of the 
Pilot and the important La Minerve towards double majority in these 
terms. 
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To this definition LaFontaine added the condition that double 

majority could be implemented only if it were clearly understood and 

accepted as the rule of government by the Canadian people and their 

representatives. The Upper Canada Conservatives, however, did not accept 

any part of this definition. They defined the system not as a principle 

of government, but as a political coalition specifically bet,.,een them-

selves and the French Canadians. 

Obviously, there was no one double majority system. This was 

because the editors of the various newspapers who discussed the system 

were less interested in abstract definition than with the practical 

significance of double majority, that is, the interpretation of double 

majority. Definition was difficult and unrewarding, whereas interpret-

ation provided concrete political policies for the various political 

groups. 

For this reason, many important facets of government were not 

mentioned in 1845. The most significant omission was the problem of 

legislation which eut across sectional lines, although such measures 

were those which could seldom be satisfactorily resolved. 11Such are the 

questions connected with public improvements, the administration of jus­
lOB 

tice expenses, in fact, everything relating to money." For as one 

Canadian rema:rked, ffQur Parliament are as babies, drawing at the Queen 's 
109 

paps, (chest, I mean.)" Money was a serious Canadian problem, with the 

108 
Pilot, May 9, 1845. 

109-
Çuebec Gazette, April 1, 1854. 
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Upper section spending easily, the Lower section frugally clutching at 
no 

the purse strings. 

All the various definitions of double majority, incomplete as 

they were, incorporated sectionalism in their structure. In these terms, 

double rnajority was merely a logical extension of the trends of the 

Union period. Another main feature of the Union had been racism. As con-

ceived by Macdonald of the Canadien, double majority sanctioned racism 

in its purpose. Macdonald urged acceptance of double majority in order 

to ensure that French Canadians would always control the fate of their 

nation, 1rrhich had its physical location in Lower Canada. In fact, l:1ac-

donald's version of double majority was separatist-oriented, and he 

cared not at all if in operation the system might destroy the Union. 

In the hands of LaFontaine 1s editors, and the Upper Canada Con-

servatives, doUble majority was redefined in order to rid it of these 

separatist tendencies, because both groups wished to preserve the Union 

in sorne fonn. Th ose who rej ected double majori ty, notab~ the Conserv-

atives of Lower Canada and the Reformera of Upper Canada, emphasized its 

racist-separatist purpose, for to them these features were at least as 

objectionable as was its unconstitutionality. By singling out these 

features, they hoped to underrnine the growing support for the system. 

However, the public rernained unimpressed. 

~ later 1845, double majority had been fully enough developed, 

110
Ironically, one of the first attempts to gain legislative 

sanction for double majority had been in reference tb public works. See 
above, p. 5û-51. 
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and was supported by enough public opinion, to be a serious threat to 

the older system of responsible government, and to present an equally 

serious option for dissatisfied Canadians. Constitutional "humbug 11 that 

it was, it nevertheless conditioned political thought and political ac­

tivity for the next two years. 

It has been emphasized that interpretation of double majority 

was of far more importance to the political groups than theory, and 

therefore the various interpretations have been examined in soMe detail. 

The au thor of double majority, Macdonald of the Canadien, bad in fact 

presented his ideas s:inply to win French-Canadian support for the Gov­

ernment of which Viger and Papineau were members. At first double maj­

ority was nothing but a grand hoax, a complex set of rationalizations 

for overthrow:ing LaFontaine as the French-Canadian leader, and replacing 

him w:i th Viger. However , lfacdo:nald' s ideas, so c arefully explained and 

justified, were soon developed into an aetual principle of government. 

As a principle of government, double majority gained great POP­

ular support. Moreover, as a principle, it could be supported without 

automatically accepting :Macdonald 1 s interpretation of it. LaFontaine is 

a case in point. Arter an initial reluctance to accept the theory, 

LaFontaine reversed his position, and appropriated double majority, even 

claiming to be its author. Th en the LaFontaine press, turning l·!acdonald' s 

theory against him, attacked him by insisting that he did not understand 

the system. This attack was in reality only an attack on his inter­

pretation, for he was opposed to the idea that only LaFontaine and Morin 
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could implement the s.rstem. Thus a major leadership !ight raged behind 

the issue of double majority, a fight which is glimpsed in the sly re­

marks made by both Jl..acdonald and the LaFontaine press, and in the less 

inhibited commenta of Francis Hincks. Apparently unified in support of 

double majority, the French Canadians were in fact engaged in vicious 

and bitter political battles, which masqueraded as discussions of dounle 

majority. 

In this chapt er, double majority has been examined and analysed 

through newspapers. Althou~ in no w~ divorced fran reality, or ab­

stracted from its immediate political context, double majority has only 

been studied as the main issue in a propaganda campaign. It was only 

in later 1S45 that it entered the field of practical politics. It was, 

by 1S45, the conditioning agent of much political thought, and it pro­

vided the frame of reference for the main events of the years 1S45-

1S47. In the next chapter, some of these events are studied, including 

the by-elections of Three Ri vers and Dorchester, and the famous Draper­

Caron-LaFontaine correspondance, all of which were solidly anchored on 

double majority. 



CHAPrER VI 

THE "REACTION"; 1845 

Loyalty is an odd sort of a word 
and really admits of many definitions, 
there is for instance a sort which consista 
in keeping up a connection witi the party 
that have places to gi ve away. 

In the previous chapt er, the gowing popularity of double major-

ity was rnentioned. In this chapter, its practical manifestations are 

studied. The increased public support of double majority was inseparably 

linked to the upsurge of the "Reaction tt, for the new system was the pol-

itical platform of the 11Reactionists 11 • However, even after the LaFontaine 

press began to support double majority, there was no significant revival 

of public support for LaFontaine himself, or aqy reconciliation between 

his movement and that of the 11Reactionists". This was because of the in-

compatibility of their different interpretations of double majority, beth 

of whieh implicitly pressed the claims of the leadership contenders. Dou-

ble majority in reality masked the leadership struggle between LaFontaine 

on the one band, and Viger and Papineau on the other. 

The "Reaction" had another important feature quite apart from the 

leadership fight. This was the political rivalry between the District of 

Montreal and the District of Que bec. As a general rule , Montrealers sup-

ported LaFontaine, while Qlebecers supported the two French Canadians 

in the Gevernment , and approved of Macdonald' s interpretation of double 

majority. The District rivalry was economie as well as political, and in 

1 
Colombo, The Mackenzie Poems, p. 32. 
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2 
beth forma it extended well back inte the pre-Union peri.od. 'l'he bus-

iness groups in the twe Districts continued their cemmercial ri valry 
3 

without pause a.f'ter the Union. The rival.ey was clearl;r an iMportant 

.t'sature of Lewer Canadian lite. 

The political rivalr;r in the Union period had begun When LaFon­

taine bad hampered the Qu.ebecers in their ef'.f'orta to have the Union re­

pealed. It had gained strength when LaFontaine wn out over the Quebec 

leadership contenders such as Neilson, and when Montreal was chosen 
4 

as the Canadian capital, gaining all the contingent advantages. Que bec-

ers argued that a.f'ter the Rebellion leaders bad been dispersed, new men, 

Whose idealism .ou.tstripped .their wisdem, assumed leadership. Even a.f'ter 

the .titjlt for Referm principles bad been won, they- cmtinued to .f'ight. 

for responsible goverœent at the e:xpenae of' the material interests of 

Que bec. The se young mert , "le jeune Canada" , were identified as La Fontaine 
5 

and his political lieutenants. Moaned one diasatisf'ied Qlebecer: 

Yesl In Quebec there is lite and honour. In Montreal it is the 
contrary.- the Seat et Responsible O.vernment is there- there 
we tind statesmen, of politic.s profound as. an ab;yss, aa6silent 
as the tomb, who crush eveey measure nascent .in Quebec. 

2 
Pilet, Sept • .3, 1846;see also Quebec Gazette, May 2, 1848, 

citing Dunbar Ress to the eleetors of the City of Quebee. The rivalcy 
was primarily economie, involving allegedl:r unfair. distribution of 
roads and schools etc • 

.3 
~., see alse !ièebec Gaz.ette, Jan. 27, March 1, Ma:r .3, 184 7. 

For example, Montreal agitat.ed .for repeal of the Navigation Laws, while 
Que bec did not. 

4lliâ· ' May 2' 1848. 
5 
Journal de 9lébec, Sept. 4, 1845, cites Le Canadien. 

6Quebec Gazette, May 24, 1848. 
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At election time t the Montreal leaders were also charged with im-

posing political candicta.tes on Quebec whom they "coul&l lead by the 

nese.•7 The Montrealers were even accusecl of interfering with Qle1Mc 1s 

politicians, such as Austin Cuvillie.r. Cauchon of the Jourpal de Qlébec 
8 

had werked to defeat Cuvillier in an election in Rimouski. Another 

LaFontaine man, T.C. A;ylwin, had broken his promise to support Cuvillier 

on instructions from the Montrealers. "I maintained nrr opinion with re-

gard to Mr. Cuvillier, anti I yet maintain it, but in poli tics we ought 

9 not to separate from our allies", explained Aylwin. 

'l'he reaentment ef the Qlebecers grew even more bitter after the 

1844 elections, wh en LaFontaine 's Refol"!ll alliance had left the French 

Canadiana in epposition to the Gover1:1111ent. It was immediately after this 

that Macdonald had.begun his double majority articles. For a ttme, 

LaFontaine was able to curb the "Reaction 11 • He encouraged French Canad-

ians to believe that upon Metcalfe 'a iaminent return to Phgland, he 

would be called to office by the new Governor. In the L&Fontaine press, 

various of Metcalte's remarks to the Assembly were purpesetully ais-

translated te "yaur next session" fran "our ne.zt meeting", etc., which 

7 Br1tish Colonist, Nev. 8, 1844, T.C • .Aylwin to the editer of 
the Canadien. 

8 
Le Journal de Québec, Oct. 19, 1844. 

9 
Briti§h Colonist, Nov. S, 1844, T.C. Aylwin to the editer of 

the Canad1zep.. However, Cuvillier retaliated and donate.d painting a ef 
great uglineas te the Assembly, which repreached the politicians trom 
the walls of the House"'! see Le Jouryl de Québec, April 18, 1846. 
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10 
implied that Metcal.fe vas planning te leave Canada very eoon. It vas 

well known that "the an.ti-Britishers still cling te the hope et a 
11 

change o! Gevernors •••• " 

There also remained the pessibility that LaFontaine wouli be 

able te overthrow the Government. He concentrated on the language ques-

tien, and was supported in his attacks en the Government by all but 
12 

three French Canadians. Metcal.f'e and his CouncU countered this nat-

ionalistic appeal with an even more poignant one. Metcalte held a well-

publicizeâ reception for the returned rebels, and was rewarded with a 

most touching display of gratituàe on the part of the men and their re-
13 

united families. And so the ploya and counter ploya continued.. It 

seen became clear that the propheciea of the Canadien were correct; 

the Govermnent was not going to fall. The failure of LaFontaine 1s "re-

peatecl assaults" was humiliating, and merel.y irritated the Govemment. 

"The eup of conciliation has few drops 1ett in it", warned the Gevernor 1s 
14 

Secretary. 

10 
Kaye, The Lite and Correspond once . o! Qb.arleg, Le rd Met calte, 

vel. 2, p. 395. 
11 

P .A. C. &chanan Papere , Ca pt. Higginscn to I. lhchanan, Gev-
eram.ent House • May 6, 1845, wl. 31, p. 025638. 

~onet, "The Last Cannon Shet: A Study of French-canadian Nat­
ionalism 1837-1850, 11 vol. 1, p. 372-4. These were De meury, D.B. Pap­
ineau, ani Louis Chillet. D.B. Viger was not in the Assembly. See also 
Le Çpadien, Nov. 18, 1844. 

1.3 
Monet, "The Last Cannon Shot: A stud."r in French-Canadian Nat-

ionalisn 1837-1850," vel. 1, p. 386-389. 

~.A.C. lhchanan Papers, Higginsen to I. lhchanan, Government 
House, Feb. 16, 1845, vol. 31, p. 025631-3. 
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It was a. tm af'ter LaFentaine 1 s repeated fai1ures te everlhrew the 

Gevernm.e:nt that the "Reaction" reaeheli its peak. Maed.mald of the Qaa­

adien appreprlate<l and. enceuraged. the "Reaction" because he believeè 

that it was i<lentical with supperl fer his own interpretatien ef d.euble 
15 

maj erity. His first great trlumph came wh en Viger, wh• bad in 1844 
16 

lest twe elections, wn a seat in the bT-eleetien ef Three Rivera. 

Macdeald. believecl that the victery was preet ef pepular suppert fer 

his version ef deuble ma.jerit7. AD analTSis of this election is required. 

in er4ler to jucige whether Macdenalcl was justified. in this epinien. 

Three Rivera was contrelleè b7 the ewner et the st. Maurice Iren­

werks, whose sen-ia-law, Edward Grieve, represented. the censtituency in 

the Aasemb1y. In the Three Ri vers tradition, Grieve bad supperteli the 
17 

Gevemment. Alter his death en June 2, 1845, mere than a hund.refi ce-

stituents, "Patriotes" and Teries te~ether, invited Viger te cent est 
u ~ 

the seat. His eppenent was an unknown ycmn~ 1awyer l1.8.1led Burns. 

Viger lef't his campaign in the able bands ef young Jeseph-Ed.euarlli Tar-
20 

cette, and made enl.y twe visite te the censtitueney" himself. 

15 
Le Canadien, Sept. 15, 1845. 

16 
Mentreal and. Richelieu Ceunties. 

17 
Menet, "The Last Cannon Shet: A Stuq et Frenœ-caaadian Nat-

ionalism 1837~1850," v.l •. 1, p. 401. Cernell, in The llimment,.et Pel­
ica! Groups il Canad.§. 18U""1;§6z,. p. 16, classes Grieve as prebably, but 
not eertainly, a gevermu11t supporter. 

18 
te Canadia, July. 7, 1845. 

19 
M.net, "The Last Cannon Shet: A stuq et French-canaclian Nat-

iona.lin. 1837-H~50," Yel. 1, p. 401-2. 
20ibid.. 16 years la ter, Tureette won the riciing himselt. 
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As a caniilllate, Viger had many advantages: his white hair, his 

patriotic rec_.tl, and above all, his nam.e anlll f'amil.3r. Many French Canad.-

ians be1ieved. that 11Hon. L.J. Papineau and all.his~tei1l. appreved. of 

the conduct of Mr. Viger", and that Viger was merely waiting for Pap-
21 

ineau•s return te give up his position in the !Zecutive CouncU. The 

psycho1ogl.cal. et.f'ect of theso ru11eurs was greatl;r in Viger'• .f'avwr. 

Moreover, even in 1844 LaFentai.ne had reallzetl that the e1ectors ttwoultl 

not 1ike te burt his feelings without being forced. to • it", se great 
22 

was Viger•s m.otional. bond with the French Canadians. Te this PB7Ch-

ologl.cal factor must be addetl the tacts .that almeat halt the electorats 

had invitM. Viger te run; his oppenent waa unknewn; he was supperted. by 

very intluential persans., and he had the added prestige ot being the 

President of the Elcecutive Cmmci1 in a conatituency which haà a history 

ot electing government supporters. Therefore it is aurprising that 

Viger was unable to boast an unanimeus victory, or at the ver:r 1east an 
23 

overwhelming majority in this smallest of' t.wer Canadian constituencies. 

On Jul;r 7, over 250 electors presentect themse1ves at the pella. 

~ot, Oct. 24, 1845, cites La M:Werve. 
22 

Menet, "The Last Cannon Shot: A stuct.r of French-Ganadian Nat-
ionaliSII 1837-1850," vel. 1, p. 322, cites LaFontaine to Baldwin, March 
15, 1844. 

23 
Le Jeur!J!l. de !llfbee, . Jul:r 17, 1845; see alao Pilot , Jul;r 17, 

1845, in "Wbich Hinck.s claimed.that Viger ewed his election to bribery 
"te an extent never practiced on any former occasion net even b.f Mr. 
Ogden." Also, Viger 1s election causetl little stir in Montreal, where 
LaFontaine remainei securel:r in the position of French-Canadian leader. 
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A preliminary shew of bands gave neither candidate a majority, anli se 
24 

Viger and. Burns beth addresaed the audience in order te gain more v.tes. 

Viger, this "septuagénaire canadien, qui a blanchi ses cheveux au service 

de son ps.ys et qui a sacrifié et sacrifie encere repos, patience et 

réputation sur l'autel des libert,es canadiennes •••• " was an impressive 
25 

sight as he deli verecl his acld.ress. The gist er his spee.cb was me rely 

an interpretation of Ha.cdona.ld's version •f lieuble aa.jori\7. As Pres-

ident er the C.Uncil, sai à Viger, he wanteli only to pNtect French­

Cana.dian rights and. interests. He regretteci the tlviaion among the French 
26 

Canadians, and urged the electors to heal it by supporting him.. On the 

next shew of bands, Viger had a majority of 52 votes, and his oppenent 
27 

retired under protest. This was the stery er the Three-Rivers b.r-

election. 

It is clear that Viger's victory was net in reality a preof er 

support for the "Reaction" or fer double majority, whicb was never men-

tiênei by na:me by either candidate. It beeame a great trinmph beeause 

Macdonald repeatedly referred to it as auch, anê his readers appeareti te 

believe hia. Macdonald 1 s delight in the election resulta is prMf of his 

24 Le J!llma1 de Québec, July 10, 1845, cites Merping C.UZ.rier. 
Viger anci lbrns each urged the ether to speak first, pr4tbably heping 
that the psychelogi.cal "law of recency" wouli prevail • It is not clear 
who wen the argument. 

25 
Le Capaclien, July 7, 1845. 

26 
Le J•urna.'L de Québec, July 10, 1845. 

27 
ibid. t July 15, 1945. -
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~eater interest in pleading the leadership case for Viger than in see­

ing the principle of clruble ~~ajeri.ty implemented., 

Vi!er's victo17 bad little effect on the actual parliamentary 

situation. It was clear to the Executive CouncU and te the Gft'ernor that 

something more constructive bad to be dene. Goed use coulet be made of 

the ritt in the French party, which bad. been widenetl. by Viger' s victe17. 

However, Metcalfe was personall7 appalleè at ciouble majority. 

The French party seems to assume that Upper Canada must be gov­
erned by the majority of Upper Canada, .but claiu .at the sam.e 
tille that French Canadians ought te gevern Lewer Canada, lihich 
there would have the effect of cGllpletely drowning the Fnglish 
party, to establish Freneh dominion, te which they ceaselessly 
aim. In these conditions the French party would voluntari.ly un­
ite, I believe, with the Conservative party of Upper2gana.da, 
but such conditions are, in mr view. unthipkable .... 

H.wever, Metcal.t'e hopeè to secure the "conversion" of several intluen-

tial French Canadians, who in joining his C.Uncil woulà break up the 
29 

French party, "whese ebject and motives are equally bad •••• " 

Te this end, the real Ge.vernm.ent leader, William Henry Draper, 

travellei to Quebec less than a week atter Viger 's sucee•• in Three 
30 

Rivera. There he aet with René Edward Caron, to whom he confidefl hie 

èesire te intluce some French Canadians te join the Gevemment. He sug­

~sted Morin as the President of the Council , but epecifically excludei 

LaFontaine "owing tG the persona! differences" between LaFontaine and 

28 
Gérin-Lajoie, Dix Ans au Canada, p. 297, Metcalfe t o Stanley, 

May 13, 1845. 
29lli,!. 

30 
Chapaie, Court D•Histo.2;re du Cana4la, vol. 5, p. 209. July 12, 

1845 was the date or Draper 1s meeting with Caren. 
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Metcalfe. However, he proposed to provide for LaFonta:ine with a judge-

ship, and he hinted that the LaFontaine alter-ego, Robert Baldwin, 

would retire without any trouble. The retirement of these tw men from 

politics would remove one of the greatest obstacles from the plan, 

Draper arranged another meeting w.i.th Caron in Montreal, August 
32 

lst, tG discuss the possible difficulties in his plan, At that meeting, 

Draper admitted that Lewer Canadian representation in the Council was 
33 

inadequate, and he outlined his plans to remedy this injustice. The se 

plans included appointing a Lower Cana.dian S.lici tor-General who would 

have great influence, although he would not be a. member of the Ex:ecutive 

Council. A French Canadia.n from the District of Quebec would be appoint-

ed Assistant Secretary, and Viger, who could easily be prevailed upon to 

retire, and Papineau, who longed to de se, would be replaced by two 
34 

other French Canadians. 

The Draper-Caron negotiations were most signi!icant. True to 

31 
Que bec Gaz et te , April 13, 1846, Carm to LaFontaine, Que bec, 

Sept. 7, 1~5. This entire correspondence bas a1so been checked with the 
copies in the P.A.C. LaFontaine Papers, vol. 6, and with the pamphlet, 
Correspendence between the Hon. W,H. Draper & the Hon. R.E. Carpn; apd, 
between the Ho R E Caron and the Honbles L.H LaF ntain N. Morin, 
Montreal: Des barats & Derbishire, 1846 • The correspond.enc e is herea.t'ter 

taken from the Quebec Gazette except in a few instances when. varieus 
items have been emitted t.rom it. 

32 
Chapais, Cours D'Histoire du. Canada, vol, 5, p. 209. 

33 
Q.J.ebec Gazette, April 13, 1846, Caron te LaFontaine, Qlebec, 

Sept. 7, 1845. 

34
ibid.. 
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Metcalfe' s plan to break up the French party, Draper hacl sou§lt eut net 

LaFontaine , the reco~zecl if insecure French-Canadia1 leader, but 

Car.n, an influential Quebec "Reactionist". In fact, Draper specifically 

rejected the possibility of LaFontaine's participatian in the Gevera-

ment. Clearly Draper was siEiing with the QJ.ebecers_, their "Reaction" 

and thei.r leadership struggle. He specified that the Assistant Secretar;r 

be from Que bec, and other men mentione.t for office were also ~ebecers. 

However, Draper was prepared. te cempensate Montreal by giving the pop-
35 

ular Morin a pesition. 

The ether important point was Draper's frankness in revealing 

that he hoped te get rid of Viger and Papineau, and Caron 's rea.ty ca­

pliance with this plan. Macdonald er the Cana,dien had encouraged. the 

"Reaction" with its associate.t policy of double majority to gain suppert 

for Viger and Papineau, yet Draper was prepared te use the "Reaction" 

to get rit not only of LaFontaine, but ct! Viger and Papineau as well. 

The thing was getting out of hand. It was equally clear that Caren was 

willing to avail himsel! of the "Reaction" to present his GNil elaias 

tor leatership. And in none of this planning was double llajority eva 

aentioned, although the "Reaction" was identifiecil with that principle. 

35tongley, Sir Francis Hinclœ: A study of Cana4ian Politics, 
Railways & Finance in the Nineteenth Centurz, p. 146-7. The men aen­
tioned were Morin, Caron, Tach' and Aylwin. Morin was a former ~ebecer, 
but his association with LaFontaine identified hill with Montreal, ani 
presUIIB.bl.y he could have undermi.ned LaFontaine 's following if he had so 
desired be cause he was very popular, while LaFontaine. was net. 



161 

Draper bad terminated his discussion by givin~ Carltl permission 

to d.iseues the plan with these French Canadians whom he theught might 

36 
be willin~ to assist in imp1eaenting it. Caron waiteà !ive .weeks to 

make use or this permissien. nJ.ring that tille, Drap.er ccmficied at 1east 

part of his plan to Viger. As a result, Viger offered the S.1icitor-

Generalship of t.wer Canada to Jacques André Taschereau on the condition 

that he contest the by-election scheciuletl te be helfi in Derchester. 

Taschereau accepted. 
37 

The Dorchester election bec8Jile the focal point of the d.euble mj-

erity discussions. It was written up in all the important Lewer Canaàian 

papers t antl ma.n;r lleabers er the Upper Cana di an press also follwed it 
38 

with interest. The sae .alignment or forces which hatl cr;rstallizeè 

d.uring the first dwb1e 11.ajority debates continu.ed.. Therefore, the 

Cana!ti.en supporte« Taschereau, as l'llitl the Upper Canada Conservative 

papers, while the LaFontaine press and their allies in Upper Canada 
39 

bitter1y tlenounce4 hia. An err.neous rumour at first reversetl all 

these positions, fer it was saitl that Taschereau hatl retused. the Solic-

itor Generalship so that a member et the bar ef Mentreal coulet accept it. 

36 
0!1ebec Gazette, April 13, 1846, Caron te LaFontaine, Qlebec, 

Sept. 7, 1845. 

37
Taschereau was svorn in as. Solicitor-General fer Le-wer Canacta 

on August 21, 1845. See Ceté,. Ppittical Awointments. and Elections ;J.n 
the Province of Canada, 1841 -18 5 •. p. 5. 

38 
Especially the Conservative press, such as the British Colonist. 

39 
Le Canadien, Aug. 20, 1845. 
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Macdonalfi raved in the Canadien about this ·betrayal of the District of 
40 

Quebec. Cauchon in his Journal de. CNébec wrete that Taschereau 's re-

.tusal to join the Gevemment to which the Lewer Canadian majority was 

oppesei meant that he supportecl LaFontaine ancl LaFontairte 's concept of 
41 

double majority. When Taschereau's appointment was officially con-

fi:rmed., these papers reversecl themselves. 

Derchester was the largest constituenqy in Lower Canada. The 

d.eceased. incumbent had been André Taschereau' s brot ber .Elzéar, a LaFon-

taine man. In the general election of 1844, it was rumoured that André 

intended to oppose his brother, ani that he bad visited the Governor to 

seek a position in the Goverrunent. His refusal te diseuse, much lesa 

eriticize the Gevernment, was taken as confirmation ef this rumeur, 42 

43 
despite his in<iignant denial. At any rate, aa seon as his brether 

died, André Taschereau acceptecl Viger's invitation with alacrity. 

40 
Le Jeumal. de Québec, May 31, 1845, cites Le Camciien, May 26, 

1845. 
41 

Le Journal . de Québec, May 31, 1845. 
42 

British Colenist, Nov. S, 1844, cites Qw,bec Mercury, Oct. 29, 
1844, T .c. Aylwin te Nazaire Larue, Oct. 23, 1844. The article was en­
titled "Another Peep into the Den of Iniquity!" 

43 
British Celenist, Nev. S, 1844, cites 9lebec Mercur;y, Oct. 29, 

1844, André Taschereau to T.C. Aylwin, Quebec, Oct. 25, 1S44.Taschereau 
in turn accused Aylwin fl>f persuading his uncle, Antoine Charles Tasch­
ereau, to resign from Dorchester by premising to resign in his faveur 
in Portneuf, and then of ciuping him by supporting another candidate. 
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The history of this constituency is very revealint;. Fer gener-

ations the Taschereaus had bad great influence, and were either rep-

resentatives er seigneurs, B,y their public activities they bad asseciated 

Dorchester with the District of Quebec.
44 

Elzéar Taschereau had carried 

the ri ding by' a wte of 1104 to 116 against his opponent, a Mr. Oliva, 
45 

whose first name is not known. Despite this everwhelming majority, 

however, Taschereau did not have the unlimite<!l ccnfidence of his eon-
46 

stituents, six-sevenths of whom had net bethered to vote. His period 

in office bad. been spent in opposition under the direction of LaFontaine. 

Andr' Taschereau himself seemed to share his constituants' opinion that 

as a representative his brother bad been quite unexeeptionable, for te 

questions about his brother 's political career, he replied lamely that 
47 

ene must speak justly ef the d.ead, Clearly the electers eoulfi have had 

no doubt that André Taschereau woulti not support his brother 's policies, 

especially sinee he had alrea~ accepted office in the GOvernment. 

44 Wallace, 'fhe Maemi)lan Dietionar;r ef Ca:na,41an BieçaphJ', p. 736-
7; see alse L, Le Jeune, Dictionnaire G&léral de Biographie, Histoire, 
Littérature, .Agriculture, Celllllerce, Indu§trieet des .Art•. Sciences, 
Meeurs Coutumes Institutions Politi ues et Reli ieuses du da, 

2 vols., ottawa: Universit' d •ottawa, 1931 , vol. 2, p. 697-700. 
(Hereafter cited as Dictionnaire Général). André 1s grandfather Ga.briel­
Elzéar Taschereau sat for Dorchester in the old Quebec Assembly from 
1792 to 1794, when he became "granli voyer" of the District of Quebec. 
Antré's rather Thomas-Pierre-Joseph Taschereau was the seigneur of Ste. 
Marie, anè on his death in 1826 the seigneury was taken over by another 
clese re1ati ve. .Alreaq mentioned were André' s brother and uncle. 

45r.e Canadien, Nov. 18, 1844. 
46 ill!· , Nov. lB, 1S44; see al~• ibià.. , Sept. 10, 1845; Le J•YE-

nal de Québec, .Aug. 21, 1S45a .Aug, 26, I'S45'. - 47 
Le Journal de Québec, .Aug. 21, 1845. 
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Cauchon of the Journal de Qqébec bad unsuccessftilly scouteà the 
48 

riding for an apponent who would represent the LaFontaine graup. His 

failure was in itself inà.icative of LaFontaine 's growing unpopularity 

in the constituency. Nevertheless, attempts were macle by vari.us const-

ituents to find opponents even when they were not LaFontaine partisans. 

49 
Various names were mentioneà. Cauchon received a turther humiliation 

when a man whom he recommended.. as a g.Mci camliùte unexpectedly suppert-
50 

eà Taschereau 1 s candi<iacy. A Dorchester business man, Horatio Patton, 

decicied to opptse Taschereau as an indepen4ent, but i.t wa.s clear that 
51 

he bad almost no influence a:mong the many French-Canadian fanaers. 

So the anti-Taschereau faction despairingly asked Oliva, the losi~ 

candidate in 1844, to run, and he accepte« despite his prev.ious axper­

ience. His political views were tmcertain, and his main d.rawing cards 
52 

were his wealth and the large business tha.t he own~d.. In e.f.fect, 

48 
Monet, "The Last Cannom Shot: A stuq of Freneh-Ganadian Nat-

ional.im 18.37-1850," vol. 1, p. 404-5. 
49te Journal d.e Qqébec, Aug. 28, 1845; see also ibià., Aug. 26, 

1845. M. Pelette o.f Three Ri vers, and M. Dalla.ire of Dorchester. 
50 

ibid., Aug. 26, 1845. This was Dalla.ire, whom Taschereau was 
said te .fe ar "autant que 1' épée du grand Turc. tl 

51 
British Colonist, Sept. 16, 1845, quotes Montreal Gazette, 

Sept. 12, 1845; see also British C•ltnist, Sept. 9, 1845, cites Cft! be$; 
Mercu;r::,y, Sept. 2, 1845. The constituency was almost entirely French. 
Patton, from Pointe-Lévi, had great CCIIlUD.ercial influence. 

5~e Journal d.e Québec, Aug. 26, 1845. The nature o.f this bus­
iness is not clear. It was à.escribeà. only as "un granet établissement 
sur le chemin Kennebec •••• " 
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Taschereau haci little competition, ani he was challenged. more because 

he was a Taschereau than because ef his political views. 

Beth Taschereau ani Oliva campaignecl hard., although Patton diè. 

not. Oliva staged large demonstrations against the Taschereau influence 
53 

in Dorchester. Anciré Tasehereau's campai~n was even more intense. On 

August 20th, a Sunday, he Tisi ted. most of the chur che s in the riàin~, 

in a tine carria~e d.rawn by' two smart h<llrses. With him were aen who tolà 

the e~wds that Taschereau was "capable, 'bien capable, tr;,s-CaR§.ble. 11 

Taschereau himsel..f urged the electers te accompany bim te all the church 

deers in the parishes of Dorchester, and te speak te their frienfls on 

his behalf. At each chureh cieor he whispered promises te all who spoke 
54 

te him. In these parishes where the lands were dependencies of sei~-

neuries owned by the Government, he prornised. lan cl contracta in return 
55 

for votes. There is also some evidence that he promised at least one 

railroad • for after the election the parishioners of St. Nicholas pet-
56 

itioned the Aasembly for the railroad which haà been promised them. 

The seigneur of the very largest parish was Taschereau' s cousin, and 

his infiuence e.xtendecl into several peripheral parishes as well. Ani 

53 !:!:?.!!•, Sept. 6, 1845. 
54 
~·, Aug. 21, 1845. 

55 
ibid. For exemple, st. Isidere, clependency of Lanzon, and st. 

Nicholas, ""Peinte-Lévi. 
56 

ibid., April 2, 1846. 
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57 
M. Le Seigneur enterecl the campaign in suppert of his cousin Jmd.ré. 

On the 1st of September, Taschereau formal1;r addressefl his COII'l-

stituents. Having taken care of patronage, he turned. to poli tic al ideas. 

His po1itics he d.escribe41. as "liberal as it .is possible for them to be 
58 

uncier a monarchical. cœstitution." He c1aimed. that he had. acceptefl 

office as a French Canadian, but on a certain "condition". Although 

he did not elaberate on this, he probabl;r m.eant a succeasful election 
59 

campaign. Taschereau • s main .argument was id.entieal . to Macdonald. 1 s 

interpretation of double majorit;r. 

If there be an;r now out of power whose nam.es are d.ear te the 
cruntry, let us hope that they mS\Y' socm obtain it: but let not 
men of our origin refuse to take part iniJjhe gevernment be­
cause these men are excluded from it •••• 

The Government of which he was a member included the noes Viger 

and Papineau, "whose patriotism and past conduet constitute a sure guar-

anty for the proper administration of government •••• " Taschereau comment-

ed. He claimed that he had personally a.ccepted office because of the 

57 
ibid.., Aug. 21, 1845; see al.so ibid., Aug. 26, 1845. Ste. Marie 

was the largeat parish,. and seigneur Tasëiie'reau's infiuence e.xtended. 
into the parishes of st. Jose}'>h where another relative was seigneur, and. 
into st. Franqois. 

58 
British Co1onist, Sept. 9, 1845, André Taschereau to the eleet-

ors of Dorchester, Sept. 1, 1845; see als• Pilot, Sept. 12; Le CAJladi!JJ, 
Sept. 3, 1845. An ironie if unintentional ceDIIlent on his opinion of 
menarchies. 

59 
Brlti1h Co1oniat, Sept. 9, 1S45, André Taschereau to the e1eet-

ors of Dorchester, Sept. 1, 1845. See above, p. 161. 
&:1 

British Co1onist, Sept. 9, 1845, André Taschereau te the elect-
ers of Dorchester, Sept. 1, 1845. Referring te La.Fontaine and. Morin, 
anci implying that he. woulà 1ike them back in pewer, although they were 
in opposition to the Govermnent of which he was a mem.ber! 
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61 
principle ''my country befor.e all •••• " The LaFonta.:i.œ press. mooked. the 

sincerity of this patriotis. "His frienàs at Quebec have placar4ed 

their foreheads with-"For Sale to the highest bidè.erl" Mr. Taschereau 
62 

h as ebtained his priee." 

Taschereau also made a direct reference to the District rivalry, 

saying that to protect the "long neglected interests of his district" 

was one of his principal objecta. His speech was influenced completely 

by the d.octrines and policies of the "Reaction", and he justi:fied his 

acceptance of office for the same reasons that Macdonald had been 

preaching for almost a year. There is no deubt that Taschereau was a 

"Reactionist". Unfertunately fer his associa tes, he was not very bright, 

and when he tried to think independently, emphasized his dullness. For 

exam.ple, he conc1uded his speech with, "I am opposed te taxation, per-
63 

suaded as I am that our population is tee poor to endure it." The 

LaFontaine press seized on this. 

Then most copsist.ent Solicitor you are opposed. to the School 
Act carrieci by the Ministry which you have just joineà. and 
egual1x oppose! to Municipal Institutions. Pr&l" will zour 
conscience g~quire you to resign unless yeu obtain repeal of 
these acta? 

61 
ill!· 

62 
Pilot, Sept. 19, 1S45. 

63-
British Colorû.st, Sept. 9, 1845, André Taschereau to the elect­

ors of Dorchester, Sept. 1, 1845. This was an unintentional criticism of 
Viger and Papineau. Ir they were unable to protect French-Canadian inter­
este, how could Taschereau expect to? If, on the other hand, they had. 
mere1y neg1ected to do eo, how cmtld he ask e1ectors to support them? 
Luckily

6
[or him, neither question was aekeci. 

Pilot, Sept. 12, 1845. 
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However, humilia ting as it was for the LaFontaine group, they had been 

unable to find an opponent to Taschereau, and all their sarcasm was 

wasted. 

On September 2nd, after mass at Ste. V~ie, the largest parish, 

both Patton and Taschereau held a politic.al rally in the public square. 

Each was praised by law;rers, who beli tt led the ir opponents, and this led 
65 

to an embroiled debate. In halting French, Patton spoke gravely, pol-

itely, and according to a partisan, briefly. Unfortunately, he neglected 

to discuss his political opinions and principles, or to comment on the 

Government. This omis sion lessened his otherwise favourable impact on the 
66 

audience, most of whom had not known him by sight until he spoke. He 

was followed by Taschereau, who had brought along many influential law­

yers , notaries and one seigneur to support his candidacy. 
67 

The most 

exciting event was the resignation of the third candidate, Oliva, in 

favour of Taschereau. After a lively ral!y, most of the houses in Ste. 

Marie be came infonnal polis, and inexhaustible supplies of wine and 

liquor flowed, lulling the parishioners into a stupor. The treat was on 
68 

the Taschereau clan. 

65 
Le Journal de Québec, Sept. 4, 1845. 

66 
~.,Sept. 6, 1845; see also Le Canadien, Sept. 10, 1845. 

Patton merely wished for great improvements and offered to do his best. 
6? 

Le Journal de Québec, Sept. 6, 1845. The seigneur was Thomas 
Taschereau, of St. Joseph. 

68 
ibid. -
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The c81lpaign was ever, and. all of Lewer Canada, and mu ch of Up-

per Canada awaited the election resulta with open concern. Caron wrete 

te Draper about the feeling in Lower Canada. 

Men's minds here, moreover, appear to be much better Glisposeà, 
a.nGl there is no doubt that a change or reaction is gradually' 
taking place, from 'Which I hope much for the arrangement and 
realization of' our plan. If, as I believe, the new Soliciter 
General succeed.s in his election, this success will have a 
geod effect ~d will be a preof of the re-action ofwhich I 
have spoken. 

Caron' s prediction was correct. Twice the number of electers 

turned out to vote for Taschereau than in the 1944 election, and by 

70 
September lOth, he was leading Pat ton 2154-.299. By the final count, 

71 
he pelled more than fi ve-sixths of the total vote. The Government ha à 

won a victocy, as bad the "Reactioniststr, and for the second time during 

the sum.er of 1945, LaFontaine bad been dealt a mighty blew. Although 

his press organs àismissed the victocy as unimportant, the inevitable 

result of a conteat in which the candidates held identical political 
72 

views, this argtmtent convinced no one. It was Macdonald of the Can-

69 
91ebec Gazette 1 April 13 , 1946, CaMtn to Draper, Que bec, 

Sept. 8, 1945. 

70 
Le Capadien, Sept. 10, 1845. 

71 
British Colonist, Sept. 16, 1945, cites Mgntrea1 Gazette, Sept. 

12, 1945. 

72 
La Minerve, Sept. 11, 15, 1945. In reality it was àifficult te 

really know if his .principles were the same as Taschereau 1.s or not since 
he bad not enlightenecl the electorate about them. However, the LaFontaine 
press was probably right, in view of Patton's coDill.ercial interests, and 
his main concern whioh was to end the Taschereau influence in his rid.ing. 
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adien who was the gl.eating victer. 

170 

An analysis of' the election revealw the true causes of' Tascher-

eau 1 s victory. On the one band, he was a "Reaationist", and his speeches 

were drawn straight from the pages of' the Canadien. '!be LaFontaine 

people bad been unable in this enermous constituency to find. anyone te 

represent thei.r party in the contest. These f'acts support the claim 

that the "Reaction" vas an important consideration in the election. 

On the ether band, Taschereaus hù of'ten represented Dorchester 

in the past, and their influence was strong. This particular Taschereau 

had the prestige and the power of' his official position, and. had 

clearly indicated. his anxiety to use both on behalf' of' his constituents. 

Obviously land contracta and railroads were of' immense interest to the 

f'arming CQilllllunity. Moreover, the only alternative te Taschereau was 

Patton, relatively unknown, of' uncertain political caste, and without 

the influence of' office. Also 1 Patton was an Englishman, whereas Tasch-

ereau was the scion ef' an illustrious French-Canadian f'amily 1 and. he 

was intimate1Y' acquaint ed. wi.th the problem.s and the needs of' his con-
74 

stituency. One must conc1ude that although his victery was a .victory 

73 
Le Journal de Québec, Sept. 4, 6, Oct. 14 1 1845; see alse 

Pilot, Sept. 12, 19, 1845; Le Journal d.e Québec, Sept. 4, 1845, cites 
La Minerve; La Minerve, Oct. Z7, 1845; Le Canadien, Sept. 15, 26, 1845; 
Bri tisb Colo!dst, Sept. 16, 1845, cites Montreal Gazette, Sept. 12, 
1845; British Colonist, Sept. 9, 1845. The Conservative press of' both 
Upper and Lower Canada joined Le Canadien in the triuaph. 

7 4r.e Capa dien , Sept • 26, 184 5; see al se Le Journal de QJ.ébec, 
Sept. 13, 184 5, ci tes La Minerve. Taschereau 1 s who le campaign strate gy 
showed a gcod knGWledge of' the desires of' his censtituents. 
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for the trReaction" and for Macdo:œld.'s interpretation of double majerity, 

and a defeat fer the La.Fontaine greup, it was net se much Taschereau 's 

political platfo:m as his name, and above all his election promises, 

which secured his majority. In fact, it is not unreasonable to su~gest 
75 

that he woul« have won no matter what side he represented. 

Nevertheless, in 1845 it was generally accepted that the Dorches-

ter election was preof that the new Soliciter General accepted double 
76 

majori ty, and that his constituents had voted for him because of this. 

Once again the interpretation of double majority was given far more 

attention than the principle, whiàl was never mentioned by na:me in this 

election. This imbalance was corrected somewhat in the next major dev-

elOJD.ent in Lower Canada, the Draper-Caron-LaFontaine correspa>ndence. 

Caren had been content ta watch the subtle change of popular 

epinion before he went ahead with the Draper scheme. When Taschereau r s 

election seemed certain, Caron felt that the success ef the "Reaction" 

had made LaFontaine 's pesition untenable, and that he coula eaail.y be 

forced to gi ve in to public opinion. It was in this !'r8lle of mind th at 

Caron first approaehed LaFontaine. He faithfully reported the substance 

of his talks with Draper, including the offer of a judgeship te c••-

pensate LaFontaine. In this matter Caron was rather tactless, saying 

75 
Had the "Reaction" been of the utmost importance, over half 

the eligible votera would not have abstained from voting. The summer 
weather gave no excuse. 

76 
Le Canadien, Sept. 15, 26, 1845. 



It wu.ld be unjust to sacrifice a man of your infiuence and 
merit ••• your friend.s wou.ld be highly censu.rable ••• but this 
difficu.lty coulC!l eastly be made7;o disappear by giving yeu 
an appointment •••• on the bench. 
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He concluded by urging LaFontaine to accept the plan, even 

though it involved supporting a Government which included many Cauncil-
78 

lors to whom the French Canadians bad alwqs been epposed. "Wh.at is 

offered is indeed little but it might be a beginning of something 

better.u79 Caron sent out aimilar letters te tw otb.er innuential 
80 

French Canadians. One day lat er, Caron wrote again, merely' to assure 

LaFontaine that "the motives by which I am actuateè. are honest and. dia-
81 

interested." Ne doubt he waa alarmed at having revealed his '~action-

ist" sympathies so f:rankly to the man against whom the "Reaction" was 

directed., and whose policies it challenged. 

Caron also informeei Draper of hia progress. 

Although I am mt very far advanced. in the business •••• I am 
happy to inform. you, that the few persona with whom I have 
had any comnunication on the subject, see matters quite in the 
same point of view as I do •••• 

77 
Qlebec Gazette, April 13, 1846, Caron te LaFontaine, Q.lebec, 

Sept. 7, 1845; aee also P.A.C. LaFontaine Papers, Caron to La.Fontaine, 
Que bec, Sept. 7, 1845, vol. 6, p. 1150. Certain sentences have been e­
mitted from the newspapers. 

7~.A.C. LaFontaine Papers, Caron te LaFontaine, Quebee, Sept. 7, 
1845, v.l. 6, p. 1151. 

79 
Quebec Gazette, April 13, 1846, Caron to LaFontaine, C)lebee, 

Sept. 7 t 1845. 
80 

P.A.C. LaFonta:ine Papers, Caron to LaFontaine, Qlebec, Sept. 
8, 1845 , vol. 6, p. 1163. The se were Huot and Bédard. 

81 
Quebee Gazette, Aprill3, 1846, Caron to LaFontaine, QJ.ebee, 

Sept. s, 1845. 
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However, Caron wa.s not able to guarantee sure success because trthcse on 

'Whom the success of our plan mainl.y depends reside in the District of 

Montreal •••• n82 

Despite the fact that Taschereau's victory had been confirmed, 

despite Caron 1 s naive advice to "look upon this matter as if it had 

reference to another, and not to yourself persona.l13'", LaFontaine refused 

to tam.ely relinquish the position he had fought for ever since the Act 
8.3 

of Union, his position as French-Canadian leader. In what has been 

described as 'iln document capital pour l'histoire constitutionelle de 

cette époque 11 , LaFontaine tried to use double majority to upset the 
84 

Draper-Caron plan. His first reaction to Caron's letter had been te 

ignore it, but Morin had coaxed him to write a letter designed to des-

trqy Draper's obvious influence on Caron, and to summ.on up ever,y pos­

sible argument against the proposals.a5 Double majority was therefore 

very convenient. "I infer", wrote LaFontaine, 

•••• that you are of opinion that in the circumstances of the 
country the majority of each Province should respectively in 
the sense that we at~ach to that idea- that is to SB3", that 
Upper Canada should be represented in the administration of 

a2 
Que bec Gazette, April 1.3 , 1846, Caron to Draper, (.)le bec , 

Sept. a, 1a4.5. 
a,3 

ill!,., Apri11.3, 1846, Caron to LaFontaine, Qlebec, Sept. a, 
la45. 

a4 
Chapais, Cours D'Histoire du Canada, vol • .5, p. 210. Chapais 1 

admiration for LaFontaine led him. to mention the "Reaction" and its 
strength in the most euphemistic terms. 

a5 
T.P.L. Baldwin Papers, LaFontaine to Baldwin, Montreal, Sept. 

23, 184.5, vol. A55, p. 81-84. 
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the day by men possessing the confidence of the politic§l 
-earty in that section of the province which has the major­
ity in the House of As~gmbly, and that it shoul.d be the 
same for Lower Canada. 

LaFontaine agreed that only the Upper Canadian Council was based 

on this principle, but he insisted that Draper's plan could only achieve 
87'• 

a replâtrage and not a truly dcuble majGrity gevemment. For one 

thing, Draper's methode were "unconstitutional". He delegated no res-

poneibUity to Caron in the matter of re-erganizing the Lower Canadian 

CouncU , and he seemed prepared to permit only a partial re-organiz-

ation. "Why according to your principles not fo:rm a new administration 

for Lower Canada with the aid of someene constitutionally charged to do 

so?" dema.ndecl LaFontaine. Al.so, the Ehglishmen Daly and Smith were to 

remain in office, whlle the French Canadians of glorious past if 
88 

tar.niahed present, were to be given the sack. LaFontaine expressed 

his feelings about this llX)re openly to another friend; "In other words, 

(that is my conclusion) His Exce1lency is willing to give them a kick 
89 

out t! What a reward!" 

La.Fontaine also attacked the basis of Draper's invitation, which 

86 
Q.lebec Gazette, April 1.3, 1846, LaFontaine to Caron, Montreal, 

Sept. 10, 1845. &phasis added. 
87 • 

The word replatrage was extremely conmon in this period, and 
m.eant the patching-up of the governm.ent rather than a re-construction. 
For examp1e, negotiations were said to be aim.ed at achieving a replâtrage 
rather than a double majority government. 

88 
Çu.ebec Gazette, April 13, 1846, LaFontaine to Caron, Montreal, 

Sept. 10, 1845. 
89 

T.P.L. Baldwin Papers, LaFontaine to Baldwin, Montreal, Sept. 
23, 1845, vol. A55, p. 82. 
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was extended to French Canadians "as French Ca.nadians 11 and "not in con-

sequence of a constitutional right, nor by the action of the opinion of 

their countrymen •••• 11 This, LaFontaine argued, could lead o~ to the 

less of their infiue11ce. Viger and Papineau had proved this; and Tasch-

ereau "only entera into the aàninistration under the same title, and by 

the same door •••• The same fate await s him. 11 If this was not a clear 

enough challenge tG the "Reactionists", LaFontaine gave them no chance 

to misund.erstand him.. 

A little more division am.ong the Canadians, w.i.th all its. unfor­
tunate effects; this is all we have to expect from a system 
which a Que bec journal bas just sanctioned in broad d.q, and 
which I c~ot describe otherwise than as a system of "office 
aeekers". 

This letter was not merely a reply to Caron the individual.. It 

was LaFontaine 1s challenge to the "Reactionists 11 , and above all, to 

Macdonald of the Canadien. All LaFontaine's arguments haà already been 

ex:pressed in his newspapers in general terms; this time he translated 

them into specifies. He even continued to make double majority the 

issue, although nothing had really changed. It was stUl his own inter-

pretation of double majority against Macdonalcl •s. It was still more than 

ever a leadership fight, although Viger and Papineau were no longer the 

main rivals. The field appeared open even to LaFontaine's own lieutenant 

Morin, if he were willing, and to any number of •Reactionists", partie-

ularly Caron himself. 

90 
'IJ.ebec Gazette, April 13, 1846, LaFontaine to Caron, Montreal, 

Sept. 10, 1845. 
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Double ma.jority became the central issue as it had been made the 

issue of the Dorchester election. In tact, in neither case 'WB.S anything 

mere lofty than a leadership strugg1e involved. LaFontaine agreed that 

the Lower Canadian Council should posse.ss the confidence of the Lawer 

Canadian maj ori ty. For sever al month s his newspapers had specitied that 

only he and Morin could form such an administration. He insisted that 

no French Canadians should accept office "as French Canadians"; Coun-

cillors had to be "men possessing the contidl'!llce ef the politieal part;r" 

to which the majority of Lewer Canadian representatives belonged. La-

Fontaine himselt was the leader of the onl;y politieal party which was 

supported by the majority of Lower Canada, whereas if racial member-

ship were to be the criterion for office, his cla.im tor recognition was 
91 

only equal to those of all influential French Canadians. LaFontaine 's 

dislike of division in French-Canadian ranks was an attack on the 

"Reactionists 11 wt:lG opposed him. His scornful references to Taschereau 

and the Canadien were his declaration of war on their version of dou-

ble majority, and therefore on themselves. It waa his own interpretation 

of the principle on which he staked his leadership, and he chose tc use 

double ma.jority so that no one cocù.d accuse him of refusing tG aid in 

the formation of a government based on the system. Macdonald had first 

suggested double majority to attack LaFontaine; in 1845, LaFontaine 

reversed the process. 

91 
Altbough in 1842 LaFontaine aecepted office on the basie of 

racial origin, the consequences or this only be came clear in 1845. 
As a principle, LaFontaine oppose& racial origin as a test tor political 
power. 
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92 
LaFentaine 's letter made a strong btpressien on Caron. As a 

result, Caron wrote to Draper that only a total reconstruction of the 

t.wer Canadian Ceuncil, rather than the substitution ef twe French Can-

ad.ians fer Viger and Papineau, woulcll be acceptable. Ancl this reeenstruc­

tien ha.d to be undertaken by someone constitutionallJ" cha.rged te unde~ 

take it. Alse, the double majority had to be the principle of govern-

ment: 

the administration o~ht no more to gevern Lewer Canada b,ymeana 
ef a majority drawn from Upper Canada, than it ought te geTem 
Upper Canada by the aid of Lower Canada ••• My' administration 
eught to reaain in power se long only as it shoulà be supperted. 9.3 
by the majerity in each section of the province, respective~ •••• 

Caron add.ed. cme new iclea, that the Idnority should be given some 

r epresentation in the Council. 'lbe problems which the plan entailed 

were making vacancies for the new men, getting rid of incumbent Ceuncil-

lors repugnant to the new men, and excluding certain other aen who could 

not t ake part in any gevermnent unt. il Metealfe ceased te be Governer. 

One principle applied. te al1 these probleas, said Caron. It was general-

ly agreed tha.t ••the interest or persona.l conTenience of those whom. the 

change woulci affect ought net to be taken inte consillieratien •••• " In 

ether words, if it were necessary te get rid of incumbent Counc:l.llors 

either to make room for new men, or be cause of political incom.patihility 

with the new men, it would be in the public interest te llio se witheut 

92 
T.P.L. Ba.l«win Papers, LaFontaine te Baldwin, Montreal, Sept. 

2.3, 1845, vel. A55, p. 8.3. 
93Quebec Ga.gette, Aprll 1.3, 1846, Caron to Draper, Quebec, 

Sept. 17, 1845. 



reference to personal considerations. This principle also applieli to 

those wbt weulli have to be excluci.ed. frœ. office, and. Caron inform.eà. 

Draper that even LaFontaine was agreeci th at: 

the persms in question will know how te appreciate the motives 
by which their frienà.s are actuated, and. that they w::Ul net 
consid.er themselves aband.ened, bec~}!se thctse .frienù, yield. te 
a necessity which they all regret. 

17S 

This was certain~ a elever rationalization ef LaFontaine's re-

marks, but apparentl;y Caren felt that LaFontaine 's in.fluence grew lese 

as the "Reaction" grew stronger, se that his claims to leadership could 

be overlooked. Theref'ore, apart from the problem. of' LaFontaine 's leader-

ship, Caron had f'aithf'ully supperted. his views on double m.ajority, when 

in ract the main issue was net. double majority, but the leaci.ership ques­

tion. So àespite the apparent hannony or opinion between these two sup-

porters or double ma.jority, there arose auch animosit;y over the real 

issue that LaFentaine even changed his custemar.r rorm or address from 
95 

nMy Dear Friend." to "My Dear Sir", for which Caron reproached hi.Jl. 

Nevertheless, Caron was not àeterred by this pointed unfriendliness, 

for he believeà. that "The realizatian or the ••siret coalition is not 

'Without ciif'ficulty, but it is possible,- and i.f' it orf'ers the only 
96 

means of putting an end. to our troubles, it must be accomplished." 

94 ill!· No politician, especiall.y such a. serious and prouà man 
as LaFontaine, could. be expectecl to take this sportingly. 

95 
P.A.C. La.Fontaine Papers, Caron to LaFontaine, Quebec, Sept. 

19, 1845, val. 6, p. 1205. 
96 

Que'bec Gazette, April 13, 1846, Caron to Draper, Sept. 17, 
1845. 
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Although LaFentaine hacl showecl Cann no signe of weakening, he 

conficlecl his cleep anxieties to his frienù Baldwin. This was partly out 

of loyalty, part]Jr because Baldwin 's position woulti be materially wersen-
97 

ed if Draper and Caron succeetled. in their plan. LaFontaine summ.efi up 

what he ironical~ clescribeà as the "impressions produced upon Caren's 

mind by his interview with Mr. Draper-". He predicteà. te Baldwin that 

the negotiation could very well succeeà., because Caron had accepted his 

own recommenclations. The only acivantage which could be expected if in-

deed the plan succeeded, was that "it weuld imrnediately crush the reac-

tien in (Jlebec, and would strengthen you in Upper Canada-". Still, 

LaFontaine thought it unlikely that Metcalfe would agree to sacrifice 

Daly, which a complete reconstruction of the Lower Canadian Council 

meant, anci "Morin, however fond of betany he mey be, will never consent 

to cultivate such a plant (as) the ''lilly of the valley" •••• " The issue 

seemed to LaFontaine to revolve around whether or not Draper woulcl in-
98 

sist that Caron's conditions be met. 

It appeareà that LaFontaine was prepared te relegate leadership 
99 

to Morin, so that he coulà. assume it again when Metcalfe lett Cana.àa. 

97 
Chapais, Cours D'Histoire du Canada, vol. 5, p. 215. 

98 
T .P .L. Baldwin Papers, LaFontaine to Baldwin, Montreal, Sept. 

23, 1845, vel. A5 5, p. 81-84. It was unlikely that Baldwin would have 
been at all helped if the plan had succeeded. 

99 
He ha.lll done this in 1841, before he left Lower Canada and wen 

a seat in Upper Canada. See Monet, "The Last Cannen Shot: A study of 
French -Canadian Nati onalism 183 7-1850, 11 vol. 1, p. 146-9. 
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In this way he he~peti te avoid loe:ing complete control ef the parliament-

ary situation te the 11Reactionists11 • He was, however, heping that nothing 

woulct come et the negotiations. His letter te Caron had been filled. with 

cond.itions Which the Geverner would finct almost impessible te accept. 

H•wever, since these conditions had been associated with d.ouble majority, 

he believefl that if they causeti the ne~tiation te fail, the "Reaction-

ists" would have to agree that he bad merely insistect on a strict ap-

plication of their own system. 

This view is strengthened b,y the fact that La.Fontaine summoneù 

Hinck• te Montreal te consult with him, although he knew that Hincks 

was epposefl te àeuble major! ty. Hincks teld Baldwin that the plan to 

lerm a governm.ent on the basis of the "quite awkward" principle ot 

tlouble majority woulti certainly tail, since "the Gev. Gen. will never 

take the constitutional course of sending for a man like Morin & en-

trusting him to torm an administration fer L.C. 11 , unless 11tiriven to de 

se by Draper. 11 However, it su ch a govemm.ent were actual.ly forme&, 

it weula drive the Tories here •d, etfect a breach between 
them, and tht'dr allies. in u.c.- reunite the liberal party 
& give a lesson te the L.C. ttteose Fish\aàat would not be 
forgotten • would. prove salutary in u.c. 

Hincks felt that the primary advantage of a double majority gev­

ernment would be that various dif'ficul t measures could be dispesed of 

in the Assembly, and then when the government broke up as it inevitably 

lroUlti after a few months, the French Canadians woulti have had an ob je ct 

100 
T .P .L. Baldwin Papers, Hincks to Baldwin, Montreal, Sept. 23, 

1845, vol. A51, p. 49-50. 
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lesson in the absurdity of double majority. And if it were true that 

Viger and Papineau were to be fired., but that Da.ly and &ni th were not, 
101 

this should crush the "Reaction" if nothing else would. 

Wïth these tw. analyses of the political situation in Lower Can­

ada to guide him, Baldwin wrote to LaFontaine tha.t the LaFontaine version 

of double majority, by which he meant double caMnets supported by 

ctauble majorities, was the only version which in any wa.y conform.eà te 

responsible govermnent. Nevertheless, as a principle it was "inaàmis-

sible and incleeà. wholly impracticable", and. it conflicted. with Canadian 

poli ti cal institutions. Mereever, once form.ed, the propesed. severnment 

would govern by any ru.jority it coul« secure, and. à.ouble majority woulà 

be forsaken. Baldwin 1s own cencession to the differences between the 

sections was a "certain deference" in the matter of fercing measures 

against "the cleciêecl opinion of a considerable majority of the repres­

entatives tram such section."
102 

Clearly Baldwin was not familiar with 

the principles of double majority advocated in the LaFontaine press, 

which had specified that the s.ystem bad to receive popular and legis-

lative sanction in ord.er to become the rule (l.)f gevernment. This require-

ment weuld have done away with the possibility of a reversion to the 
103 

simple majority sueh as Baldwin predicted. 

101 
~· This «istinction in the treatment of French and English 

Ceuncillors was a sore point with the French Canadians. Hincks and the 
Upper Canada Reformera were to play on it to produce a dislike for the 
Conservatives on the part of the French Canaèians. 

102 
P .A.C. LaFontaine Papers, Baldwin te LaFontaine, Toronto, 

Oct. 16, 1845, vel. 6, p. 1215-6. 
103 

Baldwin seemed to knew enly the double ma.jority as mentioned. 
in LaFontaine's letter. 
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Baldwin also sought to reassure his friend that double majority 

was a fly-qy-night idea, and that responsible government would prevail. 

lie mey justly console ourselves with the reflection that such 
a resignation as ours was a necessary step in the establish­
ment of our principles and has with all its attendant circum­
stances greatly advanced them-104 

Balciwin could not understand that the "Reaction" in Lower Canada was 

directed against the resignation, against "our principles 11 , as well 

as being a movement in favour of double ma.jori ty. He did not grasp 

that LaFontaine had to support double majority if he were to continue to 

engage in poli tics. The influence of Baldwin and of Hincks on LaFontaine, 

in this negotiation and on the double majority issue, was very signif-

icant, and their opposition to Lower Canadian public opinion explains in 

part LaFontaine's agonies of indecision and his inconsistencies. 

At this point, both LaFontaine and Caron took precautions against 

a possible publication of the substance of their negotiation. LaFentaine 

asked for a copy of Caron's letter to Draper explaining LaFontaine's 

views. He also asked permission to acquaint several influential Quebec-
105 

ers with the nature of the talks, or 11at least of my answers." He 

reiterated that he was free from all responsibility for the outcome of 

104 
P.A.C. LaFontaine Papers, Baldwin to LaFontaine, Toronto, 

Oct. 16, 1845, vol. 6, p. 1217. 
105 

Quebec Gazette, April 17, 1846, LaFontaine to Caron, ~~ntrea1, 
Oct. 20, 1845. The men mentioned were Aylwin, Taché, Chauveau and 
Cauchon. 
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the negotiation, since he was not tG be incluàed., but he alideè his op­

inion that "Mr. Draper ought to insist on the entire reconstruction of 

the 1-finistry !or Lower Canada, or resign: cttherwise his step is a blun­

der. tt106 La.Fontaine conceded net an inch, but he defended himself from 

the "Reactionists" by asking that his own letter, which insisteci that 

double ma,1ority be implemented, be shown to leading QJ.ebecers. 

Caron wa.s just as astute. He agree« to give the requesteà letter 

te the men mentioned, but only i! LaFentaine or Morin spoke to them 

first, "as te the chief of the former administration, and chie! of the 
107 

party with ltttich there appeared to be a desire te fonn an alliance." 

In this way Caron protected. himself from possible charges of trying te 

wrest the leadership away from LaFontaine. Caron also enclosed a copy 

of his letter to Draper, assuring LaFontaine that Draper was giving it 

the "most serious cansicieration" with a view to ''replyirtg with the un-

108 reservedness" which had characterizecl Caron 's ewn corresponclence. 

LaFontaine was turious with Caroo 's let ter, especially the idea 

that 11a political party ... ought to sacrifice one of its members when 

the caprice of a Governor demanda it." Sai.d the sacrificial goat grimly, 

"that opinion is not mine." LaFontaine also took exception to Caron's 

106 
ill.!· 

107 
Qlebe c Gazette, April 17, 1846, Caron to LaFontaine, Que bec , 

Oct. 25, 1845. 
108 

ill!!_. 
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109 
opinion that the minority should have its share in government. This 

confiicted. entirely with the principles of party government, to whieh he 

was totally camnitted., and without which he bad little chance of political 

survival. As the correspendence progressed, leadership and responsible 

party government became more and more the overt issues. 

William Henry Draper, who started the whole affair, never men-

tioned double majority at all, although the system was suppesed.ly the 

whole point of the negotiation. In !act, his contamperaries believed 
llO 

that Draper never subscribed to the principle at a.n;y time. It was 

rumoured that his inclination to work with the Lewer Canada Refo:nners 

was not be cause of his support for double majority, but because he was 

lll 
growing more and more unpopular with his own Conservative party. 

Draper concerned himself only with straight political questions. A.fter 

making a :m;vsterious allusion to "tho se ~. as well as th ose unger" 

109 . 
Qaebec Gazette, April 17, 1846, La.Font aine to Caron, Montreal, 

Oet. 26, 1845. 
llO 

Le Jourpal de Qu.Sbec, March 30, 184 7, cites Pilot; see alse 
Dent , Canada Sin ce the Union of 1841, (Dent' s copy), vol. 4, Hincks to 
Dent, Montreal, June 6, 1882. "I dont (sic) think Draper would have com­
mitted. himself to double ma.jority on the contrary he refused to recog­
nize it •••• " 

lll 
T.P.L. Baldwin Pa.pers, La.Fontaine te Baldwin, Montreal, Sept. 

23, 1845, vol. A55, p. 81-84; see alse Geerge Metca.lf, "Draper Conser­
vatil!lll in the Gana.das," Cana.dia.n Historica.l ReY;\ew, XLIV (March, 1961) , 
p. 302, in which he points out tha.t Draper accepted the Union unlike 
his party as a. whole; p. 304, Draper was opposed by his party for his 
position on the Clergy Reserves;p. 305, also King's Collage; p. 309, he 
hated. theoretical differences, and disliked party feeling; p. 301, his 
main Conservative ta.stes were social. 



whom he was acting, he tinal.ly rep1ied to Caron 's 1etter in detail. 
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112 

He infonned Caron that he, Morris and Cayley would resign i.Dmetiately if' 

the general geod required it. Da1y and Papineau, and probabl1' Smith, 

were equally willing to retire. Although Viger deserved. "every possible 

consideration on my part", he would have to be retired. The only prob-
113 

lem was "the mode of eff'ecting it •••• " 

The most important part of' Draper's letter was his request f•r 

Caron to provide him with a general list of offices or changes in the 

Goverllllent desired by the French Canadians. "If I can state distinctl7 

what is expected as the â.n.!, gua rum.- I am in a pG>sition tc lay the case 
114 

fa:i.rly before the proper parties", including the Goverœr, he ex:pla:i.neci. 

In this way, t~f course, the burden of responsibility for the substance 

of the ne~tiations was transferred to Caron 's should.ers. 

Back home in Montreal, La.Fontaine had appointeà Morin his agent 

in the proceedings. He collaborated with Morin on a letter to Caron, in 

which they accused Draper of shifting from placing the "two contracting 

parties on a footing of' equali ty", based on the princ iple "that the pos-

ition to be held by each resulta from the support they respectively re-

cei ve from their friends. 11 In other words, Draper was retreating from 

the LaFontaine version of a double majority government based on party 

112 
Que bec Ge.! et te, April 13, 1846, Draper tc Caron, Montreal, 

Oct. 16, 1845 (wrongly dated 1846 in source). 

1845. 

113 
ibitl. , April 10, 1846, Draper tc Caron, Montreal, Nov. 19 , 

114 
ibid. 



186 

government, to the replâtrage idea, which corres:p:mded more to the 

"Reactionist" interpretation of double majority. Moreover, the let ter 

cœtinued, Draper invited Caron and the French Canadians to voice opin-

ions on the Upper Canadian section of the Government, which was con-
115 

trary to the principles of double majority. The only acceptable piece 
ll6 

of news was that Caron was to be made the principal in the affair. 

After writing this letter, Morin heard news of the Gover:oor's resig-
117 

nation, and suggested that the negotiation should be postpeneà.. 

Caron bad heard the news, and was read.y with his defense against 

usurping LaFontai.ne 's leadership. 

I never understood. that I was charged wi th the formation ef an 
administration, and in !act I have never be en charged. with it , 
either directly or indirectly; and I think also I told you that 
if the thing were proposed tot!~· I should refuse it, and cer­
tainly I should have done se. 

For with Metcalfe gone, the negotiations could be conducted between the 

Gevernment and those who bad previously been excluded. "I allude to 

Lafontaine, to you, and to the rest of your former colleagues to whom 

the satisfaction is due, and to whom it belongs, to say how it should 

ll5 
Queboc Ge.zette, April 17, 1846, Merin to Car&n, Montreal, Nov. 

24, 1845. This is in contradiction to LaFontaine 's ramous speech in 1S42 
in which he justified his interference in Upper Canada's Council because 
of Baldwin. 

ll6 
ibid.. This must be taken as Morin 's opinion only. 

117-
Q.}ebec Gazette, April 17, 1S46, Morin te Caron, Montreal, 

Nev. 24, 1S45. 
llS 

illi•• April 17, 1S46, Caron to Morin, Quebec, Nov. 25, 1845. 
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119 
be made." Caron also repeated to Draper that he had never pretended 

to be the head of a party, but had only acted. as an intermedia:ry between 
120 

recognized party heads, and the Goverruœnt. Caron' s let ter crossed. 

the mails with one frœ Draper, inf'orming him that the Gevernor'w de­

parture altered his position, but that he would cemmunicate with Caron 
121 

in the future. It was clear that Draper had been acting with Met-

calte' s knowledge, and that he feared that the next Governor might not 

authorize him te continue the negotiation on the same basis, or with the 
122 

sa.m.e freedom. The negotiation was over, but the post-mortems were 

just beginning, and the leadership. struggle was even less well concealeè 

than before. 

At just this time, there was another development in the politica.l 

situation. Lwis Joseph Papineau, who was believed to support the pol-

icies ef his cousin and brother, D.B. Viger and D.B. Papineau, and whose 

supposed appreval bad had such an effect on the "Reaction", indica.ted 

private4'" to LaFontaine tha.t in tact he was sympathetic to his policy 

of opposition. LaFontaine in tum confided to Papineau the problems in-

119 !'!?!!!· 
120 

P .A .c. LaP'ontaine Papers, Caron to Draper, QJ.ebec, Nov. 26, 
1845, vol. 6, p. 1245-6. 

121 
Qaebee Gazette, April 10, 1846, Draper to Caron, Nov. 26, 

1845. 
122 

P.A.O. Baldwin Papers, LaFontaine to Baldwin, Montreal, Dee. 
2, 1845, vol. 3, p. 83-4. 
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123 
vo1ved in the negotiation. Papine·au was unable to give any clea.r-cut 

advice, for he was tom between a desire to end what he believed was the 

persecution of the French Canadiane b,y advising them te accept the offers, 

orto remain in opposition to the Government he despised.124 

In the new year, the negotiation degenerated into squabbles over 

publication or non-publication or the corresponQence. Since it seemed 

that LaFontaine would s:>on be back in power now that Metcalfe had gone, 

Caron was worried about his attem.pts to persuade LaFontaine to give up 

his claims to office. He theref'ore requested LaFontaine not to publish 
125 

the correspondence. LaFontaine had his little revenge: since Caron, 

by his own accrunt, had merely been an "intermediary" between Draper 

and LaFontaine, then the correspondence, including Caron's letters, be-
126 

longed to LaFontaine to do with as he saw fit. Caron soon .round that 

it was dangerous to cross LaFontaine, who never forgot and seldOil fer-

127 
gave. 

123P.A.C. LaFontaine Papers, La.Fontaine te L.J. Papineau, Men­
treal, Dec. 6, 1845, vol. 6, p. 1252. However, Papineau remained si1ent 
in public to spare his f'amily. 

124 
P.A.C. 0 1Callaghan Papers, Papineau to 0 1Callaghan, Montreal, 

May 12, 1846. 
125 

91ebec Gazette, April 17, 1846, Caron to LaFontaine, Quebec, 
Feb. 6, 1846. 

126 
ill!•, Caron to LaFontaine, Montreal, March 10, 1846. 

127 
The classic exception to this is LaFontaine 's book Les Deux 

Girouettes ou L' ocrisie Démas uée, (Montreal: Ludger Duveraay, 
1834 , written against the Mondelet brothers Charles and Dominique. 
Later he bad a reconciliation with Charles. 
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Caron was then forced to concede LaFontaine's right to make the 
128 

correapondence public if constitutional usage required it. This in 

turn meant that he had the unpleasant task of telling Draper that copies 

of ali the letters were in LaFontaine's bands. Since LaFontaine lived 

in Montreal, and he lived in Quebec, he had bad to rely on letters to 

oonduct the negetiation. Draper's reply to this was such that "he was 

not ashamed of the manner in which he bad expressed himself ••• but it was 
129 

in a manner in which he would be sorry to express himself again. 11 

He insisted untruthfU11y that he had not realized that LaFontaine was 

one of Caron' s correspondents, and truthfully that he had. been secret-
130 

ive about the whole affair himself. The real truth was that Draper 

was horrified to learn that LaFontaine had copies of his own letters in 

which he discussed his plans for the compulsory retirement of Viger and 

Papineau. 

Caron was caught in the centre of a tierce political battle, en 

the one band accused by Draper of being loose~outhed and indiscreet, 

and on the other band the victim of LaFontaine 1s anger for having at-

tempted. to replace him as leader of the French Canadians. He was reduced 

128 
Qlebec Gazette, April 17, 1846, LaFontaine te Caron, Montreal, 

March 11, l$46; see also ~·, Caron to LaFontaine, Montreal, March 
16, 1846. 

129 ill!• , April 13, 1846. 
130 
~·, April 10, 1846, Draper to Caron, March 19, 1846. 
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to begging La.Fontai.ne to omit certain passages when he published the 

correspondence, "not because I thirik I have written what is not true, 

but because all truths are not to be spoken at all times. tt
131 

This 

prom.pted LaFontaine to return to a "Dear Sir" basis of address to 
132 

Caron. Under great pressure, Caron also decided to publish the whole 
133 

correspondence. Draper too would not be left silent, and he also 
134 

decided to publish. By April 15, 1846, the newspapers carried the 

Whole correspondence in closely-printed columns, accompanied b,y suitable 

editorial venom. This journalistic involvement in the affair had been 

previewed when Caron insinuated that LaFontaine bad allowed the Pilot 

and the ll.:inerve to hint at the substance of the negotiation at a time 
135 

when all parties were sworn to secrecy. 

In 1845 double majority entered the field of practical politics. 

More accurately, different versions of double majority disguised the 

battles of the rival LaFontaine-"Reactionist" political groups. The 

victory seemed to go to the "Reactionists" for several months. Viger 's 

131 
Qlebec CJS.zette , April 17, 1846, Caron to LaFontaine, Montreal, 

March 23, 1846. 
132 

!!?.à&• , LaFontaine to Caron, Montreal, April 6, 1846. 

l33~., Caron to La.Fontaine, Montreal, April 6, 1846. 

134
ibid., April 10, 1846, Draper to Caron, Montreal, April 6, 

1846. 
135 
~·, April 17, 1846, Caron to LaFontaine, Quebec, Oct. 25 1 

1845; see also ~., LaFontaine to Caron, Montreal, Oct. 26, 1845. 
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victory in 'l'hree Rivera, and Taschereau 's in Dorchester were publicly 

credited to the forces of the "Reaction", which was in turn identified 

with the Canadien 's version of double majority. Analyses of both elec­

tions sug_~est that in reality double majority was not of prime concern 

to either the candidates or the electorate. At most, the election re­

sulta indicated disapproval of LaFontaine's policy of opposition to the 

Govemment , and approval •f the policies of the "Reactionist" leadership 

contenders. The two men owed their victories to promises of patroo.age 

and other success:tùl campaign strategies :far more than to their SJ.pport 

of double majority. In fact, the press organs of the rival factions, 

particularly Macdonald's Canadien, merely impesed double ma.jority as 

the issue on these politieal events in bids :for public support of their 

own candidates. 

After the two elections, LaFontaine was in an unenviable position. 

His popular support was draining away, and his feud with the Governor 

preeluded his re-entry into the Government. Both the Govemor and his 

favourite, Draper, deeided to take advantage of this situation to stren­

gthen the Govemml!rlt. Draper addressed himself to a leading "Reactionist" 

and devised a plan which would rid him of Viger and probably Papineau, 

and replace th sn wi th e:xtremely popular French Canadians , all of whom 

were "Reaetionists", exeept LaFontaine •s friend. Morin. Since neither 

Draper nor Metcalfe supported double majority, no mention waa made of 

the system. It was LaFontaine 's own decision to insist on the. implem­

entation of his own version of the system in his letter to Caron, which 
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he admitted had been written merely to persuade Caron to disregard 

Draper's plan. Caron agreed substantially with LaFontaine 's ideas, but 

interpreted them to mean that LaFontaine was prepared to forf'eit office. 

LaF0 ntaine denied this interpretation most bitterly. Caron also man­

aged to interpret double majority so that French Canadians other than 

LaFontaine, Viger and Papineau were leadership contenders. 

The LaFontaine-Garon exchange of letters was characterized by 

undercurrents of deep-seated hostility, an overt attack by LaFontaine on 

the Canadien 1 s double majority and on the "Reactionists" as a group, 

and an obvious willingness by Caron to get rid of LaFontaine as the 

French-Ganadian leader. These undercurrents were glossed over by pro­

testations of nmtual esteem, respect and affection from which, however, 

LaFontaine lapsed from time to time. LaFontaine's letters to Baldwin, 

unvarnished with the diplomatie niceties, revealed his opposition to 

the Draper plan even more openly. His imposition of conditions which the 

Governor would be hard put to concede was due more to his desire to pre­

vent the success of the plan than his desire to see double majority 

implemented. 

Suddenly the news of the Governor 1s departure was confirmed. The 

balance of the political see-saw was shifted, and LaFontaine was on the 

rise, the "Reactionists11 on the wane. The substance of the correspond­

ence at this time is proof of this. LaFontaine took the offensive, and 

decided to publish the letters to show the world, or at least the rene­

gade QJ.ebecers, that he had not made him.self an obstacle to the Draper 

plan, but had merely insisted on a strict application of double majority. 
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Caron, on the other hand, hastened to put into writing his allegiance 

te LaFontaine 1s leadership, and to affir.m his pesition as an inter­

llediary. Draper, turious that his devi.ous plans to get rid of Viger 

and Papineau would be revealed, turned on Caron, so that the former 

allies against LaFontaine turned against each other instead. 

All this is evidence that double majority again disguised a 

leadership battle in the elections and in the correspondence, just as it 

had in the editorial war preceding these events. This idea is tested 

further in the next chapter, through a stucy of the journalistic reaction 

to the negetiation, and an analysis of the negotiation whictt followed 

close on the heels of the first. 



CHAPTER VII 

THE CANADIAN PRESS, THE "REACTION° AND--THE DRAPER-CATHCART PLAN 

The mountain has been in labour, and lol it has brought .forth 
a mouse.l 

The .fate of doul:ie majority was inextricably linked to the for-

tunes of the various poli tic al groups. Ea.ch of these groups used it as 

a pawn and a vehicle through which to conduct their political battles. 

As a result, the study of double majority is the study of the changi.ng 

political balances. In particular, it is the stud;r of the LaFontaine-

"Reactionist" struggle. This theme has several variants and sub-themes, 

the most important. of which are the leadership fight, the nature or 

the Lower Canada..Upper Canada political alliances, and the District 

rivalry. All of the se had an effect on the concept, practice and above 

all the fate, of double maj0rity. 

The inter-sectional alliances became increasingly important in 

the developnent. of the double majority. LaFontaine's commitment to the 

Reform alliance had .first made him hesitate about accepting double maj-

ority; it was the renewed strength of the alliance which was to confirm 

his hesitations. The Upper Canada partners of the "Reactionists" had 

given support to a fonn of double majority; the "Reactionists 11 were pre-

pared to modify their own version to conform more to that of their 

allies. 

From 1S46 to 1847, the history- of double majority revolved around 

1 
Pilot, April 9, 1846, quotes Col. Prince on the negotiations. 
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negotiations between the Government and the opposition. Equally impor-

tant in its development were the debates and newspaper discussions which 

fOllowed each of these negotiations. These newspaper discussions were in 

fact dialogues between the political groups. Often the most biting and 

angry dialogues were masked behind discussions of double majority, but 

sometimes they were not. The omission of the double majority mask con-

tributes much to an understanding of the political balances and nuances, 

Which in turn contribute much to an understanding.of the history of dou-

ble majority. The inter'-acting relationship between political balances 

and double majority was and !§. inseparable. 

Soon after the first negotiation ended, rumeurs about what it had 

involved threw bath the public and the back-benehers into a state of 
2 

great excitement. The Reformera were summoned to a caueus at which the 
3 

actual substance of the correspondence was revealed. Resolutions were 

adopted in which LaFontaine's behaviour throughout the negotiation was 
4 

described as ultra-patriotic and was warmly praised. This eaucus was 

more than a routine meeting at whieh wild rumours were cleared up. It 

was part of a strategv to re-assert the ties between LaFontaine and the 

2 
Eraminer, March 11, 1B46, reports rumours that L.J. Papineau 

and La.Fontaine would replace the French-Ganadian Councillors; see also 
Le Journal .de ÇPébec, Oct. 28, 1S45, dismisses the current rumours that 
L.J. Papineau and Morin would join the Gevernment. 

3 
Le JGurnal de Ql.ébec, April 14, 1846; see also Le Canadiep, 

April 13, 1S46. The meeting was on April 2, 1846. 
4 
Le C§madien, April 1.3, 1S46. 
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Upper Canada Refonners, all of whom attended. 
5 

Baldwin hi.mself chaired 
6 

the meeting. As a political party undistinguished by section, the Re-

form party gave LaFontaine the most gratif.yingly solid support for his 

part in refusing the offers. It becam.e Upper Canadian Reform policy to 

withhold all criticism of LaFontaine, and to lavish compliments on him. 

As a means of encauraging him to remain f:im in his opposition to alliance 

with the Conservatives, this policy was not unsuccessful.. 

A few days after the caucus , LaFontaine read to the entire Assem-
7 

bly his exchange of letters with Caron. During the ensuing debate, the 

united Reformera seemed to have a tacit agreement to ignore double maj-

ority, the putative basis of the negotiation. The debate was centred 

instead on the merita of publication, and on the behaviour of the prin­

cipals of the negotiation. LaFontaine exonerated himself from all blame 

or responsibility for the affair, for the same reasons he had given 
8 

Caron during their correspondence. Baldwin, however, insisted that he 

5
Missing: T .c. qlwin, Quebec Ci't7; L. Bertrand, Rimouski; T. 

Franchère;Rouville; B.H. Le Moine, Huntingdon; A. Jobin, Montreal County; 
see lista of members present in Le Journal de Qufbec, April 14, 1846, 
and Le Capadien, April 13, 1846. This was compared w:ith list of oppos­
ition members taken fran Cornell, Aligrnnent of Poli tic al. Groups in Can­
ada, 1841-1867, p. 15-16. Cornell 1s list of opposition members has been 
accepted when it di.ffers from that of Le Canadien, Nov. 18, 1844. 

6 
Le C§nadielJ, April 13 , 1846. The secretary was LaFontaine 1 s Low­

er Canadian follower and friend, the English L.T. Drummond. 
7 

9lebec Gazette, April 10, 1846. On the evening of April 7, La­
Fontaine waited till adjournment, and read the LaFontaine-Caron letters. 
Draper followed with the Draper-Caron letters. 

8 
Pilot, April 9, 1846. 
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was personally prepared to accept all responsibility, so correct bad 

LaFontaine 's behaviour been. The rest of his defense of his friend was 
9 

long, comple:x, and considering Baldwin, witty and imaginative. 

The Upper Canadian Conserva ti ves defended Draper, " a man who is 
10 

an honour to Upper Canada •••• " Draper was foremost in his own defense. 

He insisted that since 1S41 he ha.d supported the "principle" of alliance 

between the Upper Canada Conservatives and the Lower Canada Reformera, 

but that in the negotiation he ha.d not reached the point of making an 
11 

actua.l offer. Therefore publication of the correspondence 'Was wrcng. 

Nevertheless, he re-iterated his wish to see the French Canadians have 
12 

their "just share 11 in the Executive Council. 

Draper's Conservatives were aJmost unanimously aga.inst the pub-

1.3 
lication of the corresp:.indence. Obviously they were not happy to see 

their weaknesses as a government, and the ir plans for Viger, Papineau 

and even Da.ly, broadcast to the public. They need not, however, have 

9 
Pilet, April 9, 1846. Wit: If Viger was glad of publication, "ali 

he (Mr. B.) would say was that the hon. member was thankful for small 
favours-(much laughter). "Imagination: If LaFonta.ine had not read the 
letters, his friends would suspect forgery as "the natural consequence" 
of his silence. 

10 
~. 

11 
ibid. This was not double majority, for he never mentioned sep-

arate or even special sectional legislative powers. 

12
ibid. 

13 
La Revue Canadienne (Montreal), April 3, 1S46. Prior to the 

reading of the letters, motions had been made to reacl them. Such Tories 
as Hale, Prince and Sherwood voted against them. (Hereafter cited as 
La Revue Canadienne). 



worried. about Viger, who in reply to eppesition taunts, insisted. that 

if he had knewn of the correspondence, he would willingly have resigned.. 

He had been taunted with being am.bitious and guilty of other 
crimes. Hon. gentlemen might insult him, they had destroyed 
his character with his country.men (Hear, hear from the oppos­
ition), but he trusted. to Prtfdence for justice. (Cheers from 
the Ministerial benches) •••• 

Exelaimed the old man with the greatest dignity, "Sir, I will not re-

peat the worse than despicable reproaches ••• I can do better, I can for-

i th i5 g ve em •••• 

The Tories from Lower Canada were not as amenable as Viger. They 

deeply resented the negotiation, and were not at ail interested in the 
16 

question of publication. In an able speech, one of their represent-

atives insistetl that the Government ha.d. been formed because it had maj-

ority support, and there.fore it had no right 11te sella portion o.f that 

.majority- to adopt a crurse that would kick a number o.f mem.bers into 
17 

eppesition." The whole negotiation had been designed to strengthen 

the Government at the expense o.f the Lower Canada Tories, and had there-

fore been conducted without their knowledge. 

If' two Generale in the charge of adverse armies, were, without 
the knowledge and consent of the ir respective governments, caught 
in secret correspondence to betray the troops under their cemm.and, 18 
we all know the punishment they would receive for their treaehery •••• 

14
PUot, April 9, 1846. 

15 
British Colonist, April 21, 1846. 

16 
ill!!• When one Tory, Watts, sa:i.d this he was greeted with cries 

of' "oh! oh l" He was gai.ng to spoil the fun. 
17 
18

P:Uot, April 9, 1846. 

~.; see alse British Colenist, April 21, 1846. 
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Through this analogy the Tories of British Lower Canada sounded an omin-

ous warning to their Upper Canadian political "allies". 

In Parliament the representatives had shown ''unprecedented" inter-
19 

est in the negotiation. Almost without exception the newspapers shared 

this interest. There was little pretense at disguising the leadership 

fight. The LaFontaine editors continued to defend LaFontaine and to 

attack his ri vals, especially Caron. Macdonald of the Canadien adapted 

easily to the new rivalry, an4 t&ok Caron under his wing. It was clear 

that Viger and Papineau were finished. Macdonald therefore insisted that 

he had only supported them as a means of implementing double majerity, 

and because they were French Canadians, not because of their superiority 
20 

ever other politicians. In Caron, Macdonald round a far more defensible 

leadership contender: a young, vigouraus, pepular "Reactionist". 

No one had spoken up for Caron in the debates in the Assembly, 

and as he was not a member of that House, he could not defend himself 
21 

there. His opinions on the matter were voiced through Macdonald of 

the Canadien. Macdonald defended Caron 1s decision to publish the cerres-

pondence on the grounds that LaFontaine had forced him into it by read-

19 
Qlebec Gazette, April 10, 1846; see alse British Colonist, 

April 14, 1846. 
20 

Le Canadien, June 22, 1846; see also ~., July 1, 1846, in 
which readers were referred to numbers of Nov. 18, Dec. 4, 23, 1844, 
March 24, 1845, where the paper had said the same thing. 

21 
Le Journal de Québec, April 14, 1846; see also Pilet, April 9, 

1846 - LaFontaine did say in the Assembly that Caron had acted honourably 
although he implied otherwise. 
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22 
ing their exchange ef letters to the Assembly. In thus violating the 

confidential nature of the correspondence, Macdonald continued, 
23 

LaFontaine had compromised. Draper in the public mind, and created. an 

unbricigeable chasm between Draper and the whole Lower Canadian oppos­

ition. 24 Moaned Y.t&cdonald despairingly, fiLes anglais du Haut et du Bas­

Canada, grâce à la marche sui vie par 1 1 opposition, ont appris qu 1 ils 

pouvaient nous gouverner sans nous et malgré nous. " 
25 

ll ne nous reste plus aujourd'hui qu •à nous confier en la gfin­
érosité de nos adversaires politiques, et nous savons qu'elle 
vaut; accepter dans l'administration tels C~adiens-français 
qu'ils voudront nous donner par charité •••• 

Part of Macdonald's strategy in his fight against LaFontaine was 

to publish vicious letters to himself as the editer of the newspaper. 

One of these argued that from 1841 on, LaFontaine had esta'bliehed a pat­

tern of treachery. He had betr~ed Lord Sydenham's offer in 1841, Sul-

livan's of 1842, his conversation with Capt. Higginsen in 184.3, and in 

his letter to Caron he betrayed his friendships with many French Canad-

ians whom he labelled vendus.. "Aujourd'hui c'est un canadien, un libér­

al, un chaud et sincère ami de son pays qui est tombé dans 1 'embÛche et 

22 
Le Canadien, April 1.3, 22, May 20, 1846. The great Nova Sc•tian 

radical, Joseph Howe, also took Caron' s part versus La. Fontaine in this. 

23ill!., April 27, 29, 1846. 

24 
~·, July 1, 1846. 

25 
ibid. , June 22, 1846. 

26 
!lli·' July 1, 1846. 
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27 
qui en est la victime •••• 11 This lat ter was Caron, and b;y association, 

Draper. Indeed., said Macdonald, LaFontaine had even betra;yed his Upper 

Canadian friends by' at first rejecting dru. ble ma.jori t;y, and then sup-

porting it in his letters to Caron, although he knew the Upper Canadi.an 
28 

Refonn position on the subject. 

Macdonald cmtinued at length his 11betra;yal" theme. He wrote that 

LaFontaine betrayed. his friends as individuals, and his count:cymen as a 

nation. "L'idole de la Minerve" had begun his treacher;y by' refusing to 

aid the District of Quebec which 11en masse" bad faught "courageusement 

contre le projet inique de 1 'Union des Canadas •••• " After he had commit-
29 

ted the "première settise" of resigning, he had deviated from the 

double majori.t;y programme of 1842 by' trying unceasingl;y to impese Bald-
30 

win on the Conservative Upper Canadian majorit;y. Henceforth, said Mac-

donald, he had shifted his position on double majorit;y first one way, 

and then the other, although its implementation would have greatl;y im­

proved French-Ganadian affairs. 

Macdonald insisted that LaFontaine had refused to accept the dou-

ble majorit;y offer in the ne~tiation because of his alliance with the 

27 
ibid., May 27, 1846. Macdonald left the responsibilit;y for the 

opinions t'O"'the writer! 
28 
~· t May 4, 1846. 

29 
~· 

30 
ibid., Jul;y 1, 1846. Cites other articles: Sept. 25, Nov. 18, 

27, 29, Dëë."""4, 23 , 1844 , Mar ch 24, April 2 5 , YJAy 5 , 12 , 1845 for the 
same position. 
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31 
Upper Canada Reformera. As a group, they had aupported his decision, 

because they were intent on basing their alliance on political principles 

and the simple majorl ty. Y et anything but double ma,jori ty, and alliances 

based strictly on race, were tantamount to committing national French­

Canadian suicide, said. Macdonald. In 1846, he explained, this meant that 

the French Canadians ha.d to abandon the Reform. alliance, and accept the 

"Reactionist"- Upper Canadian Conservative alliance. Only in this wa;:r 

could double majority, the national salvation, be implemented. Demandeti 

Macdonald: 

Le Canada-français a-t-il donc tort, est-ce une utopie, un rêve 
réalisable que de baser sa politique sur le fondement même de sa 
nationalité, ou plutôt ne sera~2-ce pas pour lui le dernier degré 
d'aberration que d'y renoncer~ 

Macdonald had always justified. his concept of d.oultle majority by 

appeals to French-Canadian nationalisn, but in 1846 the violence of hia 

appeals was in part a response to the LaFentaine press which became lesa 

nationalistic than ever. This was largely becaus e of the Reform alliance , 

which greatly infiuenced the nature of the newspaper discussions. 'lbere 

was a far greater coincidence of opinion between the LaFontaine press 

and the Upper Canada Reform press than there had been when double major-

ity was first made a journalistic issue. To achieve this editorial har-

mony, La.Fontaine 's editors made several concessions. In relation te dou-

ble majority and the double majority negotiation, the spirit of the Re-

31 
lli!!,., July 10, 1846. 

32 
ibid., June 1, 1846. 
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torm party caucus survive« the less rarified air of journalism. 

The combined Referm polic.y was designed to ignore doUble majority 

as much as possible, and to concentrate instead on personalities and on 

technicalities. The papers defended LaFontaine 1s right to publicize the 

correspondence on the grounds that Draper's object had been mere~ 
33 

"tirer, comme on dit vulgairement, les vers du nez de 1 'opposition •••• " 

~vith tongue in cheek, they cited Draper's exposé of the La.Fontaine-Bagot 
34 

letters in 1842 as a precedent. Also, the new Reform harmony was em-

phasized: the whole party a.ccepted responsibility for LaFontaine•s ac-
35 

tions. 

To the united Reform press, the real villain was at first Draper, 

the "Artful Dodger". The edit ors claimed. that he had betrayed his own 

collea.gues in his letters to Caron, and for that reason attempted to 

36 
suppress the correspondence. He feared most of all the wrath of the 

Lower Canada Tories, who as a group would be sacrificed to the French 
37 

Canadians whom they despised. And, conmented the Reform editors, 

33
1e Canadien, July 10, 1S46, quetes La Minerve; see also ~ 

Minerve, April 30, lSl.-6, <pJ.otea and endorses Le Courrier des Etats-Unis. 

34
Le Jgyrnal de Québec, April 14, 1S46; see alse Pilot, April 9, 

1S46, in which Hincks defended Caron's right to publish. 

35 
Pilot, April 9, 1S46; aee alse Le Joornal de Qlébec, April 9, 

11, 1S46. 
3~ Journal de Wébec, April 9, 1S46. Ex:cept Smith, and Cauchon 

<pJ.otes Draper saying "Smith is auch a d ••• good fellow, that really we 
carmot make our minà. (sic) to gi. ve him his congé. "See illà•, April 11, 
1S46; Ex:aminer, April 22, 1846. 

37
1e Jourpal de Qlébec, April 11, 14, 1846. 
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Draper's fears were justified. The Tories felt that the publication of 

the correspondence put the French Canadians "below the level of London 
38 

blacklegs 11 , and the Tory papers "ont vomi les plus sales injures con-

tre le parti libéral et surtout contre M. Caron, A cause de la public-

ation qu'il a laissé donner A ces lettres •••• " The Reform.ers insisted 

that Draper himself was spared from Tory attacks enly because his ewn 
39 

party in Lewer Canada feared his revenge. However, Reform opinion was 

divided on the question of which was the worst of the vipers: Draper or 

Caron. 

The LaFontaine press was unanimous in casting Caron in this role. 

To begin, they insisted that he had spied on the Lower Canadian oppos-
40 

ition on behalf of Draper; this was clearly proved, in their eyes at 

least, by Draper 1 s comment to Caron: "Y our last let ter con tains a frank 

and interesting exposé of the general views of youraelf and political 
41 

friends." Moreover, i t seemed obvious that sorne of the correspondence 
42 

between Caron and Draper haà been concealed from the Reformera. 11! 

have looked upon many of your notes as destined for my eye alone: they 

38 
Pilot, April 16, 1846, quotes Montreal Transcript. 

39 
Le Journal de Qlébec, April 14, 1846. 

40 
La Revue Canadienne, April 14, 1846; see also Pilot, April 9, 

16, 1846 - Hincks thought Draper was the spy. 
41 

La Revue Canadienne , April 14, 1846. 
42 

Le Journal de Québec, April 18, 1846; see a1so La Revue Canad-
ienne , April 14, 1846; Pilet, April 14, 1846. 
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have never been shewn, and have never gene out of my hands 11 , Caron had 

written. 
43 

This concealment was wrong, but worse still was the content 

which the LaFontaine editors imagined must have referred to Carœ 1 s 

"Reactionist" activities. Herein lay their real quarrel with him. 

Caron 's worst sin was that he was a '1Reactionist 11 • He had thus 

exposed himself in his letter to Draper in which he discussed Tascher-

eau's election in Dorchester. The LaFontaine editors pointed out that 

on the very same day that he wrote his 11Reactionist 11 letter, he had 

hypocritically written to LaFontaine asking him to sacrifice himself. 

The LaFontaine press had been stunned to read this let ter, which was 
44 

first published in the l-1ontreal Herald. Befare this, the editors had 
45 

occasionally eased up in their attacks, but when the letter was pub-

lished they were merciless, and one of them gloated, 11Je parierais tout 

au monde que M. Caron voudrait n'avoir jamais tracé les lignes ci-
46 

dessus. 11 LaFontaine personally wrote a let ter to the editer of the 

43 Quebec Gazette. April 13, 1S46, Caron to Draper, Montreal, 
April 6, 1846; see also ibid., April 10, 1S46, Draper to Caron, April 
6, lS46, saying that with reference to all their letters and notes be:ing 
in ether hands: "I assume all that has been written is not. 11 

44ta Minerve, April 1.3, .30, 1S46; see also Le Journal de Québec, 
April 14, 18, 1S46; La Revue Canadienne, April 14, 1S46; P.A.C. LaFon­
taine Papers, LaFontaine to editor of the Montreal Herald, April 1846, 
vol. 7, p. 1278. This was in reference to Carœ 's let ter to Draper of 
Sept. S, 1S45. 

451e Journal de Qaébec, April 14, 1846; see also ~. April 9, 
1846; also ill,g,., April 14, 1846- "Caron has proved himself totally 
unfit to undertake any political negotiation, and he has ended by giv­
ing dissatisfaction to all parties •••• " 

46 
Le Journal de Québec, April 18, 1846. 
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Herald saying that had he ever discovered Caron's letter during the 

negotiation, he would immediately have stopped all communicatien with 
47 

him. The LaFontaine press took special delight in announcing that be-
48 

cause of his break-up with Draper, Caron went in fear of losing his job. 

The "Reaction 11 was really LaFontain e 's main problem, sin ce it 

was directed against his leadership and policies. His papers tried to 

ridicule it out of existence. 110Ù était donc la réaction mentionnée dans 

la lettre ••• ? S'est-elle jamais étendue plus loin que H. Taschereau et 
49 

quelques brillants jeunes canadiens pleins d'espérances ••• ?" In fact, 
50 

they said, the "Reaction" was mere fantasy, and. did not exist at ail. 

The LaFontai.ne policy also included belittling the men whom the "Reaction-

ists" favoured as leaders. The long experience of LaFontaine and Merin 

in public service was compared with that of Taschereau, who had had but 
51 

one session in Parliament in the old Quebec Assembly. Moreover, the 

LaFontaine-Horin achievements were compared to those of D.B. Papineau, 

who had twice voted against the official use of his language, once as a 
52 

point of law; Daly, who never uttered a word in Par1iament from the 

47 
La Minerve, April 13 , 30, 1846; see al se Le Journal d.e Québec, 

April 14, 18, 1846; La Revue Canadienne, April 14, 1846; Pilot, April 
14, 1846; P.A.C. LaFontaine Papers, LaFontaine to editor of the Montreal 
Herald, April 1846, vol. 7, p. 1278. He knew Caron was a "Reactionist" 
but not quite so openly as he proved to be. In this letter, LaFontaine 
was made to look foolish by Caron, a political cuckold. 

48 
Le Journal de Québec, April 14, 1846. 

49ta Revue Canadienne, April 14, 1846. 
50 

Le Journal de Québec, April 28, 1846. 
51 

ibid., Sept. 4, 6, 1845. 
52--

ibid., Sept. 4, 1845. 
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very first session of the Union Parliament,; 53 Smith, noted for nothing 
54 

but his knowledge of the British constitution. 

The wcrst attacks were reserved tor Taschereau and Viger. When 

the magistrates list was published soon after Taschereau' s election, the 

new Solioitor-General was held sole~ responsible for it b.y his oppon-

enta. Montreal had three times the number of names as had Quebec, and of 
55 

the Quebec list, 13 were French, 39 English. or 52 promotions, only 
56 

13 were for French Canadians. Moreover, many Reformera' names were 

struck off. Gro1vled Hincks in his ~. "We shall not speak of the 

e:xtreme littleness which induced the erasure or the name of the Hon. F. 

Hin k "57 c s. 

Taschereau's parliamentar,y behaviour seldom escaped the watch-

fu1 eyes of the LaFontaine edi tors, who at tributed his man;y absences to 

his reluctance to vote with the Government, and they described him as 

uneasy and remorseful when he did take his seat on the Ministerial 
58 

benches. Taschereau retused to vote on two Conservative motions, and 

53 
Monet, "The Last Cannon Shot: A stuctr of French-Ganadian Nat-

ionalism 1837-1850, 11 vol. 1, p • .371. When he first whispered a few words 
in the Assembly, Dr. Taché challenged him to a duel. 

54 
Le Journal de Québec, Sept • 4 , 1845. 

55 
ibid. , Oct. 14, 1845; see also La Minerve, Oct. 27, 1845. 

56-
Le Journal de Qlébec, April 2, 1846. 

57 
Pilot , Nov. 14, 1845. 

5~e Journal de Québec, April 11, 1846; see also !!?.!,1. , April 28, 
1846, cites MontreaJ. Gazette: "Comment se fait-il que M. le Solliciteur­
général du Bas-Canada s'abstient de voter si souvent?" 
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slipped out of the House wh en one motion was read. 59 
On another measure 

of direct concem to his own constituency, he maintained ''un profond 

silence" when called upon to e.xplain the official position on the ques­
éi:J 

ti on. 

The most vicious atta.cks of ali were directed at Viger, who fin-

ally retired on Jùne 17, little more than a week after his cousin D.B. 

61 
Papineau. 

Si, pour être grand ministre, il faut perdre 1 1 estime et le sup­
port de ses concitoyens, s'il faut endurer toute sorte d'humil­
iations, être oblig~ d'~crire sans cesse pour sa propre défense, 
tromper tous ses amis, pa.ra!tre ridicule, et exciter la pi ti~ 
générale, alors, M. VÏ~er a ét~ un grand ministre, et sa mémoire 
chère à la postérité. 

At this time the French Canadia.ns who had strayed from the LaFon-

taine fold appeared anything but successfUl. La.Fontaine 1s press emphas-

ized this, and wamed against popular support of these "Reactionistsu 

and their interpretation of double majority. Only 

une race abjecte et servile adopterait la politique du Canadien, 
succomberait sous ses tyrans, et deviendrait à jamais ses vic­
times, parce que le sort de patriote qu'ils auraient abandorm.é, 
serait pour les autres6~nistres un avis de ne pas combattre 
pour un peuple ingrat. 

59 Le Journal de <ipébec, March 31, April 2,4, 1846. This was the 
Oxford contested election issue. 

6o ibid. , April 18, 1846. This was the question of purchasing the 
Dorchester Bridge. 

61 
Coté, Polit cal A intments and El.ectio s in the Province 

Canada, from 1841 to lS 5, p. 49, 54; see also Hi.ncks, Reminiscences of 
His Public Life, p. 21, quotes Supplement to Pilot, Oct. 24, 1846. 
Papineau retired June 8, li:l46, but was requested to retu:rn to office 
temporar~ until a successor could be .round. 

62 . 
Le Canadien, June 26, 1846, quotes La Minerve. 

63 
Le Capadiep, July 10, 1846, cites La Minerve, endorsing Pilot. 
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The people were to be left no choice. Either they supported LaFontaine 

entirely, or he would cease guarding their interests. This threat, how-

ever, went unheeded, and the "Reaction" continued to exist. 

Therefore the LaFontai.ne press 1 next step was to show that dou-

ble majority as preached by the Canadien was in fact not double majorit;~ 

but the theory of "just shareu. This idea. bad been picked up from a let-

ter in which Caron spoke of the necessity of giving representation in 

the Councils to the m:inority, and from Draper 1s speech in the Assembly 

in 'Which he insisted that the French Canadians must have their "just 

share" of representation. This princip le, sai.d the LaFontaine press, had 

already led to the absurd situation whereby Smith represented the Eastern 

Townships, Daly the Irish Catholics, Morris the Presbyterians, Cayley 

the Family Compact, etc. As the French-Canadian representatives, Viger 

and Papineau had long ago demonstrated the uselessness of the "just 
64 

share" theory. The editors also pointed out that a "just share" gov-

ernment would give representation to the Lower Canada Tories, Who des-
65 

pised the French Canadians, and who sought always to subjugate them. 

This system would therefore preclude the implementation of double maj-
66 

ority, for the Lower Canada Tories condemned. it. 

The public appeared unresponsive to these attacks on "just share"; 

64
ibid.. 

65 
Pilot, April 16, 1846. 

66
ibid. -
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therefore the LaFontaine press turned its attention to showing that the 

dcuble majority of Caron and the Cgdien and also the alleged double 

majority involved in the negotiation was not double majority, but an -
attempt by "la clique de Québec" to reinstate the "petite famille" group 

67 
into office. The plan was far Caron to convince LaFontaine to sacrifice 

himself, and then to use the naeaction" to elevate his Quebec f'riends 

whom he had consulted in the negotiation. Moreover, said the LaFontaine 

ed.itors, this "petite famillett theory emphasized the national origin 

cry, and was based on sectionalism. If it was implement ed into govern-
68 

mental structure, it would be fatal to the French Canadians. LaFon-

taine, on the other band, was far more patriotic than the Quebecers, for 

profondément attaché, et nous lui en rendons hommage, à la 
langue de ses ancêtres, sa politique comme ministre serait 
de promouvoir les intérêts de toute la popula5~on du Canada, 
et non d'une seule section en particulier •••• 

In this 1atest idea emanating fran the LaFontaine press, the 

strong influence of the Upper Canadian Refor~œrs rang through. In de-

nouncing the cry of national origin, or racism, and the sectionalist 

perspective, LaFontaine was denouncing those two features upon which all 

versions of double majority were based, inc1uding his ow.n. He had tried 

to prove th at the Canadien 1 s double majori ty was not double majority, 

67 
Le Canadiep, July 10, 1846, quotes La Minerve; see a1so Le 

Journal de QJ.ébec, April 21, 1846; P.A.C. 0 1Callaghan Papers, Jno Ryan 
to 0 1Callaghan, Qlebec, Sept. 3, 1846- "Asto Politics nothing save 
Caron's attempt at forming Cabinets on the petit(sic) famille or just 
(sic) m.i.llieu plan but it is no go •••• " 

68 . 
Le Journal de Québec , AprJ.l 21, 1846. 

69 
Le Canadien, July 10, 1846, quotes La Minerve. 
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and that the negotiation had not been based on double majority. He had 

ended by rejecting the fundamE~J.tal.s of al.l systems of double majori.ty. 

This trend was to continue mre or less consisten~ until double major-

ity at last ceased to be a threat to LaFonta:ine 's leadership. 

At this time, double ma.jori.ty seemed to be no longer necessary to 

LaFontaine, because it appeared that the new Governor would cal.l him to 

office as the rightful French-Canadian leader , since Viger and Papineau 

had gone. As a result, an optimistic mood permeated the LaFontaine press, 

which was greatly in contrast to Macdonald's gloo~ articles in the Can­

adien in the first few months after the failure of the negotiation. 

Quant à. nous, nous avons foi dans 1 1 avenir. Nous ne can12renons 
ms gue 1 'influence canadienne-française soit nulle et gu 'il 
ne nous reste ri~; au contraire, nous la voyons grandir au­
tour de nrus •••• 

Hincks used the discussion of the correspond.ence to heal the much 

publicized rift over druble ma.jori.ty between himself and LaFontaine. He 

also concentrated on Upper Canadian problSts, as did t:œ other Upper 

Canada Refor.m papers. The.y all enphasized that the negotiation had re-

vealed the wealmess of the Government, and that the proceedings were 

"so montrous that every lover of British principles must feel intense 
7l 

disgust •••• " This was largely be cause Draper had tried. to put the 

burden of responsibility on Caron by" demanding a list of changes re­

quired by the French Canadians, after having assured Caron that he and 

70ta Revue Canadienne, July 10, 1846. Underlined sentence is in 
direct reply to a pessimistic article in Le Canadien. 

71Pilot, April 16, 1846. 
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his Upper Canadian colleagues would resign if necessa.ry. This, Hincks 

cormnented acidly, was so that when he recei ved Caron t s list, he would 

be prepared for the next Council meeting, at W:lich he would say, 

My dear Smith,- MY dear Daly it is absolutely necessar,y our Ad­
ministration should be strengthened, and we must be patriotic 
enough to make great sacrifices. I offered the Opposition te 
resim, so did Morris and Caylez, but they 'Will not permit us 
to do so, whereas they insist on your doing so. When we last 
apoke on the subject I had hoped that the sacrifice of Viger 
and Papineau al.one would have been sufticient, but I find you 
also must~. I am sincerely sorry- but believe me it is not 
m.y fault. 

This absurdi ty of a government being so weak t hat it had to obey 

the dictates of its opposition led the Upper Canada Reformera to press 
73 

for the Government•s resignation. The Upper Canada Conservatives were 

their traditional enemies, and there was also the fact that if they 

could be publicly discredited, the Reformera would swing back into pow-

er, and dœble majority would, hopef'ully from their point of view, be-

come a dead issue for the French Canadians. 

In Upper Ca.nadian Reform opinion, Draper "has given himsel! up 

to intriguing, over-reaching, dividing, wheedling and victimizing both 

the opposition and the Government of which he is a member. n
74 

His suc-

cess in compromising various of the French Canadians auch as ttthe incap-

. . 75 
able VJ.ger, the forsaken PapJ.neau, and the compromised ( 1) Caron 11 , 

had been achieved by his "capital plan11 of avoiding the incorruptible 

79_bid., April 9, 1846. 

73ibid., see also Examiner, April 22, 1846. 

74Examiner, April 22, 1846. 
75 
~- , Sept. 2 t 1846. 
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76 
LaFontai.ne by excluding him from the proposed arrangement. · Praise of 

LaFontaine sounded loudly and consistently in Reform papers; it was 

used to publicly heal the rift over double majority, and to consolidate 

the newfound Reform unity. Whereas LaFontaine 1 s French editors al ways 

lauded their chief as a matter of course, the Upper Canadians did so 
77 

more as a matter of policy. 

The press discussions also indicated another difference between 

the French and English editors. Although the French editors had attempt-

ed to prove that the basis of the negotiation had not been double major-

ity, the English editors were almost unanimous in their belief that it 

had been. Even Hincks and Neilson, w:OOse knowledge of Lower Canadian 

affaira was comprehensive, seemed to accept this. 78 In discussing the 

negotiation, Neilson published a letter in which double majority and its 

supporters were defined: 

The establishment of one little government within another, an 
imperium in imperia, is a doctrine which, if a man do enter­
tain, is better understood than expressed, .because it can do 
him no credit as a statesman, but would, the rather, stamp him 
as a man of limited understanding, whose mind could, perhaps, 
grasp the momentous quest;~ns involved in the government of a 
parish and there stop •••• 

76ibid. , April 22, 1846. 
77P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, R.B. Sullivan to Baldw:in, Toronto, May 

7, 1846, vol. 4, p. 734-5. Sullivan forgi ves LaFontaine for revealing 
his own offers to him and Caron in 1842. 

78 
Pilot, April 9, 1846; see also Qnebec Gazette, April 17, 20, 

1846. 
79 

9.lebec Gazette, April 20, 1846, letter to the editor from 
"Statu Qlo". 
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Neilson, who supported neither the "Reaction" nor LaFont&ine, 

noted acidly that the negotiation bad degenerated into one of party 

80 
interest, to the detriment of the public weal. He believed that 

neither the basie of the negotiation, which he understood to have been 

double majori.ty, nor the means of conducting the negotiation, had 
81 

brought credit to anyone involved. 

Unlike Neilson, the Upper Canada Refonners were concerned less 

with the constitutionality than with the cœsequences of double majority. 

"If this scheme were to be carried out, why continue the name of the 

Union? Why have two wrangling majorities, with separate interests, in 
82 

one House? 11 To them double majority was wrong, not only because it 

would inevitably lead to French-Canadian separatisn, but because the 

Upper Canada Tories supported it. Thus it was intrinsically bad, and by 
83 

association it was totally unacceptable. 

The Conservatives of Lower Canada, as bas been mentioned, were 

uni versal in denouncing the negotiation. However, their Upper Canada 

11alliesn publicly supported Draper. They were all agreed that "he bas 

bad to deal with impracticable men who have refused the most liberal 

80 
ibid., April 10, 1846. 

81 !2!2.·, April 10, 12, 17, 1846. The correspondence was "a sorry 
affair". 

82 

83 
Examiner., April 22, 1846. 

~· 
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effers. 1184 The Ministeria.l press as a whole managed to a.void discussing 

double majorit;r, and confined them.selves to harping on 11the gross viol-
85 

ation of confidence displa;red in the publication of the correspondence ." 

However, they were a.pparentl;r w:illing to try a gain, and Draper accord-

ingly patched up his interrupted friendship with Caron. Soon they were 
86 

aga.in each other 1 s "Honourable Friend". The "forsaken Papineau" was 

persuadeà to return to office tempora.ril;r until a. successor could be 

87 
found. 

All these developments were eagerly watched. The new Governor 
88 

General, Earl Cath cart, was a.ppointed. It was rumoured even in the 

Ministerial press that the Government was about to fall;that Draper had 
89 

resigned; that Cathcart bad refused to accept his resignation. And 

then nothing happened. The Government continuecl as it was; so d.ià the 

opposition. LaFontaine was net called to office, and he still face4 the 

"Reaction". He graduall;r began to lose his position of superiorit:r gain-

84Pilet, April 14, 1846. 
85 ill!•, April 16, 1846, reviews official press, including H2nt-

real Gazette, Montreal Herald, Montreal Transcript. 
86 

Que bec Gazette, April 17, 1846. 
87 

Hincks, Reminiscences of His Public Life, p. 21, quotes supple-
ment to Pilet, Oct. 24, 1846. 

88 
Coté, Political Appointments and Elections in the Provmce of 

Canada, from 1841 te 1865, p. 1. Cathcart was Administrator from Nev. 
26, 1845 to April 23 , 1846, and Governor General from April 24, 1846 to 
Jan. 29, 1847. 

89 
Le Journal de Qqébec, April 2, 21, 1846. 
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ed when Metcalfe had gone home and the ne!otiation had been abruptly 

90 
broken off. Pessimism and complainte bec ame the order of the i.ay. 

Even in the schelarly world the permeating depression was evident. 

The second volume of Garneau 1 s Histoire du Canada was published, and 

many of the newspapers printed large extracts from it. He wrote about 

the invincible French soul, and laid many of French Canada 1s difficul-

ties at the door of English Canada. Conservation was the keynote of his 
91 • 

his tory. The Institut Canadien, formed on December 17, 1844, was in-
92 

strwnental in the intellectual revival of French Canada. By- 1846, 11la 

9°For complainte about the civil service, see La Revue Canadiepne, 
July 3, 1846; Pilot, July 17, 1845; Le Canidien, May 15, 1846; Le Jeur­
nal de ÇQ&bec, Aug. 1, 1$46. The funniest complaint was reported by the 
British Colonist, June 18, 1847: "Dr. Nelson presented a petition from 
William Henry, (Sorel) complaining of the Post Master of that place, who 
was said to be in the habit of writing anonymous and llbellous letters. 11 

Complainte about the economy were rife in this year of the Canadian Com­
mercial Revolution. See Gilbert N. 'fucker, The Canadian Commercial Rev­
olution 1845-1851, (Toronto: McClelland and Stewart Ltd., 1964), p. 30-
61; see also Quebec Gazette, March 22, 1847; Kaye, The Life and Corres­
pondence of Charles, Lord Metcalfe, p. 381: Men's minds were being un­
settled and unhinged- and •••• that vague apprehension of evil were be­
ginninll!; to paralyse the industrial energies of the country. 11 There was 
also the beginning of the Irish starvation, and Mills-Ferrier legal bat­
tle for the Montreal mayoralty. For commenta on the latter see Le Jour­
nal de Qu~bec , April 4 , 1846. 

9\a. Revue Canadienne, May 1846, published large extracts from 
Garneau; see also Gustave Lanctot, "Garneau, Fondateur de L 1 Histeire 
Scientifique au Canada," Canadian Historieal Association Repert, (1925); 
Francois-Xavier Garneau, Histeire du Canada, ( 9 vols., Montreal: Edit­
ions de l'Arbre, 1946). 

92 
Michel Brunet, Guy Frégault et Marcel 'l'rudel, Histoire du Can-

ada par les Textes, (Montreal: Fides, 1956), p. 171. 
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' 93 pende ou 1 1 illusion progressiste est completement .formul'e." The 

French-Canadian intellectuals became introspective, and sought to dis-

cover the cause of their economie interiority. For the most part, they 
94 

blamed themselves. French Canada 1s melancholia was deepened by the 
95 

tragic fires of Que bec, which made Que bec "une ville ravagl§e par les 

plus affreuses calamit's qui aient ~onn' le monde dans une ann'e toute 

de calamités et de désastres inouis."
96 

The depressive mood of French Canada and the reversion to a more 

virulent .fa:-m ot French-Canadian :nationalism served to swell the ranks 

of the "Reactioniste", and to cause French Canada to eye English Canada 

even more suspiciously than before. Yet LaFontaine ran counter to this 

trend, and he held his ground more or lesa consistently against it. 

Al though the Upper Canadian Refcrm party was in shreds, and it s few mem-

bers rumoured to be in revolt, LaFontaine and Baldwin still kept in 

close contact, and Baldwin was still able to exert his influence ever 

93
Mauriee S'guin, "Gen~se et historique de 1 1id'e séparatiste au 

Canada f:ranqais," Laurentie, (June 1962) , reprint ed from a series of 
radio talks on the programme "Conférences," March 18, 25, April 1, 1962, 
P• 984. 

94 
ibid •• p. 982-4. 

95 
Sh0rtt and Doughty (eds.}, Çapada and its Proyinces, vol. 23, 

p. 363. From May 28, 1845 to June 12, 1846, 1,630 houses were burneli in 
the St. Roch suburbs. Later 70 people died in a fire at the St. Louis 
Theatre. 

96 
Le Journal de Qlébec, April 2, 1S46, P.J.O. Chauveau speaking 

in the Assembly on the Address in reply to the Speech from the Throne. 
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LaFontaine. 

21B 

The Upper Canada Reformera also tried to shrug off the disorgan-

ization in their ranks in Parliament by refer.ring to the changed pop-

ular opinion in Upper Canada. They clai.med that the people had realized 

their error in returning a Conservative ma.jœity, and belatedly decided 
9B 

to support Reform principles. An Upper Canadian "Reaction" was spoken 

of, which favoured the Reformera, and was directed against the Govern-
99 

ment. Rumours of new life anci plans among the Reformera were printed 
lOO 

in the newspapers. In these ways the Upper Canada Refor.mers attempted 

to encourage their Lower Canada allies about the wisdom of maintaining 

the alliance. 

In point of fact, LaFontaine had little choice. The new Governor 

had not sent for him and asked him to form a government, even a double 

ma,iority one. Cathcart felt as strongly about double majority as Het­

calfe had. 11The evils of (it) are too manifest to require notice from 
101 

me" , he wrote. Still, he agreed with Draper about the necessity and 

97 
P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, John Ross to Baldwin, Belleville, Feb. 

20, 1B46, vol. 4, p. 712; see also ibid., Alfred Carter to Baldwin, 
London, Feb. 9, 1846, vol. 4, p. 709; E.C. Thomas to Baldwin, Hamilton, 
Feb. 19, 1846, vol. 4, p. 711. 

98 
Pilot, May 9, 1845; see also Œl.obe, Nov. 11 , 1845. 

99 
Le Journal de Qlébec, April 4, 1846, quotes John Sandfield Mac-

donald in the Assemb~. 
100 

9!ebec Gazette, Oct. 9, 1846. 
101 

Kylie, "Constitutional Development , 1840-1867," Canada and it s 
Provinces, (eds.) Shortt and Doughty, vol. 5, p. 149, Cathcart to Glad­
stone, April 24, 1846. 
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the means of acquiring for the Government an "infusion of gentlemen of 
102 

the French Canadian party •••• 11 Cathcart was even willing to make 

Daly the Civil Secretar,y for '~hile he remained in the administration he 
103 

was a formidable obstacle to union with the French-" At the beginning 

of August, Cathcart and Draper had completed their plans, and the Gov-

ernor authorized a letter which Draper sent to Caron and Morin, enjoining 

them to consult with each other about an offer to dispose of two places 

in the Executive Council. The hope was expressed that they would person-
104 

ally fill these two seats. 

Upon receipt or these letters, Morin and Caron met in Montreal, 

where Caron assured Morin that he would only consent to accept office if 
105 

public opinion demanded it. No doubt the vicious criticism levelled 

at him after the first negotiation led him to place greater value on his 

"all but sinecure office of L 1000 per annum without any responsibility11 

106 
as Speaker of the Legislative Council. Therefore Caron attempted to 

make other provisions for filling the two Council posta, and offered the 
107 

Presidenc.y of the Council to Judge Joseph R. Vallières de Saint-Réal. 

102 
P .A. C. Macdonald Pa pers, Draper to Cath cart, Montreal, June 

10, 1846, vol. 209, p. 89094; see also ibid., Cathcart to Draper, Govt. 
House, June 10, 1846, vol. 209, p. 8909g:--

103Doughty ( ed.), The Elgin-Grey Papers 1846-1852, vol. 1, p. 27, 
Elgin to

1
8f:ey, Montreal, April 26, 184 7. 

Pilot , Aug. 28, 1846, quotes Le Canadien. 
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5guebec Gazette, Sept. 2, 1846. 
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Pilot, Aug. 28, 1846. 
107

P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, LaFontaine to Baldwin, l1ontreal, July 
26, 1846, vol. 3, p. 98. 
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At first it was rumoured that the Judge had accepted the offer, and that 
108 

LaFontaine wœld. succeed him on the bench. In fa et, however, the 
109 

"Chief" had "laughed very much at the proposition", and rejected it. 

Once again opening himself up to spy charges, Caron insisted that 

Morin consult his politieal friends about the feasibility of accepting 

the Draper off ers. Morin com.plied with this request, and discussed the 

problen with most of the infiuential French Canadians from both the 

Districts of Montreal and QJ.ebec.llO LaFontaine, still furious with Caron, 

refused to even utter a word of advice or to involve himself in any way 

with anything in whi.ch Caron was associated. LaFontaine believed first 

of all that Caron wished to accept office himself, and secondly, that 

sin ce he personally was leader of the French Canadians, the off ers should 
lll 

have been made to him. In this negotiation as in the first, LaFontaine 

was over1ooked, and his lieutenant and the leading "Reactionist11 were 

made the principals. 

Despite LaFontaine 1 s intransigence, Morin took the opinions of 

other leading French Canadians. The Montrealers decided that the offer 

was not based on <buble ma,iority, and that a mere coalition, or replâtrage 

108 
Le Journal de Chébec, May 5, 1846. 

109 
P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, LaFontaine to Baldwin, Montreal, July 

26, 1846, vol. 3, p. 98. 
110 

ibid. , Hincks to Baldwin, Montreal, Aug. 16, 1846, vol. 4, p. 
755-7. The most important present were: Cartier, Drummond, De Witte, 
Nelson, Holmes, and Taché. 

lllibid -· 
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112 
was contemplated. Privately, LaFontaine agreed. He felt that despite 

their reconciliation, Draper and Caron were acting '~pon a totally dif-

ferent principle •••• " Caron subscribed to a version of double ma.ïority, 
113 

while Draper hoped only for a political coalition, LaFontaine believed. 

This was not, however, the "Reactionist" opinion: "Taché and the (JJ.ebec 
114 

influence leaned the other way", and urged Horin to accept the of fer. 

Once again, the interpretations of double majority were the source of 

the difference of opinion, for the offers satisfied only the require-

ments of the "Reactionist" double majority. Needless to sq, the leader-

ship question was of far greater importance, for the 11Reactionists 11 were 

delighted to sacrifice LaFontaine, while the Montrealers were not. 

Hincks, who participated actively in the discussions, advised 

Morin to reject the offers. He also insisted that Caron should not be 

told of the conflicting opinions among the French Canadians , because 

Caron would just rush off and tell Draper exactly hol'r serious the split 
115 

was. However, unlike Hincks and LaFontaine, Morin was fond of Caron, 

and he trusted him, and was in an agony of indecision. He vacillated be-

tween accepting or rejecting the offers, and at one point seemed about to 

accept them. He and LaFontaine developed a mutual suspicion of each 

112
ibid. 

113
P .A.C. Baldwin Papers, LaFontaine to Baldwin, Montreal, July 

26, 1846, vol. 3, p. 98. 
114 
~., Hincks to Baldwin, Montreal, Aug. 16, vol. 4, p. 755-7. 

115 
ibid. -
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116 
other, and Morin even considered breaking with his triend. At no time 

was LaFontaine ever nearer to losing the leadership struggle than at 

that moment. 

At odds with the French Canadians, LaFontaine found sola ce in his 

friendship with Baldwin, who encouraged him to refuse hia consent to 

Draper 's proposals. The French Canadians, declared Baldwin, would be 

foolish to grasp at power before they were in a position to exercise it 
117 118 

properly. He also gladdened LaFontaine's heart by belittling Caron. 

However, LaFontaine was by this time prepared to canprem:i.se and consider 

proposais made directly to himself to for.m a government based on double 

majority. Baldwin, still foggy about double majority and the ma.ny inter-

pretations of it, firmly denounced the system as dangerous to 't»th the 

country and to Freneh-Ganadian survival, for inevitably the French Can-

adians would end up at the mercy of the Upper Canada Tories. Double maj-

ority would result in political alliances based on racial lines, he 

noted, "will perpetuate distinctions, invite animosities, sever the 

bonds of political s.ympathy and sap the foundation of political moral-

116 
~.; see also P.A.C. Chauveau Papers, Morin to Chauveau, 

March 14, 1847, p. 23, explains how in 1846, at the time of the Draper 
offers, he ha.d felt that the French Canadians should a.ccept office in 
order to be in a better position to win the next general elections. 

11 7p. A. C. Baldwin Pa pers, Baldwin to LaFon taine, Aug. 10, 1846, 
vol. 4, p. 753. 

118 
!.'!?!!:!.·, Baldwin to LaFontaine, July 29, 1846, vol. 4, p. 749; 

see also !lli•, Baldwin to La.Fontaine, July 29, 1846, vol. 3, p. lü0-
2. 
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LaFonta:ine 1 s reply showed more clearly than ever his mental con-

fiict over double majority. He told Baldwin that if he were an Upper Can-

adian, he would be in perfect agreement with him, but that as a Lower 
120 

Canadian, he was torced to accept double majorit,r. Certainly he sup-

ported double majority, and at that only his own version, only because 

he telt he had to. otherwise his leadership, his plans, hopes and ambit-

ions were .futile. This is evident fran the tact that as soon as hia own 

personal political problems with the "Reactionists" came to an end, he 

would drop double majority canpletely. In the meantime, LaFontaine had 

to wor.ry about immediate problems auch as his uneasy relations with 

Morin, who held his political .tate in his hands. The moment of criais 

passed, however, and Morin told Caron that his .friends :round the ofters 

unacceptable. Both men theretore cODillunicated the news ot the failure 
121 

to Earl Cathcart. Thus ended the Draper- Caron-Morin negotiation, or 

as Hincks called it, "this last dodge of "the Artful" •••. i 22 

The Upper Canadian Reformera were delighted that they had once 

more been granted a reprieve, and they praised LaFontaine 's behaviour. 

They felt it was understandable that the French Canadians had been temp­

ted to accept of .fiee, but they believed that the Governm«:~t would soen 

119
ibid. 

120 
P .A.C. Baldwin Papers, La.Fontaine to Baldwin, Montreal, Sept. 

20, 1846, vol. 4, p. 762. 
1~ot, Aug. 28, 1846, quetes Le Canadien. 
122 
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f'aJ.l, and !§. Reformera they and the French Cana di ans would f'orm a govern-
123 

ment. Baldwin's cousin, the Robert Baldwin Sullivan of' the 1842 offers, 

took LaFontaine 1 s part, and denounced Caron as a "fal.se sneaking knave", 

who undermined the French Canadiens and tried to corrupt them. However, 

Sullivan also told Baldwin that he should not confine himself to LaFon-

taine, but should also correspond with French Canadians such as L.J. 

Papineau and Dr. Nelson, who would try to overthrow the Government rather 

than treat with it.
124 

In Lower Canada, the end of the negotiation had less happy reper-

eussions, for Morin was caught in a pressure play between Caron and 

LaFontaine. He attempted to solve his dilenma by justifying both men 

in a letter to the editor of the Revue Canadienne, a LaFontaine paper. 

He insisted that Caron had never wished to accept office, nor had he or 

Caron ever considered accepting a replâtrage rather than double major-
125 

ity. This was not true, of crurse, for it had be en a close thing as 

to whether the advice of the LaFontaine partisans or that of the Quebec-

ers would prevail. HOl'lever, unlike the Canadien, Morin 's policy was to 

12J . 
P.A.C. Baldwm Papers, J.H. Dunn to Baldwin, London, Aug. 28, 

1846, vol. 4, p. 758. 
124

ibid., R.B. Sullivan to Baldwin, Aug. 29, 1846, vol. 4, p. 
732. Such ~as Papineau and Nelson were alw~s less flexible when it 
came to opposing the Government, especially Papineau, to whom authority 
was British, and therefore to be hated. 

125 
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ignore al.l rivalry, both leadership and District. He believed that the 

division which such rival.ry- engendered among the French Canadians would 

nrender impossible in practice, should circumstances hereafter bring it 
126 

about, the system of which that journal is the advocate." In other 

words, Morin blamed the Canastl;en and the 11Reactionists" for preventing 

the implementation of double majority, because they engaged in both 

District and leadership rival.ries. Although the miaunderstanding about 

interpretations of double majority remained, Morin 's challenge to the 

11Reactionists" was clear and decisive. 

Morin also w.i.shed to clear LaFonta.ine of charges made by the 

"Reactionists 11 that he had eaused the negotiation to fail. In the same 

letter to the Revue Canadienne, he insisted that LaFontaine had not been 

involved in the affair, and therefore incurred no responsibility for its 
127 

failure. This did not appease LaFonta.ine, who complained to Baldwin 

that "there was no necessity for Morin ••• to say that he had in the matter 

acted not against me, but without me-you know -what I mean by that. It 

was giving our adversaries a hope that there might be division between 
128 

us." Needless to say, there had been a very real di vision between 

them, but ultimately the Montreal. influence had prevailed, and Morin had 

remained loyal to LaFontaine. 

126 
ibid. 

127
ibid. 

128-
P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, LaFontaine to Baldwin, Montreal, Sept. 

20, 1846, vol. 3, p. 33. 
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The LaFontaine-Morin split was not to be forgotten immediately; 

the Canadien made good propaganda use of it. Macdonald' s version of dou-

ble majori ty had been offered by Draper, and he was furious that the 

LaFontaine interests had prevented the system's implementation. He said 

that LaFontaine and his Montreal.ers had been bitterly jealous that Caron 

and Morin had been offered some of the fruits of office, because they 

were QJ.ebecers. Montreal, he declared, which had previrusly had a mon-

opoly on a1.l power, had lost it only because it had refused to oppese the 

Union. And even then it had be en La Fontaine and his Reform allies who 
129 

had inf1uenced Montreal to accept the Union. Then, said Macdonald 

grimly, LaFontaine, by agreeing to resign when Baldwin wanted to, had 

even lost what little influence the French Canadians enjo.yed under the 

1841 r'gime. He added that the Canadien had proposed double majority to 
130 

save the nation, but LaFontaine ruined all chances of implementing it 9 

His main reason for doing so, according to Macdonald, was be cause i t was 
131 

Qlebec which tock the lead in supporting double ma.jority. Macdonald 

even justified his exposé of the District rivalry on the grounds that it 

proved th at even though LaFontaine had Montreal in the palm of his hand, 

129 
Le Canadien, Aug. 21, 1846. 

130 
ibid., Aug. 26, 1846; see also Pilot, Aug. 28, 1846, quotes 

Le Canadien, Aug. 21, 1846: ff'lhe Pilot terminates his article by saying 
that the responsibility of the refusal of the offers of His Excellene.y 
must rest on Messrs. Caron and Morin al•ne, and that this time the Can­
adien could not accuse Mr. LaFontaine of having put any obstacle in thë 
way. The Canadien would not wish to swear about this; but we bide our 
time." 

131 
Le Canadien, Aug. 21, 28, 31, 1846. 
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Quebec still cared about the fate of the French-Canadian nation. 
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The LaFontaine press avoided m:uch discussion of double majority 

in its commenta on the negotiation. Instead, the leadership struggle was 

emphasized, and Caron became the object of merciless attacks. Once again, 

the Upper Canada Reform papers were in line with the LaFontaine editors 

on most points. Caron, charged the Reform editors, was not a member of 

the opposition. This was evident from his behaviour, and bad been proved 

when he asked Morin to consult his political friends, as opposed to his 
133 

own, who were obviously members of the party which he bad formed. In 

view of this, the Refom press expressed a wish to know something about 

this party. 

où est-il ce parti? quelle couleur a-t-il? Qlel est son program­
me? Le Canadien aurait-il l'obligeance de nous dire s 1il y a 
des membres de parlement dans ce parti et s'ils appartiennes à 
la population françaises? S 1ils ont été consultés sur cette neg­
ociation? Vraiment M. Caron prend une part assez active à notre 
politique depuis quel~4 temps, pour nous justifier de lui de­
mander son programme. 

The Re.form editors said that they were certain that Caron bad 

consulted none of the Quebec representatives in the negotiation: to 

their knowledge, he had only talked with Jacques Crémazie, the Qlebec 

correspondent of Etieme Parent, 11the principal instigator of what is 

132 
ibid.' Aug. 31' 1846. 

133-
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134 
La Minerve, Aug. 27, 1846, cites La Rewe Canadienne. 
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135 
called the Quebec reaction." Yet, said the editors, the "Reaction-

ists 11 claimed to support double majority, as Caron himself had dc:ne in 

1845. In 1846, however, he had compromised, and was willing to accept a 
136 

mere replâtrage. Once again the different interpretations of double 

majority obscured the discussions. The Refonn editors also accused Caron 

of thrusting all responsibility for the outcome of the negotiation onto 

the Montrealers, just for the purpose of fostering the District rivalr,r. 

"Strange that such a zealous Quebecois should voluntarily put himself 

under the pilotage of the selfigh Montreal politicians! 11 was Hincks' 
137 

acid comment • 

Y et Caron 1 s worst crime, in the eyes of his political foes, was 

135
Pnot, Sept. 3, 1846. There is some evidence to suggest that 

Parent really was one of the leading "Reactionists". One day a.f'ter the 
1843 resignation, he had written to LaFontaine defending Viger, and ex­
pressing his desire for reconciliation between all French Canadians. 
See Chapais, Cours D'Histoire du Ca.nada, vol. 5, p. 208. The French­
Canadian press certainly identified Parent with the "Reaction": with 
reference to Caron 1 s pamphlet, La Minerve, April 30, 1846, wrote, "Ceux 
qui ont lu la nréface du pamphlet, et qui auront le courage de lire 
1 1 article formidable, (in the Canadien) se convaincront facilement que 
1 'un est paretr de l'autre. 11 Also "Ni le p$re naturel, (Parent) ni le 
père putatif Macdonald), de ces columnes injures contre M. La Fontaine 
•••• " Another "Reactionist" mentioned in connecti on with Parent was 
Joseph-Jacques Crémazie, brother of the poet. He was a lawyer, dean of 
law at Laval University, and editor, from 1847 to 1849, of L'Ami de la 
Religion et de la Patrie. Another 11Reactionist" identified by the La­
Fontaine press at this time was Robert Christie , member for Gaspé. See 
Le Joumal de 9lébec, April 14, 1846; see also Cornell, The Alignt!!ent 
of Political Groups in Canada 1841-1867, p. 99. Christie crossed the 
floor from the opposition seats to support the Government on March 23, 
1846. In reality, this was probably because of personal reasons rather 
than support for double majority or the "Reaction", which still profes­
sed Reform pr.inciples. 

136 
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that "the basis of all the Caron negotiations has been the exclusion of 

Mr. LaFontaine", al.though LaFontaine 11is at present the acknowledged 

leader of the opposition." After this treachery on Caron 's part, the 

Reformera declared, it was no wonder that they 11general.ly' distrust Mr. 

Caron's sincerity •••• If ever a man aspiring to be a political leader was 

cal.led on to define his position clearly' and distinctly' Mr. Caron is that 
138 

man. tt Caron might have compromised about the LaFontaine version of 

double majority, and weakened the opposition by his role in the two neg-

otiations, but over and above al.l these charges, the Reform press was 

concerned with his overt attempts to wrest the leadership from LaFont-
139 

aine. 

It was also charged that Caron had acted as a stooge for the 

n Artful Dodger". 11M. Caron était-il de bonne foi ou était-il le jouet 

de deux ou trois intriguants à la tête desquels était M. Draper? Voilà 
140 

la question." Needless to say, it was a rhetorical question. To the 

Upper Canadians, on the other hand, the worst of the two men was not the 

"jouet" but the Upper Canadian Conservative leader, Draper. Caron 1s role 

in the negotiation had only been to make a 11pilgrimagen for Draper, 

who hoped to di vide the ''united phalanx of French Canadian liberale ••• 11 

the Reformera said. LaFonta:lne, however, had seen through Draper's in-

138 
ibid. emphasis added. 

139 
La Revue Canadienne, Aug. 28, 1846. 

140 
Le Journal de Qlébec, Aug. 22, 1846, cites La Minerve. 



230 

tentions, and his "inflexible adherence to principles" had perm.itted no 

compromise. As a result, the French Canadians remained '1tolerably well 
141 

united •••• " 

The Upper Canadian Reformera also dealt with double majority, 

which they claimed Draper had never even offered. He merely sought a 

coalition which would preserve him in power. "All this is exceedingly 

modesttt, they remarked, hastening to add. that even if double majority 

had been of.f'ered, it would faU due to the "discordant elements 11 which 

would result in the Council. They felt that the obvious solution was to 

wait until a new Governor replaced Cathcart, who was in their opinion no 

better than Metcalfe. At '!the worst we may hope that the new govemor 

will insist on the government being carried on in accordance with the 
142 

principles of the constitution •••• 11 To the Upper Canada Reformera, 

these principles were responsible government carried on by simple major-

i ty, and un der the guardianship of a Reform govemment • 

The Conservatives of both Upper and Lower Canada were displeaseà 

with this second exposé of the weaknesses of their Government. It was 

difficult to continue asserting that their overtures were designed only 

to do justice to the French Canadians. Therefore their press organs 

143 
maintained a disapproving silence, for the most part. 

141 
Examiner, Sept. 2, 1846. 
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~· 
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1846 negotiation. 
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The most notable trend in 1846 was the increasing unity of 

thought among the LaFontaine partisans and the Upper Canada Reformera. 

This was obvious in their caucus, and it continued in the press dis­

cussions .. The two groups ignored double ma..iority as much as possible, 

and concentrated instead on such issues as the right to publish; La­

Fontaine1s commendable behaviour; the evils of the "Reaction" and of 

the "Reactionist" double majority, racism and sectionalism; and the 

wea.kness of the Government. The Upper Canada Reformera enphasized the 

latter point, for the Conservatives were their traditimal enemies. 

The 11Reactionist" newspaper, the Canadien, supported Caron where 

it bad previously supported Viger and Papineau, and continued its de­

fense of its own version of double majority. Nationalism, or racism, 

District ri valry and LaFontaine 1 s alleged treachecy to French Canada 

because of his alliance with the Upper Canada Reformera were the main 

"Reactionist" themes. The would-be allies of the 11Reactionists", the 

Conservatives of both Upper and Lower Canada, agreed on one point: 

that the publication of the correspondences involved in the two negot­

ia ti ons was indefensible. The Lower Canada Conserva ti ves condemned the 

substance of the negotiations; the Upper Canadians defended their leader 

and their Government, but without enthusiasm. 

It is obvious that none of the political groups were very inter­

ested in double majority as a principle of government. They were con­

cerned mainly with how its implementation would affect their own pos­

itions. The leadership struggles in Lower Canada, which increasingly 



232 

involved the District rivalry, were complicated by the different systems 

of alliances with Upper Canadians. The Upper Canadian influence on the 

two French-Canadian groups determined in large degree the potential 

success or failure of the negotiations. 

In view of the great amount of space which the newspapers devoteà. 

to discussing double majority and the negotiations, it might have been 

supposed that sorne positive effect on sectional legislation might have 

resulted. In the Assemb~, the supporters of double ma~rity could have 

given evidence of their sincerity in supporting the system. However, 

the practical aspect of double majority, sectional legislation by sec-

tional majorities, was constantly violated. A survey of examples of non-

double majority legislation demonstrates this. 
144 

No political group followed a policy of voting according to the 

dictates of double majority. This was true even of both French-Canadian 

groups, the 11Reactionists" and the LaFontaine partisans. In fact, it is 

impossible to distinguish between these two groups by examining the 

voting records. Both professed Reform principles; their theoretical dif-

ferences involved a more fUndamental issue. This was the problem of the 

nature of government, and the positions of each group vis-à-vis this 

question have already been discussed in detail. Their practical differ-

ences of opinion, as their activities in both the negotiations and in the 

legislative area show, concerned leadership above all, and the question 

of whether or not to forego the fruits of office under the Union, when 

144 
See Appendix B. 
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the Government gave them a choice as it bad twice in 1845 and 1846. 

In the next chapter, these themes are studied in connection with the 

1ast of the negotiations. 



CHAPTER VIII 

THE END OF THE "REACTION": OBITUARY FOR A TWO-FACED MONSTER 

The English people ••• have invented for our bene.fit the Parl­
iamentar,y system. Our M.P. 's arrange rebellions and coups 
d'état for us, which leaves the rest of the nation time to 
play cricket. The Press completes the system by enabling us 
to take our share in these tumulti by proJcy". All these things 
.form a part of modern com.fort •••• 

Half a year elapsed af'ter the .failure o.f the Cathcart negotiation 

be .fore there was any change in Cana.dian politics. This change came when 
2 

Lord Elgin arrived in Canada at the beginning o.f 1847. By this time, 

the ill-fated resignation was over three years old; two Governors and 

two negotiations had been disposed of; and double majority itsel.f was no 

longer a novelty. LaFontaine was still the acknowledged leader <:t.f the 

French Canadians, and the "Reactionists" continued to wish that he were 

not. However, the .failure o.f the "Reactionists" to make their policies 

prevai1 had given LaFontaine an edge, and it was generally believed that 

as soon as the new Governor settled in Canada, he would dissalve Parlia-

ment, and call an election. The LaFontaine partisans, "in the Ex:pectation 

o.f an Early dissolution o.f Parliament ••• had already strengthened the Cen-

nexion with the Upper Canada Liberale, & commenced a Canvas o.f Several 

1 
André Maurois, The Silence of Colonel Bramble, (New York: 

D. Appleton and Co., 1930), p. 28. 
2 
J.G. Bourinot, Lord Elgin, (Toronto: Morang & Co., Ltd., 1906), 

p. 203. Lord Elgin took office on Jan. 30, 1847, and remained until Dec. 
19, 1854. 
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Constituencies." 
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LaFontaine had commented that Lord Metealfe was like Lord B.yden-
4 

ham, and that he would be succeeded by a Governor like Baget. Cathcarl 

had belied this prophecy, but when the young and vigourous Elgin arrived 

in Canada, the LaFontaine partisans believed that at last Engla.nd had 

sent someone to play the Bagot ro1e. From the beginning of his Governor-

ship, Elgin re.f'used to conform to the behaviour pattern expected of him. 

He reacted to the political situation in almost the same way his pre-

decessors had. The main difference was that the Government leader, Draper, 

had lost interest in the French Canadians, even his o1d friends the ''Re-

actionists", and he suggested to Elgin that the beat w~ to strengthen 

the Government was by re-organizing the Upper Canadia.n section only, for 

"it was quite hope1ess for him to attempt to Conciliate the French Par-
5 

ty." He told Elgin that his last offers had been rejected ''without any 
6 

reason assigned •• ••" Draper also recoonnended that Caron, who had been 

one of the French-canadian principals, should be removed from the Speak­

ership of the Legislative Council. This way the French Canadians would 

3 
Doughty ( ed. ) , The Elgin-Grey Papers 1846-1852, Elgin to Grey, 

Feb. 10, 1847, enclosed in letter of Feb. 24, 1847, from Honklands, 
vol. 1, p. 17. 

4 . 
Quebec Gazette, April 13, 1846, LaFontaine to Caron, Montreal, 

Sept. 10, 1845. 
5 . . 
Dought:r (ed.), The Elgin-Grey Paœrs 1846-1852, Elgin to Grey, 

Feb. 10, 1847, enc1osed in 1etter of Feb. 24, 1847, from Monklands, 
vol. 1, p. 17. 

6 
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"distinetJ.T percei ve, that their union with Mr. Baldwin & his triends, 

in no way faveurs the objecta, whether personal or political, which they 

"7 are believed to desire •••• 

Elgin disagreed with Draper about the wisdom of firing Caron, 

for that would be "to take a Step against the French Canadian Party much 
8 

more decided and offensive than any which ~ Predecessors had adopted-11• 

In fact, he preferred to imitate his predecessers in negotiating with 
9 

the French Canadians. As both Metcalfe and Cathcart had done, Elgin 

came out firmly against double majority; like them, he merely wanted 
10 

some French Canad:ians to join the Government "as individuals •••• "• At 

a Council meeting called to diseuse a new negotiation, Cayley alone of 

the Councillors came out in favour of basing the offers on double major-
11 

ity. Morris was in complete agreement with his other colleagues and 

the Governor, and he commented: 

As to the double majorities he spoke of, what would it be in ef­
fect but a division of the Province? That no question could be 
determined without taking the opinions of the members of each 
section distinctively, and not passing any bill which was not a-

7 
~., p. 16. 

8 
ibid., p. 17. 

9 
Since his Council did not believe that even the prestige of a 

new Governor would aid them in the Assembly. 
10 

Longley, Sir Francis Hincks, A Studv of Canadian Poli tics, 
Railways & Finance in the Nineteenth Centur:y, p. 151. 

11 
~. 
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greed on by a majority on each side. The idea was absurd. 
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This was D.B. Papineau•s opinion as we11.
13 

Therefore the Councillors 

and the Governor composed a memorandum which was to form the basis of 

the offers to the French Canadians. Elgin hoped that it would accomplish 

many things. Among others, i t was designed to break up "the unna.tural 
14 

alliance between the Baldwin & French factions •••• " He also hoped that 

he would succeed in splitting the French Canadians as well, although his 

predecessors bad failed to do so. "The national eleDlent wd be merged in 

the political if the split to w(h) I refer were accomplished", Elgin ex-
15 

plained. He chose the same means to effect this as both Metealfe and 

Cathcart had; he capitalized en the existence of the 11ReactiGn11 , and 

made Caron one of the principals in the negotiation. Once again LaFon-

taine was ignored. Elgin disapproved of his policy of ma.intaini~ the 

Reform alliance; also, Draper and most of the Council refused to work 
16 

with LaFontaine. Morin, who was known to have wavered in his loyalty 

12 
Pilot, April 20, 1846, quotes Merris' speech during the debate 

on the Administration of Justice expenses, June 4, 1846, in reply to 
De Boucherville, Mirror of Parliament, p. 220. 

13 
P.A.C. Papineau Papers, D.B. Papineau t• J.B.N. Papineau, 

Montreal, April 22, 1847, vol. 16, p. 166-7. 
14 
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iltid., Elgin to Grey, Govt. Hou se, Montreal, March 27, 184 7, 

vol. 1, p. 20:" 
16 
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te LaFontaine in the 1846 negotiation, was also approached. Elgin haà 

received information from Draper that his negotiatien had a good chance 

of success. 

They, (meaning the Ca.nadian Party, & their Upper Canada all7 Mr. 
Hincks) are getting uneasy. '!bey !'ully Expected. that they would 
have been Sent for by Lord Elgin to form a new Administration -
and now they begin to doubt whether they have any present chance. 

Continued Draper: 

My' informant alluded to the pecunia.ry Embarassment of Seme ef 
the parties, as one reason for great anxiety and impatience, & 
finished b,y stating his Conviction, that though the Canadians 
(French) would in the t.irst instance fight for bringing in their 
U. Canada allies, they would give way, if they found that im­
possible.l7 

With this information in hand, Elgin was not d.iscouraged when 

Morin replied to the memorandum with a firm refusal. He had first con-

sult ed his friends, and on their advice wrote that: 

L'idée d'un Conseil Executif où ne régneraient pas une parfaite 
confiance et une enti~re unité de Sentimens et d'action, Serait 
Contraire l celle d'un Gouvernement fondé Sur l'opinion pub­
lique, présentant dans sa marche toute l'harmonie et la force 
que donne cette opinion, et calqué ainsi Sur les bases mêmes 
d'institutions qui Sont déÎ~arées nous régir et auxquelles nous 
Semmes fermement attachés. 

Clearly then., the grounds for Morin •s refusal precluded anything but a 

responsi ble government. Draper, however, believed that Morin' s reply was 

enly a cover-up for the fact that LaF0 ntaine would never enter the Gov-

17 • 
ibid., Draper to Elgin, Recd. Feb. 14, 1847, enclosed 1n letter 

from Elgin ""t'() Grey, Monklaads , Feb. 27, 184 7, vol. 1 , p. lS. 
lS 
~·, Morin to Elgin, Montreal, Feb. 27, 1847, enclosed in 

letter from Elgin to Gre7, Govt. House, )-fontreal, March 27, 1847, vel. 
1, p. 22. 
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ernment without Baldwin and his rriends. Draper was also aware that the 

"Reactionists 11 had had no part in the refusa!. "1 am not without a sus-

picion that Morin has presumed to express this conclusion without direct 

communication with the Quebec section or his Party- Ir so, it may have 
19 

ulterior consequences 11 , he confided to a colleague. 

Draper' s opinion was entirely justitied, and he made certain 

that there would be 11ulterior consequences". Etienne Parent, allegecl in-

stigator or the "Reaction", and D.B. Papineau, visited Caron in Quebec 

with the news that Morin had rerused an orrer without consulting the 

Quebecers. They told. Caron that the Govet'l'llllent thought this unjust to 

the District, and had decided to give Caran the memorandum so that the 

Quebecers could also have a say in the matter. However, berore Caron 

could commit himselt, they had to le ave Que bec, and Papineau lost all 
20 

interest when the plan was not inmed.iately successful. So did Draper, 

who had already sutrered through two other negotiations. He began to 

nurse one ambition: a judgeship. "Afraid or being shamed by ••• (his cel­

leagues) ••• he has continued to absent hirnselr rrem the Seat or r~v while 

discussions most vital to the administration were in progress11 , Elgin 

19 
P.A.O. Macdonald Papers, Draper to J.A. Macdonalfl, Montreal, 

March 4, 1847, vol. 209, p. 89102-3. "For such is the tems or a reply 
or the latter (Morin) to sorne sort or overtures which he received-11 

20 
<ile bec Gazette, June 11, 184 7; see also Pilot , June 10, 184 7; 

Le Canadien, June 14, 1847; P.A.O. Chauveau Papers, p. 134-139. 
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21 
reported with disgust. Draper returned to Upper Canada, and had little 

22 
more to do with the negotiation. 

Elgin, however, was prepareti to wait and see wha.t the French Can-

adians would do. He believed that his offers had "thrown upon them the 

responsibility of Such Steps as I may now be obliged to have recourse to 

to Strengthen 'flr3' adnrl.nistration", but he also tried te find a French-
2.3 

Canadian leader willing to accept his offers. He approached Dr. Taché, 

who in 1S46 had wanted to defy LaFontaine and accept Cathcart 1s offers. 

However, after three daye in Montreal, Taché returned to Elgin with the 

news that nobody wanted to accept. Believing Taché "a good but weak man, 

easily cowed by any "esprit fort 11 he chances to meet", Elgin turned to 
24 

Caron, who se opposition to LaFontaine was obvious. Moreover, Caron bad 

written to Parent that Quebec had to use the Elgin offers to rid itself 
25 

of the "intolerable tyranny" of Montreal, The official memorandum was 

therefore returned to Caron, who became the principal French-Canadian 

21 Doughty ( ed,) The Elgin-Grey Papers 1S46-1S52, Elgin to Grey, 
Montreal, M~ 27, 1S47, vol. 1, p, 46. 

22 
Pilot, April 16, 1S47. His whereabouts were unknown: "we know 

not, and the public probably care not •••• 11 The specifie judgeship was 
that of Justice Hagerman, who "bas been at the point of death for the 
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23
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negotiator. 
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Up to this tim.e, double ma.jority was not involved in any way. 

However, the French Canadians soon made it an issue, as they had so orten 

done in the past. Double majority first became involved when Morin began 

to correspond with an influential Quebecer, P.J.O. Chauveau, in order to 

justify his refusal of the Elgin offers. He turned to Chauveau because 

he was a La.Fontaine supporter in the heart of "Reactionist" territory, 

and he wanted Chauveau to understand his reasons for refusing the offers. 

In an exchange of letters, Morin explained his position in detail, even 

though his ideas were not always consistent. His basic idea was that 

11 contrairement A ce que j 'aurais cru faisable 1 'an dernier, Je suis 
27 

contre une pareille coalition avant une nouvelle élection générale •••• " 

At all costs, the French Canadians had to remain in oppesition until they 

were invited to form an entirely new administration. With this as his 

basic premise, Morin developed his argument. He told Chauveau that dou-
2S 

ble majority was the only possible basis of negotiation, and that in 

the Governor 's memorandum he and his friends had been unable to find 
29 

even a hint of the system. He believed that Elgin was no different from 

26
ibid. 

27-
p .A. C. Chauveau Papers, Morin to Chauveau, Montreal, March 14, 

1S47, p. 23. 
28 
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Metcalfe, and that his offers were just as unacceptable. Morin was also 

inclined to think that the ineumbent Councillors had no intention of re-

signing to permit new Councillors to fill their seats: "Draper Daly et 
30 

Smith ont tout 1 'aire de vouloir se caser confortablement •••• " He felt 

that implicit in the Elgin offers was the idea of the racial criterion 

as a test for political office, and that French Canadians were invited 

to accept office 

comme canadien-français seulement, c 1 est-à-c.iire par la même 
porte et pour Jouer le même rêle que Viger et Papineau. S'il 
est quelqu'un a Montréal ou à Québec qui soit prêt à entrer 
sur ce pied, il a don31oublié tout ce qui s'est passé durant 
les dernières années. 

Morin thus rejected the racist premise which was an essential feature of 

double majority. He even admitted that 

J'ai eu mes réfugnances pour les doubles majorités, elles ont 
été partagées a Québec aussi; et nous aurions mieux une admin­
istration unique et fondée sur des principes surs, Mais nous 
avions toujours regardé la question comme &uvëi=t"e, et puisque 
aujourd'hui vous ne voyez d 1espoire (s~~) d 1union que dans ce 
principe, nous y adhérons franchement. 

In Quebee, the se rationalizations for re.fusing office seemed to 

Chauveau politically indefensible. He tried tc explain to Morin the feel-

ing in C)lebee. 11Tout est de la plus pitoyable intrigue •••• 11 he wrote, 
33 

and "l'esprit réactionnaire" prevailed. One of the most serious prob-

30 
ibid.' Morin to Chauveau, Montreal, March 14, 1847, p. 20. -31 
ibid.' Morin to Chauveau, Montreal, March 19, 1847, p. 40. 

32 
~., Morin to Chauveau, Montreal, March 29, 184 7, p. 102-3. 

33 
ibid,.' Chauveau to Morin, C)lebec, March 18, 1847, p. 33-34. 
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lems was an increasing hatred of Montreal, which had committed the "im-

pardonnable" offense or neglecting to eonsult Quebec about the Elgin 

ofters. "Nos propres partisans et les meilleurs des true blues nous jet­

arent à la figure que nous n'étions que les jouets de Montréal, et en 
34 

apparence ils avaient raison. L'ennemi était mieux infonné que nous." 

'!he other problem was "une grande agitation populaire ayant pour base 

les iniquités de l'Acte d'Union, et leurs conséquences politiques, le 

pillage des deniers publics (sic) •••• " The result or this was tha.t Qle-

becers clung to the hope of obtaining the double majority system as a 

means of preventing what they conceived to be the destruction or their 
35 

District, and even their nation. 

Je vous dirai en deux mots ce que nous voulons. Nous voudrions 
que notre parti fit à son profit ce que la réaction essaie à 
faire à SC!l propre profit. il est évident que si la réaction 
venait au pouvoir, le district de t41ébec serait perdu pour 
nous. 

Theretore, Chauveau advised Morin, "Négociez sur le principe des deux 

majorités sans trop s'occuper si le mode de négociation est strictement 
36 37 

ou non constitutionnel •••• " Otherwise, "nous sanmes finis 1" Chauv-

eau's main plea to Morin was that he absolutely had to accept office be-

tore the "Reactionists 11 did, because whoever was in office would win the 

next general elections. Chauveau also tried to impress upon Morin the 

34
ibid., Chauveau to Morin, March 25, 1847, p. 77. 

3
\bid., Chauveau to Morin, 14lebec, March lS, 184 7, p. 35-37. At 

this time, another 1'Reactionist" identified: Louis-Joseph Massue, Legis­
lative Councillor, wealthy merchant of C41ebec. 

36 
ibid., Chauveau to Morin, Quebec, March 19, 1847, p. 43. 

37-
~., p. 45. 



urgency of the matter. He told him that a few of the LaFontaine support­

ers in Q.tebec had written a collective letter to Morin advising him to 

accept office before the "Reactionists" could do so, and he added that 

the letter had not been mailed because its authors believed that the 

"Reactionists" would win out over the LaFontaine group, and they were 
38 

afraid of being on the losing aide. In effect, Chauveau am Morin dit-

fered mainly about the wisdom or impolicy of accepting office before 

the elections. All other factors, includ:ing double majority, were of 

secondar,y importance. 

Chauveau's vivid description of the state of feeling in Quebec 

upset Morin so ba~ that his friends began to comment on his nervous 

39 
condition. Chauveau wanted him te suggest double majority to the Gov-

ernment; his Montreal triends warned him that when LaFontaine had done 
40 

this in 1845, nothing had come of the matter. The Quebecers, both 

LaFontaine supporters and 11Reactionists", urged him to accept the Elgin 

off ers; the !-iontrealers and the Upper Canada Reformera insisted that he 

.38 
ibid., Chauveau to Morin, Quebee, March 20, 1847, p. 50-52. 

Chauveau a1-so-told Morin that all the representatives of the District 
of Qlebee were "Reacti onists" • 

.39 
P .A. C. Baldwin Papers , Hincks to Baldwin, March 25, 184 7, vol. 

4, p. 785. Hincks said that timidity rather than conviction led Morin to 
support double rnajority at all. See also P.A.C. Chauveau Papers, LaFon­
taine to Joseph Cauchon, Montreal, April 2, 1847, p. 127-8: "Morin qui 
vous savez est très impressionnable, tut jeté dans un état d'excitation 
assez vive et que Je n 1 aimais pas à. voir en lui •••• " 

40 
P .A .C. Chauveau Papers, Morin to Chauveau, Montreal, March 

20, 1847, p. 46-7. 
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41 
stick to his original ref'usal. He seemed to have nowhere to tum for 

guidance, and as he continued to procrastinate, his friends began to 

reproach him. Trying to canpromise, he soon "condescended to join his 

cruntrymen in discussing the terme on which power should be partitioned 
42 

between them & the existing Council.-" 

Morin hated the di vision among the French Canadians, and "dans 

mon vif espoir de voir rena!tre l'union et les jours où nous agissions 

tous comme un seul homme", he tried to reconcile the LaFontaine partisans 
43 

w:l..th the "Reactionists". He did this in the face of obstacles which 

even a more hardened politicia.n would have found overwhelming. He found 

out that one of his friends, T.C. Aylwin, had had a reconciliation w:l..th 

Caron, and Aylwin insisted that unless the Elgin offers were accepted, 

the "Reactionists11 , whose ranks he had just joined, would ccmpletely 

split the French Canadians. However, he confused Morin by- saying that 

double majority was a meaningless issue, since the average French Canad-

ian could not understand it, and he insisted that immediate power was 

the real issue. Aylwin turned completely against the Upper Canada Re-

41 
The Lower Canada Tories, certain that the negotiation was a-

bout to be realized, and that it was based on double majority, taunted 
the Upper Canada Reformera about the end of their "sainte alliancen. 
Presumably they hoped that the Reformera would react by pressuring their 
Lower Canada allies to put a halt to the negotiations, which in fact 
they tried to do. See Le Canadien , April 16, 1S4 7, ci tes La MW. erve , the 
Pilot, Montreal Transcript, ;Me bec Mercury and La Revue Canadienne. 

42 . . 
Doughty (ed.), The Elgin-Grez Papers 1S46-1S22, Elgin to Grey, 

Montreal, April 26, 1S47, vol. 1, p. 2S. 
43 

P .A.C. Chauveau Papers, Horin to Aylwin, Montreal, March 29, 
1S47, p. 90-91. 
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formera, and warned Morin against rejecting the offers because they were 
44 

not included in them. Not only was l·iorin disturbed and confused by 
45 

Aylwin 1s reconciliation with the 11Reactionists", but he also discover-

ed that their exchange of letters was being intercepted in the mail, be-
46 

cause one of A1lwin 1s letters had been forwarded to him alreaqy opened. 

He knew that this meant that the Government had arranged to spy on the 

internal affaira of the French Canadians, in order to play one faction 

against the other. At this time, Morin also suffered a blow when the 

Canadien publiahed both the official memorandum and Morin 1 s reply to it, 

al though both were supposed to be coofidential. Now all <)Iebec knew for 

certain that Morin had refused Elgin 's offers without consulting in their 

District. Chauveau tried to undermine the Canadien 1 s coup d'état by an 
47 

article in the Journal de Qlébec, but the damage was done. 

Still Morin tried to maintain friendly relations with everyone. 

He told Aylwin to reconcile the "Reactionists" by telling them that he 
48 

and his friends would accept double majority if they absolutely had to, 

and to Chauveau he gave the same advice: '~chez maintenant à Québec 
49 

et embrassez-vous." By this he alienated even that staunch La.Fontaine 

44
ibid., A;ylwinto Morin, Qlebec, :!-farch 26,1847, p. 81-85. 

4
\bid., Morin to Aylwin, Montreal, March 22, 1847, p. 61-64. 

46 
ibid • , Morin to Aylwin, Mont real, Mar ch 29 , 184 7, p. 89-90. 

4'1 
ibid., Chauveau to Morin, QJ.ebec, March 27, 1847, p. 86. This 

1etter was not signed, but interna1 evidence proves it to be from Chau-
veau. 

48
ibid., Morin to Aylwin, Montreal, March 29, 1847, p. 89-96. 

49 
~·, Morin to Chauveau, Montreal, March 29, 1847, p. 99-10.3. 
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supporter. Chauveau wrote back in a .fury that he coW.d hardl.y believe 

his eyes wh en he read Morin' s "ordre d'aller embrasser M. Caron qui 

... 50 
vient de nous cracher a la figure 111 

Je disais que vous agissez dans un but de réconciliation avec 
les réactionnaires! Mais cela est inconcevablel C'est à faire 
venir fou! J'ai pris ma tête à deux mains pour voir si elle 
était encore sur mon cou et si mon cou ·était encore sur mes 
épaules! Vous n'avez donc point comrris que l'article du 2.!!!,­
~ c'était la guerre! la guerre a mortS Qle n~s sommes en­
gagés et que si au lieu de vous montrer dans 1 'arene contre 
les réactionnaires vous faites un pas vers eux, après que nous 
avons tout sacrifié, vous, vous nous laissez à leur discrét5ïn. 
Vous nous trahissez! Vous nous perdez, vous perdez le pays. 

strcng words, and more were to come from Joseph Cauchon, who bad seen 

Morin 1 s letters to both Aylwin and Chauveau. Cauchon scolded l-1:orin sev-

erely for trying to play both aides of the field, and blamed him in part 

for the strength of the "Reaction", because he did not fight against the 

"Reactionists". 

Morin was more upset than ever, and he hurried to LaFontaine 's 

law office with the accusative letters in his hand. LaFontaine agreed 

with Cauchon and Chauveau that the "Reactionists 11 should be treated 

50 
~·, Chauveau to Morin, Quebec, March 21, 1847, p. 56. 

51 
ibid., p. 54. Chauveau also named two other "Reactionists": 

Jean Baptiste Chabot , and Charles Clément Sabrevois de Bleury. Chabot 
was a representative for Quebec in the Assembly, and was once described 
as "that shattered relie of a life of inebriation •••• " See 9lebec Gaz­
~' Oct. 10, 1S54.De Bleury was a representative of Montreal, who 
campaigned wi th George Moffatt, a Tery. In fa ct, De Bleury was al ways 
considered a vendu, probably because he was a Tory. Ex:cept for the mat­
ters of the French language, and Jesuit Estates, he voted in the main 
with the Draper-Viger Government. He was probab~ better described as 
a Government supporter, or a Conservative, than as a "Reactionist", and 
he never, as far as is known, came out in support of double na ority. 
See Francis J. Audet, Les De tés de Montré e et comté 1 2-
1S6:z, (Montreal: Les Editions des Dix, 194.3 , p. 271. 
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harahly, ani not conciliated, but he tried to explain to Cauchoa that 

Merin waa different from ether politicia.ns. "Toua rapports entre Caron 

et moi ont du cesser •••• 11 he wrote, but "Morin a voulu t'aire 1 •un et 

l'autre. Il a pardonn~ et oublié. 11 In sum., he reproached Cauchon, "veua 
52 

ll t avez peint d • idée de la peine que vous lui avez causée. 11 Morin him-

self tried to make amends with Chauveau, by informing him that perhapa 

the best thing was te wait until Parliament was convened. In Parliament, 

the oppositien ceuld use its strength far mere effectively than was pos-
53 

sible in interminable negotiations. Chauveau replied that he had no 

objections to negotiatiens and offers, but "J'en serai a content moi 

aussi pourvu qu'elles fussent faites à l'opposition directement et nan 

point par 1 1 entremise de la réactien. Timeo Danaos", he added cryptic-
54 

ally. 

Morin was not alone in his desire te reconcile the LaFontaine 

factions w.i.th the "Reactionists". Aylwin also attempted this b7 writing 

to LaFontaine that Caren really wante« to see him in e.ff'ice, but since 

the Gevernment hoped to make him Judge LaFontaine, Caron was prohibited. 

52 
P.A.O. Chauveau Papers, LaFontaine to Cauchon, Montreal, April 

2, 1847, p. 121-33. 

53 
ill!•, Morin te Chauveau, Montreal, M'arch 30, 1847, p. 111. 

54 
ibid., Chauveau to Morin, Quebec, April 2, 1847, p. 114-6. 

It is uncïëë.'i= whether Chauveau was referring to the 11Reactionists 11 , or 
to the Ceuncillors, particularly the French-Canadian enes like Papineau, 
who were also invelved in the negotiation. 
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55 
.trem appreaching him. about political matters. Hewever, this was the 

same story that LaFentaine had beard in 1845, and he still refused te 

have anything to do with Caron. 

This was ene side of the stary, the Montreal side. In Quebec, 

ameng the 11Reacticmists", there was an equal amoUJ.Ilt of activity, and of 

cansulting back and forth. Caron, the leading "Reactionist", had gladly 

responded te Morin's friendly gestures, and when Morin made a trip te 

Quebec, the two men discussed the Elgin offers together. Then Caron hur-

ried to Montreal to continue his discussiens, this time with the Gevern-
56 

ment. D.B. Papineau, whom he had hoped to see, was in the ceuntry. 

Therefere Cayley, the one Councillar who sunperted double majority, sub-

stituted fer Papineau. Caren wished fer a clarification of the Gevern-

ment's prapesals, which had only mentioned that three portfolios were 

available tc the French Canadians. He gave Cayley a list ef seven ques-

tiens, and Cayley's replies previded a new and detailed descriptien of 

the Gevernment'a proposals. 

(1) The Presidency of the Coumcil was vacant; Papineau wished te 

place his ewn pertfolie of Crewn Lands unconditionally at Caron's dis-

55 
P.A.C. LaFontaine Papers, Aylwin to LaFontaine, Quebec, April 

5, 1847, wl. 7, p. 1322-3. Aylwin also commented on double majority: 
"Quant à la pratique Britannique, il sera tems d'en parler lorsqu'il y 
aura en Angleterre une Union à la Sydenham, et les double majorités." 
Yet this cynical attitude about the system did not nrevent him from be­
coming a "Reactionist "1 

56 
ibid. ; see also Qu ebec Gaz et te , June il, 184 7; Pilet , June 10, 

1847; Le Canadien, June 14, 1847. 
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pesal; and the Attern~ Generalship fer Lewer Canaàa woulà be vacateà by 

premeting Smith to the Bench. Therefere the Gevernment had three pert­

folios to offer the French Canadians. (2) The Provincial Secretaryship, 

Daly's position, was not placed at the dispesal of the French Canadians. 

(3) The Gevernment wanted to authorize Caron te make al1 the official 

arrangements with respect to the prepesa1s. (4) No French Canadian was 
57 

excluàed from the negotiation. (5) The Gevernment insisted that Caren 

himself accept office. (6) And, sheuld he succeed in the negetiation, he 

would retain the Speakership of the Legislative Ceuncil as well as the 

new position in the Executive Counci1: the Presidency of the Counci1. 

(7) If, on the ether hanà, he was not successfu1, he was net guaranteei 
58 

the latter position. 

Caren was quite well satisfied with the effers, except that he 

was a little werried that his friends weu1d refuse to sit with Da1y. 

Cayl~ replied that if he had objections to ~part of the Government's 
59 

proposals, he ceuld present a counter-offer. Caron seemed satisfied 

with this, and frem Quebec wrote Cayley that as soen as he had an offie-

ial statement of the "basis and cendi ti ons 11 of the arrangement, he would 
60 

almost certainly succeed in finding suitab1e men to accept. In a priv-

57 
LaFontaine was sti11 in the running, at least theeretica1ly. 

58 
Pilet, June 10, 1847; see a1so Le Canadien, June 16, 18, 1847; 

Que bec Gazette , June il, 184 7. 
59 

ibid. 
6o-

Pilot, June 10, 1847, Caron te C~ley, ne date. 
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ate verbal communication, he named. three men who weulci join him in the 
61 

Gevermneut : J.iorin, LaFontaine and Henry ffiack. He guaranteed that Morin 

weuld accept; but tolti Cqley that LaFontaine could not be approacheà. 

until the Gevemment 's answer arrived; and mack would not listen te any 
62 

o.ffers until the two French Canadians were commi.tted. Caron centinued 

to worry about the possibility that these men would object te sitting 

with Daly. In a meeting in Quebec, held te censider the new proposals, 

aU those present had agreed that they could not sit with Daly. Although 

this was forced from them by Cauchon, who had managea to manoeuvre him-

self into chairing the meeting, Caron realized that it represented the 

opinion flf the Montreal ers, and that they were not likely te change their 

mincis at•ter going te so much trouble te inveigle the "Reactionists" into 
63 

accepting this condition. Although this was reminiscent of the stale-

mate reached in 1845, just prier te Metcal.fe's departure, Caron thought 

he still held a trump card. He believed that since he had canpromise• 

by permitting Smith te be elevated to the Bench, the Government must im 

61 
D.ughty ( ed.), The Elgin-Grey Papers 1§46-1852, Elgin to Grey, 

April 26, 184 7, vol. 1 , p. .3 3 ; see als• Le CanadieJII., April 16, 184 7, 
which in an article entitled "Rumeurs", cites ether papers and. mentions 
Henry Black, Aylwin and Morin; Qlesnel or Caren, LaFontaine or mack, 
Aylwin or Drummond; see al se Le Jeurnal de Québec, April 17, 184 7, which 
mentions Leslie, Chabot, Drummond and Taché. 

62 
Quebec Gazette, June 11, 1847, Caron te Cayley, no date. 

6.3 
P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, LaFontaine to Baldwin, Montreal, April 

21, 1847, vel. 4, p. 797-S. 
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64 
retura accede te his request te remove Daly. 

Im.plicit in Cann's letter te C~ley was the idea that four, 

rather than three, pertfelios had been offered te him. He alse made it 

plain that he believed the ''basis and con di ti ons" et the Gever!l!llent 's 
65 

prepesals were nothing less than the implementation of double majority. 

In hie meeting wi th Mer in, he had agreed th at unless all the Lewer 

Canadian seats in the CeuncU were made available te hill., he woulà. ac-
66 

cept the respensibility for refusing the offers. Equally certain was 

that both he and Marin believed that this would constitute deuble majer-

ity, and that Merin, feeling he had no cheioe, had agreed to accept er-

fiee in a double majority government. 

At appre:xim.ately the same time that Care11 was se eptimistically 

planning eut the new gevernmeat, the Montrealers were alse eccupied with 

making a careful stud.y ef the Cann-Cayley questions and answers. In a 

meeting at which LaFontaine toek a leading part, the general censensus 

was, in his werds, that: 

64 
P.A.O. La.Fontaine Papers, Caron te LaFontaine, April 16, 1847, 

vol. 7, p. 1325-7; see alse Pilet, June 10, 1847, Caron to Cayley, Mn­
treal, April 9, 1847; ~., Cayley te Caren, Montreal, April 10, 1847. 
This was reminiscent of LaFentaine and Baldwin in the 1842 negetiation, 
when they cevered their desire to bring down the Gevernment and totally 
reconstruct it with excuses about pensioning err C.uncillers. 

65 . 
This assumpt1on that he had feur seats to dispose ef was based 

on the i41iea that he was charged wi.th the camplete reconstruction er the 
Lewer Canada Council. He believed that this canstituted double majerity. 

66 
P .A. C. La Fontaine Pa pers, Caron to LaFontaine, April 16 , 184 7, 

vel. 7, p. 1325-7. 



Mr. Cayley1s prepesals were prepared with a precaution and 
cunningness such as te make the prepesals appear te the eyes 
ef the Maas ef the Peeple particularly in the District et 
Quebec, as being equivalent to the a•eptien, in praetice, 
ef the system ef the deuble majority, and calculated te create, 
in that District and that alse of 3 Rivera and in sae parts 
ef eur ewn District, a great exci tement against us, if by 
any step en eur part, we were geing to give te Mr. Caren and 
his friends a pretext to threw upon the Montreal Members the 
responsibility of the refusal which for6~ part, I thought 
Mr. Caren himselt was dispesed to give. 

253 

This analysis of the Gevernrnent 1 s prepesals was certainly very «if'f'erent 

f'rGm the 11Reactionist" analysis, represented by Caren 1 s opinions. The 

L&Fontaine group in J.1entreal, rather than attempting te discever seme 

way ef' wresting deuble majority f'rem the Gevernment, were instead mest 

a.nxieus because the Gevemment appeareci to off er double majority. Mere­

ever, they refused to suggest double majerity in a ceunter-effer, al-

though in the first years ef' the Union, they had been ready te deDI.anfi, 

to ferce, responsible gevernmeDt from an unwilling Executive Council. 

They dismissed the idea that the Government in faet really wished to of-

fer the system, although a :rumGUr te this ef.fect was printefi in several 
68 

newspapera at that time. Despite their verbal suppert ef double majer-

67 
P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, LaFontaine to Baldwin, Montreal, April 

11, 1847, vel. 3, p. 73. 
68 

There were many rumeurs which suggested that the Gevernaent was 
prepared te effer double majerity. See Le Canadien, April 16, 1847, 
ci ting the Montreal Trans cri pt, and the Q.lebec Mercury, which as Tory 
papers eould be considered demi-ef'fieial. See alse Le Canadien, April 23, 
eiting anether demi-efficial paper, the Montreal Gazette. Naturally, it 
was the "Reactionist" Canadien which faith.fully reperted all these rum­
eurs, fer it was usually the policy ef' the LaFentaine pres1 to ignore 
that which was diatasteful. The present rumeurs were examples ef' this 
attitude. 
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ity in their press, and even when it seemed to be within their grasp, 

their main cencern was that Caron and net LaFentaine would be blamed. fer 

refusing the effers. In this way they heped that the "Reaction" would 
69 

be end.ed. 

'!be "Reactienists", however, diCil net know the resulta ef the 

Montreal meeting, and so Caron remained eptimistic about his chances ef 

recenstructing the Lewer Canadian Ceuncil. He even appreached the hestile 
70 

LaFontaine, and invited hirn to accept a pert folie. In the meantime, 

befere LaFontaine had a chance te reply, Caren 1 s happy letter te Cayley 

had been receivetl and. discussed by the Gevernment. Lerd. Elgin was eut-

raged. 

Their demande have been censidered unreasenable - anci, I 
think, justly se. They insisted that as a preliminary mea­
sure a member ef the existing Gevernm.ent shoultl be sacrif­
iced, and that they sheuld virtually have the D.omination 
ef four eut ef seven seats in the Ceuncil. As they are, 
even with the assistance of their Upper Canada Allies, ill 
a minerity in the Assembly, such conce"ions could hardly 
have been made te them. with prepriety-

69 
P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, L&Fentaine te Baldwin, Montreal, April 

11, 184 7, vel. 3 , p. 73 • The "Reac ti on" would. be enà.ed, i t was generally 
believeci, if Caron persenally refused the effers, because bis fellewers, 
the "Reactionists 11 , would. net blame their ewn leader fer his actions. 
This weuld in effect reconcile LaFentaine an« Caron. 

70 
P.A.C. LaFontaine Papers, Caron to LaFentaine, April 16, 1S47, 

vol. 7, p. 1325-7. 
71 

DGughty (ed..), The Elgin-Grey Papers 1S46-1S52, Elgin to Grey, 
Montreal, April 26, 1S47, vol. 1, p. 27. The opposition very often acted. 
as if they had. fergotten this peint: that they cemposed o:mly a minority, 
albeit .a large ene, in the Assembly. 
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It was C~ley who broke off the negotiations. The Gevernment bad decided 

not te make persona! exceptions te any French Canadians, and so the French 
72 

Canadians bad no right to demand Daly's "proscription from office •••• ". 

Besides the Daly problem, Caron's insistence on four rather than the pro­
TI 

posed three seats was "tantamount to a rejection of the coalition •••• 11 • 

Caron's answer was that the British of Lower Canada were te be prevideà 

for under his own arrangements, and Daly was net the only person capable 
74 

of protecting their interests. 

72 
Pilet , June 10, 184 7, Cayley to Caron, no date. The persona! 

exceptions, of course, referred to LaFontaine. It is difficult te say 
why the Councillors bad decided not to object to LaFontaine, as they had 
deme in 1845, and again in 1846, and even at the beginning of the 1847 
negotiation. Perhaps they believed that Caron would never consent to in­
vite him to office, and se they could rely en him to keep LaFontaine out; 
perhaps they felt that the negotiation could net succeed without him. 
The third possibility is that they did not want the negotiation te suc­
ceed, but merely wanted to show the public how difficult and impractical 
the French Canadians were to deal with. If that was the case, they made 
themselves seem most liberal by not objecting to any ene individual. 
See below, p. 273, when this theme is taken up by the Lower Canada Con­
servative press. 

73 
Pilot, June 10, 1847, Cayley to Caron, no date. 

74 
ibid., Caron to Cayley, Quebec, May 6, 1847. Caron also replied 

that he agreed with Cayley that the Canadian people wculd be able to see 
for themselves just what the circumstances were when the Gevernment and 
the opposition became involved in negetiations. He implied that the pub­
lic would at once grasp that the Government refused to be liberal and. 
conciliatory enough, and so the opposition in general, and the French 
Canadians in particular, would be cleareè. of ail charges ef obstructing 
the formation of a strong government. Another very significant peint which 
arose in this tail-end of the correspondence was the racial issue: in 
1847, as in 1842, it was considered necessar,r to pravide for the British 
of Lower Canada with an Englishman, whatever political party that Eng­
lishman belonged te. This was neticeable in all the rumours about the 
new government: in association wi.th the French Canadians, an Bbglish 
name was always mentione~. See above p. 251, feotnote 61. 
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The negotiation was finished, and the newspapers were alread;r 

printing the news. Nevertheless, LaFontaine replied to Caron's invit-

ation to office. His health was so bad, he said, that even if Daly had 

been removed from the Council, he would not have accepted office, al-

though he would have supported the Government. 

Au reste, j'ai la certitude que si 1 'on vous avait mis dans la 
position de former une Administration Bas-Canadienne, il vous 
aurait été facile de le faire sans que j'en fisse moi-même 
partie; et quant à la conduite que j'aurais tenue vis-à-vis de 
cette Administration, elle est clairement indiquée dans la 
lettre que je vous écrivis le 10 Septembre 1845.75 

In this tongue-in-cheek letter, LaFontaine, secure in victory, let Caron 

know of his displeasure. At the sarn.e time he emphasized that he had 

personally always been consistent in his conduct, and he implied that 
76 

Caron had not. 
77 

The third and last negotiation was over, 11aborti ve as usual •••• tt 

In 184 7, the press played su ch an active role during the negotiation 
78 

that the press articles were an integral feature of the negotiation. 

75P.A.C. LaFontaine Papers, LaFontaine to Caron, Montreal, April 
19, 1847, vol. 7, p. 1329. 

76 
LaFontaine also meant to emphasize that in tact Caron had ~ 

been able to form an administration without him. 

77
Pilot, Aug. 28, 1846, cites Montreal Gazette; see also Globe, 

April 17, 184 7, ci tes Hamilton Snectator. The first article re fers to 
the tirst two negotiations only. 

78 
As Morin, Chauveau and LaFontaine had all mentioned during the 

course of the negotiation. See P.A.C. Chauveau Papers, L.H. LaFontaine 
to Cauchon, Montreal, April 2, 1847, p. 121-133; ~·, Chauveau to 
Morin, Quebec, March 27, 1847, p. 86. This letter is not signed but in­
ternal evidence proves it to be from Chauveau. See also p. 246-7. 
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The themes which were emphasized by the press reveal even more plainly 

than the manoeuvring what the real interests, polieies and purposes of 

eaeh group were. These articles were written both during and after the 

negotiation; they inelude both journalistic attempts to influence the 

course of the negotiation, and reactions to its failure. 

The almost desperate tone of the "Reactionist" press, and the 

lack of that caution which had previously characterized the entire French-

Canadian press, may be e:xplained by the fact that the negotiation was 

correctly asswmed to be the very last opportunity to resolve the con-

flicts between the various political factions. These factions also re-

alized that the consequences of the negotiatioo 's outcome would be ir-

revocable. It was the last battle in the war. 

The 11Reaetionist 11 press, hitherto repreaented by the Canadien, 

was reinforeed by the Gazette des Trois-Rivières, edited by the young 
79 

"Reactionist 11 , Joseph Edouard Turcotte. "Nous devons dire, une fois 

pour toutes, que la question qui nous occupe maintenant est pour le pays 

de la haute importance, et que de sa solution dépend l'avenir des Canad-
80 

iens-français 11 , warned the 11Reactionists 11 • "La question" was, of course, 

79 
For commenta on Turcotte see above p. 155; see also Le Canadien, 

March 29, 1847; Pilet, April 20, 1847. 
80 

Le Canadien, March 29, 1847; see also La Minerve, April 5, 1847, 
cites Le Canadien; Le Journal de Québec, April 10, 1847, cites Le Can­
adien; Le Canadien, April 12, 1847; ibid., April 2, 1847, cites La Gazette 

c -des Trois-Rivieres, Mareh 29, 1847: "C'est l'heure de combattre avec 
l'arme qui reste, 
Et de défendre au moins de la voix et du geste, 
Rome, les Dieux, la Liberté. 11 
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the negotiation. The "Reactionists" insisted that it was based on double 

~ A 

majority, and was not intended merely to form a replatrage, because 

the of fers were made not to a political party, but to the political arm 
82 

of a race. This Freneh-Canadian party, wh ose existence the LaFontaine 
S3 

press denied, had aecepted office in 1842 as French Canad~s, the 

"Reaetionists 11 emphasized, after negotiations with Draper 1s Gover:nment 
84 

1-lhich had been in exactly the same position in 1842 as it was in 1847. 
85 

Lord Elgin, con:mented the 11Reactionists 11 , recognized this party, and 

its existence provided the sole explanation for Canada 1s fundamental 

duality: dual law codes; judicial, educational, agricultural and munie-

ipal systems; duplicated Cabinet f'unctions; and professional separation 
86 

in everything from medicine to law to midwi very. 

The "Reactionist" press believed that the LaFontaine partisans 

denied the existence of the French-Canadian party merely because of their 
87 

alliance wi th the P.hg1ish Reformera. This alliance wa.s based on the 

81 
Le Canadien, Aprill6, 23, 1847. 

82 
ibid., April 2, 1847. 

83-
lli!!· , April 12, 184 7. 

84 
ibid. , March 29 , April 2, 184 7. 

85 
ibid., April 12, 1847. 

86-
i!?!f!.., March)l, 1847; see also 12!s!.,April2, 1847, cites~ 

Gazette des Trois-Rivieres, March 29, 184 7. 
87 

Le Canadien, April 12, 16, 1847; see alse ibid., March 29, 
1847, cites La Gazette des Trois-Rivi~res, March 20, 1847; Le Canadien, 
April 2, 1847, cites La Gazette des Trois-Rivières, March 29, 1847. 



259 

idea that Canada should be governed by responsible, or party government: 

C'est-à-dire le gouvernement ou l'oppression de la minorité 
par la majorité, suivant que le parti dominant par le nombre 
est d'humeur à se contenteg

8
de la simple domination ou veut 

y ajouter l'oppression •••• 

Government by party involved the accession to power of Baldwin and the 
89 

Upper Canada Reformera, and the Lower Canadian Ehglish Reformera. The 

spokesman for both these groups, the ttReactionists" noted, was Francis 
90 

Hincks of the Pilot. Yet to the 11Reactionists", the French-Canadian al-

liance with the Reformers of Upper Canada was the only serious problem. 

This was because they were Ehglish, while according to "Reactionist" 

definition, the English Reformera of Lower Canada represented French-

Canadia.n constituenc:l.es, and were therefore "politiquement parlant" 
91 

French Cana di ans. 

The "Reactionists" therefore levelled their attacks only on the 

Ehglish Refonners of Upper Canada. Specifically, they attacked Hincks, 
92 

who was the spokesman for this group. Hincks, they claimed, had been 

88 
Le Ca.nadien, March 31, 1847. Again Macdonald showed his lack 

of understanding of party government • 
S9 

~bid., April 2, 1847; see also ~., cites La Gazette des 
Trois-Rivieres, March 29, 1847; Le Canadien, March 29, 1847, cites La 
Gazette des Trois-Rivières, l-!arch 20, 1847. -

90 
Le Canadien, March 31, April 2, 7, 12, 184 7. 

91 
!!?.!!!•• April2, 1847. Such menwere: Leslie, De Witt, Nelson, 

Drwmnond , Armstrong, A,v lwin. 
92 

Le Canadien, May 5, 1847. On the day his "resignation" was 
announced, Macdonald entitled his last article "Adieux au Pilot", which 
was the most bitter of all his attacks against Hincks. 
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favourable to the Union of the Canadas • and had only partieipated in the 

"double majority" governmental arrangements of 1842 with a view 

d'obtenir la ratification volontaire du contrat et la consum­
mation du mariage. Ce but une fois atteint, il ne pense plus 
qu'à exploiter la eommunaut~ dans l'intérêt du parti politique 
auquel il appartient. 93 

In "Reactionisttt opinion, Hineks had always hated F:rench-Canadian racial 

unit y, and double majority, be cause onl.y the F:rench-Canadian alliance 
94 

with the Reformera would keep him politically influential. However, 

the "Reactionists" declared, they were astonished that he had hypnotized 

the French Canadians into agreeing with him. 

EXISTE-T-IL UN PARTI CANADIEN-FRANCAIS? - Nonl s'écrie le jour­
nal de M. Hincks; et la Revue Canadienne, la Minerve, et le 
Joumal de Qllébec, ses échos, de répeter: NONl NONl NCIH il 
n'existe plus, le parti canadien-franqais, depuis que nous som­
mes ligués avec M. Hincks les liberaux d'une autre origine, 
dont M. Hincks est l'organe •••• 95 

93 
ibid. , April 7, 184 7; see also ibid., April 23, 184 7. 

94 
ibid., April 14, 1847, cites Qlebec Mercury. To which the Up-

per Canada Reformera replied: "If the double majority seheme ••• be tried 
as an experiment, we should be apt to cry - "Oh the Peor Lower Canada 
Tories"! "PMr Mo:ffatt! Poor DeBleury!" - see Pilot, April 16, 1847. 
Under double majority, "the Lewer Canadian Tories are all offered in a 
lot to the Liberale - as Mr. Bumble would say, dirt cheap .... " See 
Globe, April 17, 184 7. 

95Le Canadien, April 12, 1847. Hincks credited the authorship ef 
this article to Jacques Crémazie, Parent' s "tool". See Pilot, April 20, 
1847. See also Le Canadien, March 29, 184 7, cites La. Gazette des Trois­
Rivières, March 20, 184 7. Tureotte said that the La.Fontaine-Re:fo:rm al­
lies would say that French Canada was represented b,y the names Baldwin, 
LaFontaine, Hincks, Morin, and b,y the Pilot, the Minerve, and the Revue 
Canadienne. 
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According to their 11Reactionist 11 foes, the LaFontaine po1iticians, by 

rejecting double majority, sacrificed their nation to the ambitions of 
96 

one man: Francis Hincks. The "Reactionists" lamented sadly about this 

rejection of double majority, for they were certain that two governments 
97 

were better than one for two peoples, and equally certain that double 

majority wou1d have given the French Canadians gua.rantees for their in-

stitutions and interests, such as the Ehglish already had in the Act of 

98 
Union. 

The "Reactionists" also touched upon the nature of their own 

political movement, the "Reaction". It was nothing but a return to the 
99 

double majority principles of the 1842 Baldwin-LaFontaine Government, 
100 

principles which they claimed LaFontaine had abandoned in 1847. He 

had made flimsy excuses about his reasons for rejecting Elgin's propesals, 

th~ commented, adding that the nation that he sacrificed cared not at 

al1 whether it was correct etiquette to consult LaFontaine rather than 

Morin, or whether it was Baldwin or Draper who headed the Upper Canadian 
101 

section of the Counci1. The 11Reactionist" press conc1uded that as a 

96 
Le Canadien, April 23, 1847. 

97. 
1bid., April 7, 1847. 

98 
ibid., April 28, 1847. 

99 
~., May 5, 1847. 

100 
La Revue Canadienne, March 26, 1847, cites La Gazette des 

Trois-Rivières. 
101 

Le Canadien,, March 29, 1847, cites La Gazette des Trois-Riv-
ières, March 20, 1847. 
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result of LaFontaine r s policies, only one hope rema:ined for the French 

Canadians: 

RAPPEL DE L1UNION •••• L'Union a fait de Montréal la capitale du 
Canada. Mais nous soutenir (sic) qu 1il n'y a plus de parti can­
adien-français? nous pouvons prédire sans crainte que d'ici à 
bien long-temps cette doctriB2 ne fera pas fortune, au moins 
dans le district de Qlébec. -

j 

The LaFontaine men had rejected three governmental proposals because of 

their alliance w.i.th Englishm.en, which to the "Reactionists" proved that 

they cared nothing for their nationality. They should, despaired the 

Canadien, convince their people to erect on the front of the st. Jean 

Baptiste Society building an inscription reading "A la memoire de la 

103 
nationalité franco-canadienne morte en 184 7." 

In its final struggle, the "Reactionisttt press had made clear its 

purposes: to strengthen French-Ga.nadian raciSIIl in poli tics; to use the 

French-Ca.nadia.n party to implement double majority à la "Reaction"; to 

rid itself of Montreal's and LaFontaine's political leadership; to cling 

to double majority as a guarantee of constant power for the French Ca.n-

adians. The corollaries of this policy were to end the Reform alliance, 

government by party and the simple majority, and the consequences of 

the Union. The united Reform press opposed all these aims, and scorned 

all the arguments produced by the defeated "Reactionists 11 • These editors, 

102 
Le Canadien, April 23, 1847; see also ibid., April 7, 12, 

1847; ill!•, April 7, 1847, cites La Gazette des Tr9I's-Rivières; for 
remarks em anti-Union sentiments, and the District rivalry of Que bec 
and Three Ri vers against Montreal, see Le Canadien, March 29, 184 7, 
citing La Gazette des Trois-Rivières, March 20, 1847. 

103 
Le Canadien, April 12, 1847. 
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now as certain of victory as the 11Reactionists 11 were of defeat, no long-

er attempted to disguise their position so carefully, although some of 

the more prudent editors maintained a position consistent with their 

articles of previous years. 

The Minerve took the first plunge: nNous ne nous arrogerons pas 

comme journaliste la mission de l'accepter ou de rejeter au nom de nos 
104 

compatriotes ••• le principe des deux ma,jori tés •••• ". Cauchon in his 

Journal de Québec added that double majority was a "système pour lequel 
105 

nous avons dès longtemps avoué nos répugnances •••• 11 • It soon became 

evident, however, that these admissions were too dangerous and premature, 

so the LaFontaine press modified its remarks to mean that double majority 

was the least acceptable offer, and if it were offered, it would be ~-
106 

sidered. The version had to be their own, however, not the "place-
107 

seeking" version of the "Reactionists". Once again, the LaFontaine 

10
\e Canadien, March 31, 1847, cites La Minerve. 

105
Le Journal de Québec, March 2.3, 1847. 

106 
Le Canadien, April 23, 1847, cites La Minerve; see also ~ 

Canadien, }fa.rch 31, 1847, cites La Ydnerve; Le Journal de Québec, March 23, 
1847; La Revue Canadienne, March 26, 1847; ~' April 9, 1$47; Le Can­
adien, April 23, 184 7, ci tes Pilot, in which Hinck s claimed th at Morin 
and La.Fontaine were disposed to accept double majori ty, which Caron had 
made the touchstone of the Government • s sinceri ty. 

107 
Le Journal de Québec, April 10, 1$47, cites La Minerve; see 

also Le Journal de Québec, March 30, April 1, April 3, 184 7. In the 1845 
negotiation, LaFontaine had called the 11Reactionist" double majority a 
system of "place-seeking11 : see Q2ebec Gazette, April 13, 1846, LaFontaine 
to Caron, Montreal, Sept. 10, 1845, and he had not since changed his mind. 
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editors attempted to show that the Canadien did not really support or 
lOS 

even understand double majority. 

The Reform press as a whole made it clear that no offer, double 

maj ority or otherwise, would be accepted on the basis of national orig-
109 

in. The French-Canadian party did not exist; merely, French Canadians 

were members of a united Reform party, and racial origin applied te pol­
llO 

itics waa a diagusting concept to the Reformera of both sections. 

Indeed, the Reformera exclaimed, to form a French-Canadian party, "l~ 1 est-

ce pas là conseiller évidemment une démarche suicide! N1est-ce pas de­
lll 

mander notre ruine complète!" Therefore, they said, the Montrealers 

had been very wise to refuse the Elgin of fers, be cause they excluded 

lOS 
Le Journal de Q.lébec, April 3, 1847, cites La Minerve; see 

alse Le Canadien, March 29, 184 7, cites Le Journal. de Q.lébec; Le Journal 
de Qlébec, March 27, 1S47, in which Cauchon insisted that any French 
Canadian who accepted an offer which was not double majority, but which 
had as a criterion racial origin as a test for political office, would 
renounce all principles and also his party. Cauchon apparently considere« 
this point so significant that he printed it in enormous typescript, us­
ually reserved for headlines. See also Le Journal de Cflébec, April 24, 
1847, cites La Revue Canadienne; Le Canadien, April 5, 1847, cites the 
Pilot. 

109 
Le Canadien, April 5, 1847, cites La. Minerve; see also Le 

Journal de Québec, April 8, 1847; La Revue Canadie:r:me, March 23, 26, 
April 2, 1847; ~. March 16, 1847, in which Hincks said that national 
origin in poli tics was "fiendish"; Pilot, April 9, 1847; Globe, April 
7, 1847, endorsing Hincks' articles against making national origin a test 
for politica1 office. 

110 
Le Canadiep, April 5, 1847, cites La Minerve; Le Journal de 

Québec, AprillO, 1847, cites La Minerve, April 5, 1847; Le Journal de 
ÇPébec, April 3, 17, 184 7; La Revue Canadie:r:me, April 2, 1S4 7; Pilot, 
March 16, 1847. 

111 
Le Journal de 9lébec, April 10, 1847, cites La Minerve, April 

5, 1847. 
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112 
the English Refonners of Lower Canada. Mocked Francis Hincks, even 

the nationalistic 

Canadien has discovered that it will not do to abandon the Re­
fermera of British origin in Lower Canada, and he therefore de-
clares that "politically speaking" they are al1 French Canadians. 113 
The term French Canadian, therefore, is a political designation •••• 

The Upper Canada Refor.mers were quick to point out that under 
114 

double majority they too " in fact, would have been completely sold." 

However, the LaFontaine press insisted that the "Reactionists" lied in 

saying that the Montreal leaders had made commitments to the Baldwinites 
115 

which precluded their acceptance of office without them. And they 

defended Baldwin: 

Di.d he after Mr. Lafontaine had been cheated into an avowal of 
sentiments, calculated to injure him with the only party in 
Upper Canada that has ever stood b.Y the Lower Cana~!iber~­
did he, we say, or his friends, make any complaint? 

It was not, they said, the Upper Canada Reformera who prevented the im-

plementation of double major.ity. The Reformera were in fact not "inclined 

to blame those who were willing to try the experiment of the peculiar 

112 
Le Canadien, March 31, 1847, cites La Minerve; see also Le 

Journal de Québec, April 3, 1847. 
113 

Pilot, April 6, 1847. This was true; see the Canadien 1s first 
double majority articles, p. 111-112 above. 

114 
Examiner, June 16, 1847. 

115 
Le Canadiep, March 31, 1847, cites La Minerve; see also ~' 

March 30, 1847; P.A.C. Chauveau Papers, Morin to Chauveau, Montreal, 
March 29, 1847, p. 99-103. 

116 
Pilot, March 30, 1S47. This refers to the 1845 negotiation, 

when the letters were read in the Assembly, and the Upper Canada Reform­
era first heard of LaFontaine 's "double majority" let ter to Caron of 
September 10, 1845. 
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coalition known as the double majority." Nonetheless, the Ehglish 

Reformera of both sections made it clear that no Englishman could be 
llS 
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expected to support double majority, which to them was separatism, 
119 

and totally unprincipled. 

Despite their opposition to double majority, the Refor.mers of 

English origin pointed out that the Upper Canada Conservatives were the 

real obstacles to the implementation or the system. '~. Draper gardait 

le système des deux majorités depuis deux ans dans son museum d'anti­

quités, au nombre des curiosités les plus intéresssantes (sic)", and 

"The "double majority" system is not a recognized principle of govern-

ment, and cannot be, unless the Upper Canada Conservative party give it 
120 

their support , which they have not done up to this moment." The Re-

formers believed that a mere coalition or replâtrage had been offered, 

which would divide the opposition, and maintain the feeble Conservatives 
121 

in power. 

117 
Pilot, June 12, 1847; see also ibid., April 2, 20, 1847. 

us 
ill!!,. , Mar ch 30, 184 7. 

119 
Le Canadien, April 7, 1847, cites~; ~' April 2, 1847; 

Globe, March 17, 1S47. 
120 

Le Journal de Qaébec, April 3, 1847, cites La Minerve; second 
quote is from Pilot, April 9, 1S47. See also Le Journal de Québec, Ma.rch 
23, 1S47; Pilot, March 30, 1S47; Le Journal de Qlébec, April 10, 1847, 
citing La Minerve, April 5, 1847; Pilot, April 2, 20, 1847; Globe, April 
17, 1S47. 

121 
La Rewe Canadienne, March 23, 1847; Pilot, March 16, 23, 

1S4 7; Globe, March 10, 1S4 7; Examiner, March 17, 184 7. 



They complain like blubbering boys of that mischievous oppos­
ition which makes faces at them, which shakes its fist at them, 
they pray their papa to put an end to all this ••• they go about 
knocking at all doors, supplicating charity ever,y where until 
they shall find some one willing to assist in dri~~g away this 
rascally opposition which frightens them so much. 

2.67 

However, 11papa 11 Elgin did not want to aid them by offering double major-

ity, insisted the Reformera, for he had not mentioned it, and it was 

certainly not up to the opposition to make suggestions when they were 
12.3 

requested. The Government had merely appeared to off er double majority, 

and one Refor.m editor wrote caustical)y: 

Mr. Caron may tell his friends - "Oh the double majority cannot 
be formally adm.itted, but it is tacitly understood between the 
Dodger and me that it will be acted on." The Dodger on the other 
hand may tell Mr. Mof.fatt - "Oh, my dear sir, rely on it I would 
never abandon the Lower Canada Conservatives; don 1t believe a 
word of it. I have only brought in two or three more decoy ~~ks 
as I did Viger and Papineau. We must humbug these Frenchm.en. 4 

The Re.form press did not neg1ect personalities any more than it 

had in previous negotiations. M0rin 1 s behaviour was defended as constit-
12.5 

utionally correct, although one of the Upper Canada Refor.m papers made 

the embarrassing mistake of attributing the refUsal of the offers not to 
126 

Morin, but to "the firmness and patriotism of Y:r. LaFontaine." In 

12.2. 
Pilot, J.iarch 30, 1847, cites Le Journal de Québec. 

123 
Because Draper had never answered LaFonta:ine 's ideas which 

Caron had corrmunicated to him in 1845. See Le Journal de Québec, April 
3 , 184 7, ci tes La Minerve; La Rewe Canadienne , March 26, 184 7; Pilot 
March 30, April 2, 1847. 

12~ot , April 16, 184 7; see also footnote 123, p. 267. 
125Le Journal de Québec, April 3, 1847, cites La Minerve; see 

also Le Jwrnal de Québec, April 10, 1847, cites La Minerve, April 5, 
1847; Le Journal de Québec, March 27, April 8, 1847; La Rewe Canadienne, 
March 23i 184 7; Pilet, Mar ch 23 , 184 7. 

2.6 
Globe, March 10, 184 7. 



Lower Canada, the .fa ct that LaFontaine had always been ignored in the 
127 

negotiations was again noted. Caran's ine.f.fective politicking was 
128 

mocked. Hincks alone .foresaw that it was more politic to treat Caron 

as an errant child rather than as a rene gade politician, although he could 

not resist remarking that the Canadians were so aristocratie that "none 

but a Legislative Councillor can be thought o.f •••• This is another !!!,-
129 

provement on British practice. 11 The "Reactionists n were also attacked 

through their newspapers. Neither the Canadien nor the Gazette des Trois-

Rivières was spared at all: "Nous connaissons des petits enfants qui ne 

vont encore à l'école, et qui, pris de court, auraient trouvé le moyen 

de .faire une aussi bonne réponse", was Cauchon 1 s spite.ful conunent on a 
1.30 

Canadien article. The Canadien was not only stupid, but a traitor, a 
1.31 

vendu, and a Tory, while the Gazette was a "nouvel Arnold". 

The LaFontaine press took the opportunity to rede.fine the basis 

o.f the 1842 Government, and in so doing to destroy the 1842 "double maj­

ority" myth which it had previously supnorted. "Il n'agissait pas à 

cette époque du système de gouverner par le moyen des majorités respec-

tives": this was the .first denial o.f the claim that LaFontaine had in-

vented double majority in 1842, and then governed and even resigned in 

127 
Pilot, March 16, 1847; see also Le Journal de Québec, March 

23, 1847; Pilot, March 23, 1847. 
128

Le Journal de Q.lébec, March 27, .30, April 8, 1847. 
129

Pilot, Apri1 13, 1847. 
1.30 

Le Journal de 9lébec, April 1, 184 7. 
131 

La Revue Canadienne, March 26, April 9, 1847. 
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132 
accorda:nce wi th the principle. For the first time it seemed safe to 

rnake such an admission. 11Ce qui arriva en 1842 arrivera encore si nous 
133 

savons attendre et rester unis." And this was not double majority; it 

was the accession to power of the Reform party. 

An issue of great importance to the English Reformera was the 

unconstitutionality of the negotiation, and of the Draper Government's 
134 

refusal to resign. In order to further discourage their Lower Canada 

allies frcrn accepting office with Draper, the Eng1ish Reformera also 

pointed out that the Draper Government, "that motley crew which run (sic) 

the :t-1etcalfe vesse1 aground", was willing to provide properly for the 

Eng1ish Councillors, whereas the French Councillors were mere1y to be 
135 

fired. The whole point of the negotiation had not been double majority 

but 11she1ving work" to replace the "soiled French cards ... •" and an at-

tempt to convince other French Canadians to enter the "no-Principle Cab-

inet ••• on the doors of that retreat are inscribed, "Who enters here, 
136 

1eaves hope behind."" 

132 
Le Journal de Qlébec, April 10, 1847, cites La l.fi.nerve, April 

5, 1847; see also Pilot, !Larch 26, 1847. 
133 

La Revue Canadienne, April 9, 1847. 
134

Globe, April 17, 1847; see also Examiner, }fa.rch 17, 1847; 
Pilot, March 16, 23, 26, April 2, 9, 13, June 12, 1847. 

135 
Globe, Ma.rch 17, 184 7; see · also ~. , Mar ch 10, April 24, 

1847; Examiner, April 17, 184 7; Pilot, April 20, 184 7. 
136 

Globe, March 17, 1847; also ~., March 10, April 24, 1847. 
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These Upper Canada allies also warned the French Canadians about 

the evils of double majority: 

Let us further suppose that the "Dodger" should succeed in in­
vol ving the French Cana di. ans in a quarrel wi th the Upper Can­
adian, ay and the Lower Canadian liberale of British origin, 
what would then be the position of the former? Committed to a 
the oey which would obviously be impracticable, if opposed by 
the entire British population of Unittd Canada, they would just­
ly be the objecta of universal scorn. 37 

The scern poured forth on any French Canadians wishing either to accept 

double majority or the Elgin proposals was followed by demanda for the 

resignation of the Government, at ~ich time the Refo:nners would form a 
138 

truly responsible government. 

Even the renegade Reformer, John Neilson, dismissed double maj-

ori ty. It was to him a "!ancy of sorne of tho se who fancied that they 

could have, in a Province of a Monarchy, a Government of the local maj-
139 

ority, an independant state in a dependency of a great &pire •••• 11 He 

believed that the separate French-Canadian state resulting from double 

majority weuld break dawn within one year, for it would be attacked by 

the United States. Also, the representatives from both sections "could 

not be prevented from voting on every question", even sectional ones. 

French Ganadians had tut one hope , Neilson concluded gloomily and con-
140 

stitutionally: to trust to their Sovereign to dispense justice. 

137 
Pilot, Mareh 30, 1847. 

138 ill!!,., Aprill6, 1847; see also Globe, April 17, 1847; ~-
~~ Mareh 17, 1847. 

139 Ga .1 d Qlebec zette, Apr1.. 5, lo47. 
140 

ibid. -
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All English Reformera came out strongly against double majority, 

as Macdonald of the Canadien noted unhappily, especially the influential 

Hincks and Neilson, who: 

Placés dos à dos, partent en sens apposés; mais au lieu de suivre 
la ligne droite, ils décrivent chacun une courbe formant un demi­
cercle, au bout de laquelle ils se rencontrent face à face et se 
donnent 1~~ en disant tous deux anathème au système des deux 
majorités. 

The Conservative press of both sections reflected the disorgan-

ization of their Government. The Upper Canada Conservatives seemed to 

agree that double majority bad been offered to the French Canadians, who 
142 

had nevertheless been right to refUse the offers. Nevertheless, the 

Conservatives believed that the negotiations were as wrong in 1847 as 

th~ had been in 1842, and they felt that the whole affair was nothing 

but a horrible humiliation to the Conservatives, although the.y continued 

to support double majority as a temporary expedient to use until the 

French Canadians were assimilated.
143 

"A conservative administration had 

evidently determined to sacrifice the Conservative party. This fact is 
144 

self-evident." This sentiment is representative of the entire Upper 

Canadian Conservative press. 

The Lower Canada Tories were unanimous about very little. They 

141 
Le Canadien, April 7, 184 7. 

142 
ibid., April 30, 1847, cites Kingston News; see also Globe, 

April 17, 1847, cites Hamilton §pectator. 
143 

Le Canadien, April 30, 184 7, cites Kingston News. 
144 

Globe, April 17, 1847, cites Hamilton Spectator. 
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did agree with the "Reactionists" that a French-Canadian party, an 11over-

bearing and intolerable" one, existed. Nor could they understand why any 

French Canadian denied i ts existence, and one editer wrote that: 

We have puzzled our brain, but without success, to discover what 
there is so very inept in the idea that Lord Elgin seemed to 
have entertained, that the French party would find it disagree­
able to be invited to take office.145 

furing the actual negotiation, the Lower Cana.dian Tories had re-

frained from committing themselves much, but as soon as the failure was 

confirmed, they began to attack double majority, since it apparent~ meant 

the removal from office of their own special representatives, Smith and 
146 

Daly. Double majority had been offered, they said, but th~ despised 
147 

the system which "in all its naked deformity" was "profoundly immoral". 

The Elgin offers had been refused because LaFontaine, Whom they loathed, 

wanted all or nothing, and this they defined as 11nothing short of absolute 
148 

and uncontested supremacy •••• " They added that LaFontaine 1s dream was 

to impose Baldwin, Sullivan and Hincks on the unwilling Upper Canadian 

March 
145B •t• h r~ ~s 

9, 1S47; see 
146 

Pilot, 

Colonist, April 2, 1S47, cites Montreal Gazette, 
also Pilot, March 30, 1847, cites Montreal Gazette. 

April 2, 20, 1847. 
147

Pilot, April 16, 1847, cites Montreal Herald and Montreal 
Gazette; see also Pilot, March 30, 1847, cites Montreal Gazette; Pilot, 
April 2, 1847, argues against and cites Lower Canadian Ministerial press; 
Le Canadien, April 14, 16, 1847, cites Quebec Mercury: "Ce serait 1 •an­
néantissernent virtuel de l'acte d'union des deux provinces." 

148 
Pilot, March 26, 184 7, ci tes Montreal Gazette. 
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ma.jority. 
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The Tories insisted that LaFontaine's arrogance had led him to 

believe that no government could function without him, and that this in 

turn caused him to sacrifice his entire nation to his own idea of "his 
150 

personal importance and dignity. 11 This was not all he had done, for 

according to the Tories he had set "his mouth-piece to menace and cry 

d.own, with every vulgar imputation of ignorance, ill-breeding and un-

constitutionality, a nobleman who, if he have sinned, has sinned in ex-

cess of kindness to the race. 11 Added one Tory editor viciously: 

It would be better principle, better manners, more manly alto­
gether, if the head of the French Canadians would admit that 
he is in spiritual fetters to Mr. Baldwin for the remainder of 
his life, that th~ are the Siamese twins, inseparable, and we 
might add- 151 

"sure such a pair were never seen. 11 

However, warned the Tories, LaFontaine had had his last chance, for 

Draper was obviously going to have to forget 11buying off the impract-
152 

icables •••• " In fact, the Govemment would either have to resign, or 
153 

find someone to replace Draper, 'Who had betrayed his party. 'Ibis was 

149
British Celonist, April 2, 1847, cites lfontreal Gazette, March 

9, 1847; Pilot, March 16, 1847, cites Montreal Times, March 12, 1847; 
Le Canadien, March 15, 1847, cites Montreal Times. 

150 
Pilot, March 23, 1847, cites Montreal Times. 

151 
British Colonist, April 2, 1847, cites Montreal Gazette, 

March 9, 1847. 
152 

Pilot , March 26, 184 7, ci tes Montreal Courrier. 
153 
~·; see also Pilot, March 26, 1847, cites Montreal Trans-

cri pt, March 25, 1847; also Upper Canadian Hamilton Spectator, cited 
by the Pilot in the same issue. 
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the Tories ' final word. 

The 1847 negotiation was almost a repetition of its 1845 predec­

essor, although it was canducted on a far more intensified level, es­

pecially in the newspapers. The circumstances of Canadian politics were 

not much different in the Elgin era than they had been in the post-resig­

nation Metcalfe period. However, by 1847 the issues were more sharply 

defined; the principals experienced; the ccnfiicts more bitter; and the 

out come was considered to be irrevocable. The most important feature of 

the negotiation was the purposeful imposition of double majority as the 

great issue, although it is clear from the analysis of the negetiation 

and the press articles that the real issue was power; how that power was 

going to be obtained; and who was going to ebtain it. 

By 1847 the LaFontaine partisans had virtually commi.tted them­

selves to remaining in opposition until the ferthcorning elections. They 

had reaffirmed the:ir alliance w:ith the Upper Canadian .Reformera, who al­

ternately encouraged th an to denounce double majority, and warned them 

about the evils of the s;ystem. Mereever, LaFonta.ine ha.d net been persen­

ally approached, his rivale had, and if the negotia.ti~m had succeeded, it 

would have ended the Reform alliance. LaFonta.ine therefere brwght up 

the double majority issue, but instead of trying to force the Government 

to concede the principle, as he had deme with resp:>nsible government, he 

attempted to prcve that it had not been offered. He acted as if he did not 

want double ma.jority te be offered, particularly if he were not the recip­

iert ef the of fer. His friend Mer in acted the same wq, and was, moreever, 
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greatly influenced in this by both La Fontaine and the omnipresent Hincks. 

Morin's initial rejection of the offers bad been based on grounds Which 

precluded the acceptance of any version of double majority, for which he 

showed, and indeed admitted, a fundamental aversion. 

This conclusion is proved beyond doubt by the whole tone of the 

LaFontaine press, which more than ever followed Hincks 1 lea.d, often 

referring its critics to Pilot articles, and quoting Hincks 1 commenta 

endlessly. The anti-racism of these articles, the insistence on main­

taining ties with the English Reformera of Lower Canada, were admissions 

of dislike for double ma,jority. Equally significant was the destruction 

of the myth that 1842 had been the first double ma,iority year, in which 

LaFontaine had governed according to the ~stem which he had invented. 

Having held out for two negotiatioœ , the LaFontaine party was obvious­

ly determined not to weaken during the third, when electoral victory 

and a united Refonn government were so near to band. 

The "Reactionists", however, had alienated themselves from the 

Reform alliance, and hoped to gain power before the Reform alliance 

could do so. They were infiuenced by What they regarded as the sacrif­

ice of French Canada b,y the District of Montreal leaders, specifically 

LaFontaine, whom they accused of consistently defying popular Q.lebec 

opinion by accepting the Union, resigning from Qffice over the issue of 

party government, and by refusing to accept the various ~overnmental 

offers. As usual, the District rivalry was associated with the leader­

ship issue. In order to gain immediate power for their own leadership 
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contenders, the "Reactionists" were prepared to compromise their version 

of double majority, and to aecept what was in effect little more than a 

replâtrage, although they continued to call it double majority. Had they 

been successfUl, and gained power in this way, the whole issue ef the 

nature of Upper Canada-Lower Canada alliances would have become a dead 

issue, because under double majority auch alliances would be automatic 

between the two sectional majorities. This would have solved the preb-

lems entailed by the ttReactionist" antagonism towards the Upper Canada 

Reformera in particular, and the Reform alliance in general. There was 

also the fact that double ma,jority, even the modified 11Reactionist" 

version, would have guaranteed uninterrupted power for the French Can-

adians for as long as they maintained a population larger than their 

Ehglish countrymen in Lower Canada. For all these reasons, the ttReact-

ionists" wanted desperately to see the negotiation succeed. 

It is difficult to say whether or not the Government wanted it 

to succeed. Certain men, su ch as Cayley, did; others hoped to be gi ven 
154 

sinecures in return for resigning in favour of the French Canadians; 

still others wanted the public to see how hopelessly demanding the French 

154 
Many of the Councillors bad offered to resign: see Doughty 

( ed.), The Elgin-Grey Pa pers lSH-6-1852, Elgin to Grey, Feb. 19, 184 7, 
enclosed in letter from Elgin to Grey, Monklands, Feb. 24, 1847, vol. 1, 
p. 19. The Upper Canada Reformera claimed that the only Councillors 
who wanted the negotiation to succeed were those who wanted to resign 
in order to secure a "snug berth" and places "of safety and emolument" 
in return for the uncertainties of politieal life. Bee Examiner, April 
7, June 16, 1847. 
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Canaclians were when they re.rused tc accept the tems effered to them by 

the Govermnent to whieh they were in opposition 1 Elgin himself ex:plained 

that 

My principal object in making these overtures was not the 
fonnation of a mixed administration (however desirable a 
modification of existing parties mig!55be) but to shew the 
French that I do not distrust them -

Guided by such men as Draper, Papineau and Parent, Elgin had con-

ducted the negotiation so that the "Reactionists" were made recognized 

principals. This policy was a great success, and for a while the "Reac-

tion 11 was sc fertified that the negotiation was a.lmost effected. Morin '• 

muddling did the Governma1t no end of good, as did the change of alleg-

iance from LaFontaine to Caron ef such influential politicians as Ayl-

win. Many unrelated factors contributed to the ultimate defeat: Draper'• 

attacks en Caron, who needed support; Kl..gin 's neglect of Caron whom he 

did not interview as he had Morin and Taché; Papineau's unconcern er 

disgust wi.th the whole affair; and above ail, the manoeuvres of the 

La.Fontaine politicians. 

Dominick Daly was made the issue once ae;ain as he had been in 

1845; it was said that if he remained in office, double majorit:r was 

impessible. Cauchon had forced the "Reactionists" to agree with him, 

and to bow to this condition. Kl..gin refused to accept it. "To place a 

person particularly obnoxious to an influential party in such a situa-

tion as this, in order to put him beyond the reach of Parliam.entary con-

155 
Doughty ( ed.), The Elgin-Grey Papera 1846-1852, Elgin te Grey, 

Montreal , April 26, 184 7, vol. 1, p. 28. 
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156 
trol, would seem to be very questionable Pelicy .-" Ostensibly over 

Daly, the negotiation was broken off. As LaFontaine had hoped, Caron 

and the "Reactionists" were .f'orced te take the responsibility fer the 
157 

refusal, and in this way the "Reaction" was ended. 

Notre position sera plus forte, nous serons un parti uni, M. 
Caron sera avec nous, le Canadien changé de mains prêchera 
sans doute les bonnes doctrines, et les réactionnaires essai­
eront s'ils osent de .f'aire du replâtrage •••• Je ne veis pas 
quelle objection il pourray avoir.à continuer la bonne in­
telligence avec M. Caron, qui a eu le mérite de faire pré­
~iser la pos~tio~~8et dont J'ai été tout à fait satisfait 
a notre réun~on. ~ 

Morin wrote happily, When he heard the news of the negoti~tion'a fail-

ure. 

LaFontaine was the victor. He knew that Caron would have te re-

turn penitently to the .f'old, but that was not quite enougb. HopefUll:r 

he w~uld also lose his job as Speaker of the Legislative Ceuncil. This, 

LaFontaine inform.ed Baldwin, would be excellent, for then the remnants 

of "Reactionist" feeling would be destroyed by the revelation that the 
159 

Government hoped to ruin French Canada. LaFontaine's wish came true, 

156 
ibid.' p. 27-28. 

157 P. A. C • Baldwin Papers , LaFontaine to Baldwin, Montreal, April 
21, 1847, vol. 4, p. 797-8. 

158 
P.A.C. Chauveau Papers, Morin to Chauveau, Montreal, April 17, 

1847, p. 150-1. 
159 

P .A. C. Baldwin Papers, LaFontaine to Baldwin, Montreal, May 
13, 1847, vol. 4, p. 805; see also Le Journal de Qlébec, Aug. 5, 1847, 
which used Caron's removal fram office as anti-Government propaganda. 
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160 
and Caron was :t'ired and replaced by' a Lewer Canadian Tory. The man 

symbolic of the "Reaction", André Taschereau • moved from uneasy office 
161 

to the Bench of the circuit courts. A.f'ter six months, he was replaced 

as Solicitor General for Lower Canada by another "Reactionist", J.E. 
162 

TUrcotte, who held the portfolio for only three months. Macdonald's 

"resignation" from the Canadien was announced seon after the negotiation 
163 

had ended. As Morin had commented, the change of ownership and of 

editors would presumably lea.d the Canadien to allow the bothersome doc-

trine of double majority to fade away, and how much easier would French-

Canadian politics becomel 

Morin's opinion was shared by' many other politicians. One of La­

Fontaine 1 s friends correnented wryly that "il est donc l peu près que ce 

monstre l deux figures dont l'une regarde le passé et l'autre l'avenir 
~ 1~ 

•••• Ce systeme de la double majorité ne verra pas le jour." The Upper 

160 Quebec Gazette, May 19, 1847; see also Le Canadien, May 24, 
1847. At the same time Caron 1 s 18 year old son died of an intestinal in­
flammation, and V.adame Caron gave birth to still-born twins.See Qaebee 
Gazette, June 2, 184 7. Caron was replaced by' Peter Mc Gill, heir of the 
banking and railway magnate John McGill. McGill was also given a seat 
in the Executive Council. 

161 
Le Journal de Q.lébec, May S, 1847. 

162 
Cernell, The Alignm.ent of Political Groups in Canada 1841-

1867, p. 21. 
163 

Le Canadien, May 5, 184 7. From Nov. 7, 1842 to May 5, 184 7, Mac-
donald was the editor. His final remark: "S'il a eu des discussions un 
peu vives avec quelques-uns de ses confrères, il les assure avec la même 
sincérité qu'il n'a jamais eu de fiel dans le coeur, et qu'il ne conserve 
ni ressentiment ni racune contre eux. 11 He also mentioned the re-born 
harmony among the French Canadians, and thanked the clergy for their sup­
port during "des temps difficiles." 

164 
P .A.C. Chauveau Papers, Dru.mnond to Chauveau, Montreal, April 

19, 1847, p. 155. 
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Canadian Reformera were equally delighted that the negotiatian had failed, 
165 

and made no attempt at concealing their feelin~s. Baldwin shared their 

relief'. 

All thoughts to make the double majority the basis of a system 
was as completely abandoned by our own friends as it is evident 
it was ever6gistant from the thought of those who sought to en­
trap them. 

The double majority as an issue was finished. Cauchon 1s Journal 

de Q;tébec went so far as to wam that "une manifestation d'epinions sur 
167 

une pareille proposition pouvait être compremettante pour l'avenir." 

There was no longer any need for the systeœ because the French Canadians 

were certain of gaining power through a responsible Ref'orm government in 

the immediate future. Its only real value had been as a mask beneath which 

to fight other political battles. D.B. Papineau, whose position in govern-

ment had led. the "Reactionists" to develop double majority in the first 

place, and who was defended by the "Reactionist" press as a proponent of' 

double majority, confided the real truth about the principle to his son. 

Referring to the Canadien, he said that "un système des deux majorités 

est absurde." However, the whole opposition press, both "Reactionist" and 

LaFontaine, had been able t o blind the public to the real issues by cen­

tring their editoriale and articles on double majority. He revealed that 

165 
P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, John Ross to Baldwin, Belleville, April 

13, 1S47, vol. 4, p. 793; see also !lÉ&•• H.J. Boulton to Baldwin, Rol­
land House, June 13, 1847, vol. 3, p. 1. 

166 
Chapais, Cours D1H}.stoire du Canada, vol. 6, p. 215, Baldwin 

to LaFontaine, May S, 1S47. 
167 

Le Journal de Québec, June 22, 184 7. 
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in private conversations, these same politicians admitted that the aystem 

was ridiculous, and the La.Fontaine interests had purposefUlly brought a-

bout the tailure ot the negotiation not because of double majority, but 
168 

because LaFontaine was not approached. 

Papineau 1s confidence to his son is but one more confirmation of 

the truth of the conclusion that double rnajority was of little interest 

to anyone. As Lord Elgin commented: 

Yeu will observe that no question of principle or of public pol­
ley has been moeted by either party during this negotiation, un­
lees indeed you except M(r) Morin's letter in which he condemns 
in terms that are perfectly general and commit him to nothing the 
proceedings •••• The whole discussion has turned upon personal con­
siderations. This is I fancy a pretty fair sample of Canadian 
Politics.~09 

Elgin also had the final word. "Part (sic) is sum.oned fer the 2d 
170 

June - then our work will beg:in." This was the moment so eagerly await-

ed by the Reformera. They were certain of their power to defeat the Gov-

ernment, certain of success in the ensuing election, delighted that they 

would soon be back in power with their Upper Canada allies. The stagnant 

position of Canadian politics was about to change; the conflicts disguised 

under double majority were to be resolved; and the background far double 

majority 1s demise to be effected. Anticipating these events, Baldwin wrote 

to LaFontaine: 

168 
P.A.C. Papineau Papers, D.B. Papineau to J.B.N. Papineau, Mon-

treal, April 22, 184?, vol. 16, p. 166-67. 
169 

Doughty ( ed. ) , The Elgin-Grey Papers 1846-1852, Elgin to Grey, 
Montreal, April 26, 1847, vol. 1, p. 28. 

170 
.!.:!&!!·, p. 29. 



Our preparations for the electoral contest are advancing sat­
isfactor,r •••• We should, of course, were our party in power, 
carr.r everything swimming; but even under the disadvantage of 
being on the left of the chair I think we shall givf?t tol­
erable aecount of Upper Canada when the time cootes. 
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The election preparations were somewhat premature, fer the Govem-

ment continued to drag on despite its great weaknesses. There was intense 

rivalry among the Conservative leaders. It was rumoured that Sir Allan 

MacNab retused to help Draper by accepting a position in the Government, 

and that when the Grand Master of the Orange Lodge, Ogle R. Gowan, was 

proposed for the Crown Lands Department, one Executive Councillor 11actual• 
172 

ly blushed at the mention of his name. 11 Draper himself continued to 
173 

haunt the death-bed of Judge Hagerman. 

However, before Parliament met, the Government was strengtheneci 
174 

at t.he last moment by various appointments. 'l'hus fortified, it prepared 

to meet Parliament. 

171 
Chapais, Cours D'Histoire du Canada, vol. 6, p. 216-18, Baldwin 

to LaFontaine, l'lay S, 184 7. 
172

Examiner, April 7, 1847; see also La Revue Canadienne, April 9, 
1847; Pilot, March 23, April 2, 1847, cites Montreal Herald, Montreal Cour­
~' Montreal Transcript, Toronto Herald, on internal Conservative rival­
ries. Specifie mention was made of Allan l-1:acNab, W.H. Draper, J. Smith, 
H. Sherwot')d, and Ogle Gowan. 

173 
Doughty (ed.), The EJ.gi.n-Gre;z; Papers 1846-1852, Elgin to Grey, 

May 18, 1847, vol. 1, p. 39. 
174

coté, Political A'epointments and Elections in the Province of 
Canada , p. 26-S. May 11: J. A. Macdonald; May 22 , J.H. Cameron, and "'Tillia:m 
Badgely. Al se, as noted, Peter McGill. When Draper assumed his place on 
the Bench before dissolution of Parliament, he was replaced by Henry Sher­
wood. 



"The question can the present administration stand? or will 
it be replaced by Mess. La Fontaine & Baldwin" is mre mom­
entous by far in the judgement of the mass of our local pol­
iticians than any other which you can raise.-

175 
cemmented Lord Elgin. 
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Nevertheless, the GQvernment managed te maintain a majority of 
176 

about four or five, and MacNab remained the Speaker. On the Add.resa ia 

reply to the Speech frcm the Throne, Baldwin, seconded by LaFontaine, pro-

posed an amendment which expressed the hope that because Lord Elgin was 

related to Lord Durham, 

We cann&t but indulge the pleasing confidence, that under one so 
nearly connected with him, and to whom his memory must necessar­
ily be dear, we shall witness the practical application of this 
great principle, (of responsible government} and realize the 
benefits which it is calculated to secure.l77 

Although this motion was defeated, its significance is great by resson of 
178 

its actual content. The united Reformera, having forgotten double maj-

ority, were again concentrating on winning a full measure of responsible 

175 
Doughty ( ed. ) , The Elgin-Grey Papers 1846-1852, Elgin t(') Grey, 

Montreal, May 27, 1847, vel. 1, p. 45. 
176 
~., Elgin to Gr-ey, Montreal, June 13, 1847, vol. 1, p. 49. 

See also Q!J.ebec Gazette, July 5, 1847, which estimated the GQvernment sup­
porters at 42, opp()sition members at 38, disenfranchised, 2, Town of Lon­
don , 1 , Speaker , 1, for a total of 84 • 

177 
Doughty (ed.), The Elgin-Grey Papers 1846-1852, cites Canada, 

Journals of the Legislative Assemb~y, 1847, vol. 1, p. 49. Considering 
the French-Canadian attitude te Ihrham, this was quite a concession on 
LaFontaine 1s part. 

178 
gqebec Gazette, June 14, 1847; see also British Colonist, 

June 18, 1847; Le Canadien, June 18, 1847. The Government won by only' twe 
votes, one of which was Draper' s, who had put off officially accepting 
his Judgeship until the vote was taken. 
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government. Even the Canadien, once so nationalistic and such a strong 

supporter of double majority, had changed its tune. It reported that Mer-

in, in discussing in Parliament his rejection of Elgin's proposals, spoke 

"avec dignité, et avec cette modestie qu'on ne lui connait trop." He was 
180 

also beard by the representatives "dans un religieux silence." 

Nonetheless, the French Canadians were very impatient that they 

were still denied the fruits of power. This led Elgin to comnent: 

I suspect that more is going on than meats the eye, and I 
should not be surprised if I were enabled before long to re­
port to you that an arrangement with the French on the basie 
êf my memorandum to M. :Morin had been consummated.l81 

Although this was an erroneous assumption, Elgin 1 s awareness of the French-

Canadian impatience was quite correct. In the Legislative Council, John 

Neilson presented a series of ten Resolutions protesting the inadequate 

French-Canadian representation in the Ex:ecuti ve Council, which he "hum-
182 

bly conceives to be inconsistant with Justice, and of dangerous tendency." 

179 
The opposition concentrated on votes of non-confidence: Scott-

Chabot motion for an address requesting the Governor to form a "strong 
and efficient administration, 11 M. Cameron-Baldwin objection to the compet­
ence of the commission er of Crown Lands, D. B. Papineau, for examples. See 
Cornell, The Aligmnent of Political Groups in Canada 1841-1867, footnote 
21 to Chapter 1, p. 88; see also Quebec Gazette, July 9, 1847. 

180 
Le Canadien, June 18, 184 7; see also ~. , June ll, 184 7. 

181 
Doughty ( ed..), The Elgin-Grey Papers 1846-1852, Elgin to Grey, 

Montreal, June 13, 1847, vQl. 1, P• 49. 
182 

Qlebec Gazette, June 16, 1847; see also ill!!•, June 11, 1847; 
Le Journal de 'flébec, June 17, 1847. Cauchon approved the Resolutions, but 
added that Neilson presented them merely because his colonial popularity 
was at an all-time 1ow, and he wished to rec0ver some of his previous in­
fluence in Canadian po1itics. 



These Resolutions were defeated, but cnly by the casting vote of the 
183 

Speaker, the Hon. Peter McGill. 
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184 
On July 28, the session was prorogued. For several months the 

battles between the political parties continued unabated in the press. 

By November, the Governor was writing, '')\y ministers are thinking serious-

ly of a dissclution during the winter ••• and I have told them that if they 
185 

advise it I shall not refuse rrry assent." Soon arterwards, the dissol-
186 

ution became official, and the elections were announced. 

In Lower Canada, there were two important manifestas. The gist of 

the first one, directed by Caron, was that Metcalfe had forced the leg-

itimate Executive Council to resign in 1843; had formed one which defied 

popular opinion; and had made improper overtures to the opposition te 

help maintain itself in power. 'l'hus did Caron publicly recant his "Reac-

tionist" activities during the period after the resignation. The mani-

festo contained several Resolutions, which dealt with the necessity of 

183 
Le Journal de Québec, June 22, 184 7. McGill was se horrified 

as each of the individual Resolutions came close to passage that he in­
sisted on several recounts. He also felt obliged, for no apparent rea­
son, to pronounce himself against double ma.iority, which was not at is­
sue. See also Doughty (ed.), The Elgin-Grey Papers 1846-1852, Elgin te 
Grey, Montreal , June 28, 184 7, vol. 1, p. 51; Le Jeurnal de Qlébec, 
Aug. 5, 1847. 

184 
Doughty ( ed.), The Elgin-Gre;z Papers 1846-1852, Elgin to Grey, 

Montreal, July 28, 1847, vol. 1, p. éiJ. 
185 

ibid., Elgin to Grey, Montreal, Nov. 12, 1847, vol. 1, p. 80. 
186 
~·, Elgin to Grey, Montreal, Dec. 9, 1847, vol. 1, p. 101. 
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electoral refor.m b.Y increasing Lower Canada's representation vis-à-vis 

Upper Canada, and the pressing need tor responsible government and var-

ious other reforma. The most important statement was: 

Pour nous, pour les libéraux des deux sections de la province, 
un effort commun et énergique devra nous assurer à jamais les 
droits que nous réclamons tous ensemble comme sujets britan­
niques. Les talents déployés dans cette noble lutte par les 
chets du parti libéral dans le Haut-Canada, et les nombreuses 
manifestations publiques, qui ont eu lieu dans cette partie 
de la nrovince, sont un indice assuré du succès qui nous at­
tend.l87 

This public affirmation of the ties with the Upper Canada Refermera, and 

the concentration on responsible guvernment, was the final preof of the 

triumph of LaFontaine's policy. One contempora~ analysed the manifeste 

as tollows: 

The rejection of these overtures, coupled with the pretensions 
ot that party, now disclosed and avowed in the Quebec V~festo, 
compels the reluctant belier, that it is the determination of 
those leaders not to unite with the Conservatives, though com­
posing a majority of Western Canada; but to ally themselves 
solely with the minority of that section of the Province to sec­
ure their own tenure of office, b.Y changing the system of rep­
resentation •••• Monstrous as such a proposition appears, when 
plainly stated, it is nevertheless, the obvious meaning of the 
Quebec VAnifesto; and is, though covertly, distinctly assente« 
to by a leading member of the Opposition, in Upp!ssCanada, in 
his recent address to the Fourth Riding of York. 

The other manifeste was written by Louis Joseph Papineau, who had 

1S7 
ibid., cites La Minerve, Nov. 15, 1S47, Manifeste Addressé au 

peuple du Ganada par le comité constitutionel de la réforme et du pro­
gr~s, enclosed in let ter from Elgin to Grey, Montreal, Nov. 12, 1847, vel. 
1, p. lOO. 

188 
Quebec Gazette, Dec. 24, 1847, cites Montrea1 Patriot; see alse 

Quebec Gazette, Nov. 24, 1S47, which among other acid commenta, remarks 
on the absence of any mention of double majority in the Quebec manifesta. 
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189 
begun to attract a political following soon arter his return tc Canada. 

Said Papineau unequi vocally, 

The repeal of the Act of Union must be demanded, because it is 
the wish of the people •••• Besides, since the Union, men the most 
enlightened, the most worthy of the title and of the functions 
of legislators, have almost invariabl3 abstained frcm voting 
with those of Lower Canada on questions relating to Upper Canada, 
and vice versa. Thf~is just, and proves the folly of the Leg­
islative Union •••• 

Papineau, however, was not concerned with promoting double majority, but 

with destroying the Union and the brand of responsible government prac-

ticed under it. Reported Elgin: 

The French Liberale are a good deal diseoncerted by the tone of 
his address - on the one hand they do not like to proelaim that 
their sentiments are at variance with those of this redoubtable 
chief who still has a hold on Canadian sympathies- on the oth­
er hand it is awkward to profess antimonarehical doctrines and 
a contempt for Responsible Govt. at the time when the said Res­
ponsible Govt. is likely to bring them into place - Besides it 
is doubttul whether Upper Canada liberali~1may not be alien­
ated by the assertion of such prineiples-

Faced with yet another manifestation of racism, this time Papineau-style, 

LaFontaine still clung to responsible government and the Reform alliance. 

Soon LaFontaine and his group came out against Papineau openly. "There is 

a growing feeling of dislike of l1r. Papineau on the part of those who 

189
P.A.C. O'Callaghan Papers, Jno. Ryan to 0 1Callaghan, Quebee, 

Sept. 3, 1846. 
190 

Çuebec Gazette, Dec. 29, 1847, cites Pilot, Dec. 24, 1847. 
Papineau • s address to the Electors of the County of Huntingdon. Papineau 
was, of course, wrong about the customary practice of sectional legis­
lative measures. See Appendix B. 

191 
Doughty ( ed.) , The Elgin-Grez Papers lSA-6-1852, Elgin to Grey, 

Montreal, Dec. 24, 1847, vol. 1, p. 102. Emphasis added. 
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have usually acted with Mr. Lafontaine in Montreal" , reported one 
192 

source. 
193 

In December, 184 7, the elections were held. Baldwin 1 s support-
194 

ers won 26 seats; LaFontaine 1 s supporters won 30 seats. Only one im-

mediate problem lessened LaFontaine's triumph: the return by acclamation 

of his old leader, L.J. Papineau, because Papineau, 1~ho has more person-

al influence than any other individual in Lower Canada returns into pub-

lie life with the avowed object of proving •••• Responsible Govt. a delus-

ion and a snare." And Papineau also continued to encourage Quebec 1 s riv-
195 

alry with the District of Montreal. 

Parliament was summoned for February 25, 1848. 11A division took 

place on the Speakership in which Sir A. McNab the Ministerial candidate 
196 

was beaten by 54-191! Mr. Morin (French) elected-11• On March 4th, the 
197 

Ministers resigned in a body. On Ma.rch lOth, Lord Elgin sent for Bald-

win and LaFontaine. 11Told them, that I thought there was a fair prospect, 

192 
Quebec Gazette, Ma.rch 8, 1847; see also ibid., March 3, 1847. 

193 
Wade, The French Ca.nadians 1760-1945, p. 253. 

194 
Cornell, The Alignment of Political Groups in Canada 1841-1867, 

p. 25. 
195 

Doughty ( ed.), The Elgin Grey Papers 1S46-1852, Elgin to Grey, 
Montreal, Jan. 22, 1848, vol. 1, p. 119; see a1so ~·, Elgin to Grey, 
Montreal, May 18, 1848, vol. 1, p. 166. 

196 
~., Elgin to Gr~, Monklands, March 2, 1848, vol. 1, p. 127. 

197 
ill!!. , Elgin t o Grey, 1-Iontreal, Mar ch 17, 1848 , vol. 1 , p. 134 • 

Elgin says March 4th; Cornell, in The Alignment ef Po1itical Groups in 
Canada 1841-1867, p. 25, says March lOth. 
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if they were moderate and firm, of forming an administration deserving 

& enjoying the confidence of Part (sic)", reported Lord Elgin. At this 

wonder.ful and triumphant moment, LaFontaine was "somewhat stiff, but he 

soon thawed •••• 11 As for Baldwin, who sha.red as well in the tri umph, he 
198 

"seemed desirous to yield the first place" to his friend and colleague. 

Baldwin refused to accept a position of equality with LaFontaine, for 

that would have been in effect to sanction sectional leadership. He be-

lieved that United Canada could have but one leader, and in 1848 that 

leader was LaFontaine. With LaFontaine taking a fir.m stand against racism, 

and Baldwin maintaining an equally fir.m stand against sectionalism, double 

majority had no chance at all in the new Government. Ironically, this 

Government was ideally situated to implement the princip1e because it was 
199 

supported by two sectional majorities, just as had been the case in 1842. 

The formation of the new JF.inistry was a final step in the recon-

ci1iation of the 11Reactionists". Said Hincks many yea.rs later with his 

accustomed euphemism: "Caron joined LaFontaine 1 s Govt. so there was no 
200 

serious misunderstanding." other Ceuncil1ors were Louis Michel Viger, 

198
Doughty ( ed. ) , The Elgin-Grey Papers 1846-1822, Elgin t0 Grey, 

Montreal , March 17, 1848, vol. 1, p. 13 5; see also Wilson, The tif e ef 
Robert Baldwin: A Study in the Struggle for Responsible Government, who 
discussed this attitude of Ba.ldwin's in great detail and by referring te 
many incidents and documents. 

199
P.A.C. Baldwin Papers, Baldwin to La.Fentaine, Torento, Jan. 25, 

1848, vol. 4, p. 890-1, expressed concern that the Referm majority wa.s 
too large. This is reminiscent of Wa.kefield's commente on the 1842 Gov­
ernment. See a1so ~·, LaFonta.ine to Baldwin, Montreal, Feb. 2, 1848, 
vol. 4, p. 895: "Let not numerical strength be a cause of weakness." 

200 
Dent, Canada Since the Union of 1841, (Dent's cop,y), Hincks to 

Dent , Mont real , Nov. 17, 1881 , vol. 4. 
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relative of the two Denis Benjamins in the Draper Government; Dr. Taché, 

who after wavering from LaFontaine 1s leadership in 1846 had redeemed him-

self the next yea.r; and Aylwin, the 1847 "Reactionist". Hincks was natur-

ally given a place, as were LaFontaine's two friends, James Leslie and 

Lewis T. Drummond. The 11Reactionist" appointments destroyed most of the 

"Reactionists" justification for double majority, al though they were 

forced to compromise by accepting LaFontaine's leadership. The other 

Councillors were two English Lower Canadian Reformera, both of whom dis-

liked double majority; LaFontaine himself, who once in power had no need 

for it; Baldwin and Hincks, both self-declared opponents of the principle; 

and James Hervey Priee and Malcolm Cameron and R.B. Sullivan, Upper Canada 
201 

Reformera who were equally opposed toit. 

Double majority was finished, and the Reform theme became once a-

gain responsible government. "Responsible Government is no longer a theory 

admitted in the abstract, but disowned in reality", rejoiced one Upper Can-
202 

adian Reformer. Another Reformer commented, "Party government we have 

achieved for ourselves though it was accounted a desperate experiment only 

201 
Coté, Political Appointments and Elections in the Province of 

Canada, from 1841 to 1865, p. 28; see also Çuebec Gazette, March 13, 1848. 
"Asto Mr. Viger •••• some trace this appointment to the remaining influence 
of the old family compact between the Vigers and the Papineaus •••• " How­
ever, it must be mentioned that L.M. Viger, unlike some of his relatives, 
had not sided with those of his family who took office after the 1843 re­
signation. Instead, he appeared to side with LaFontaine. 

202 
Doughty (ed.), The Elgin-Grey Papers 1846-1852, cites Toronto 

Gle be , in let ter from El gin to Grey , Montreal , March 27, 1848 , vol. 1 , 
p. 141. 
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203 
four years ago." And in the course of the famous Papineau-LaFontaine 

duel, carried on until the defeat of Papineau in 1849, LaFontaine's 

Revue Canadienne trumpeted: 

The union was accomplished with the object of ruining us! 
But the union has saved us •••• At present all right thinking 
men, the Parliamentary majority, the entire country, desires 
to give a fair trial to the principle of "Responsible Gov­
ernment".204 

The Revue even reversed the LaFontaine line maintained throughout the 

Draper Government's administration, and thereby adopted as a justifie&-

tion for responsible government one of the 11Reactionist" arguments in 

favour of double majority1 "No one ought to separate himself from those 

who are in power: on the contrary it is necessary to give them a cordial 

and generous support." The reaffirmation of the Reform alliance was en-

thusiastically praised, for at last it had been vindicated as a success-

ful policy: 

Our party has recruited its ranks with men of ali origins •••• 
our friends, the liberale of Upper Canada, and those ef Lower 
Canada of foreign origin, have made prodigious efforts to 
carry the elect~8~s, and ••• altogether we have gained the most 
signal victory-

LaFontaine fought racism, and to a lesser extent, sectionalism, 

the fUndamentals of double majority. His Reform alliance precluded the 

203 
P .A. C. La Fontaine Pape re, Baldwin to LaFontaine, Toron te, Jan. 

25, 1848, vol. 8, p. 1421-22. Baldwin was quoting Mr. Young. 
204 

Doughty ( ed. ) , The Elgin-Grey Papers 1846-1852, Elgin to Grey, 
Montreal, May 4,1848, vol. 1, p.l57-8, cites La Revue Canadieme aa 
translated by an English Conservative paper which was not identified. 

205 
lli!!,., p. 158. 
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possibility of implementing the principle of double majority. His prud-

ence in fonni.ng his Council gained him the allegiance of the "Reaction-

ist s", and his new polit ical enemies were not a.t ail concerned wi th dou-

ble majority. Most important, La.Fontaine's rise to power had destroyed 

the problems which double majority was supposed to solve. Final preof 

of this was provided by an article in the Qlebec Gazette which, in the 

course of a discussion reminiscent of the yea.r 1847, denied the existence 

of a Freneh-Canadian party, and upheld the validity of the Refonn illian-

ce. 

When the few gentlemen of French descent, who now compose a min­
ority of the Executive Council, were invited to take office, not 
as representatives of a "French party," but ef an important por­
tion of their fellow-subjects of the same national origin as 
themselves, who had till then been isolated from the government 
of their count~, they refUsed to do so; they would not stand on 
any other than political ground common to them and the majority 
of the population, of British as weil as French arigin.- When 
Mr. Lafontaine first came into power, it was through election 
by a constituency of British birth or descent, in Upper Canada, 
where but ve~ few Canadians of French origin are to be found; 
and he has ever since faithfully adhered to his alliance with 
the political party of British origin, in that section of the 
province, of which Mr. Baldwin is the head; he has even been 
more than once reproached with sacrificing his own interests, 
and those of his ~Bt;Iow-countrymen of the same origin as himself, 
to that alliance. 

The author of these lines was none other than Ronald Macdonald, 

lately editor of the Canadien, inventer of double majority as it is known 

206 
Qqebec Gazette, Sept. 21, 1848. In this article, the fundament-

als of double majority, racism and sectionalism, are v:iolently denounced. 
The racism had, in 1847, culminated in attempts to prove the existence of 
a French-Canadian party: here this party is denied. Sectionalism ha.d a.l­
w~s ma.nifested itself as the premise that Lower Canada had to be consid­
ered an entity separate from Upper Canada, especially political~. This 
premise is also denied. 
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207 
tod~, and once LaFontaine's bitter enemy. There is a famous addage 

which reads, "Defend me from my friends; I can defend myself from my 
208 

enemies." In the final analysis, the 11friends 11 of double majority 

proved not only the truth of the addage, but the truth of the hypothesis 

that double majority was nothing more than a system which was used by 

the various contending political factions to further their own ends, and 

their own interests, and beneath which to conduct their political battles. 

207 
Jean Hamelin et André Beaulieu, Les Journaux du Qlébec de 1764 

à 196k, (Quebec: Les Presses de L'Université Laval, 1965), p. 179, 211-
212. Ronald Macdonald, whom Hamelin and Beaulieu al ways erroneously re­
fer to as Roland Vacdonald, left the Canadien on May 5, 1847, and became 
editor of the 9Hebec Gazette in Feb. 1848, replacing John Neilson. Mac­
donald had also worked at this paper's French edition from !4ay 3 to Oct. 
29, 1842, When he left for the Canadien. 

208 
Attributed to Maréchal Villars when he took leave of Louis XIV. 



CHAPrER IX 

CONCLUSION 

The system of double majority had many tacets. Historical.ly, the 

most important of the se were the em.bryonic, the journalistic and the 

practical-political. Today, the purely theoretical aspect of' double maj­

ority is considered the most significant. Each of these dimensions of 

double majority was different, yet all were inter-acting. It is only by 

stuey-ing each aspect in relation to, and in combination with, the eth­

ers, that a multi-dimensional view of double majority emerges. In this 

work such a study has been undertaken. 

In its embryonic form, double majority had no name or conscious 

existence. It existed only as expressions of sectionalism and racism, 

which became increasingly prominent after the Union. These trends were 

manif'ested in several forma. The first of these was the attempt tc have 

the Union repealed. The structure ct the public administration, in so 

far as it was based on sectionalism and racism, was another manifesta­

tion of embryonic double ma.jority. The third most important way in which 

the trends were given expression was by the development of sectional 

exclusivity as a criterion for legislation. These were therefore some of 

the features of' embryonic double majority. 

While still in this nascent stage, double majority had both sup­

port and opposition, as early as 1S41. The support came in the form of 

the proposed Upper Canada Conservative-French-Canadian alliance. The 

purpose of' this propesed alliance was to obtain legislative power, which 
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wwld be used to undo the e.f'fects of the Union. The plan was te revert 

to the old provincial divisions as areas of legislative authority. Then 

each group would rule its own section as it pleased. A corollar,y of this 

proposal was there.f'ore the absence of party government and a tacit agree­

ment to ignore the Act o t' Union. 

The opposition to embryonic double majori ty developed out of the 

Re.f'orm alliance between the French Canadians and the Upper Canada Reform­

era. The members of this alliance hoped to gain legislative power in or­

der to liberalize rather than repeal the Union, and to enforce the im­

plementation of responsible government. Raoism and sectionalism were 

thus subordinated to a political goal, for the French Canadians invol­

ved believed that responsible government under the Reform alliance would 

guarantee French-Canadian interests better than the alternative alliance. 

The se two oon.f'licting plans were constantly interacting, and ex­

ercised a great influence on eaoh other. At .f'irst the main interaction 

came in the form of a leadership fight between representatives of each 

group, specifical!y LaFontaine and Morin against Viger and Neilson. An­

other .f'orm of interaction was brought about by the policies of the Gov­

ernors. The resulta of such interaction produced the first great water­

shed event in the history of double majority: the LaFontaine-Baldwin 

Gevernment of 1842. 

The nature of this Gevernment was at first considered to be a 

great triumph for responsible government, and thus for the Referm al­

liance. In ohoosing LaFontaine over the ether leadership contenders, the 
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Governor ha<i given the Re.form alliance and its policies a great boost. 

However, the new members of the Government had been .forced by the racist 

French Canadians to mak e sever al compromises. The LaFontaine-Baldw.i.n Gev­

emment was a. modif'ied. rather than a reconstructed govermaent, and Dong 

its Councillors there existed a degree of political incompatibility. 

Secondly, the Governor had ù.viteci LaFontaine to office as. the leader of 

the French-Canadian race, and had thus sanctione.d the racial criterion 

in polities. La.Fontaine perpetuated seetionalism. in his .ramous 1842 

speech to the Assembly, and in office he .did so by referring to the Up­

per Canadian Baldwin as his equal in the Government. Moreover, LaFontaine 

had been forced into office by the French-Canadian members o.f Parliament, 

against his and Baldwin 1 s inclination. In order to secure his own leader­

ship, he had been .foreed to compromise his policies in .favour o.f those 

o.f the racist politicians. 

Once in power, Baldwin and LaFontaine practieed government by 

simple majority. Publie reaction to this had increased demanda for gov­

ernment by seetional majorities .for seetional measures. At the same time, 

this reaction in.flueneed the decision of the Councillors to resign, both 

to escape the possibility o.f defeat on several important seetional mea­

sures, and to force truly responsible government. In fact, however, the 

resignation had just the opposite e.f.fect. 

The 1843 resignation provided the conditions under which double 

majority not only grew increasingly important, but entered into its sec­

ond and most influential stage: the journalistie. When the French Canad-
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ians found themselves in opposition because of the resignation of the 

Reformera, their support of the Ref'orm alliance, and o.f responsible gov­

ernment, was great13' weakened. In turn, their support of LaFontaine was 

weakened. Alternative leaders, D.B. Viger and D.B •. Pap:b.eau, were .found 

already in the Government. They, however, were powerless, because they 

enjoyed almost no support .from the representatives from Lower Canada. 

The problem was to discover a means to win support .for these leaders, 

and thus to place them in the same position as LaFontaine and Morin had 

occupied in 1B42. The problem was solved by creating the 1g42 myth, and 

by rationalizing it into a system o.f government. 

On this new journalistic level, double majority won a name; a 

whole political movement, the "Reaction"; and an increasing number o.f 

"Reactionists" who appropriated it as their political platferm. Double 

majority also gained public support. As it was interpreted by the "Re­

actionists", it presented a grave challenge to LaFontaine, the Re.form 

alliance, and responsible party government by the simple majority. 

There.fore the LaFontaine partisans alsa appropriated double majority, 

and gave it their own interpretation. In practiee, this interpretation 

meant that only their own leaders could en.force the system. LaFontaine•s 

men also subscribed to the 1842 double majority myth, and in reply to 

charges that they had .forsaken doo.ble majarity in practice, they claimeà. 

to have resigned to defend both responsible 2 double ma.jority goven­

ment. On this journalistie level, double ma,jori ty real.ly consisted of 

poli tic al ciialogues between the ri val groups , which were also directed 
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te the public as political. propaganda. As double majority entered into 

the field or practical politics, the newspapers made subtle adjustments 

in view or the changing political situations, and so changed the mearling 

Gf double ma,jority as weil. 

Since double majority was designed to gain power for its support­

ers, political groups in Canada reacted to it in terms er the errect its 

implementation would have on their own positions. The Upper Canada Con­

servatives supported it, not as a theory or government, but as a pol­

itical alliance between themselves and the French Canadians, whom they 

needed to maintain office. Their Lewer Canada Conservative allies, how­

ever, realized that double majority would ensure French-Canadian sup­

remacy in Lower Canada, and so they denounced it violently. The trad­

itional foes or the Upper Canada Censervatives, the Upper Canada Reform­

era, alse denounced the system. It woul<i gi ve power to their enemies, 

perhaps indefinitely; and it would errect a separation or the two sec­

tions or the Union. It would also end the Reform alliance as a policy, 

because under double majority, alliances would be automatic between the 

sectional majorities. Last and least, double majority was unconstitution­

al. 

On its journalistic level, double majority was a crystallization 

and a simplification or Union trends and policies. This was its public 

level. The system was also involved in practical politics. Historically, 

this was the most important or ali its aspects. There were two by-elect­

ions which were considered indicative or public reaction to double maj-
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ori ty. From 1845 to 184 7, und er each of the three successive Governors, 

there was a negotiation involving the Government and the French Canad-

ians, designed to gain French-Canadian support for the Government. Dou-

ble majarity became an essential feature of each of these negotiations, 

because it was imposed as the central issue. Under its guise, the real 

political fights were carried on. These were a leadership struggle which 

was increasingly asseciated with the Montreal-Quebec rivalry; political 

differences between the politically-oriented Reform alliance and the 

racist-oriented "Reactionists 11 ; and different inter-sectional alliances, 

which consisted of the LaFontaine-Refonn alliance, and the "Reactionist "-

Conservative alliance. 

The real stake in all these battles was power: who was going to 

obtain power, and by what means. Therefore an essential condition for 

double majority was that the French Canadi.ans bad to be in opp&sition to 

the government, rather than in power. Once in power, they bad no need to 

question the means of obtaining it. Almost as important were the pos­

itions of the Upper Canadian Conservatives and the Reformera vis-à-vis 

the government. Unless the Reformera had a majority in Upper Canada, the 

French Canadians challenged the validity of the Reform alliance and its 

policies. Lord Elgin •s commenta on French-Ganadian politics are both per-

ceptive and witty. 

They adopt at second band the political dogmas of the Ehglish 
liberale and asse.rt them, whenever it is convenient to dct so, 
with becom:i.ng force. But they are unwilling to admit - I mig1tt 
almost s~ they seem incapable of comprehending - that the 
principles of constitutional Govt must be applied against them 
as well as for them - and whenever there appears to be a chance 



of things taking this turn, they revive the ancient cry of 
nationality, and insist on the ir right to have a share in the 
administration, not because the Party with which they have 
chesen te connect themselves is in the ascendant, but because 
they represent a people of distinct origin - As the theories 
of Govt on which their claims to office respectively rest 
contradict each ether, it is almost alw~s possible for them 
when they are out of power to demonstrate, en one or fther 
hypothesis, tha.t they are unconstitutionally .treated. 
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During the period under consideration, the two conflicting theor-

ies were responsible government, that is government by party, as opposed 

to double majarity. Asseciated with the first system was the Reform al-

liance under LaFontaine and non-sectional government. The concomitants 

of double majority were the leadership of Viger_ and Papineau, later 

changed to Caron; sectional government, and political alliances based 

not on cammon ideology but on majority status in each section. Double maj-

ority was of course in the ascendant when the French Canadians were in 

opposition. As a racist-eriented system, Which identified French-Gan-

adianism with Lewer Canada, its implementation would have pem:itted the 

French Ca.nadians to gain power ever their section by virtue of their maj-

ority in Lower Canada, regardless of their statua within the total rep-

resentation in the Assembly. However, various events gave LaFontaine's 

policy the edge even during the period of French-Camadiaa eppesition. 

With the departure of both Metcalfe and Cathcart, it was generally be­

lieved that the French Canadians would again be called to office, and so 

double majority was more or less forsaken. This was also true after the 

1
Doughty ( ed.) , The Elgin-Grey Pa pers 1846-1852, Elgin to Grey, 

Montreal, June 28, 1847, vol. 1, p. 52. 
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failure of each of the three negetiations. 

LaFontaine alse had his set-backs, and these always came in the 

form of "Reactionist" triumphs. The victory of Viger in Three Rivera, anci 

of Anciré Taschereau in Dorchester, were taken to mean that the policies, 

leaders and the double majority of the "Reaction" were popularly suppert­

ed. !Imnediately after the Dorchester election, the first negotiation was 

begun. Largely because the Government of Upper Canada was Conservative, 

the French-Ganadian principals were ch os en from "Reactionist" ranks. 

These men were expected to rea ct favourably to the propesals, in view of 

t heir opposition to the Refo:nn alliance, and to LaFontaine. Morin was the 

one exception. LaFontaine, invited by Car<!m to sacrifice himself, made 

double majority the issue of the negotiation, but in su.ch a strict and. 

developed form that the Government was unable to accept it. 

The same principals, Morin and Caron, were alao appreached in the 

second and third negotiations. Each ti.me double majority was made the 

overt issue; each time the real issue was leadership and the asseoiated 

District rivalry, and the Refor.m alliance. The last negetiation was the 

most interesting, and came closest to success. As it was refiected en 

both the practical and journalistic .levels, it crystallized the main 

themes of double majority, or the other two negotiations, and of the pol­

itical nuances and balances. More than ever before, the jGU.rnalistic 

and practical aspects were interactive. The main "Reactionist 11 theme was 

the rationalization of racism, into the idea of the existence of a French­

Canadian party. This political party was described as the political arm 
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ef the French-Canadian race. The 1842 nzyth, composed of truth as well as 

rancy, was used to show that this party had wen power on the basis of 

race t sanctioned by both the Governor and LaFontaine, and in fact by all 

those who had participated in the governmental arrangements. This racist 

theme was emphasized by the interpretation of the role of Ehglish Reform­

era in Lower Canada. Because they represented French-Canadian constituen­

cies, they were "politiquement parlant" French Canadians, and their prim­

ary obligations were to French-canadian interests, and not to Reform ob­

jectives. Francis Hincks correct4" described this as making the term 

"French Cana di an 11 a poli ti cal designation. 

The second main "Reactionist11 theme was that the Refonn alliance, 

symbolized by Francis Hincks and his Pilot, had hypnotized the LaFontaine 

group into denying the French-Canadian party in order to preserve the al­

liance intact. Again the 1842 11\Vth was brou~t to bear upon Ute subject: 

tàe Reformera of Upper Canada àad destroyed tàe doUble majority basis of 

tàe 1842 Gevernment , and in so doing they sabotaged French Canada it self, 

which required double majority to safeguard. its interests. 

The third most important theme was the leadership and District 

rivalry issue. The Montreal leaders, specifically. LaFontaine, had usurp­

ed leadership and consistently used their power to defy popular Qlebec 

opinion in the matter of repealing the Union; resigning in 184.3; and re­

jecting three off ers of double majority. To the "Reactionists" these of­

fers were double majority because they recognized Quebec "Reactionists" 

as principals, and because if French Canadians could be persuaded to sup-
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port the new Councillers, the Gevernment would be supperted by double 

majorities. 

The LaFentaine press, on the ether hanci, emphasized su ch themes 

as the value of the Re.teœ alliance. The LaFontaine editors saitl that 

the negotiations were not baseà. •• deuble majority, and that the "Reac­

tionisttt double majerity was nothing more tha:n pla.ce-seeking. Moreover, 

they insisted that altheugh double majerity was fundamentally unattract­

ive, they would consider it if it were offered. However, ne offer weulà 

be acceptable if it were based on ra.cian, because the LaFonta.ine policy 

was to ally with l!Aglish Refomers on political grounds. Tha LaFontaine 

politicians defendetl their refUsal te suggest double ma.jority te the 

Govermnent, and consistently tried to prove tha.t it ha.d net been efferecl. 

This was in striking contrast to their attitude te responsible government, 

which they had a.ttempted to force from a reluctant government. It was 

also in this year that LaFontaine's press first rejected the 1842 myth, 

and in se doing undermined much of the rationalization for double maj­

ority. 

In the negotiations themselves, these theaes were repeated on the 

practical rather than the jeumal.istic level. It became clear that the 

real issue was whether or not it was wiser te accept office in ortler to 

win the anticipated. elections, or whether it was pelitic te re11.ain in 

opposition. This was true of both graups. For example, one "Reactionist", 

T.C. Aylwin, who till not even believe in deuble majority at ail, wanted 

te accept the offers merely to gain power. Morin, the LaFonta.ine man, 
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did. ~ want to accept the 1847 effers because he preferred te remain in 

opposition until the elections. His attitude to iouble majority was ene 

of f'undamental.. repulsion, tempere« by timidity and indecisien. The neg­

otiation faileà largely because. the LaFontaine men forced. the "Reaction­

ists" to agree that unless Domini.ck Daly were fired., ùuble majerit;r 

ceuld net be implemented. Ostensibly over this issue, the affair was enà.­

ed.. The ether reasens for the negetiati0n 1s failure were persona! enes. 

Since double majority en its mest important. level was mainly a 

reflection of the political balances of Canaàian life, the persenal el­

ement was most significant. The rele of the varieus inctlvidual.s bas been 

d.iscussed throughout this study as an integral feature of the events of 

the period. The dramatis persenae includecl LaFontaine, Morin, Caron, 

D.B. Papineau, Taschereau, Hincks, Baldwin, Cayley, Draper, Chauveau 

and the Gevemors, among ethers. Their relationships with each ether, ani 

the cie gree to which they influenced each ether, were of vital importance. 

Fer example, Hincks and. Bal4lwin, especially the fermer, exercised a great 

influence on LaFontaine and Morin. During al.l the important events, Hi.ncks 

was almost ubiquitous: consulting here, arguing there, convinoing, plead­

ing and interfering. And. Hincks was the personification. of the Re.:f'orm al­

liance, a .t'act which the nReactionistn press proved. time and time again. 

Hincks intensely disllkefi .dwble majorit;y. He was also the iriclge be­

tween the Upper ani Lower Canacla Re.:f'ormers, thoroughly in.:f'ormed o.:f' the 

activities of ~th greups. Baldwin, less intelligent, less flexible, less 

well-informed, was nevertheless very important to LaFomtaine. His .t'ix-
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ation about responsible party government conducted in a non-sectional­

ized government made a great impression on LaFontaine, who bad a deep 

respect and affection fer the cold and unyield.ing Upper Canadian. As a 

politician, it was natural that LaFontaine also had negative relation­

ships, netably with Metcalfe, Draper and later, with Caren. Metcalfe 

cou.ld mt bear him; Draper and most of his Ceuncil refuseti to werk with 

him; and LaFontaine and Caron were allenated when Caron challenged his 

leadership. He even had àifficulty with his friend Morin, altheugh they 

seon reconciled. 

Caron and Draper, for a while, were very friendly, and this was 

as important for double majerity as was their subsequent ceeling-eff. 

Draper's easy relations with both Uetcalfe and Cathcart alleweci him. his 

ewn head with reference te the French Canadians ana his negotiations with 

thelll. The negotiations in turn involved, or were made te involve, double 

majority. Viger and D.B. Papineau, whose positions in gevernment had been 

the immediate cause of the f'ormalization of double majerity, were great­

ly inf'luenced by their affection far Governor Metcalfe, who reciprecateà 

it. Even the fact that Lord Elgin did not return te Engl.anci after the 

third negetiatien, er die, was very significant. The list goes on and 

en. Its c•ntent is indispensable for an understanding of the persœal 

factors which contributed te the nature and fate of double majority. 

Double majori ty , as bas been shown thrcmghout this stuctr, was a mask be­

hind which the political battles of Canada were f'ougbt. A stu«y of the 

system reveals above all the nature of the real, as epposed te the theor­

eticaJ, life ef the peri.eà.. 
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The 1847 negotiatioms were consideree! to be irrevocable in con­

sequence. There was an almost literary beaut;r te the situation. The 

"Reactionists" felt tha.t thrice the olive branch of double majority haè 

been extended te the French Canadians, and thrice refused. The roost er 

had crowed for the last time in that political dawn. LaFontaine and his 

pelicies had triumphed.. The "Reaction" was abruptly ended., and LaFon­

taine ensured that it wœld nf}) longer challenge him.. This he did by allow­

ing "Reactionists", including his main rival Caron, inte the Government 

tormed. in 1848. He also conciliated the influential Viger-Papineau tam.­

ily complex by giving one e:f them a post. Twe Lower Canadian :Ehglish Re­

formera, beth LaFontaine supperters who dislik:ed double majori ty, were 

also given seats in the Council. Binee the main object •t double ma.jori cy­

had been to ga:in power, LaFontaine' s success and his allotment of some 

et this power to ex-"Reactionists" obviated most of the justification 

ter druble m.ajority. Certainly the problem.s of leadership and District 

rivalry were not endeà., but with Qlebecers such as Caron and .A;rlwin in 

the Governm.ent, enjoying secondary positions in the French-Canadian leaci­

ership hierarchy, complainte were alm.ost entirely unheeded. 

No sooner had LaFontaine 's victory been acknowledged, and the 

"Reaction" ended, than he was taced with yet another challenge. This 

gauntlet was tossed clown by Louis-Jeseph Papineau, who channelled the 

racist and sectionalist currents et the Union into yet another move­

ment. First bad come repeal attempts; sect!>nd the donble majority of the 

"Reaction"; and third Papineau 1s movement. LaFontaine and the ex-"React-
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ionists'1 who had joined him responded to the racist and sectionalist 

appeals by denouncing them, and by emphasizing in their stead the Re.form 

alliance, and respensible party govemment. Double majority was forgotten. 

Its fundamentals were decried by those who could have e.f.fected it, if 

indeed anyone could have done se. The opposition statua ef the French 

Canadians, a necessary condition .for double majority in this period, was 

removed. The post-1S47 negotiation predictions of its demise were proved 

correct. 

There.fore the choice of 1S4S as the terminal date of this stuqy 

is entirely justi.fied. That is not to say that double majority ceased to 

exist in 1S4S; rather, the conditions necessar.y for its implementation 

ceased to exist. Certainly a .form of double majority was a .feature of 

Union politics under Sandfield Macdonald. Yet by then its character had 

changed because of the radically different political context, especially 

with the French Canadians divided formally into oppesed political par­

ties. This double majority bore but little resemblance to the double 

majority of the 1S40 1s. A totally different historical perspective is 

required to study the system of the later Union period which also went 

under the name of double majority. 

Historically, double majori ty was a kind of political hoax, des­

igned to further various opposed political interests. At no time was it 

practiced with any consistency by those who gave it public support. Its 

:roost important physical locale was in French Canada; its development was 

intimately related to its constitutional locale of the legislative Union. 
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Despite this, double majority exercises a fascination even teàay. In 

present form, double majority is abstracted !ran its context, anà. is 

discusseti en the theoretical level. Histctrically, of course, this was 

the least important aspect of the system. The attraction of douDle maj­

ority lies in the !act that it is primarily a system designed to regul­

ate French-Fnglish political relations. To this day, these relations have 

net been solved, and various solutions, including double majority, are 

censidered. However, doUble majority is not understoed in any aspect, 

including its theoretical one. This study weuld therefore be incomplete 

if a definition were net attempted. 

This definition bas to be drawn from double majority en its 

jw.rnalistic level. Since the system was de!ined differently by every 

political group in order to further their own interests, it is alse nec­

essar,r te eclecticize from all the double majerity s.ystems te previde 

the most developed definition. Basically, dauble majerity was a principle 

of government. It required the existence of twe majorities, one frem each 

ef the two sections of Canada. As a racist-eriented system, one of these 

majorities was presumed to be a French-Canadian one. The Upper Canadian 

m.ajori ty, on the other hand, was distinguished by poli ti cal icieolegy 

rather than by race. From these twe majorities were to be selected two 

separate gevernments, enj01ing the support of their respective majorities. 

Between these tw governments there was no need for political canpatib­

ility. By the same token, there was no neeti fer pelitical compatibility 

between the twe majerities. Legislative measures prepared. for each 
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section were to be within the exclusive canpetence of the government and 

the majority from the section concerned. A sectional majority was to be 

required for the passage of auch measures. Each sectional geverrœent wa.s 

to be respensible to its own sectional majority. The system had to re-

ceive popular and legislative sanction in order to beceme the rule e! 

government. Whether a double major.l.ty or a simple ma.jorittY were to be 

required to e!fect this was never mentioned. 

Other facets of government were never mentioned in relation te 

double ma.jarity. One of these was the case of legislation involving bGth 

sections. The most obvious example is that of money. Legically, the ans-

wer would be that two sectional majorities would be required f<r the pas-

sage of inter-sectional measures. However, no me cared enough to con-

aider this problem. 

Another point which a. definition must consider is the nature of 

a double majority gDvernment. The twe systems with which it has at least 

superficial similarities are federalism and separatism. These should 

therefore be examined in relation to a double majority government. "By 

the federal principle", says one expert, "I mean the method of divifug 

pewers so that the general and regional governments are ea.ch, within a 
2 

sphere, c .... rdinate and independant." A federal system therefore re-

quires both the existence of general and regional governments, and 

~.c. Wheare, Federal Government,, (tendon: Oxford. University 
Press, 1963), p. 10; see also R. MacGregor Dawson, Democratie Goverpment 
in Canada, (Terento: University of Toronto Press, 1965), p. 9-10. 
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methode of dividing powers. Under a double major.i. ty government, Canada 

would have had no central government; merely two regional ones. Unless 

Brita:in .functioned as the central s-vernment, and it is most unlikell" 

that the Canadians wculd have permitted this, the central government 

could enly be formed b,y the combination of the two regional governments. 

This would be most unusual, even for Canada. 

Another expert saià. that 

the natural and literai interpretation of the werd "federal" 
confined its application to cases in which states, while agree­
ing on a measure of delegation of their power to a cemon gov­
ernment , yet in the main continue to preserve their eriginal 
constitutions. The word could only be used loosely, he thought, 
to describe states which agree to delega~e their powers with 
a view to entirely new constitutions •••• 

A double majority gevernment certainly h.ad the character of a new con-

stitution, since it changed the nature of the Union and responsible gov-

ernment. Moreover, it was the only existing government which would have 

agreed to delegate aU powers to regional governments, rather than vice 

versa. Since the authors of double majority never mentioned matter cern-

mon te both sections, there were in fact no powers to delegate to a 

central government. Again double majority does not conform to federalism. 

The ether main point is of course the purpose of federalism, 

which is 

to preserve diversities either where the,r are worth preserving ••• 

3 
Wheare, Feà.eral Gevernment, p. 12, cites Lord Haldane in the 

case er the Attorney-General fer the Commonwealth of Australia v. 
Colonial Sugar Refining Company Ltci. in 1914. 



or where the.y cannet be eradicated. even if they are not desir­
able, and at the same time to intreduce a measure

4 
of unity as 

will prevent clashes and facilitate ce-operation. 
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The purpose of double majority was in direct conflict with the purpose ef 

federalism. The two majorities were united, and it was the purpose of d.ou-

ble majority to undo the effects of their union. It was also supposed te 

perpetuate diversities, and te revert to the separa te states of the Con-

stitutional Act of 1791. One of the Conservative justifications for dou-

ble majority was that it was in fact merely a reversion te the situation 

be fore the Union. Clearly, double majority was not federal, or even quasi-

federal. 

Many characteristics of double majority are fUndamentally dif-

ferent from. federalism and its properties. They are, however, akin to 

separatism. ~ governments supported by sectional majorities, concerned 

w:ith sectional measures, incapable of interfering w:ith the other section; 

in these features are all the elements of separatism. Again, the purpose 

of double majority was to disassociate the tw Canadas from each ether, 

and to encourage their differences. Historically, this is also logical, 

fer double ma,iority waa merely the repositery of trends which were also 

separatist-orient ed: repeal; and the republican-separatism ef Louis 

Joseph Papineau who wished to join the American Union as a sovereign 

state. However, the two ~vernments of double majority were apparenUy 

to cm tinue acting together in one Hou se; at least, no suggestions were 

made to suggest etherwise. Therefore double majority may be said te be 

4 
ibid. ' p. 244-245. 
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mod.if'ied separatism. 

As a separatist system, double majority bad little meaning in its 

actual historical context, except that the separatist element in French 

Canada gave support to the "Reaction" more readily than did the Union 

supporters. In the 1840's, it was the interpretations of double majority 

which were all-important, and this was because the object was to gain 

power for specifie groups. In implementation, this was all the s,ystem was 

meant ta accomplish. On~ as a secondary and related object was the nat­

ure of the government to be changed. The proof of this is of course in 

the behaviour of the "Reactionists" when they lost out to LaFontaine in 

1847. Pewer had been gained, and the meana was speedily forgotten. And. 

the object of this power was to keep it as leng as possible; each leg­

islator and each political group relied on their own capaeities to pro­

tect their special interests. Another proof was that at no time was dou­

ble majority ever practiced eonsistently in the area of legislation. 

The history Gf double majority, therefore, bas little value as 

an object lesson for tœ 20th Century, and for Confederation. What value 

there is consista of the negative fact that the LaFontaine-Baldwin policy, 

which was •pposed to the "Reactionist" policy, did not solve the English­

French preblem; and that power was as impertant to 19th Century politicians 

as it is teday. 



APPPlJDIX A 

A LETTER ON THE MINISTERIAL CRISISl 

Acounts (sic) will reach you by this mail, calculated to ma.ke a 

very false impression with respect to the state of affairs here. It will 

appear to you that SIR CHARLES Y.ETCALFE has entered upon a violent quar-

rel with the Assembly; that he has no chance of gaining the victory in 

this contest with the representatives of the people; that we have sudden-

ly reverted to the old system of collision between the Executive and the 

popular branch of the Legislature; that the Union won 1t work; and that 

the Mother-count~ has now to determine whether she will alter the Prov-

incial constitution, and rule the Colonists by force, or have done with 

troublesome Canada for ever. Do not believe a word of it. Nothing more 

has happened than one of those Ministerial crises or changes of lfinist~, 

which must be frequent under the British Constitution wherever it may be 

established, and which, all experience tells us, instead of proving 

fatal to the Constitution itself, are the main cause of its stability: 

HONTESQUIEU must have ha.d these in view when he spoke of the English 

King as "un roi toujours chançelant sur un trône inébranlable." Nothing 

more, I say, has happened than one of those political storms which have 

the effect of clearing the atmosphere and improving the wea.ther under a 

free Constitution. You will agree with me after having attended to the 

following narrative of recent events. 

SIR CHARLES BAGOT 1s determination to admit the French Canadians 

1 
Qlebec Gazette, Dec. 22, 1843, quotes "A Let ter on the Minister-

ial Criais", to the editor of the Colonial Gazette (London), Kingston, 
Dec. 11, 1843, known to have been written by E.G. Wakefield. 
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to a share in the government of their country, produced an Administra ti on 

enjoying the confidence of a very large majority of the people of United 

Canada; a majority which at the opening of the Session of Parliament 

just closed was represented by more than 60 of the 84 members composing 

the Assembly. Lord GREY's administration in 1833 was hardly so strong as 

respects the constituencies, whilst the cordial adoption of Sir CHARLES 

BAGOT's polic,r by Sir CHARLES METCALFE gave a degree of security to the 

LAFONTAib.'E-BALDWIN Ministry on the aide of the Crown, which Lord GREY 

never enjoyed after 1832. Most people said of this Provincial Administra­

tion, "How atrong i t is! 11 : only a few expreased sorne vague fear of i ts 

being in danger, by asking whether it was not a little too strong. Such 

was the aspect of our politics when the late Session commenced. The Op­

position in the Asaembly, numbering hardly 20 votes, were manifestly 

without a polic.y either for the country or for themselves as a party; 

their utmost efforts were confined to a rnuttered repetition of old 

stories about disaffection and loyalty: and the Government introduced a 

maas of legislative measures, with every prospect of having its own way 

with respect to them, and indeed with respect to every thing besides. 

Yet even then there were not wanting careful observera who saw 

the possibility of the very shock which has occurred. I am speaking now 

of those who said, that perhaps the Ministry was 11a little too strong." 

These, while they acknowledged that the bulk of the measures promised 

by the Ministry were likely to be of service to the country and agree­

able to the people, perceived nevertheless that sorne of them had been 
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prepared without regard to circumstances of great importance which no 

statesman would have overlooked. Believing that the dow.nfall of the 

LAFONTAINE-BALmiiN Ministry has been mainly occasioned by their dis­

regard of these circumstances, I would draw your particular attention 

to them. 

The Union of the two Canadas has brought under the control of 

one Legislature two nations, so to speak, which widely differ in origin, 

languap,e, laws, customs, and habits of thought. One law for these two 

different races would be as unjust and intolerable, as two different 

laws for one and the same people. It follows that in order to content 

the whole people of Canada, legislation under the Union must for a long 

while be carried on in that federal spirit, which has marked the pro­

ceedings of the Parliament of Great Britain as respects England and 

Scotland sin ce the legislative union of tho se differing countries. Of 

this all-important principle the late Canadian Ministry appears never to 

have had any clear view, or even a glimpse. For, though what may be term­

ed a practical necessity obliged them to frame sorne of their measures, not 

for the whole Province, but for one or other of its recent divisions ex­

clusively- to propose this law for what was formerly Unper Canada, and 

that for what was formerly Lower Canada- yet they had the inconceivable 

folly to depend upon their Lower Canadian majority as a means of carry­

ing through Parliament measures for Upper Canada alone, which were re­

pugnant to the Upper Canada majority. The case is the same as if the Min­

istry at home, in proposing measures applicable to Scotland alone, should 
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disregard opinion in that part of the United Kingdom, turn a deaf ear to 

the remonstrances of the Scottish Members of Parliament against such 

measures, and carry those measures throur,h by means of English members 

no less ignorant than careless of the peculiar wants and wishes of Scot­

land. This is what the LAFONTAINE-BALDWIN ~ünistry attempted with res­

pect to an Assessment Bill for Upper Canada alone, which that part of 

the Province greatly disliked, and which was opposed by a majori cy of the 

Representatives of Upper Canada in the Assembly. The.y attempted this; 

but in vain, because a good many of the members for Lower Canada, perceiv­

ing the extreme inpolicy (sic) of the Ministers in this respect, threat­

ened to vote with the Upper Canada majority; and the obnoxious Bill was 

accordingly withdrawn. This was a deep mortification to Mr. BALDWIN, as 

you will better understand when I shall come to speak of certain pec­

ularities in his character. It was probable that other measures of a 

like nature would share the same fate. In particular, the re was a Bill 

for the establishment of a University in Upper Canada, which interfered 

with endowments and chartered rights in that part af the Province, and 

which the French Canadian members, accordingly, who are strongly dis­

posed to preserve such property and privileges, would probably have de­

clined to support. This measure was Mr. BALDWIN • s own, and a great fav­

orite: he would probably have been compelled to wi thdraw it on the Mon­

day after the Sunday on llhich he resigned. You must now comprehend that 

there were reasons for his resignation besides those which have been told 

to the public. 
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In fact it was a common saying, ,just before the resignation toek 

place, that the Administration might perhaps not last through the Session. 

This doubt of their stability was founded on a variety of circumstances 

besides those to whioh I have already adverted. In the first place, Mr. 

LAFONTAINE had been successfully opposed by a body of his own especial 

adherents in the Assembly, led by Mr. VIGER, wh ose experience, patriotisn, 

and political accomplishments give him great weight with his countrymen. 

This opposition was directed against one of the most important features 

of a set of Bills for the improvement of the Judicature of Lower Canada, 

on which Mr. LAFOOTAINE had bestowed uncommon pains, and for whioh he 

felt the affection of a parent; and its success, by an open vote in the 

Assembly, could not but have annoyed him exoeedinp~y. Seoondly, it was 

town-talk down to the day of the Ministers' resignation, that they had 

offended their adherents in Parliament by a degree of reserve with res­

pect to contemplated measures, and of arrogance in persona! intercourse, 

which nothing could excuse; nor any thing explain, save the supposition 

that they were intoxicated by the novel enjoyment of almost unlimited 

power. Thirdly, one of the Members of Parliament, Mr. HINCKS, had man­

aged to render himself so very unpopular by a curiously offensive met-

hod of exercising authority, that the Assembly could no longer listen to 

him wi th patience. Fourthly, this Ministry had recei ved "a severe blow 

and great er discouragement" in the defeat of an attempt, which they ap­

peared to view w:i.th favour, to fix upon one of their colleagues, Mr. 

DALY, a charge of peculation and gross delinquency, which a Select Corn-
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mittee of the Assembly declared to be utterly without foundation. And 

lastly, the secession of a number of Upper Canadian Members of the Leg­

islative Council (or Upper House) occasioned, as it would be easy to 

show, by a course of general disrespect towards that House on the part of 

the Executive , and by particular bungling and intemperance towards them 

displayed by the only Member of the Executive having a seat there, had 

brought matters to such a pass in this branch of the Legislature, that 

all measures, not excepting those relating exclusively to Upper Canada, 

were assented to by not more than three Upper Canada Members, the re­

mainder being nearly all French Canadians; while the re was every pros­

pect that Legislation would be stopped by the failure of a quorum. Put 

all these thin~s together, in addition to the Upper Canada difficulties 

in the Lower House, and it will be plain to you that a quarrel with the 

Governor General was by no means necessary in order to upset the LAFON­

TAINE-BALD"'UN Ministry before the close of the Session. If you have any 

doubt on the subject, be so good as to recur to the Seat of Government 

question, the decision of which against Upper Canada, however just and 

politic as regards the whole Province, had occasioned a state of feel­

ing in this section of it, which would have induced a wise administration 

to exercise the utmost prudence, forbearance, and even gentleness, in the 

treatment of every other matter relating to Upper Canada. 

The se, however, are not the only grounds on which I imagine that 

the difference with the Governor General, on which the ex-Yânisters re­

signed, was scught by them as a way of escaping from insurmountable dif-
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.ficulties in Parliament. The demand made upon the Head or the Government 

was of auch a nature, was so thoroughly unconstitutional and absurd in 

itsel.f, that those who made it must have been sure be.forehand or the Gov­

ernor's positive refusal to comply with it. Nor, accordingly, has any one 

of them ever pretended that they had the least hope or his yielding the 

point to them. They went to him with the certainty that their visit would 

end in his acceptance or their resignation. The evil consequences .for the 

Province were mani.fest: a Session or Parliament unexampled in this coun­

try .for the amount and importance or the measures in hand, would come to 

an end at the most critical moment; nearly the whole of ita past labours 

would be wasted; and the people would be bitterly disappointed. Why did 

not Messrs. LAFONTAINE and BALDWIN postpone .for a few weeks their quarrel 

wi th the Governor General, so as to let the more important measures of 

the Session pass into law? The true answer is obvious: because whatever 

had come of the measures, their Ministry was in great danger of a blow from 

Parliament, which would have left those incompetent leaders without a 

party in the country: they retired from office, in order to save them­

selves from being turned out: however blinded previously by having been 

"too strong," they discovered their danger in the nick or time, and a­

verted the mortification of sinking for want of popular support, by for­

cing upon the Governor General a quarrel in which they expected all the 

popular sympathies to be on their side. Mr. BALOON has often boasted 

that he is a strong party man, and now he has proved it effectually. 
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This view of the subject is confirmed by another consideration. 

Mr. BALDWIN's political character is composed almost entirely of self­

esteem, so sincere as to be properly termed honest or conscientious, and 

perfectly inordinate in degree. Every body believes him 'When he says, 

that he cares little for power, and nothing at all for office. Now, this 

gentleman's position in the late ministrywas by no means an agreeable 

one for a man of his peculiar temperament. He was brought into power in 

September, 1842, not as a leader of an important party in Upper Canada, 

(for at that time he led an opposition in the Assembly composed of four 

members including himself,) but as a gentleman who had conferred oblig­

ations on the French Canadians by taking part with them against Lord 

SYDENHAM, and whomtheir strnng sense of politica.l honor led them to re­

pay, by re.tù.sing Sir CHARLES BA GOT' s proposal of office except on con­

dition that this Upper Canadian friend were admitted to power along with 

them. Politically, therefore, Mr. BALDWIN was a French Canadian Member 

of the late administration, and he, necessarily, in the estimation of the 

publie, played second fiddle to Mr. LAFUNTAINE. To auch a man as Mr. 

BALDWIN auch a position must have been perpetual wormwood. Even the as­

cendancy which he acquired over Mr. LAFŒTAINE in the Ex:ecuti ve Council, 

thou~ it gave him the opportunity of carrying out his own views of pol­

icy for Upper Canada by means of French Canadian votes, was but poor com­

pensation for the want of that prominence, th at first and highest place 

among one 1 s associa tes and in the public eye, which is a.lways the desire 

of excessive self-esteem. His position at this moment must be far more 
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agreable (sic) to him. The late Government was formed on the principle 

of "justice to the French Canadians:" )fr. BALDWIN has broken it up on 

that of "responsible government," 'Which is almost his one idea in polit­

ics, and of which he now figures as the martyr. His particular subject is 

now in everyboqy 1s mouth: he is now the observed of all observera. The 

LAFCllTAllJE-BALDWIN Ministry has become the BALDWIN-LAFONTAI.NE Opposition; 

and Hr. BALDt'IU: 1 s smiling countenance in the Assembly has expressed his 

satisfaction at the change. 

But the main reason of all for believing that the ex-ministers 

went out of their way to pick a quarrel with the Governor General, is to 

be found in the dispute itself. According to their own statement of the 

facts, (see the written co~unications between them and Sir CHARLES Y~~­

CALFE) there existed at the time no one subject of difference between the 

Head of Government and themselves- no case of an appointment just then 

made without their advice- no project of an appointment against which they 

protested: but in consequence of sorne past differences with the Governor 

respecting appointments, which at the time they had not deemed it of suf­

ficient importance to caJ.l for their resignation, they went to him one 

fine morning, and tendered their resignation because he refused to give 

them any assurance as to the future diepoaal of appointments under the 

Crown. Imagine Sir ROBERT PEEL or Lord JOHN RUSSELL, going on such an 

errand to the )l.een, and coming back to tell the House of Commons that 

he had resigned because he found Her Y~jesty unwilling to proclaim the 

Crown subordinate to the Cabinetl i>lould not all the world believe in that 



322 

case, that the Minister had other reasons for wishing to retire from of­

fice, and had made an utterly inadmissible proposal to the Crown for the 

purpose of retiring on the graund of its rejection? 

I cannot doubt, however, that Messrs. BALDWIN & LAFONTAINE had 

managed to get upon bad terms with the Governor some time before their 

resignation. No Governor of a Colony, most assuredly, ever carried out the 

principle of 11 Respons ible Government, 11 so far as SIR CHARLES J.ŒTCALFE 

has done in Canada; nor was there ever before in any Colony a "Provincial 

Administration, 11 which, while they possessed on the one hand the confid­

ence of the Representati ve-bod,y, en,loyed on the other so mu ch executive 

power- had their own wa;r so entirely in their capacity of Ministers- as 

this said LAFONTAIIŒ-BALIM:N Administration. Yet it appears by ail ac­

counts, that the two leaders were not content with substantial power, 

but also wanted to pla;r the part of masters over the Governor; that they 

carried on their whole intercourse with him in an exacting, domineering, 

spirit; that they perpetually whipped and goaded the willing horse. Such 

monstrous impolicy may be accounted for in Hr. BALOON, by reference to 

his boundless good opinion of him.self: in l4r. LAFONTAINE it probably a­

rose, in part from a habit of suspicion and opposition, engendered Qy the 

long subjection of his people to every species of injustice, but still 

more from a haughty and overbearing temper, which is matter of complaint 

against him, even among his own particular followers. Be this, however, 

as it may, there can be no doubt of the fact, that these two Members of 

the Executive Council did to Sir CHARLES METCALFE what is vulgarly called 
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"stroking the dog the wrong way of the hair. n The sang-froid and wariness 

of the veteran Governor prevented him from repaying such caresses with an 

inopportune bite, but his growl was often heard in the Council Room. So 

the ex-Ministers them selves have told us, by their use of the word "anta­

gonism." It follows that they had not the least prospect of being assist­

ed by the Governor, if the Parliament should frown upon them. And the 

final conclusion is, that, upon the whole, their resignation upon a 

ground which was sure to obtain for them mu ch popular sympat}\y, was about 

the most politic of their Ministerial acts. 

This popular sympathy they have spared no pains to secure. They 

represent Sir CHARLES METCALFE as an old Indian, disliking and incapable 

of understanding free institutions. They paint him mounted on an elephant, 

the despotic ruler of oriental slaves. They boldly assert that he is a 

foe to "Responsible Government"; and then, forget ting their oath of sec­

resy (sic) as Executive Councillors, they tell in the Assembly a variety 

of stories about appointments to office, which he has no means of contra­

dicting, and which go to make out that he systematically endeavoured to 

dispose of the patronage of the Crown without consulting his responsible 

advisers. Because a new administration is not instantly formed, they as­

sert that we have reverted to the old plan of irresponsible rule; and Mr. 

LAFONTAINE enforces the camplaint, by pettishly attacking the Governor's 

Civil Secretary for wearing his official uniform when he delivers a mes­

sage to the Assembly from the Head of the Government. In a word, the 

who le aim of the ex-Ministers, sin ce their resignation, seems to have 
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been, in utter defiance of those constitutional notions which th~ pre­

feas, under the name of attachment to "Responsible Government, " to ex­

ci te fear, and jealousy, and dislike of the Governor General personally, 

and to persuade the country that unless Messrs. BALDWIN and LAFONTAINE 

be supported against Sir CHARLES METCALFE, this colony will be deprived 

of the proper consequences of its representative system. 

And f'urther, the doers of dirty work for the party, ( ail parties 

have instruments suitable for such work) have been indefatigable in spread­

ing reports to the effect, that Sir CHARLES METCALFE is unwell, and tired 

of Canada; that his once-powerf'ul intellect has succumbed to climate and 

labour; that he is timid and incapable of resisting a vigorous assault; 

that the ex-Ministers resigned with a certainty of getting into office 

with more power than ever; and that overtures have already been made to 

them, with a view of their retuming to office on their own terms. 

~ these and such like tales, added to the misrepresentation des­

cribed in the last paragraph but one, a large majority of the Assembly 

(including most of my old friends, the "loo se fish, 11 who always swim with 

the stream), were hurried into supporting the ex-ministers by a vote of 

confidence. Most people thought it was all over with the Governor Gener­

al, and that he would either retire from Canada, or convulse the Province 

like Sir FRANCIS HEAD, by throwing himself into the arms of the opponents 

of the late Ministry. It is evident that he has never for a moment con­

templated any thing of the sort. His personal demeanour throughout this 

"Ministerial crisis" has been singularly calm, patient, and good-humour-
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ed. Instead of discarding "responsible government" as impracticable, he 

emphatically declares to the Assembly that no other systen is practicable 

in this colony: instead of denouncing the Upper Canada Reformera, who 

hastily voted against him, he invites them to assist in forming a new ad­

ministratinn as liberal as the last: instead of encouraging the Upper Can­

ada Conservatives to get into a passion of loyalty, he begs of them to 

a void extreme courses, and to support him with only a modera te zeal: in­

stead of quarrelling wi th the French Canadians, he proclaims the justice 

and wisdon of giving them a due share in the executive government of their 

country, and pledges himself to form no permanent administration without 

offering power to several of the most prominent of the ir leaders. Above 

all, he has intimated, by his Speech when proroguing the Parliament, that 

he has no thouppt of retreating from the difficulties of his position. The 

natural fruits of such presence of mind and deliberation of purpose are al­

reaqy beginning to appear. Men of all parties, with the exception of the 

late Ministers and their immediate partisans, ask what the quarrel has been 

about, and talk of the possibility (of) forming a Government supported by 

a majori ty of the present Assembly. Hr. VIGER, who in the absence of }fr. 

PAPI NEAU may be deemed the leader of the French Canadians, is understood 

to have overcome his repugnance to the troubles and responsibilities of 

office, and to have accepted the first place in a new Administration. It 

is expected that tomorrow will not pass over without the acceptance of 

office by several other leading members of the Assemb~ and Legislative 

Council. In less than a month, probably, a strong Administration will be 



.326 

completed, likely to enjoy the confidence of both Houses of Parliament, 

and qualified to carry into effect a popular system of Government without 

offensive arrogance towards the Governor General or any body else, and 

without falling into any of the other errors of Messrs. BALUWIN & LAF­

ONTAINE. This is m;v own expectation. Should it be realized, the public 

voice will pronounce that the incompetence of its leaders was the true 

cause of the downfall of the late Ministry, and that the shock of their 

resignation occasioned was but one of those evils out of which good com-
2 

eth in abundance. 

2 
There is a great deal of truth in Wakefield's letter. Where he 

fell short was in his analysis of Baldwin's relationship with LaFontaine. 
Although he understood their individual characters very well, he did 
not understand their relationship. There is no evidence to suggest that 
Baldwin was jealous of his friend's position in government; rather, he 
encouraged LaFontaine to take first place in accordance with his own 
views of responsible government, and the benefits of a non-sectionalized 
government, which have been discussed in detail. One well-known Canadian 
historian, CheRter Hartin, has written in Enpire and Coll'll!lonwealth: Studies 
in Governance and Self -Government in Canada, p. 29.3 , foot note .3, that 
11La Fontaine • s personal estimates with a few conspicuous exceptions­
Baldwin's "noble character, public and private" among them- are almost 
uniformly uncharitable, aometimes egregiously ao. 11 Had there been any 
jealousy between Baldwin and LaFontaine, there is little doubt that La­
Fontaine would have spoken of Baldwin as he did almost everyone else. 
A letter written b,y LaFontaine at the time he first heard of Baldwin's 
death in 1858 is indicative of the quality of their friendship. It might 
be argued that such a letter is bound to be laudatory, except that in 
LaFontaine 1s case this is false. Even in death he found nothing good to 
say about those he did not like. See for example his commenta on Lord 
Metcalfe and John Neilson in Monet, "The Last Cannon Shot: A Study of 
French-Canadian Nationalism 18.37-1850," vol. 1, p. 421, vol. 2, p. 551. 
Yet about Baldwin,LaFontaine wrote: "I cannet find words to express my 
feelings. Death has already deprived me of many friends, but in this 
painful & cruel moment I have to deplore the loss of a friend whom I 
looked upon as my brother. He, the beat, the most honest man & most 
affectionate friend is no more! It has pleased the Divine will that I 
shall see him no more 1 Him, "honest Robert 11 , the beat of my friends. We 
must submit •••• 11 Dent, Canada Since the Union of 18';k (Dent' s copy), 
vol. 2, LaFontaine to Heyden, Montreal, Dec. 22, l85 • 
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VIOLATIONS OF DOU~E MAJORITY LIDISLATION, A}..TJ) COMMmTS 

LaFontaine's list of Lower Canadian sectional measures passed 
1 

by Upper Canada against Lower Canadian majorities follows. 

zear - 1~~1:1;. Measure. Division. Ma,joritl• JIJ.n ori tl• 
U.C. L.C. U.C. L.C. 

Dec. 11. Reference to a Special Comte. 51-22 34 17 1 22 
of Petition of Revd. J.O. 
Archambault & others or-the 
Parsh. of St. Timothée & St. 
Clément, comp1aining of dam-
ages by construction of 
Beauharnois Canal- - - -

Dec. 19. Postponement of considera- 32-31 23 9 6 25 
tion of P. Dunn's Re~ition 
(Montreal election 1 ~ 

~. 

Jan. 16 Motion to set aside P, Dunn's 37-35 26 11 10 25 
petition. 

Jan, 27. Postponement of considera- 35-18 24 11 5 13 
tion of Report of Special Corn-
mittee on petition of Revd. J. 
Paguin of St. Eustache. 

Jan. 27. Report on peton. or Lindsay 30-22 23 7 4 18 
Tanquay and Wicksteed rejected, 

Fe b. 6. Second reading of Lower c. 37-30 26 11 10 20 
Election Bill negd. 

Feb. 17. Refusal of Speaker to receive 31-30 25 6 5 25 
Fr. Peton. maintained, 

1 P.A.C. LaFontaine Papers, vol. 23 t p. 5241-2. 
2 
Pilot, Nov. 14, 1845. This was a Ministerial measure. 
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:!ear. 18~2· Measure. Division. Majoritx. Minoritx. 
U.C. L.C. U.C. L.C. 

Feb, 28. Mr. LaFontaine's motion 42-30 30 12 6 24 
relative to payment of 
Rebellion Losses in Lower 
C. negatd. 

Mar. 3. Motion to refer to Comte, 36-31 2S 8 8 23 
Amendment to L. Can. Winter 
Roads Bill negatived. 

Mar, 3. Mr. LaFontaine's motion to 43-23 28 15 6 17 
read D. in 6 mos. lost. 

Mar. 3. Mr. LaFontaine 's motion to 42-22 29 13 4 18 
recommit in 6 mos. lost. 

Mar. 13. Second reading "Bill to 33-18 21 12 2 16 
quiet title to lands in L.c. 
of parsons naturalized under 
L.C. Act lst Will. LV, C.53. 

Mar. 27. Report of Comte. reoornmending 31-20 17 14 4 16 
payment of claim of W.M. Andres, 
Contractors on Chambly Canal 
L 10616 

1846. 

May 26. Proviso, added to 26 sect. or 23-22 14 9 3 19 
L.C. School Bill. 

May 28. Mr. Morin's motion that 29-18 21 8 18 
Jesuits Estates ought to 
be vested in Catholic Clergy 
of L. Canada negatived. 

May 28. Mr. LaFontaine's motion to 28-21 19 9 3 18 
strike out part or Resolution 
relating to Jesuits Estates, 
that divides the proceeds there-
of among certain classes. 

Apr. 23. Quebec Trinity Bill. 2nd. 35-20 22 13 2 18 
reading. 
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A few more Bills may be added to the list. On the second reading 

of a Bill according more ample powers to the Irish Colonial Society in 

authorizing a loan on a mortgage, the Upper Canadians overrode the Lower 

3 
Canadian majority and secured passage for the Bill. An Upper Canadian 

majority also deprived Lower Canada of a modification of the election 
4 

laws. Two principal measures of the 1845 session were the Municipal 

and School Bills, of which the Lower Canadian majority approved. How-

ever, they wished to offer certain amendments. Papineau and Smith, on 

behalf of the Government , threatened to pass the Bills by an Upper Can-
5 

adian majority if the amendments were presented. 'l'hus did the Govern-

ment , which the Canadien urged the French Canadians to support on the 

basie of double majority, show its unconcern for the principle. 

Lower Canada also attempted to pass various Upper Canadian 

measures against the Upper Canadian majority. The most important was 

the University Bill, which the Government withdrew after second reading, 
6 

in view of Upper Canadian opposition toit. On second reading, however, 

the vote analysis showed 23 Lower Canadians and 11 Upper Canadians 

voting for the Bill, 'Wh ile almost the entire Upper Canadian contingent 

3Le Canadien, March 24, 1845. 

4Globe, Nov. 25, 1845, cites La ~inerve. 
5 
Pilot, Nov. 14, 1845, cites La Minerve, Oct. 27, 1845. 

6
Le Canadien, Mar ch 24, 1845. 
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voted in the negative.7 Another Upper Canadian measure was the contested 

Oxford election queation. Although not intrinsically important, it oc-

cupied three sittings of the Assernbly in 1846. On a motion to postpone 

the question, the vote was 26 Lower Cana. di ans and 8 Upper Canadians 
8 

against 5 Lower Canadians and 29 Upper Canadians. A few days lat er, on 

a motion to dissolve the Oxford election cornmittee, a majority of 27 

Lower Canadians and 11 Upper Canadians voted down the measure against 

. 9 
a minority of 27 Upper Canadians and 6 Lower Canad1ans. In both cases, 

Lower Canada overrode the Upper Canadian majority on Upper Canadian mea-

sures. The Lower Canada opposition press even congratulated the Assemb~ 

on its fine work in this matter. However, vrhen the shoe was on the other 

foot, this same press was acid in its comments. 

M. Gowan nous aine tant qu'il ne peut s 1impêcher de se mêler 
de nos affaires; vous le voyer occupé à s'informer de la man­
ière dont ont été

1
dépensés les L 58,000 pour le creusement du 

lac Saint-Pierre. 0 

Despite the record, one of the LaFontaine group's Upper Canada 

allies believed that the French Canadians had practiced double majority. 

7ibid. In this amazing vote, LaFontaine and Baldwin, leaders of 
the opposition, voted for the Ministerial measure, while D.B. Papineau, 
a member of the Governrnent, voted against it. 

8 
Journal de Québec, March 31, 1846. The casting vote of the 

Speaker caused the motion to pass. The measure concerned Francis Hincks, 
who had lost his seat in the 18h4 general election. 

9 
Le Journal de Çuébec, April 4, 1846. 

10
ibid., April 30, 1846. 



"The French members voted, if not in sympathy, at least acquiesced in 
11 

their views when Upper Canada measures were to be decided." On the 
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other hand, at least one would-be ally of the French Canadians disagreed, 

charging them with pressing for legislation for the special benefit of 
12 

Montreal, at the expense of Upper Canadian interests. 

The simple majority was employed in the passage of sectional 

measures, and the practice of double majority was neglected. Neverthe-

less, certain types of legislation reduced the French Canadians to a 

raging fu~, and according to Francis Hincks, into the arma of double 

majority. The most obvious examples of this type of sectional legislation 

are the separate justice Bills for the two sections. In Lower Canada, 

the r~vernment announced, the erection of a House of Justice for Mon-

treal l-rould be paid by taxation on judicial processes in that Dis-

trict, although in Upper Canada the same expanses were provided for by 

distillery taxes.
13 

Then the Government presented a Bill to establish 

more equitable taxation for the upkeep and erection of courts and pris-

ons in Upper Canada, although no similar Bill for Lower Canada was pre-

11 
Merritt, Biography of the Hon. v!,H, Merritt, M,P,, p, 306, 

Merritt's specifie example was the Municipal Bill amendment, an Upper 
Canadian measure, which was allowed by the Government as a popularity 
bid, since it permitted the election of the wardens, treasurers, c1erks 
and surveyors, and payment for their services. 

12 
British Co1onist, May S, 11:'!46. 

1.3 
Le Journal de ')lébec, April 1S, 11:'!46. 
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14 
pared. This was deemed particularly unfair to Lower Canada which had 

not only to pay far Upper Canada's public works, but for her twenty 

prisons and twenty courts , when there were only three of each in Lower 
15 

Canada. Raged T. C. Aylwin in the Assembly: 

With reference to this ill fated and unfortunate province, bad 
as are the terms granted to it bjr the Union Act, are they to 
be made still worse? •••• Now here was the marriage of a weel 
tochered lass- yes, and a beautiful lass- (hear)- !!th Upper 
Canada, where they were all bankrupts and be~gars. 

Francis Hincks tried to e:xplain to the Upper Canadians just how 

deeply such injustices as the Administration of Justice Expenses for 

Upper Canada affected the Lower Canadians. 

It is the agitation of this and similar questions ••• that has 
induced a conviction in the minds of the representatives ••• 
that they can beat promote the welfare of their constituants 
by coalescing with any Upper Canada party which will give them 
a due share of influmce in the Councils of the Province. It 
cannet be too strongly impressed on the people of Upper Canada 
that there is an all but universal feeling of dissatisfaction 
in this Section of the Province at the financial arrangements 
of the Union and those which have been subsequently made. Every 
day's experience tends more and more to convince the Lower 
Canadians that •••• the general rule r;th Upper Canadiens is to 
get hold of all the mon~ they can. 

Double majority was not practiced in the Assembly by any party. 

However, when the Lower Canadians , specifically the French Canadians , 

felt that their pecuniary interests suffered at the hands of the Upper 

14te Journal de Québec, April 4, 1846. 
1
\bid. 

16 
Pilot, May 12, 1846. Aylwin speaking on Hay 8, 1846. 

17 
~., May 12, 1846. 
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Canadians, they relapsed into advocacy of double majority applied to 

legislation, and despaired at the value of the Reform alliance. Their 

anger was directed at both Upper Canadians and the Union which had wed 

them with 11bankrupts and beg~ars 11 ; sometimes they seized upon double 

majority as the means of undoinp; the Union. Yet these depressive moods 

had far less influence on their political behaviour than did their 

political alliances, loyalties and interests. 
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